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Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

This quarterly report contains “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933
and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Forward-looking statements refer to our current expectations and
projections relating to our financial condition, results of operations, plans, objectives, strategies, future performance and business.
Forward-looking statements may be identified by the fact that they do not relate strictly to historical or current facts. These
statements may include words such as “anticipate,” “believe,” “continue,” “could,” “estimate,” “expect,” “likely,” “may,”
“project,” “potential,” “seek,” “should,” “will,” “would” and other words and terms of similar meaning in connection with any
discussion of the timing or nature of future operational performance or other events. All forward-looking statements are subject to
risks and uncertainties that may cause actual results to differ materially from those that we expect and, therefore, investors should
not unduly rely on such statements. The risks that could cause these forward-looking statements to be inaccurate include but are
not limited to:

9 < 2 < 29 ¢

e our ability to satisfy the solicitation condition in the Second Amended and Restated Restructuring Support Agreement,
dated September 21, 2020 (the "Restructuring Support Agreement");

e the consummation of the Restructuring Transactions (as defined in the Restructuring Support Agreement);
e  our ability to obtain Bankruptcy Court approval with respect to motions or other requests made to the Bankruptcy Court;

e our ability to consummate the prepackaged financial restructuring plan as contemplated by the Restructuring Support
Agreement (the "Restructuring Plan");

e  our ability to comply with the milestones set forth in the Restructuring Support Agreement;

e the effects of our bankruptcy proceedings on our liquidity or results of operations or business prospects;

e the effects of our bankruptcy proceedings on our business and the interests of various constituents;

e the length of time that we will operate under Chapter 11 protection;

e risks associated with third-party motions in our bankruptcy proceedings;

e increased levels of employee attrition during our bankruptcy proceedings;

e further declines in domestic spending by the onshore oil and natural gas industry;

e continued volatility in oil and natural gas prices;

o the effect of a loss of, financial distress of, or decline in activity levels of, one or more significant customers;

e actions of the Organization of the Petroleum Exporting Countries (“OPEC”), its members and other state-controlled oil
companies relating to oil price and production controls;

e  our inability to employ a sufficient number of key employees, technical personnel and other skilled or qualified workers;
e the price and availability of alternative fuels and energy sources;
e the discovery rates of new oil and natural gas reserves;

e the availability of water resources, suitable proppant and chemicals in sufficient quantities and pricing for use in
hydraulic fracturing fluids;

e uncertainty in capital and commodities markets and the ability of oil and natural gas producers to raise equity capital
and debt financing;

e ongoing and potential securities litigation and other litigation and legal proceedings, including arbitration proceedings;
e  our ability to participate in consolidation opportunities within our industry;

e the ability to successfully manage the economic and operational challenges associated with a disease outbreak, including
epidemics, pandemics, or similar widespread public health concerns, including the novel coronavirus (“COVID-19”)
pandemic;

e the ultimate geographic spread, duration and severity of the COVID-19 outbreak, and the effectiveness of actions taken,
or actions that may be taken, by governmental authorities to contain such outbreak or treat its impact;

e the ultimate duration and impact of geopolitical events that adversely affect the price of oil, including the Saudi-Russia
price war earlier this year;
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e the outcome of the 2020 presidential election and related market conditions; and

e an otherwise deterioration in general economic conditions or a weakening of the broader energy industry.

See the “Risk Factors” included in Part I, Item 1A of this quarterly report and in Item 1A of our annual report on Form 10-K
for a more complete discussion of the risks and uncertainties mentioned above and for a discussion of other risks and
uncertainties we face that could cause our forward-looking statements to be inaccurate. All forward-looking statements
attributable to us are expressly qualified in their entirety by these cautionary statements as well as others made in this quarterly
report and hereafter in our other filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission and other public communications.

We caution that the risks and uncertainties identified by us may not be all of the factors that are important to investors.
Furthermore, the forward-looking statements included in this quarterly report are made only as of the date hereof. We undertake
no obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statement as a result of new information, future events or
otherwise, except as required by law.
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PART 1 - FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements

FTS INTERNATIONAL, INC. (DEBTOR-IN-POSSESSION)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(Unaudited)

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,
(Dollars in millions, except per share amounts) 2020 2019 2020 2019
Revenue
Revenue $§ 321 § 1860 § 2124 $ 6334
Revenue from related parties — — 0.7 0.9
Total revenue 32.1 186.0 213.1 634.3
Operating expenses
Costs of revenue (excluding depreciation of $16.8, $20.6, $56.5 and
$61.7 respectively, included in depreciation and amortization below) 30.7 145.5 174.2 472.4
Selling, general and administrative 11.8 21.1 42.7 66.4
Depreciation and amortization 17.8 22.7 59.4 67.9
Impairments and other charges 19.4 6.8 34.0 72.5
Loss (gain) on disposal of assets, net — 0.1) 0.1 (1.0)
Total operating expenses 79.7 196.0 310.4 678.2
Operating loss (47.6) (10.0) (97.3) (43.9)
Interest expense, net (contractual interest for the three and nine months
ended September 30, 2020 of $8.1 and $22.8 respectively) (7.4) (7.6) (22.1) (23.5)
Gain on extinguishment of debt, net — 0.8 2.0 1.2
Equity in net income of joint venture affiliate — — — 0.6
Gain on sale of equity interest in joint venture affiliate — 7.0 — 7.0
Reorganization items (13.7) — (13.7) —
Loss before income taxes (68.7) 9.8) (131.1) (58.6)
Income tax expense — 1.0 — 1.3
Net loss $§ (©87) § (10.8) § (131.1) $ (599
Basic and diluted loss per share $§ (1277) $ (199 $ (2439) $ (10.96)
Shares used in computing basic and diluted
earnings per share (in thousands) 5,381 5,430 5,376 5,465

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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FTS INTERNATIONAL, INC. (DEBTOR-IN-POSSESSION)

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(Unaudited)
September 30, December 31,
(In millions, except share amounts) 2020 2019
ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 144.5 $ 223.0
Accounts receivable, net 28.6 77.0
Inventories 35.6 45.5
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 20.3 7.0
Total current assets 229.0 352.5
Property, plant, and equipment, net 185.9 227.0
Operating lease right-of-use assets 6.4 26.3
Intangible assets, net 29.5 29.5
Other assets 1.4 4.0
Total assets $ 452.2 $ 639.3
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ (DEFICIT) EQUITY
Current liabilities
Accounts payable $ 14.8 $ 36.4
Accrued expenses 9.6 229
Current portion of operating lease liabilities 4.6 14.3
Other current liabilities 12.8 11.6
Total current liabilities 41.8 85.2
Long-term debt — 456.9
Operating lease liabilities 3.8 13.9
Other liabilities 2.5 45.6
Liabilities subject to compromise 488.1 —
Total liabilities 536.2 601.6
Commitments and contingencies (Note 11)
Stockholders’ (deficit) equity
Preferred stock, $0.01 par value, 25,000,000 shares authorized — —
Common stock, $0.01 par value, 320,000,000 shares authorized, 5,380,859 shares issued and
outstanding at September 30, 2020 and 5,355,370 shares issued and outstanding at
December 31, 2019 36.4 36.4
Additional paid-in capital 4,391.4 4,382.0
Accumulated deficit (4,511.8) (4,380.7)
Total stockholders’ (deficit) equity (84.0) 37.7
Total liabilities and stockholders’ (deficit) equity $ 452.2 $ 639.3

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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FTS INTERNATIONAL, INC. (DEBTOR-IN-POSSESSION)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(Unaudited)
Nine Months Ended
September 30,
(In millions) 2020 2019
Cash flows from operating activities
Net loss (131.1) % (59.9)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash (used in) provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 59.4 67.9
Stock-based compensation 9.4 9.6
Amortization of debt discounts and issuance costs 2.0 14
Loss (gain) on disposal of assets, net 0.1 (1.0)
Gain on extinguishment of debt, net (2.0) (1.2)
Gain on sale of equity interest in joint venture affiliate — (7.0)
Non-cash provision for supply commitment charges 9.1 57.6
Cash paid to settle supply commitment charges (18.8) (16.1)
Non-cash reorganization items 12.3 —
Impairment of assets — 9.7
Inventory write-down 5.1 5.2
Other non-cash items 0.9 —
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable 47.5 38.7
Inventories 4.8 14.6
Prepaid expenses and other assets 4.3) (6.9)
Accounts payable (20.9) (28.5)
Accrued expenses and other liabilities 4.3) 5.8
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities (30.8) 89.9
Cash flows from investing activities
Capital expenditures (19.3) (39.5)
Proceeds from disposal of assets 0.1 1.9
Proceeds from sale of equity interest in joint venture affiliate — 30.7
Net cash used in investing activities (19.2) (6.9)
Cash flows from financing activities
Repayments of long-term debt (20.6) (46.4)
Repurchase of common stock — (8.3)
Taxes paid related to net share settlement of equity awards 0.1) (1.9)
Net cash used in financing activities (20.7) (56.6)
Net (decrease) increase in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash (70.7) 26.4
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 223.0 177.8
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash at end of period 152.3 $ 204.2
Supplemental cash flow information:
Interest paid 14.6 $ 17.9
Income tax payments 0.4 $ 2.5
Cash paid for reorganization items classified as operating activities — $ —
Noncash investing and financing activities:
Capital expenditures included in accounts payable 0.1 $ 33
Operating lease liabilities incurred from obtaining right-of-use assets 0.6 $ 10.9
Derecognition of lease liabilities and right-of-use assets due to lease termination 10.7 $ —

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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FTS INTERNATIONAL, INC. (DEBTOR-IN-POSSESSION)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

(Unaudited)

Additional Total
Common Stock Paid-in Accumulated Stockholders’
(Dollars in millions and shares in thousands) Shares Amount Capital Deficit Equity
Balance at January 1, 2020 5355  §$ 364 $ 43820 $ (4,380.7) $ 37.7
Net loss — — — (11.7) (11.7)
Activity related to stock plan 20 — 3.0 — 3.0
Balance at March 31, 2020 5375 $ 364 $ 43850 $ (43924) $§ 29.0
Net loss — — — (50.7) (50.7)
Activity related to stock plan 6 — 3.6 — 3.6
Balance at June 30, 2020 5381 $ 364 $ 43886 § (4,443.1) § (18.1)
Net loss — — — (68.7) (68.7)
Activity related to stock plans — — 2.8 — 2.8
Balance at September 30, 2020 5381 §$ 364 $ 43914 $§ (4,511.8) $ (84.0)
Additional Total
Common Stock Paid-in Accumulated Stockholders’
(Dollars in millions and shares in thousands) Shares Amount Capital Deficit Equity
Balance at January 1, 2019 5472 % 364 $ 43784 $ (43079) $ 106.9
Net loss — — — (55.0) (55.0)
Cumulative effect of accounting change — — — 0.1 0.1
Activity related to stock plan 18 — 1.3 — 1.3
Balance at March 31, 2019 5490 $ 364 $ 43797 $ (4,362.8) $ 533
Net income — — — 5.9 5.9
Repurchase of common stock (38) — (4.6) — (4.6)
Activity related to stock plan 3 — 34 — 34
Balance at June 30, 2019 5455 $ 364 $ 43785 § (4,356.9) $ 58.0
Net loss — — — (10.8) (10.8)
Repurchase of common stock (61) — 3.7 — 3.7
Activity related to stock plans — — 3.0 — 3.0
Balance at September 30, 2019 5394 § 364 $ 43778 § (4367.7) § 46.5

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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FTS INTERNATIONAL, INC. (DEBTOR-IN-POSSESSION)
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Unaudited)

NOTE 1 — CHAPTER 11 BANKRUPTCY PROCEEDINGS

Unless the context requires otherwise, the use of the terms “FTSI,” “Company,” “we,” “us,” “our” or “ours” in these Notes
to Consolidated Financial Statements refer to FTS International, Inc., together with its consolidated subsidiaries. On September
22,2020, FTS International, Inc. (the “Parent”), FTS International Services, LLC, and FTS International Manufacturing, LLC
(collectively with the Parent, the “Debtors”) filed petitions for voluntary relief (the “Chapter 11 Cases”) under chapter 11 of title
11 of the United States Code (the “Bankruptcy Code”) in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of Texas,
Houston Division (the “Bankruptcy Court”). The Bankruptcy Court has approved joint administration of the Chapter 11 Cases
under the caption In re FTS International, Inc., et al. The subsidiaries of the Company other than the Debtors are immaterial.

The Debtors continue to operate their business as “debtors-in-possession” under the jurisdiction of the Bankruptcy Court and
in accordance with the applicable provisions of the Bankruptcy Code and the orders of the Bankruptcy Court.

The filing of the Chapter 11 Cases constitutes an event of default that accelerates the Parent’s obligations under the
following debt instruments (the “Debt Instruments”):

e $67.4 million in outstanding aggregate principal amount plus $0.3 million in accrued and unpaid interest under that
certain credit agreement, dated as of April 16, 2014, by and among the Parent, the lenders party thereto, and
Wilmington Savings Fund Society, FSB, as successor administrative agent, as amended, restated, amended and
restated, modified, or supplemented from time to time (the “Term Loan Agreement”); and

e  $369.9 million in outstanding aggregate principal amount plus $9.0 million in accrued and unpaid interest of the
Parent’s 6.25% senior secured notes due May 1, 2022 (the “Secured Notes™) issued pursuant to that certain
Indenture, dated as of April 16, 2014, among the Parent, the guarantors named therein and U.S. Bank National
Association, as collateral agent and trustee.

The Debt Instruments provide that, as a result of the Chapter 11 Cases, the principal and interest due thereunder shall be
immediately due and payable. Any efforts to enforce such payment obligations under the Debt Instruments will be automatically
stayed as a result of the Chapter 11 Cases, and the creditors’ rights of enforcement in respect of the Debt Instruments are subject
to the applicable provisions of the Bankruptcy Code.

On September 21, 2020, the Debtors finalized a Restructuring Support Agreement (the “Restructuring Support Agreement”)
with (i) certain holders (the “Consenting Noteholders”) of the Parent’s Secured Notes and (ii) certain lenders (together with the
Consenting Noteholders, the “Consenting Creditors”) under the Term Loan Agreement and on September 22, 2020, the Company
filed the Joint Prepackaged Chapter 11 Plan of Reorganization of FTS International, Inc. and its Debtor Affiliates (as amended,
modified or supplemented from time to time, the “Restructuring Plan”) and the related disclosure statement. Capitalized terms
used but not otherwise defined in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q have the meanings given to them in the Restructuring Plan.

Although the Debtors intend to pursue the Restructuring in accordance with the terms set forth in the Restructuring Plan,
there can be no assurance that the Debtors will be successful in completing the Restructuring or consummating the Restructuring
Plan, on different terms or at all.

Under the Restructuring Plan, the Consenting Creditors have agreed, subject to certain terms and conditions, to support a
financial restructuring (“Restructuring”) of the existing debt of, existing equity interests in, and certain other obligations of the
Debtors, pursuant to the Restructuring Plan. The Restructuring Support Agreement and the Restructuring Plan contemplate,
among other things:
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e the Consenting Creditors’ consent to the use of cash collateral securing the Secured Debt Claims to fund the
Chapter 11 Cases consistent with the terms set forth in the Restructuring Plan and as otherwise acceptable to the
Required Consenting Creditors;

e on the Effective Date, the Reorganized Debtors may enter into an up to $50 million new revolving credit facility on
terms acceptable to the Required Consenting Creditors;

e on the Effective Date, in full and final satisfaction, settlement, release, and discharge of and in exchange for each
Allowed Secured Debt Claim, each Holder of an Allowed Secured Debt Claim shall receive its Pro Rata share of
and interest in (i) the Cash Consideration and (ii) 90.1% of the New FTS Equity, subject to dilution on account of
the Management Incentive Plan and the Warrants, minus the Class 4 Recovery Deduction;

o cach Holder of an Allowed Other Unsecured Claim shall receive its Pro Rata share of and interest in the
Unencumbered Plan Recovery at the applicable Debtor;

e cach Holder of an Allowed Ongoing Business Claim shall receive, as applicable, either: (i) Reinstatement of such
Allowed Ongoing Business Claim pursuant to section 1124 of the Bankruptcy Code; (ii) payment in full in cash; or
(iii) such other treatment rendering such Allowed Ongoing Business Claim Unimpaired; and

e FTS Common Interests will receive their Pro Rata share of and interest in (i) 9.4% of the New FTS Equity, subject
to dilution on account of the Management Incentive Plan and the Warrants, minus the Class 4 Recovery Deduction
and (ii) the Warrants.

The foregoing description of the Restructuring Plan is not complete and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the full text
of the Restructuring Plan, a copy of which is filed as an exhibit to this Quarterly Report.

The deadline to vote on the Restructuring Plan was October 21, 2020, and the results of that voting reflected more than 98%
percent support of each class of voting holders of claims and interests. The Bankruptcy Court confirmed the Restructuring Plan
on November 4, 2020, and the Debtors expect to emerge from the Chapter 11 Cases by the end of November.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming that we will continue as a going concern and
contemplate the realization of assets and the satisfaction of liabilities in the normal course of business. As a result of the Chapter
11 Cases, the realization of assets and the satisfaction of liabilities are subject to uncertainty. While operating as debtors-in-
possession under Chapter 11, we may sell or otherwise dispose of or liquidate assets or settle liabilities, subject to the approval of
the Bankruptcy Court or as otherwise permitted in the ordinary course of business, for amounts other than those reflected in these
consolidated financial statements. Further, the plan of reorganization could materially change the amounts and classifications of
assets and liabilities reported in these consolidated financial statements. The accompanying consolidated financial statements do
not include any adjustments related to the recoverability and classification of assets or the amounts and classification of liabilities
or any other adjustments that might be necessary should we be unable to continue as a going concern or as a consequence of the
Chapter 11 Cases.

As a result of our financial condition, the defaults under our debt agreements, and the risks and uncertainties surrounding the
Chapter 11 Cases, substantial doubt exists regarding our ability to continue as a going concern. As described above, the
Bankruptcy Court confirmed the Restructuring Plan on November 4, 2020 and we expect to emerge from the Chapter 11 Cases
by the end of-November and, as a result, we believe the substantial doubt regarding our ability to continue as a going concern
will be alleviated.

Liabilities Subject to Compromise

The consolidated balance sheet as of September 30, 2020, includes amounts classified as liabilities subject to compromise,
which represent liabilities we anticipate will be allowed as claims in the Chapter 11 Cases. Liabilities subject to compromise
include amounts related to the rejection or termination of certain executory contracts. These amounts represent our current
estimate of known or potential obligations to be resolved in connection with the Chapter 11 Cases and may differ from actual
future settlement amounts paid. Differences between liabilities estimated and claims filed, or to be filed, will be investigated and
resolved in connection with the claims resolution process. We will continue

10
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to evaluate these liabilities throughout the Chapter 11 process and adjust amounts as necessary. Such adjustments may be
material.

The following table summarizes our liabilities subject to compromise:

September 30,
(In millions) 2020
Debt $ 4373
Terminated executory contracts 41.5
Interest 9.3
Total liabilities subject to compromise $ 488.1

Reorganization Items

We have incurred expenses and losses associated with the reorganization. These items are classified as reorganization items
in our consolidated statements of operations. The following table summarizes our reorganization items:

Three and Nine

Months Ended

September 30,
(In millions) 2020
Terminated executory contracts 9.8
Derecognition of unamortized debt discounts and issuance costs 2.5
Legal and professional fees 1.4
Total reorganization items $ 13.7

NOTE 2 — BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The unaudited consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”) for interim financial reporting. Accordingly, certain information and
disclosures normally included in our annual consolidated financial statements have been condensed or omitted. These unaudited
consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with our audited consolidated financial statements included in our
annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019. In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements
included herein contain all adjustments of a normal, recurring nature considered necessary for a fair presentation of the interim
periods. The results of operations of the interim periods are not necessarily indicative of the results of operations to be expected
for the full year. There were no items of other comprehensive income in the periods presented.

Reclassifications

All inventory write-downs have been reclassified from costs of revenue to impairments and other charges on the statements
of operations for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2019, to conform to current year presentation. This
reclassification had no effect on operating income (loss) or net income (loss) as previously reported.

New Accounting Standards Updates

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments — Credit Losses: Measurement of Credit Losses on
Financial Instruments. This standard requires companies to measure credit losses utilizing a methodology that reflects expected
credit losses and requires a consideration of a broader range of reasonable and supportable information to inform credit loss
estimates. The new standard also applies to financial assets arising from revenue transactions such as accounts receivables. We
adopted this standard on January 1, 2020, and it had no material effect on our consolidated financial statements.

11
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NOTE 3 — RESTRICTED CASH
Restricted Cash

The following table provides a reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash reported within the consolidated
statement of cash flows.

September 30, December 31,
(In millions) 2020 2019
Cash and cash equivalents $ 144.5 $ 223.0
Restricted cash included in prepaid expenses and other current assets 7.8 —
Total cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash shown in the
consolidated statements of cash flows $ 152.3 $ 223.0

Our restricted cash represents cash pledged primarily as collateral for letters of credit issued to our casualty and general
liability insurance provider.

NOTE 4 — CURRENT ECONOMIC ENVIRONMENT

Our business activities are concentrated in the well completion services segment of the oilfield services industry in the
United States. The market for these services is cyclical, and we depend on the willingness of our customers to make expenditures
to explore for, develop, and produce oil and natural gas in the United States. The willingness of our customers to undertake these
activities depends largely upon prevailing industry conditions and is predominantly influenced by current and expected future
prices for oil and natural gas. Our customer base is also concentrated. Our business, financial condition and results of operations
can be materially adversely affected if one or more of our significant customers ceases to engage us for our services on favorable
terms, or at all, or fails to pay, or delays in paying us significant amounts of our outstanding receivables.

A reduced demand for oil due to the COVID-19 pandemic and an increased supply of oil due to the Saudi-Russia price war
earlier this year have substantially lowered the price of oil since March 2020. This lower price of oil and the pandemic have
caused our customers to substantially reduce their hydraulic fracturing activities and the prices they are willing to pay for our
services. We averaged seven active fleets in the third quarter. We expect to have one to two additional active fleets during the
fourth quarter, but we have limited visibility into demand for 2021.

In response to this market environment, we are focused on offering a reduced number of active fleets into the market, as well
as managing our fixed costs, to minimize the amount of cash needed to support our business during this time of low activity and
low pricing levels. Our actions have included reducing labor costs through reductions in force, wage reductions, and furloughs.
We have also negotiated with all our vendors to significantly reduce our non-labor costs.

We believe if our Chapter 11 Cases are resolved according to our Restructuring Plan, then the Company will be well
positioned and have the financial flexibility to navigate the prolonged lower activity levels that the industry is experiencing. This
will allow us to continue supplying the industry with the hydraulic fracturing services that are an integral part of U.S. oil
production.

12
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NOTE 5 — INDEBTEDNESS AND BORROWING FACILITY

The following table summarizes our total debt:

September 30, December 31,
(In millions) 2020 2019
Term loan due April 2021 $ 67.4 $ 90.0
Senior secured notes due May 2022 369.9 369.9
Total principal amount 4373 459.9
Less unamortized discount and debt issuance costs — (3.0)
Total debt 4373 456.9
Less amounts reclassified to liabilities subject to compromise (437.3) —
Total long-term debt $ —  $ 456.9

Before filing for our Chapter 11 Cases, we were in compliance with all of the covenants in our debt agreements.
Debt Repayments

In 2020, we repaid $22.6 million of aggregate principal amount of our Term Loan Agreement using cash on hand. We
recognized a gain on this debt extinguishment of $2.0 million.

Terminated Revolving Credit Facility

As part of the Chapter 11 filing our revolving credit facility was terminated in the third quarter of 2020. Prior to its
termination, the maximum availability of credit under our revolving credit facility was limited at any time to the lesser of $100
million or a borrowing base. The credit facility was amended in August 2020, which among other things, reduced the maximum
availability under the credit facility from $250 million to $100 million. The borrowing base was based on percentages of eligible
accounts receivable and was subject to certain reserves. If at any time borrowings and letters of credit issued under the credit
facility exceeded the borrowing base, we would be required to repay an amount equal to such excess.

During 2020, there were no borrowings drawn under the credit facility, and certain letters of credit were issued. At
September 30, 2020, we had replaced these letters of credit with cash collateralized letters of credit.

NOTE 6 — STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Reverse Stock Split

In May 2020, our board of directors (our “Board”) approved a reverse stock split of the Company’s issued and outstanding
common stock on a one for twenty basis. The par value of the Company’s common stock and the number of shares authorized for
issuance remained unchanged as a result of the reverse stock split. All common shares and stock awards presented in the
unaudited consolidated financial statements have been retrospectively adjusted for the reverse stock split. In addition, the
Company transferred the listing of the Company’s common stock from the New York Stock Exchange (the “NYSE”) to the
NYSE American.

Share Repurchase
In May 2019, our Board approved an authorization for a total share repurchase of up to $100 million of the Company’s

common stock to be executed through open market or private transactions. In the first six months of 2020, we repurchased zero
shares of common stock. The authorization expired on May 14, 2020.
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NOTE 7 — REVENUE

The Company contracts with its customers to perform hydraulic fracturing services on one or more oil or natural gas wells.
Under these arrangements, we satisfy our performance obligations as services are rendered, which is generally upon the
completion of a fracturing stage or the passage of time. Pricing for our services is frequently negotiated with our customers and is
based on prevailing market rates during each reporting period. The amounts we invoice our customers for services performed
during a period are directly related to the value received by the customers for the period. There is no inherent uncertainty to the
amount of consideration we will receive for services performed during a period and no judgment is required to allocate a portion
of the transaction price to a future period. Accordingly, we are not required to identify any unsatisfied performance obligations
nor attribute any revenue to them. We have no material contract assets or liabilities with our customers. We do not present
disaggregated revenue because we do not believe this information is necessary to understand the nature, amount, timing and
uncertainty of our revenues and cash flows.

NOTE 8 — IMPAIRMENTS AND OTHER CHARGES

The following table summarizes our impairments and other charges:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,

(In millions) 2020 2019 2020 2019
Transaction costs $ 185 § — S 185 § —
Supply commitment charges — 0.9 9.1 57.6
Inventory write-down 0.6 1.7 5.1 5.2
Employee severance costs — — 1.0 —
Loss on contract termination 0.3 — 0.3 —
Impairment of assets — 4.2 — 9.7
Total impairments and other charges $ 194 $ 68 $ 340 $ 72.5

Transaction Costs

In preparation for, and prior to filing, our Chapter 11 Cases, we incurred and paid $7.0 million in legal and professional fees
and paid $11.5 million to certain holders of our Term Loan Agreement and Secured Notes pursuant to the Restructuring Support
Agreement.

Supply Commitment Charges

We have historically incurred supply commitment charges when our purchases of sand from certain suppliers were less than
the minimum purchase commitments in our supply contracts. According to the accounting guidance for firm purchase
commitments, future losses that are considered likely are also required to be recorded in the current period.

During the first nine months of 2020 and 2019, we recorded aggregate charges under these supply contracts of $9.1 million
and $57.6 million, respectively. These charges related to actual purchase shortfalls incurred, as well as forecasted losses expected
to be incurred and settled in future periods. Historically, these purchase shortfalls have been largely due to our customers
choosing to procure their own sand, often from sand mines closer to their operating areas. Prior to and during our bankruptcy
proceedings, we terminated these contracts and have no further purchase commitments to these vendors.

In May 2019, we restructured the Covia sand supply contract to reduce the total remaining commitment through 2024 by
approximately $162 million. In connection with this agreement, we recorded a supply commitment charge of $55.0 million in the
first quarter of 2019 to record losses on certain expected purchase shortfalls. The remaining amount of the 2019 charges represent
revised estimates of our purchase shortfalls under this contract for 2019.

Estimated losses related to supply contracts contain uncertainties, such as future customer demand and sand preferences.

These uncertainties require us to use judgment to quantify these estimates. Actual results could materially differ from our
estimates.
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Employee Severance Costs

In the first nine months of 2020, we incurred employee severance costs of $1.0 million in connection with our cost reduction
measures to mitigate losses from the decline in customer activity levels due to the low commodity price environment. At
September 30, 2020, we had zero remaining liability for future severance payments.

Loss on Contract Termination

In September 2020, we terminated our operating leases for containerized proppant delivery and a sand supply contract with a
certain vendor. We recorded a net loss of $0.3 million as a result of these contract terminations.

2019 Fleet Capacity Reduction

In the fourth quarter of 2019, we decided to dispose of certain idle equipment. The equipment selected for disposal was
comprised primarily of hydraulic fracturing pumps that were substantially depreciated. Certain hydraulic fracturing components,
such as engines and transmissions that we believed to have remaining useful lives, were removed prior to disposing of the
equipment and used in our maintenance and repair activities for our remaining fleets. These disposals reduced our capacity of
equipment from 34 total fleets to 28 total fleets. We recorded an asset impairment of $4.2 million in connection with these
anticipated disposals in the third quarter of 2019.

Discontinued Wireline Operations

In May 2019, we discontinued our wireline operations due to financial underperformance resulting from market conditions.
As a result of this decision, we recorded an asset impairment of $2.8 million and an inventory write-down of $1.4 million in the
first quarter of 2019 to adjust these assets to their estimated fair market values and net realizable values, respectively. We sold
substantially all of these assets in 2019 and received net proceeds of approximately $3.7 million.

Other

In the second quarter of 2019, we recorded $2.7 million of impairments for certain land and buildings that we no longer use.
The remaining amounts of inventory write-downs for the periods presented were to reduce excess, obsolete, and slow-moving
inventory to its estimated net realizable value.

Risk of Future Impairments

As previously discussed, we have experienced a substantial downturn in our business resulting from the COVID-19
pandemic and the Saudi-Russia price war earlier this year. We concluded that this downturn resulted in triggering events in the
second and third quarters of 2020 to test our long-lived assets and indefinite-lived tradename for impairment. After testing these
assets for impairment, we concluded that no impairments were required in either period. These tests rely on two key inputs: the
estimated severity and length of the current industry downturn and the magnitude of an industry recovery. If current industry
conditions continue for a prolonged period or if our estimates of these key inputs are revised unfavorably in a future quarter, we
will likely incur impairments of long-lived assets or our tradename in a future period.

NOTE 9 — INCOME TAXES

In 2012, we established a full valuation allowance with respect to our U.S. federal deferred tax assets and state deferred tax
assets in excess of our deferred tax liabilities. We have recorded a full valuation allowance for these net deferred tax assets for
each year since 2012. As a result, we only record income tax expense for states that limit the deduction of net operating loss
carryforwards and for foreign income taxes. Deferred tax assets related to our U.S. federal and state tax net operating losses are
still available to us to offset future taxable income, subject to limitations in the event of a change of control under Section 382 of
the Internal Revenue Code. At September 30, 2020, we had not incurred such an ownership change.

The restructuring transactions contemplated in our Restructuring Plan will result in an ownership change under Section 382

upon our emergence from bankruptcy. This change could substantially reduce our net operating loss carryforwards and certain
tax deductions; however, the full extent of this limitations is currently unknown.
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At each reporting date, we consider all available positive and negative evidence to evaluate whether our deferred tax assets
are more likely than not to be realized. A significant piece of negative evidence that we consider is whether we have incurred
cumulative losses (generally defined as losses before income taxes) in recent years. Such negative evidence weighs heavily
against other more subjective positive evidence such as our projections for future taxable income. We noted that for the three
years ended December 31, 2019, we recorded cumulative income before income taxes of $391.2 million. Notwithstanding the
three-year cumulative income, we concluded that a full valuation allowance was still required at September 30, 2020, because of
the significant fluctuations of our business in recent years, and our losses before income taxes for the year ended December 31,
2019, and the for nine months ended September 30, 2020.

NOTE 10 — EARNINGS PER SHARE

The numerators and denominators of the basic and diluted earnings per share (“EPS”’) computations for our common stock
are calculated as follows:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,

(Dollars in millions, except per share amounts) 2020 2019 2020 2019
Numerator:
Net loss used for basic and diluted EPS computations $§ (87 $ (10.8) § (131.1) $ (59.9
Denominator:
Weighted average shares used for
basic EPS computation (in thousands) 5,381 5,430 5,376 5,465
Effect of dilutive securities:

Dilutive potential of employee restricted stock units — — — —
Number of shares used for
diluted EPS computation (in thousands) 5,381 5,430 5,376 5,465
Basic and diluted EPS $ 1277) $ (1.99) $§ (24390 $ (10.96)

We had 95,000 and 165,000 restricted stock units outstanding at September 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively, that were not
included in the calculation of diluted EPS for the periods presented because the effect would be antidilutive. These securities
could be dilutive in future periods.

NOTE 11 — COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Purchase Obligations

Before terminating these contracts in the third quarter of 2020, we had purchase commitments with certain vendors to supply
a significant portion of the proppant used in our operations. See discussion of our Covia dispute below and Note 8 —
“Impairments and Other Charges” for more discussion of these terminated contracts.

Chapter 11 Proceedings
See Note 1 — “Chapter 11 Bankruptcy Proceedings” for more information about our bankruptcy proceedings.
Legal Contingencies

In the ordinary course of business, we are subject to various legal proceedings and claims, some of which may not be
covered by insurance. Many of these legal proceedings and claims are in early stages, and many of them seek an indeterminate
amount of damages. We estimate and provide for potential losses that may arise out of legal proceedings and claims to the extent
that such losses are probable and can be reasonably estimated. Significant judgment is required in making these estimates and our
final liabilities may ultimately be materially different from these estimates. When preparing our estimates, we consider, among
other factors, the progress of each legal proceeding and claim, our experience and the experience of others in similar legal
proceedings and claims, and the opinions and views of legal counsel. Legal costs related to litigation contingencies are expensed
as incurred.
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With respect to the matters below, if there is an adverse outcome individually or collectively, there could be a material
adverse effect on the Company’s consolidated financial position or results of operations. These matters are subject to inherent
uncertainties and management’s view of these matters may change in the future. Therefore, there can be no assurance as to the
ultimate outcome of these matters. Regardless of the outcome, any such litigation and claims can have an adverse impact on the
Company because of defense and settlement costs, diversion of management resources and other factors.

Patterson v. FTS International Manufacturing, LLC and FTS International Services, LLC: On June 24, 2015, Joshua
Patterson filed a lawsuit against the Company in the 115th Judicial District Court of Upshur County, Texas, alleging, among other
things, that the Company was negligent with respect to an automobile accident in 2013. Mr. Patterson sought monetary relief of
more than $1 million. On July 19, 2018, a jury returned a verdict of approximately $100 million, including punitive damages,
against the Company. The trial court reduced the judgment on November 12, 2018 to approximately $33 million. The Company’s
insurance carriers appealed and the Twelfth Court of Appeals reversed the verdict in its entirety on August 26, 2020, remanding
the case for a new trial. The case is currently stayed due to the Company’s bankruptcy proceedings and no new trial date has been
set. While the outcome of this case is uncertain, the Company has met its insurance deductible for this matter and we do not
expect the ultimate resolution of this case to have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial statements.

Securities Act Litigation: On February 22, 2019, Carol Glock filed a purported securities class action in the 160th Civil
District Court of Dallas County, Texas (Cause No. DC-19-02668) against the Company, certain of our officers, directors and
stockholders, and certain of the underwriters of our initial public offering of common stock (“IPO”). The complaint was brought
on behalf of an alleged class of persons or entities who purchased our common stock in or traceable to our IPO, and purports to
allege claims arising under Sections 11 and 15 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. The complaint sought, among other
relief, class certification, damages in an amount in excess of $1.0 million, and reasonable costs and expenses, including attorneys’
fees. After removing the case from state to federal court in the Southern District of Texas, Defendants filed a motion to dismiss
based on deficiencies in the pleadings on September 18, 2020. Prior to a hearing on the motion, the parties settled the case on
October 16, 2020. The settlement is on a class-wide basis, and is therefore, subject to both trial court and bankruptcy court
approval. FTSI has insurance coverage on this matter, but several of FTSI’s co-defendants tendered requests for indemnification
not covered by FTSI’s insurance. FTSI agreed to indemnify the IPO underwriter co-defendants. We believe the settlement should
resolve both the insured and uninsured portions of this matter. We do not expect the ultimate resolution of this case to have a
material adverse effect on our consolidated financial statements.

Covia Contract Dispute Resolution: The counterparty to our largest sand supply contract, Covia, filed a voluntary petition
for relief under the Bankruptcy Code in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of Texas on June 29, 2020.
FTSI became entitled to terminate its sand supply contract with Covia because of its bankruptcy filing. FTSI notified Covia of its
termination of the sand supply contract on July 14, 2020, stating that no further amounts are due to Covia. Covia responded on
July 22, 2020, claiming that FTSI is not entitled to terminate the agreement and is, therefore, obligated to make approximately
$84 million in future payments and/or sand purchases through 2024. Covia also stated that, even if FTSI were permitted to
terminate the supply contract, it would owe Covia $44 million. Covia filed an adversary proceeding against the Company on
September 10, 2020, asserting the same claims in their July 22, 2020 letter. The Company resolved its dispute with Covia
pursuant to the Confirmation Order.

We believe that costs associated with other legal matters will not have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial
statements or financial condition.

NOTE 12 - FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair value is defined as the price that would be received from selling an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at a measurement date. We apply the following fair value hierarchy, which prioritizes the
inputs used to measure fair value into three levels and bases the categorization within the hierarchy upon the lowest level of input

that is available and significant to the fair value measurement:

e Level One: The use of quoted prices in active markets for identical financial instruments.
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o Level Two: The use of quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets or quoted prices for identical or
similar instruments in markets that are not active or other inputs that are observable in the market or can be
corroborated by observable market data.

e [Level Three: The use of significant unobservable inputs that typically require the use of management’s estimates of
assumptions that market participants would use in pricing.

Recurring Fair Value Measurements
Money market funds, classified as cash and cash equivalents, are the only financial instruments that are measured and
recorded at fair value on the Company’s balance sheets. The following table presents money market funds at their level within the

fair value hierarchy.

Principal Total Fair

(In millions) Amount Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
September 30, 2020

Money market funds $ 1196 $ 1196 $ 1196 $ — 5 —
December 31, 2019

Money market funds $ 1936 $ 1936 $ 1936 $ — 5 —

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Financial instruments not measured at fair value on a recurring basis include cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable,
accounts payable, accrued liabilities, and long-term debt. With the exception of long-term debt and debt subject to compromise,
the financial statement carrying amounts of these items approximate their fair values due to their short-term nature.

Carrying amounts and the related estimated fair values of our long-term debt and debt subject to compromise are as follows:

Principal Total Fair

(In millions) Amount Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

September 30, 2020

Term Loan Agreement (1) $ 674 § 237 $ — $ 237 $ —

Secured Notes (1) 369.9 122.1 — 122.1 —
$§ 4373 § 1458 — § 1458 $ —

December 31, 2019

Term Loan Agreement (2) $§ 9.0 $ 770 $ — $ 770 $ —

Secured Notes (2) 369.9 240.2 — 240.2 —
$§ 4599 § 3172 § — §$ 3172 $ —

(1) Classified as liabilities subject to compromise on our consolidated balance sheets
(2) Classified as long-term debt on our consolidated balance sheets

Estimated fair values for our Term Loan Agreement and Secured Notes were determined using recent trading activity and/or
bid-ask spreads and are classified as Level 2 in the FASB’s fair value hierarchy.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Unless the context requires otherwise, the use of the terms “FTSI,” “Company,” “we,” “us,” “our” or “ours” refer to FTS
International, Inc., together with its consolidated subsidiaries. The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition
and results of operations should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and related notes that appear
elsewhere in this quarterly report on Form 10-Q as well as information in our annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2019. Unless otherwise specified, all comparisons made are to the corresponding period of 2019.

Overview

We are an independent hydraulic fracturing service company and one of the only vertically integrated service providers of its
kind in North America. Our services stimulate hydrocarbon flow from oil and natural gas wells drilled by E&P companies. We
had 1.4 million total hydraulic horsepower across 28 fleets as of September 30, 2020. We averaged seven active fleets in the third
quarter of 2020. We operate in the major basins in the United States.

Recent Developments

On September 22, 2020, FTS International, Inc. and its primary subsidiaries filed petitions for voluntary relief under chapter
11 of title 11 of the United States Code in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of Texas, Houston
Division. The bankruptcy court has approved joint administration of the bankruptcy cases under the caption In re FTS
International, Inc., et al. See Note 1 — “Chapter 11 Bankruptcy Proceedings” in the notes to our consolidated financial
statements included elsewhere in this quarterly report on Form 10-Q for more information about our bankruptcy proceedings. The
remaining subsidiaries of the Company that did not file for bankruptcy are immaterial.

We are currently operating as “debtors-in-possession” under the jurisdiction of the bankruptcy court and in accordance with
the applicable provisions of the bankruptcy code and the orders of the bankruptcy court. For the duration of the bankruptcy, our
operations and ability to develop and execute our business plan are subject to the risks and uncertainties associated with the
bankruptcy process described in Item 1A. “Risk Factors.” We are authorized to conduct normal business activities and pay all
associated obligations for the period following the bankruptcy filing. We are authorized to pay employee wages and benefits, and
certain vendors and suppliers in the ordinary course of business for goods and services provided. During the bankruptcy
proceedings, all transactions outside the ordinary course of business require the prior approval of the bankruptcy court.

We are authorized to use the cash collateral securing our debt to fund the bankruptcy process. We agreed on a prepackaged
restructuring plan with a substantial majority of our funded debt holders before filing for bankruptcy. This Restructuring Plan will
eliminate our existing funded debt. The Restructuring Plan provides that our secured debt holders will receive $30.66 million in
cash plus approximately 90.1% of the common equity shares of the Company, minus a portion of recoveries assigned to holders
of unsecured funded debt claims and contract termination claims. The existing shareholders will receive approximately 9.4 % of
the common equity shares of the Company, minus a portion of recoveries assigned to holders of unsecured funded debt claims
plus warrants to acquire our common stock. Holders of unsecured funded debt claims and contract termination claims, unless
otherwise agreed, will receive their share of the unencumbered asset value at the entity or entities against which they hold their
claims. Claims other than funded debt claims and claims arising under terminated executory contracts are expected to ride
through the bankruptcy unimpaired. The Bankruptcy Court confirmed the Restructuring Plan on November 4, 2020, and the
Debtors expect to emerge from the Chapter 11 Cases by the end of-November. We settled our dispute with Covia with respect to
its termination claim pursuant to the Confirmation Order.

As a result of our financial condition and the risks and uncertainties surrounding the bankruptcy proceedings, substantial
doubt exists regarding our ability to continue as a going concern. As described above, the Bankruptcy Court confirmed the
Restructuring Plan on November 4, 2020 and we expect to emerge from the Chapter 11 Cases by the end of November and, as a
result, we believe the substantial doubt regarding our ability to continue as a going concern will be alleviated.
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Summary Financial Results

e Total revenue for the third quarter and first nine months of 2020 was $32.1 million and $213.1 million, which
represented decreases of $153.9 million and $421.2 million, respectively, from the same periods in 2019.

e Net loss for the third quarter and first nine months of 2020 was $68.7 million and $131.1 million, which represented
increased losses of $57.9 million and $71.2 million, respectively, from the same periods in 2019.

e Adjusted EBITDA for the third quarter and first nine months of 2020 was negative $7.6 million and positive $5.6
million, which represented decreases of $29.9 million and $100.1 million, respectively, from the same periods in 2019.

Industry trends and business outlook

Our business depends on the willingness of E&P companies to make expenditures to explore for, develop, and produce oil
and natural gas in the United States. The willingness of E&P companies to undertake these activities depends largely upon
prevailing industry conditions and is predominantly influenced by current and expected future prices for oil and natural gas. A
widely watched indicator of E&P companies’ aggregate activity levels is the Baker Hughes drilling rig count, or rig count. The
active horizontal rig count is a subset of the total rig count and is the most strongly correlated with the aggregate industry demand
for hydraulic fracturing services.

The average horizontal rig count was approximately 220 and 420 for the third quarter and first nine months of 2020,
respectively, compared to an average of approximately 800 and 860 for the same respective periods last year. The rig count and
our customer activity began decreasing significantly in March 2020 as E&P companies began reacting to the significantly lower
price of oil resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic and the Saudi-Russia price war. The horizontal rig count declined to 207 on
August 14, 2020, which is the lowest level since 2005. The decrease in rig count has substantially lowered the demand for our
hydraulic fracturing equipment as we averaged seven active fleets in the third quarter. We expect to have one to two additional
active fleets during the fourth quarter, but we have limited visibility into demand for 2021.

The prices that we are able to charge for our services are affected by the supply of hydraulic fracturing equipment that is
available in the market to meet customer demand. The convergence of the COVID-19 pandemic and the Saudi-Russia price war
during the first half of 2020 substantially reduced the pricing for our services, which are near breakeven levels on a cash basis.

In response to this market environment, we are focused on offering a reduced number of active fleets into the market, as well
as managing our fixed costs, to minimize the amount of cash needed to support our business during this time of low activity and
low pricing levels. Our actions have included reducing labor costs through reductions in force, wage reductions, and furloughs.
We have also negotiated with all our vendors to significantly reduce our non-labor costs.

There is considerable uncertainty around the level of US oil production and the related demand for hydraulic fracturing
services in the near to medium term, but we expect the industry to normalize at a higher level than those that we are currently
experiencing. We believe if our bankruptcy cases are resolved according to our restructuring plan, then the Company will be well
positioned to supply the industry with the hydraulic fracturing services that are and will continue to be an integral part of U.S. oil
production.

We closely monitor the COVID-19 pandemic and are focused on the health and welfare of our employees and the
communities where we work, as well as maintaining business continuity. We closely follow the guidance of the Centers for
Disease Control (“CDC”) and adhere to state and local regulations. We have instituted health and safety procedures to protect our
employees, customers and their families such as:

e Canceling all international travel and restricting all nonessential employee travel within the U.S.
e Canceling all large group meetings and customer events or conducting such meetings virtually.
e Limiting access to worksites, district, and office locations to essential personnel.

e Training employees on CDC recommendations to help prevent the spread of respiratory viruses.

e  Pre-screening employees before returning to work sites.
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e Instituting work from home for appropriate positions.

e Assembling a back-up crew to replace a crew that may have to be quarantined.

e [solating those employees who have contracted the virus or have been exposed to infected individuals.
e Implementing more frequent cleaning and sanitizing of work areas.

e Increased access to face coverings, hand washing stations and sanitizer.

If the pandemic were to shut down operations at our work sites, it could affect the financial condition of the Company. For
that reason, we developed and activated a readiness plan to address COVID-19 specific issues in addition to our business
continuity plan, which is designed to address emergency situations. To date, COVID-19 disruptions to our business operations
have been successfully mitigated because of these efforts.

Results of Operations

Revenue

The following table includes certain operating statistics that affect our revenue:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,

(Dollars in millions) 2020 2019 2020 2019
Revenue $ 321§ 18.0 $ 2124 $§ 6334
Revenue from related parties — — 0.7 0.9
Total revenue $ 321§ 1860 $ 2131 § 6343
Total fracturing stages 3,243 7,050 11,599 21,020
Active fleets (1) 7.3 19.8 9.4 20.3
Total fleets (2) 28.0 34.0 28.0 34.0

(1) Active fleets is the average number of fleets operating during the period. We had 8 and 18 active fleets at
September 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

(2) Total fleets is the total number of fleets owned at the end of the period. In the fourth quarter of 2019, we decided to
dispose of certain idle equipment that reduced our fleets owned to 28 total fleets.

Total revenue for the third quarter and first nine months of 2020 decreased by $153.9 million and $421.2 million,
respectively, from the same periods in 2019. This decrease was due to a lower number of average active fleets, lower average
pricing of our services, a decrease in the prices for materials used in the fracturing process, and an increase in the portion of
customers who provided their own proppant and fuel.

The number of fracturing stages completed per average active fleet for the third quarter increased by 24.8% due to continued

improvements in our operating efficiencies. The number of fracturing stages completed per average active fleet for the first nine
months of 2020 increased by 19.2% due to better operating efficiencies in the first quarter of 2020.
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Costs of revenue

The following table summarizes our costs of revenue:

Three Months Ended September 30,

2020 2019
As a Percent As a Percent
(Dollars in millions) Dollars of Revenue Dollars of Revenue
Costs of revenue, excluding depreciation and amortization § 307 957% $ 1455 78.2 %
Depreciation — costs of revenue 16.8 523 % 20.6 11.1 %
Total costs of revenue $ 475 148.0% $ 166.1 89.3 %

Nine Months Ended September 30,

2020 2019
As a Percent As a Percent
(Dollars in millions) Dollars of Revenue Dollars of Revenue
Costs of revenue, excluding depreciation and amortization § 1742 818% § 4724 74.5 %
Depreciation — costs of revenue 56.5 26.5 % 61.7 9.7 %
Total costs of revenue $§ 2307 1083 % § 534.1 84.2 %

Total costs of revenue for the third quarter and first nine months of 2020 decreased by $118.6 million and $303.4 million,
respectively, from the same periods in 2019. This decrease was primarily due to the decrease in our costs of revenue, excluding
depreciation.

Costs of revenue, excluding depreciation, for the third quarter and first nine months of 2020 decreased by $114.8 million and
$298.2 million, respectively, from the same periods in 2019. The decreases for 2020 were due to a lower number of average
active fleets compared to the same period in 2019, a decrease in the prices for materials used in the fracturing process, and an
increase in the portion of customers who provided their own proppant and fuel.

Depreciation for our service equipment for the third quarter and first nine months of 2020 decreased by $3.8 million and $5.2
million, respectively, from the periods in 2019. These decreases were driven by reduced capital expenditures in the second and
third quarters of 2020.

Total costs of revenue as a percentage of total revenue for the third quarter of 2020 increased by 58.7 percentage points from
89.3% in 2019 to 148.0% in 2020. Total costs of revenue as a percentage of total revenue for the first nine months of 2020
increased by 24.1 percentage points from 84.2% in 2019 to 108.3% in 2020 This increase was primarily due a decrease in the
pricing for our services and the lower utilization rate of our fleets in the second and third quarters of 2020.

Selling, general and administrative expense
Selling, general and administrative expense for the third quarter and first nine months of 2020 decreased by $9.3 million and

$23.7 million, respectively, from the same periods in 2019. This decrease was primarily due to lower compensation and benefits
expense as well as the result of our cost-saving initiatives across the company in 2020.
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Depreciation and amortization

The following table summarizes our depreciation and amortization:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,
(In millions) 2020 2019 2020 2019
Costs of revenue (1) $ 168 $ 206 $§ 565 % 61.7
Other (2) 1.0 2.1 2.9 6.2
Total depreciation and amortization $ 178 & 227 § 594 $ 67.9

(1) Related to service equipment discussed under the “Costs of revenue” heading of this discussion and analysis.
(2) Related to all long-lived assets other than service equipment.

Depreciation and amortization for the third quarter and first nine months of 2020 decreased by $4.9 million and $8.5 million,
respectively, from the same periods in 2019. These decreases were due to decreases in depreciation for our service equipment,
which has been previously discussed under “Costs of revenue.” The remaining decrease in depreciation was due to certain assets
being disposed or becoming fully depreciated.

Impairments and other charges

The following table summarizes our impairments and other charges:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,

(In millions) 2020 2019 2020 2019
Transaction costs $ 185  § — S 185 § —
Supply commitment charges — 0.9 9.1 57.6
Inventory write-down 0.6 1.7 5.1 5.2
Employee severance costs — — 1.0 —
Loss on contract termination 0.3 — 0.3 —
Impairment of assets — 4.2 — 9.7
Total impairments and other charges $ 194 § 68 $§ 340 § 725

Transaction Costs: In preparation for, and prior to filing, our Chapter 11 Cases, we incurred and paid $7.0 million in legal
and professional fees and paid $11.5 million to certain holders of our Term Loan Agreement and Secured Notes in connection
with obtaining their support for the Restructuring Plan.

Supply Commitment Charges: We have historically incurred supply commitment charges when our purchases of sand from
certain suppliers were less than the minimum purchase commitments in our supply contracts. According to the accounting
guidance for firm purchase commitments, future losses that are considered likely are also required to be recorded in the current
period.

During the first nine months of 2020 and 2019, we recorded aggregate charges under these supply contracts of $9.1 million
and $57.6 million, respectively. These charges related to actual purchase shortfalls incurred, as well as forecasted losses expected
to be incurred and settled in future periods. Historically, these purchase shortfalls have been largely due to our customers
choosing to procure their own sand, often from sand mines closer to their operating areas. Prior to and during our bankruptcy
proceedings, we terminated these contracts and have no further purchase commitments to these vendors.

In May 2019, we restructured the Covia sand supply contract to reduce the total remaining commitment through 2024 by
approximately $162 million. In connection with this agreement, we recorded a supply commitment charge of $55.0 million in the
first quarter of 2019 to record losses on certain expected purchase shortfalls. The remaining amount of the 2019 charges represent
revised estimates of our purchase shortfalls under this contract for 2019.

23




Table of Contents

Estimated losses related to supply contracts contain uncertainties, such as future customer demand and sand preferences.
These uncertainties require us to use judgment to quantify these estimates. Actual results could materially differ from our
estimates.

Employee Severance Costs: In the first nine months of 2020, we incurred employee severance costs of $1.0 million in
connection with our cost reduction measures to mitigate losses from the decline in customer activity levels due to the low
commodity price environment. At September 30, 2020, we had zero remaining liability for future severance payments.

Loss on Contract Termination: In September 2020, we terminated our operating leases for containerized proppant delivery
and a sand supply contract with a certain vendor. We recorded a net loss of $0.3 million as a result of these contract terminations.

2019 Fleet Capacity Reduction: In the fourth quarter of 2019, we decided to dispose of certain idle equipment. The
equipment selected for disposal was comprised primarily of hydraulic fracturing pumps that were substantially depreciated.
Certain hydraulic fracturing components, such as engines and transmissions that we believed to have remaining useful lives, were
removed prior to disposing of the equipment and used in our maintenance and repair activities for our remaining fleets. These
disposals reduced our capacity of equipment from 34 total fleets to 28 total fleets. We recorded an asset impairment of $4.2
million in connection with these anticipated disposals in the third quarter of 2019.

Discontinued Wireline Operations: In May 2019, we discontinued our wireline operations due to financial underperformance
resulting from market conditions. As a result of this decision, we recorded an asset impairment of $2.8 million and an inventory
write-down of $1.4 million in the first quarter of 2019 to adjust these assets to their estimated fair market values and net
realizable values, respectively. We sold substantially all of these assets in 2019 and received net proceeds of approximately $3.7
million.

Other: In the second quarter of 2019, we recorded $2.7 million of impairments for certain land and buildings that we no
longer use. The remaining amounts of inventory write-downs for the periods presented were to reduce excess, obsolete, and slow-
moving inventory to its estimated net realizable value.

Risk of Future Impairments: As previously discussed, we have experienced a substantial downturn in our business resulting
from the COVID-19 pandemic and the Saudi-Russia price war earlier this year. We concluded that this downturn resulted in
triggering events in the second and third quarters of 2020 to test our long-lived assets and indefinite-lived tradename for
impairment. After testing these assets for impairment, we concluded that no impairments were required in either period. These
tests rely on two key inputs: the estimated severity and length of the current industry downturn and the magnitude of an industry
recovery. If current industry conditions continue for a prolonged period or if our estimates of these key inputs are revised
unfavorably in a future quarter, we will likely incur impairments of long-lived assets or our tradename in a future period.

Interest expense, net

Interest expense, net of interest income, for the third quarter and first nine months of 2020 decreased by $0.2 million and
$1.4 million, respectively, from the same periods in 2019. We recognized approximately $0.7 million less interest expense in
both periods as a result of us not recording interest expense for the days in the periods after our bankruptcy filing in accordance
with the accounting guidance for bankruptcies. The decreases were also partially due to lower average long-term debt balances
and lower average interest rates for our Term Loan Agreement in 2020. These decreases were partially offset by increased
interest expense due to the derecognition of deferred issuance costs related to an amendment of our terminated revolving credit
facility and lower interest received on our money market accounts in 2020.

Extinguishment of debt

In the first nine months of 2020, we repaid $22.6 million of aggregate principal amount of our Term Loan Agreement using
cash on hand. We recognized a gain on this debt extinguishment of $2.0 million.
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In the first nine months of 2019, we repaid $31.0 million of aggregate principal amount of our Term Loan Agreement using
cash on hand. We recognized a loss on this debt extinguishment of $0.2 million. In the first nine months of 2019, we repurchased
$17.0 million of aggregate principal amount of Secured Notes in the qualified institutional buyer market using cash on hand. We
recognized a gain on this debt extinguishment of $1.4 million.

Gain on sale of equity interest in joint venture affiliate

In August 2019, FTSI closed on the sale of its 45% equity ownership interest in SinoFTS Petroleum Services Ltd., FTSI’s
joint venture in China, to Sinopec Oilfield Services Corporation, FTSI’s joint venture partner. In exchange, FTSI, through its
affiliate FTS International Netherlands B.V., received consideration of $26.9 million for the sale of its equity interest, and
through FTS International Services, LLC, received a royalty fee of $5.8 million for a license for its intellectual property use and
for future limited support of the joint venture’s operations. After conducting an analysis of the relative fair values of the equity
interest and royalty fee, FTSI allocated $30.7 million of the total consideration received to the sale of its equity interest and $2.0
million to the prepaid royalty fee. FTSI recognized a gain of $7.0 million on the sale of its equity interest. The prepaid royalty fee
is being recognized over an approximate six year period.

Reorganization items

We have incurred expenses and losses associated with the bankruptcy proceedings. These items are classified as
reorganization items in our consolidated statements of operations. The following table summarizes our reorganization items:

Three and Nine

Months Ended

September 30,
(In millions) 2020
Terminated executory contracts 9.8
Derecognition of unamortized debt discounts and issuance costs 2.5
Legal and professional fees 1.4
Total reorganization items $ 13.7

Income taxes

In 2012, we established a full valuation allowance with respect to our U.S. federal deferred tax assets and state deferred tax
assets in excess of our deferred tax liabilities. We have continued to record a valuation allowance for these net deferred tax assets
since 2012. As a result, we only record income tax expense for states that limit the deduction of net operating loss carryforwards
and for foreign income taxes. See Note 9 — “Income Taxes” in the notes to our consolidated financial statements included
elsewhere in this quarterly report on Form 10-Q for more discussion of our valuation allowance.
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Reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA

The following table reconciles our net income or loss to Adjusted EBITDA:

(In millions)

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,
2020 2019 2020 2019

Net loss $§ (87 § (10.8) § (131.1) $ (599
Interest expense, net 7.4 7.6 22.1 23.5
Income tax expense — 1.0 — 1.3
Depreciation and amortization 17.8 22.7 59.4 67.9
Loss (gain) on disposal of assets, net — 0.1) 0.1 (1.0)
Gain on extinguishment of debt, net — (0.8) (2.0) (1.2)
Stock-based compensation 2.8 29 9.4 9.6
Supply commitment charges — 0.9 9.1 57.6
Inventory write-down 0.6 1.7 5.1 5.2
Impairment of assets — 4.2 — 9.7
Employee severance costs — — 1.0 —
Gain on sale of equity interest in joint venture affiliate — (7.0) — (7.0)
Transaction costs 18.5 — 18.5 —
Reorganization items 13.7 — 13.7 —
Loss on contract termination 0.3 — 0.3 —
Adjusted EBITDA (1) $ (76) $ 223 § 56 § 1057
(1) Adjusted EBITDA is a non-GAAP financial measure that we define as earnings before interest, income taxes, and

depreciation and amortization; as well as, the following items, if applicable: gain or loss on disposal of assets; debt
extinguishment gains or losses; inventory write-downs; asset and goodwill impairments; gain on insurance
recoveries; acquisition earn-out adjustments; stock-based compensation; supply commitment charges; acquisition
or disposition transaction costs; gain on sale of equity interest in joint venture affiliate; employee severance cost
related to corporate-wide cost reduction initiatives; transaction costs; reorganization items; and loss on contract
termination. The most comparable financial measure to Adjusted EBITDA under GAAP is net income or loss.
Adjusted EBITDA is used by management to evaluate the operating performance of our business for comparable
periods and it is a metric used for management incentive compensation. Adjusted EBITDA should not be used by
investors or others as the sole basis for formulating investment decisions, as it excludes a number of important
items. We believe Adjusted EBITDA is an important indicator of operating performance because it excludes the
effects of our capital structure and certain non-cash items from our operating results. Adjusted EBITDA is also
commonly used by investors in the oilfield services industry to measure a company’s operating performance,
although our definition of Adjusted EBITDA may differ from other industry peer companies.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Sources of Liquidity

As part of the Chapter 11 filing our revolving credit facility was terminated in the third quarter of 2020. At September 30,
2020, we had $144.5 million of cash and cash equivalents, which represented our total liquidity position. We believe that our
cash and cash equivalents and any cash provided by operations will be sufficient to fund our bankruptcy proceedings, operations,
capital expenditures and contractual obligations for at least the next 12 months.
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Cash Flows

The following table summarizes our cash flows:

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

(In millions) 2020 2019

Net income or loss adjusted for non-cash items $ (348 % 82.3
Changes in operating assets and liabilities 22.8 23.7
Cash paid to settle supply commitment charges (18.8) (16.1)
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities (30.8) 89.9
Net cash used in investing activities (19.2) (6.9)
Net cash used in financing activities (20.7) (56.6)
Net (decrease) increase in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash (70.7) 26.4
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 223.0 177.8
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash at end of period $ 152.3 $ 204.2

Cash flows from operating activities have historically been a significant source of liquidity we use to fund capital
expenditures and repay our debt. Changes in cash flows from operating activities are primarily affected by the same factors that
affect our net income, excluding non-cash items such as depreciation and amortization, stock-based compensation, impairments
of assets, and estimated supply commitment charges.

Cash flows from operating activities: Net cash used by operating activities was $30.8 million and provided by operating
activities was $89.9 million in the first nine months of 2020 and 2019, respectively. Cash flows from operating activities consists
of net income or loss adjusted for non-cash items, changes in operating assets and liabilities and cash paid to settle supply
commitment charges. Net income or loss adjusted for non-cash items resulted in a cash decrease of $34.8 million and a cash
increase of $82.3 million in the first nine months of 2020 and 2019, respectively. This change was primarily due to lower
earnings in 2020 after excluding supply commitment charges. This change was also due to the payments of $7.0 million in legal
and professional fees and $11.5 million in 2020 to certain holders of our Term Loan Agreement and Secured Notes in connection
with obtaining their support for the Restructuring Plan. The net change in operating assets and liabilities resulted in a cash
increase of $22.8 million and $23.7 million in the nine months of 2020 and 2019, respectively. The cash increase in 2020 was due
to a release of working capital as our activity levels decreased.

Cash flows from investing activities: Net cash used in investing activities was $19.2 million and $6.9 million in the first nine
months of 2020 and 2019, respectively. This increase was primarily due to the proceeds received from the sale of our equity
interest in our China joint venture in the third quarter of 2019, which was partially offset by decreased capital expenditures in
2020 compared to 2019.

Cash flows from financing activities: Net cash used in financing activities was $20.7 million and $56.6 million in the first
nine months of 2020 and 2019, respectively. In the first nine months of 2020 we used $20.6 million of cash to repay long-term
debt. In the first nine months of 2019 we used $46.4 million of cash to repay long-term debt and $8.3 million to repurchase our
common stock.
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Cash Requirements
Contractual Commitments and Obligations

In the first nine months of 2020, we repaid $22.6 million of aggregate principal amount of Term Loan using cash on hand.
We recognized a gain on this debt extinguishment of $2.0 million.

On July 14, 2020, we gave notice to terminate our largest sand supply contract with Covia, and the dispute regarding the
same was resolved pursuant to the Confirmation Order. See Note 11 — “Commitments and Contingencies” in the notes to our
consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this quarterly report on Form 10-Q for more information.

In September 2020 we terminated a sand supply contract which reduced our future purchase commitments in the fourth
quarter of 2020 and the full year of 2021 by $0.7 million and $1.4 million, respectively.

There have been no other significant changes to our contractual obligations outside the ordinary course of business and
bankruptcy proceedings since December 31, 2019. See Note 1 — “Chapter 11 Bankruptcy Proceedings” in the notes to our
consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this quarterly report on Form 10-Q and refer to our annual report on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019, for additional information regarding our contractual obligations.

Capital expenditures

The nature of our capital expenditures consists of a base level of investment required to support our current operations and
amounts related to growth and company initiatives. Our capital expenditures for 2020 represented the amount necessary to
support our current operations. We estimate capital expenditures in 2020 will range from $20 million to $25 million, which will

support our operations.

Our cash, cash equivalents, and any cash provided by operations will be used to fund our capital expenditure needs. We
continuously evaluate our capital expenditures and the amount we ultimately spend will primarily depend on industry conditions.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We do not have any off-balance sheet financing arrangements, transactions, or special purpose entities.
Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 2 — “Basis of Presentation” in the notes to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this
quarterly report on Form 10-Q.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

At September 30, 2020, we held no derivative instruments that materially increased our exposure to market risks for interest
rates, foreign currency rates, commodity prices or other market price risks.

Prior to filing bankruptcy, we were subject to interest rate risk on a portion of our long-term debt. See Note 1 — “Chapter 11
Bankruptcy Proceedings” in the notes to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this quarterly report on
Form 10-Q for more information. Our Term Loan Agreement bears interest at a variable rate based on LIBOR plus a margin of
4.75% per annum, with a 1.00% LIBOR floor. As of September 30, 2020, LIBOR was below the 1.00% floor. Therefore, a 1.00%
increase in LIBOR would increase the annual interest payments for this debt by less than $0.7 million.

During 2020, substantially all of our operations were conducted within the United States; therefore, we had no significant
exposure to foreign currency exchange rate risk.
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Item 4. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As required by Rule 13a-15(b) and Rule 15d-15(b) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”), our
management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, evaluated, as of September 30, 2020, the
effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(e) and Rule 15d-15(e). Based on
that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures
were effective as of September 30, 2020, to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed by us in
reports filed or submitted under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods
specified by the rules and forms of the Exchange Act and is accumulated and communicated to management, including the Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosures.

We believe, however, that a controls system, no matter how well designed and operated, cannot provide absolute assurance
that the objectives of the controls systems are met, and no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control
issues and instances of fraud or error, if any, within a company have been detected.

Changes in Internal Controls

There has been no change in internal control over financial reporting that occurred during our last fiscal quarter that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

PART II - OTHER INFORMATION
Item 1. Legal Proceedings

For a description of our legal proceedings, see Note 1 — “Chapter 11 Bankruptcy Proceedings” and Note 11 —
“Commitments and Contingencies” in the notes to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this quarterly
report on Form 10-Q, which are incorporated by reference herein.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

The following risk factors are provided to update and supplement the corresponding risk factors previously disclosed under
the heading “Risk Factors” in the Company’s annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019.

We are subject to the risks and uncertainties associated with proceedings under chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code.

On September 22, 2020, the Company, FTS International Services, LLC and FTS International Manufacturing, LLC
(collectively, the “Company Parties”) filed petitions for voluntary relief under chapter 11 of the United States Bankruptcy Code.
On September 21, 2020, the Company Parties entered into the Second Amended & Restated Restructuring Support Agreement
(the “Restructuring Support Agreement”) with (1) certain holders (the “Consenting Noteholders”) of the Company’s 6.25%
senior secured notes due May 1, 2022 (the “Secured Notes”) and (2) certain lenders (together with the Consenting Noteholders,
the “Consenting Creditors”) under that certain credit agreement, dated as of April 16, 2014, by and among the Company, the
lenders party thereto and Wilmington Savings Fund Society, FSB, as successor administrative agent, as amended, restated,
amended and restated, modified, or supplemented from time to time (the “Term Loan Agreement”). Upon entry into the
Restructuring Support Agreement, the Consenting Creditors represented approximately 87.56% of the combined outstanding
principal amount of Secured Notes and loans under the Term Loan Agreement. On September 22, 2020, the Company filed the
Joint Prepackaged Chapter 11 Plan of Reorganization of FTS International, Inc. and its Debtor Affiliates (as amended, modified
or supplemented from time to time, the “Restructuring Plan”) and the related disclosure statement, in accordance with the terms
of the Restructuring Support Agreement.
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For the duration of our bankruptcy proceedings, our operations and our ability to develop and execute our business plan, as
well as our continuation as a going concern thereafter, are subject to risks and uncertainties associated with bankruptcy, including
the following:

e  our ability to consummate the Restructuring Plan;

e  our ability to maintain our relationships with our suppliers, service providers, employees and other third parties;
e our ability to maintain other contracts that are critical to our operations;

e  our ability to execute our business plan in the current depressed commodity price environment;

e  our ability to retain key employees; and

e the actions and decisions of our creditors and other third parties who have interests in our bankruptcy proceedings
that may be inconsistent with our plans.

Delays in our bankruptcy proceedings increase our costs associated with the bankruptcy process along with the risks of our
being unable to reorganize our business and emerge from bankruptcy.

These risks and uncertainties could affect our business and operations in various ways. Pursuant to the Bankruptcy Code, we
need the prior approval of the Bankruptcy Court for transactions outside the ordinary course of business, which may limit our
ability to respond timely to certain events or take advantage of certain opportunities. We cannot accurately predict or quantify the
ultimate impact that events that occur during our bankruptcy proceedings will have on our business, financial condition, results of
operations and cash flows.

The Bankruptcy Court confirmed the Restructuring Plan on November 4, 2020, and the Debtors expect to emerge from the
Chapter 11 Cases by the end of-November.

Even if the Restructuring Plan is consummated, we will continue to face a number of risks, principally the degree to which
oil prices remain at low levels, and if so, for what length of time, which is likely to depend on the extent and impact of the
COVID-19 pandemic, plus our ability to reduce expenses, implement any strategic initiatives and generally maintain favorable
relationships with and secure the confidence of our counterparties. Accordingly, while we believe that the Restructuring Plan
places us in the best position for success as a going concern, we cannot provide assurance that the proposed financial
restructuring will allow us to continue as a going concern.

The Restructuring Plan may not become effective.

The Restructuring Plan may not become effective because it is subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions precedent
(some of which are beyond our control). There can be no assurance that such conditions will be satisfied or waived and,
therefore, that the Restructuring Plan will become effective and that we will emerge from our bankruptcy proceedings as
contemplated by the Restructuring Plan. If the effective date of the Restructuring Plan is delayed, we may not have sufficient
cash available to operate our business. In that case, we may need post-petition financing, which may increase the cost of
consummating the Restructuring Plan. There is no assurance of the terms on which such financing may be available or if such
financing will be available at all. If the transactions contemplated by the Restructuring Plan are not completed, it may become
necessary to amend the Restructuring Plan, with accompanying expenses and material delays.

We have substantial liquidity needs and may not have sufficient liquidity for the time necessary to consummate the
Restructuring Plan.

We have incurred, and expect to continue to incur, significant costs in connection with our bankruptcy proceedings. With the
Bankruptcy Court’s authorization to use cash collateral, we believe that we will have sufficient liquidity, including cash on hand
and funds generated from ongoing operations, to fund anticipated cash requirements through our bankruptcy proceedings. As
such, we expect to pay vendor obligations on a go-forward basis in the ordinary course according to the terms of our current
contracts and consistent with applicable court orders approving such payments. However, there can be no assurance that our
current liquidity will be sufficient to allow us to satisfy our obligations related to our bankruptcy proceedings and those necessary
for consummation of the Restructuring Plan. There is a risk
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that we could fail to consummate the exit financing contemplated by the Restructuring Support Agreement, or that it will not be
sufficient to meet our liquidity needs.

As a result of our bankruptcy proceedings, our financial results may not reflect historical trends.

We expect that our historical financial performance likely will not be indicative of financial performance after the date of the
bankruptcy filing. In addition, if we emerge from our bankruptcy proceedings, the amounts reported in subsequent periods may
materially change due to revisions to our operating plans. Our September 30, 2020 condensed consolidated financial statements
do not include any adjustments that might be necessary should we be unable to continue as a going concern. In addition, our
unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements do not reflect any adjustments related to bankruptcy or liquidation
accounting. We also will be required to adopt fresh start accounting, in which case our assets and liabilities will be recorded at
fair value as of the fresh start reporting date, which may differ materially from the recorded values of assets and liabilities prior to
seeking bankruptcy protection. Our financial results after the application of fresh start accounting are likely to be different from
historical trends.

Our bankruptcy proceedings will consume a substantial portion of the time and attention of our management, and we
may face increased levels of employee attrition.

Our management will be required to spend a significant amount of time and effort focusing on our bankruptcy proceedings
instead of focusing exclusively on our operations. This may adversely affect the conduct of our business, and, as a result, our
financial condition and results of operations, particularly if our bankruptcy proceedings are protracted.

During the duration of our bankruptcy proceedings, our employees will face considerable distraction and uncertainty and we
may experience increased levels of employee attrition. A loss of key personnel or material erosion of employee morale could
have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations. The failure to retain or attract new members of our
management team and other key personnel could impair our ability to execute our strategy and implement operational initiatives.

On the effective date of the Restructuring Plan, the composition of our board of directors will change substantially.

Under the Restructuring Plan, the composition of our board of directors will change substantially. Pursuant to the
Restructuring Plan, our new board of directors will be comprised of five directors: (1) one of which will be our CEO, (2) three of
which shall be selected by the Consenting Noteholders holding a majority of the Secured Notes held by the Consenting
Noteholders, and (3) one of which shall be selected by the lenders under our Term Loan Agreement. Any new directors are likely
to have different backgrounds, experiences and perspectives from those individuals who previously served on the board of
directors and, thus, may have different views on the issues that will determine our strategic and operational direction and may
differ materially from those of the past.

Certain claims will not be discharged and could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of
operations.

The Bankruptcy Code provides that the confirmation of a plan of reorganization discharges a debtor from substantially all
debts arising prior to confirmation. With few exceptions, all claims that arise prior to the filing of our bankruptcy proceedings or
before confirmation of the Restructuring Plan (1) would be subject to compromise and/or treatment under the Restructuring Plan
and/or (2) would be discharged in accordance with the terms of the Restructuring Plan. In order to achieve our objective of a
swift confirmation of the Restructuring Plan as in the best interests of the Company and to best support our go-forward business
enterprise, we determined to leave many classes of claims as unimpaired and thus such claims are not discharged under the
Restructuring Plan. Holders of such claims can still assert the claims against the reorganized entity and may have an adverse
effect on our financial condition and results of operations.
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Even if the Restructuring Plan is consummated, we may not be able to achieve our stated goals and continue as a going
concern.

Even if the Restructuring Plan is consummated, we will continue to face a number of risks, including further deterioration in
commodity prices or decreased market demand or increasing expenses. Accordingly, we cannot guarantee that the Restructuring
Plan or any other chapter 11 plan of reorganization will achieve our stated goals.

Furthermore, even if our debts are discharged through such plan, we may need to raise additional funds through public or
private debt or equity financing to fund the Company’s operations and its capital needs. Our access to additional financing is, and
for the foreseeable future will likely continue to be, extremely limited, if it is available at all. Therefore, adequate funds may not
be available when needed, or in sufficient amounts or available on acceptable terms, if at all.

Our stock price has been and may continue to be volatile.

As previously disclosed, the market price of our common stock has varied significantly and could continue to vary
significantly in the future as a result of a number of factors, some of which are beyond our control. In the event of a further or
sustained drop in the market price of our common stock, our investors could lose a substantial part or all of their investment in
our common stock. Consequently, our investors may not be able to sell shares of our common stock at prices equal to or greater
than the price they paid.

The following factors, among others, could affect our stock price:

e  our operating and financial performance;

e  quarterly variations in the rate of growth of our financial indicators, such as net income per share, net income and
revenues;

e actual or anticipated changes in revenue or earnings estimates or publication of reports by equity research analysts;

e speculation in the press or investment community or the dissemination of information through social media
platforms;

e sales of our common stock by us or our stockholders, or the perception that such sales may occur;

e litigation involving us or that may be perceived as having an adverse effect on our business;

e general market conditions, including fluctuations in actual and anticipated future commaodity prices;

e errors in our forecasting of the demand for our services, which could lead to lower revenue or increased costs;

e domestic and international economic, legal and regulatory factors unrelated to our performance, including the
COVID-19 pandemic and Saudi-Russia price war; and

o the other risk factors described herein.

The stock markets in general have experienced extreme volatility that has often been unrelated to the operating performance
of particular companies. These broad market fluctuations may adversely affect the trading price of our common stock.

Health threats have harmed and may continue to harm our business.

As previously disclosed, we face risks related to global or national health concerns, including the outbreak of a pandemic or
contagious diseases, such as the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic. The global spread of COVID-19 and the ongoing efforts to
contain it have created significant volatility, uncertainty and economic disruption. In an effort to contain or slow the spread of
COVID-19, national and local governments around the world instituted certain measures, including travel bans, prohibitions on
group events and gatherings, shutdowns of certain businesses, curfews, shelter-in-place orders and recommendations to practice
social distancing. These measures shuttered business and consumer activity worldwide, attenuating demand and prices across all
segments of the oil and gas industry. As a result, we
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temporarily suspended and/or altered certain aspects of our business and operations, which adversely affected our operations in
the third quarter of 2020 and may continue to adversely affect our operations. The duration of these measures is unknown, may
be extended and additional measures may be imposed.

The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows include, but are not
limited to, the following:

e Reduced consumer and investor confidence, instability in the credit and financial markets, volatile corporate profits,
and reduced business and consumer spending, which adversely affected our financial condition, results of
operations and cash flows by reducing our revenues, margins and net income due to a decline in the demand and
price for our services. In addition, volatility in the financial markets has increased the cost of capital and limited its
availability.

e Economic uncertainty and disruption have made it difficult for us, our customers and suppliers to accurately
forecast and plan future business activities.

e Deterioration in the financial position of our customers has impacted their ability or willingness to pay for our
services and, as a result, negatively affected our operating results and, if it continues to a significant degree, could
have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

e Disruptions to our supply chain in connection with the sourcing of materials from geographic areas that have been
impacted by COVID-19 and by efforts to contain its spread.

The full extent to which the COVID-19 pandemic and the various responses to it impacts our financial condition, results of
operations and cash flows will depend on numerous evolving factors that we may not be able to accurately predict, including: the
duration and scope of the pandemic; the effectiveness of governmental, business and individuals’ actions that have been and
continue to be taken in response to the pandemic; the availability and cost to access the capital markets; the effect on our
customers and customer demand for and ability to pay for our services; and disruptions or restrictions on our employees’ ability
to work and travel.

We will continue to actively monitor the issues raised by the COVID-19 pandemic and may take further actions that alter our
business operations as may be required by federal, state, or local authorities, or that we determine are in the best interests of our
employees, customers and stockholders. It is not clear what the potential effects any such actions may have on our business,
including the effects on our customers or suppliers, or on our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

To the extent the COVID-19 pandemic adversely affects our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows, it may
also heighten many of the other risks described herein and in the “Risk Factors” section of our annual report on Form 10-K for
the year ended December 31, 2019.

Oil and natural gas prices are volatile and have declined significantly in past periods, which has adversely affected, and
may again adversely affect, our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

In March 2020, the Organization of Petroleum Exporting Countries and other oil producing nations (“OPEC+") were unable
to reach an agreement on production levels for crude oil, at which point Saudi Arabia and Russia initiated efforts to aggressively
increase production. As a result, the supply of low-priced oil to the global market increased substantially. The oversupply of low-
priced oil, together with weakened demand due to the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, lead to a collapse in oil prices during March
2020. While OPEC+ agreed in April to cut production, depressed commodity prices have remained and could continue for the
foreseeable future. In addition, demand for our services has declined as our customers adjusted their capital budgets and
operations in response to lower oil prices. These events have adversely affected and are expected to continue to adversely affect
our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. Given the dynamic nature of these events, we cannot reasonably
estimate the period of time that such market conditions will persist, the extent of the impact they will have on the Company’s
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows, or the pace of any subsequent recovery.
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To the extent that these events and conditions adversely affect our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows,
they may also heighten many of the other risks described herein and in the “Risk Factors” section of our annual report on Form
10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019.

Item 5. Other Information
Confirmation of the Plan and Disclosure Statement

As previously disclosed, on September 22, 2020, the Company Parties filed the Chapter 11 Cases in the Bankruptcy Court.
The Company Parties’ Chapter 11 Cases are jointly administered under the caption In re FTS International, Inc., et al., Case No.
20-34622. On September 22, 2020, the Company filed the Joint Prepackaged Chapter 11 Plan of Reorganization of FTS
International, Inc. and its Debtor Affiliates (as amended, modified or supplemented from time to time, the “Plan”) and the related
disclosure statement (the “Disclosure Statement”). Capitalized terms used but not otherwise defined in this Part II. Item 5 of this
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q have the meanings given to them in the Plan.

On November 4, 2020, the Bankruptcy Court entered an order (the “Confirmation Order”) confirming the Plan, as modified
by the Confirmation Order, and approving the Disclosure Statement. The Plan is attached to the Confirmation Order as Exhibit A.

The Company Parties expect that the effective date of the Plan will occur as soon as all conditions precedent to the Plan have
been satisfied (the “Effective Date”). Although the Company Parties expect the Effective Date to occur by the end of-November
2020, the Company Parties can make no assurances as to when, or ultimately if, the Plan will become effective. It is also possible
that technical amendments could be made to the Plan prior to the Effective Date.

The following is a summary of certain material terms of the Plan. This summary highlights only certain substantive
provisions of the Plan and is not intended to be a complete description of the Plan. This summary is qualified in its entirety by
reference to the full text of the Plan and the Confirmation Order, which are attached to this Quarterly Report as Exhibits 2.1 and
99.1, respectively, and incorporated by reference herein.

The Plan and Treatment of Claims and Interests
The Plan contemplates the following treatment of claims against and interests in the Company Parties:

®  Holders of Allowed Secured Debt Claims. Each holder of an Allowed Secured Debt Claim will receive its Pro Rata
share of and interest in (i) the Cash Consideration and (ii) 90.1% of the reorganized Company’s common stock (the
“New Common Stock”), subject to dilution on account of the Management Incentive Plan (the “MIP”) and the
Warrants, minus the Class 4 Recovery Deduction.

e Holders of Other Unsecured Claims. Each holder of an Allowed Other Unsecured Claim shall receive its Pro Rata
share of and interest in the Unencumbered Plan Recovery at the applicable Debtor.

®  Holders of Allowed Ongoing Business Claims. Each holder of an Allowed Ongoing Business Claim shall receive, as
applicable, either: (i) Reinstatement of such Allowed Ongoing Business Claim pursuant to section 1124 of the
Bankruptcy Code; (ii) payment in full in cash on the later of (A) the Effective Date or as soon as reasonably
practicable thereafter, or (B) the date such payment is due in the ordinary course of business in accordance with the
terms and conditions of the particular transaction giving rise to such Allowed Ongoing Business Claim; or (iii) such
other treatment rendering such Allowed Ongoing Business Claim Unimpaired.

e  Existing Equity Holders. Holders of the Company’s existing equity interests will receive their Pro Rata share of and
interest in (i) 9.4% of the New Common Stock, subject to dilution on account of the MIP, (ii) warrants to purchase
10.0% of New Common Stock (the “Tranche 1 Warrants™) and (iii) warrants to purchase 20.0% of New Common
Stock (together with the Tranche 1 Warrants, the “Warrants™).

®  Holders of Intercompany Claims and Intercompany Interests. At the option of the reorganized Company Parties,
Intercompany Claims and Intercompany Interests will be either Reinstated or cancelled and released without any
distribution.
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Unless otherwise specified, the treatment set forth in the Plan and the Confirmation Order will be in full satisfaction of all
claims against and interests in the Company Parties, which will be discharged on the Effective Date. All of the Company Parties’
existing funded debt and equity (except for certain intercompany interests) will be extinguished by the Plan.

Additional information regarding the classification and treatment of claims and interests can be found in Article III of the
Plan.

Capital Structure

As of the Effective Date, the Company will issue New Common Stock and/or Warrants to existing equity holders and certain
holders of claims against and interests in the Company Parties, and the Company’s shares of existing common stock outstanding
prior to the Effective Date will be cancelled, in each case as provided in the Plan. As of November 4, 2020, there were 5,578,515
shares of the Company’s existing common stock outstanding. Under the Plan, the Company’s new organizational documents will
become effective on the Effective Date. The shares of New Common Stock and the Warrants issued pursuant to the Plan will be
issued in reliance upon the exemption from the registration requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the
“Securities Act”), provided by section 1145 of the Bankruptcy Code.

Exit Financing

On the Effective Date, the Company Parties expect to enter into an asset-based revolving exit credit facility with initial
commitments of $40,000,000, subject to a borrowing base and usual and customary terms and covenants for asset-based facilities
of this type.

Management Incentive Plan

Effective as of the Effective Date, the Company’s board of directors will implement the MIP, with a pool of stock-based
awards, in the form of options, appreciation rights, restricted stock units, restricted stock, or similar awards, as applicable,
representing 10.0% of the New Common Stock (“MIP Pool”), determined on a fully diluted and fully distributed basis (i.e.,
assuming conversion of all outstanding convertible securities and full distribution of the MIP Pool).

Settlement, Releases and Exculpations

The Plan incorporates an integrated compromise and settlement of claims to achieve a beneficial and efficient resolution of
the Chapter 11 Cases. Unless otherwise specified, the settlement, distributions, and other benefits provided under the Plan,
including the releases and exculpation provisions included therein, are in full satisfaction of all claims and causes of action that
could be asserted.

The Plan provides releases and exculpations for the benefit of the Company Parties, certain of the Company Parties’
claimholders and interestholders, other parties in interest and various parties related thereto, each in their capacity as such, from
various claims and causes of action, as further set forth in Article VIII of the Plan.

Certain Information Regarding Assets and Liabilities of the Company

Information regarding the assets and liabilities of the Company as of the most recent practicable date is hereby incorporated
by reference to Part I, Item 1 of this Quarterly Report.

35




Table of Contents

Item 6. Exhibits

Exhibit Number Description

2.1%* Joint Prepackaged Chapter 11 Plan of Reorganization of FTS International. Inc.. and its Debtor
Affiliates (incorporated by reference to Exhibit A of the Confirmation Order attached as Exhibit 99.1
hereto)

10.1%* Amendment No. 1 to Credit Agreement and Guaranty and Security Agreement dated August 14, 2020
among the Company and FTS International Services. LLC, each as borrowers, FTS International
Manufacturing, LLC, as guarantor, the lenders party thereto, and Wells Fargo Bank, National
Association, as administrative agent

10.2* Second Amended and Restated Restructuring Support Agreement dated September 4, 2020
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the
SEC on September 21, 2020)

31.1%* Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

31.2%* Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.1%%* Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

99.1** Order Confirming the Joint Prepackaged Chapter 11 Plan of Reorganization of FTS International, Inc.,
and its Debtor Affiliates

101.INS** Inline XBRL Instance Document (the instance document does not appear in the interactive data file
because XBRL tags are embedded within the inline XBRL document)

101.SCH** Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

101.CAL** Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

101.DEF** Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

101.LAB** Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

101.PRE** Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

104** Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101)

* Previously filed

** Filed herewith

Hkx Furnished herewith

T Certain portions of this exhibit have been redacted pursuant to Item 601(b)(10)(iv) of Regulation S-K. The Company

agrees to furnish an unredacted copy of the exhibit to the Securities and Exchange Commission upon its request.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed
on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

FTS INTERNATIONAL, INC.

Dated: November 6, 2020 By: /s/ Michael J. Doss

Michael J. Doss
Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)

Dated: November 6, 2020 By: /s/Lance D. Turner

Lance D. Turner

Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
(Principal Financial Officer and
Principal Accounting Officer)
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Exhibit 10.1

AMENDMENT NO. 1 TO CREDIT AGREEMENT AND AMENDMENT NO. 1 TO GUARANTY AND
SECURITY AGREEMENT

This AMENDMENT NO. 1 TO CREDIT AGREEMENT AND AMENDMENT NO. 1 TO
GUARANTY AND SECURITY AGREEMENT (this "Amendment") is entered into as of August 14, 2020, by and
among the Lenders (as defined in the Credit Agreement) that are parties hereto, WELLS FARGO BANK,
NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, a national banking association, as administrative agent for each member of the
Lender Group and the Bank Product Providers (in such capacity, together with its successors and assigns in such
capacities, "Agent"), FTS INTERNATIONAL SERVICES, LLC., a Texas limited liability company ("OpCo
Borrower"), and FTS INTERNATIONAL, INC., a Delaware corporation ("Parent Borrower" and, together with
OpCo Borrower, each a "Borrower" and individually and collectively, jointly and severally, the "Borrowers"), and
FTS INTERNATIONAL MANUFACTURING, LLC, a Texas limited liability company ("Guarantor").

WHEREAS, Borrowers, Agent, and Lenders are parties to that certain Credit Agreement dated as of
February 22, 2018 (as amended, restated, modified or supplemented from time to time, the "Credit Agreement");

WHEREAS, Borrowers, Guarantor and Agent are parties to that certain Guaranty and Security
Agreement dated as of February 22, 2018 (the "Guaranty and Security Agreement");

WHEREAS, the Borrowers have requested that Agent and Lenders agree to amend each of the Credit
Agreement and the Guaranty and Security Agreement in certain respects, and the Lenders are willing to amend each
of the Credit Agreement and the Guaranty and Security Agreement as provided in this Amendment subject to the
terms and conditions of this Amendment;

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and mutual agreements herein contained, the
parties hereto agree as follows:

1. Defined Terms. Unless otherwise defined herein, capitalized terms used herein and not
otherwise defined shall have the meanings ascribed to such terms in the Credit Agreement.

2. Amendments to Credit Agreement. Subject to the satisfaction of the conditions set forth in
Section 6 below, and in reliance on the representations and warranties of the Loan Parties set forth in Section 7
below, the Credit Agreement is hereby amended as follows:

(a) Section 1 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended by adding a new Section 1.9
immediately after Section 1.8 as follows:

1.9 Divisions. For all purposes under the Loan Documents, in connection with any division or
plan of division under Delaware law (or any comparable event under a different jurisdiction's laws): (a) if any
asset, right, obligation or liability of any Person becomes the asset, right, obligation or liability of a different
Person, then it shall be deemed to have been transferred from the original Person to the subsequent Person,
and (b) if any new Person comes into




existence, such new Person shall be deemed to have been organized on the first date of its existence by the holders of
its Equity Interests at such time.

(b) Section 2.3(e)(i) of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended by replacing each instance of
"2:00 p.m." therein with "4:00 p.m." and each instance of "12:00 p.m." therein with "2:00 p.m."

(©) Section 2.4(e) of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended by adding the following new
Section 2.4(e)(iii) immediately after Section 2.4(e)(ii):

(iii) Anti-Cash Hoarding. If at any time that any Loans, Letters of Credit, Bank Products or
other Obligations, in each case that are not otherwise cash collateralized in accordance with the terms hereof,
are outstanding, the Consolidated Cash Balance exceeds $10,000,000, then Borrowers shall promptly, but in
any event within 1 Business Day, prepay the Obligations in accordance with Section 2.4(f) in an aggregate
amount equal to the amount of such excess.

(d) Section 2.4(f) of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended and restated in its entirety as
follows:

63} Application of Payments. Each prepayment pursuant to Section 2.4(e) shall, (A) so long as
no Application Event shall have occurred and be continuing, be applied, first, to the outstanding principal
amount of the Revolving Loans until paid in full (but, for purposes of clarification, with no corresponding
reduction in the Maximum Revolver Amount or Commitments) and second, to cash collateralize the Letters
of Credit in an amount equal to 105% of the then outstanding Letter of Credit Usage, provided that, other
than with respect to any prepayment made or required to be made pursuant to Section 2.4(e)(iii), such cash
collateral shall be returned to Borrowers promptly if an Overadvance does not exist (or after an Overadvance
no longer exists) upon delivery to Lender of a written request of Borrowers requesting the return of such cash
collateral and (B) if an Application Event shall have occurred and be continuing, be applied in the manner set
forth in Section 2.4(b)(ii).

(e) Section 2.11 of the Credit is hereby amended and restated in its entirety as follows:
2.11 Letters of Credit.

(a) Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, upon the request of Borrowers
made in accordance herewith, and prior to the Maturity Date, Issuing Bank agrees to issue a requested
standby Letter of Credit or a sight commercial Letter of Credit for the account of either or both of Borrowers
or any of their respective Restricted Subsidiaries. By submitting a request to Issuing Bank for the issuance of
a Letter of Credit, Borrowers shall be deemed to have requested




that Issuing Bank issue the requested Letter of Credit. Each request for the issuance of a Letter of Credit, or
the amendment, or extension of any outstanding Letter of Credit, shall be (i) irrevocable made in writing by
an Authorized Person (ii) delivered to Agent and Issuing Bank via telefacsimile or other electronic method of
transmission reasonably acceptable to Agent and Issuing Bank and reasonably in advance of the requested
date of issuance, amendment, or extension and (iii) subject to Issuing Bank’s authentication procedures with
results satisfactory to Issuing Bank. Each such request shall be in form and substance reasonably satisfactory
to Agent and Issuing Bank and (i) shall specify (A) the amount of such Letter of Credit, (B) the date of
issuance, amendment, or extension of such Letter of Credit, (C) the proposed expiration date of such Letter of
Credit, (D) the name and address of the beneficiary of the Letter of Credit, and (E) such other information
(including, the conditions to drawing, and, in the case of an amendment, or extension, identification of the
Letter of Credit to be so amended or extended) as shall be necessary to prepare, amend, or extend such Letter
of Credit, and (ii) shall be accompanied by such Issuer Documents as Agent or Issuing Bank may request or
require, to the extent that such requests or requirements are consistent with the Issuer Documents that Issuing
Bank generally requests for Letters of Credit in similar circumstances. Issuing Bank’s records of the content
of any such request will be conclusive. Anything contained herein to the contrary notwithstanding, Issuing
Bank may, but shall not be obligated to, issue a Letter of Credit that supports the obligations of Borrowers or
one of the Restricted Subsidiaries in respect of (x) a lease of real property to the extent that the face amount
of such Letter of Credit exceeds the highest rent (including all rent-like charges) payable under such lease for
a period of one year, or (y) an employment contract to the extent that the face amount of such Letter of Credit
exceeds the highest compensation payable under such contract for a period of one year.

(b) Issuing Bank shall have no obligation to issue a Letter of Credit if any of the following
would result after giving effect to the requested issuance:

6)] the Letter of Credit Usage would exceed $20,000,000; or

(i1) the Letter of Credit Usage would exceed the Maximum Revolver Amount /ess
the outstanding amount of Revolving Loans (including Swing Loans), or

(iii))  the Letter of Credit Usage would exceed the Borrowing Base at such time less
the outstanding principal balance of the Revolving Loans (inclusive of Swing Loans) at such
time.

() In the event there is a Defaulting Lender as of the date of any request for the issuance
of a Letter of Credit, Issuing Bank shall not be required to issue or arrange for such Letter of Credit to the
extent (i) the Defaulting Lender’s Letter of Credit Exposure with respect to such Letter of Credit may not be
reallocated pursuant to Section 2.3(g)(ii), or (ii) Issuing Bank has not otherwise




entered into arrangements reasonably satisfactory to it and Borrowers to eliminate Issuing Bank’s risk with
respect to the participation in such Letter of Credit of the Defaulting Lender, which arrangements may
include Borrowers cash collateralizing such Defaulting Lender’s Letter of Credit Exposure in accordance
with Section 2.3(g)(ii). Additionally, Issuing Bank shall have no obligation to issue or extend a Letter of
Credit if (A) any order, judgment, or decree of any Governmental Authority or arbitrator shall, by its terms,
purport to enjoin or restrain Issuing Bank from issuing such Letter of Credit, or any law applicable to Issuing
Bank or any request or directive (whether or not having the force of law) from any Governmental Authority
with jurisdiction over Issuing Bank shall prohibit or request that Issuing Bank refrain from the issuance of
letters of credit generally or such Letter of Credit in particular, (B) the issuance of such Letter of Credit
would violate one or more policies of Issuing Bank applicable to letters of credit generally, or (C) if amounts
demanded to be paid under any Letter of Credit will not or may not be in United States Dollars.

(d) Any Issuing Bank (other than Wells Fargo or any of its Affiliates) shall notify Agent
in writing no later than the Business Day prior to the Business Day on which such Issuing Bank issues any
Letter of Credit. In addition, each Issuing Bank (other than Wells Fargo or any of its Affiliates) shall, on the
first Business Day of each week, submit to Agent a report detailing the daily undrawn amount of each Letter
of Credit issued by such Issuing Bank during the prior calendar week. Borrowers and the Lender Group
hereby acknowledge and agree that all Existing Letters of Credit listed on Schedule 2.11 shall constitute
Letters of Credit under this Agreement on and after the Closing Date with the same effect as if such Existing
Letters of Credit were issued by Issuing Bank at the request of Borrowers on the Closing Date. Each Letter of
Credit shall be in form and substance reasonably acceptable to Issuing Bank, including the requirement that
the amounts payable thereunder must be payable in Dollars. If Issuing Bank makes a payment under a Letter
of Credit, Borrowers shall pay to Agent an amount equal to the applicable Letter of Credit Disbursement on
the Business Day such Letter of Credit Disbursement is made and, in the absence of such payment, the
amount of the Letter of Credit Disbursement immediately and automatically shall be deemed to be a
Revolving Loan hereunder (notwithstanding any failure to satisfy any condition precedent set forth in
Section 3) and, initially, shall bear interest at the rate then applicable to Revolving Loans that are Base Rate
Loans. If a Letter of Credit Disbursement is deemed to be a Revolving Loan hereunder, Borrowers’
obligation to pay the amount of such Letter of Credit Disbursement to Issuing Bank shall be automatically
converted into an obligation to pay the resulting Revolving Loan. Promptly following receipt by Agent of
any payment from Borrowers pursuant to this paragraph, Agent shall distribute such payment to Issuing Bank
or, to the extent that Revolving Lenders have made payments pursuant to Section 2.11(e) to reimburse Issuing
Bank, then to such Revolving Lenders and Issuing Bank as their interests may appear.

(e) Promptly following receipt of a notice of a Letter of Credit Disbursement pursuant to
Section 2.11(d), each Revolving Lender agrees to fund




its Pro Rata Share of any Revolving Loan deemed made pursuant to Section 2.11(d) on the same terms and
conditions as if Borrowers had requested the amount thereof as a Revolving Loan and Agent shall promptly
pay to Issuing Bank the amounts so received by it from the Revolving Lenders. By the issuance of a Letter of
Credit (or an amendment or extension of a Letter of Credit) and without any further action on the part of
Issuing Bank or the Revolving Lenders, Issuing Bank shall be deemed to have granted to each Revolving
Lender, and each Revolving Lender shall be deemed to have purchased, a participation in each Letter of
Credit issued by Issuing Bank, in an amount equal to its Pro Rata Share of such Letter of Credit, and each
such Revolving Lender agrees to pay to Agent, for the account of Issuing Bank, such Revolving Lender’s Pro
Rata Share of any Letter of Credit Disbursement made by Issuing Bank under the applicable Letter of Credit.
In consideration and in furtherance of the foregoing, each Revolving Lender hereby absolutely and

unconditionally agrees to pay to Agent, for the account of Issuing Bank, such Revolving Lender’s Pro Rata
Share of each Letter of Credit Disbursement made by Issuing Bank and not reimbursed by Borrowers on the
date due as provided in Section 2.11(d), or of any reimbursement payment that is required to be refunded (or
that Agent or Issuing Bank elects, based upon the advice of counsel, to refund) to Borrowers for any reason.
Each Revolving Lender acknowledges and agrees that its obligation to deliver to Agent, for the account of
Issuing Bank, an amount equal to its respective Pro Rata Share of each Letter of Credit Disbursement
pursuant to this Section 2.11(e) shall be absolute and unconditional and such remittance shall be made
notwithstanding the occurrence or continuation of an Event of Default or Default or the failure to satisfy any
condition set forth in Section 3. If any such Revolving Lender fails to make available to Agent the amount of
such Revolving Lender’s Pro Rata Share of a Letter of Credit Disbursement as provided in this Section, such
Revolving Lender shall be deemed to be a Defaulting Lender and Agent (for the account of Issuing Bank)
shall be entitled to recover such amount on demand from such Revolving Lender together with interest
thereon at the Defaulting Lender Rate until paid in full.

) Each Borrower agrees to indemnify, defend and hold harmless each member of the
Lender Group (including Issuing Bank and its branches, Affiliates, and correspondents) and each such
Person’s respective directors, officers, employees, attorneys and agents (each, including Issuing Bank, a
“Letter of Credit Related Person”) (to the fullest extent permitted by law) from and against any and all claims,
demands, suits, actions, investigations, proceedings, liabilities, fines, costs, penalties, and damages, and all
reasonable fees and disbursements of attorneys, experts, or consultants and all other costs and expenses
actually incurred in connection therewith or in connection with the enforcement of this indemnification (as
and when they are incurred and irrespective of whether suit is brought), which may be incurred by or awarded
against any Letter of Credit Related Person (other than Taxes, except for Taxes arising from a non-Tax claim
pursuant to this Section 2.11(f)) (the “Letter of Credit Indemnified Costs”), and which arise out of or in
connection with, or as a result of this Agreement, any Letter of Credit, any Issuer Document, or any Drawing
Document referred to in or related to any Letter of Credit, or any action or proceeding arising out of any of
the




foregoing (whether administrative, judicial or in connection with arbitration); in each case, including that
resulting from the Letter of Credit Related Person’s own negligence, or any prohibition or payment or delay
in payment of any amount payable by Issuing Bank to a beneficiary or transferee beneficiary of a Letter of
Credit arising out of Anti-Corruption Laws, Anti-Money Laundering Laws, or Sanctions; provided, however,
that such indemnity shall not be available to any Letter of Credit Related Person claiming indemnification to
the extent that such Letter of Credit Indemnified Costs may be finally determined in a final, non-appealable
judgment of a court of competent jurisdiction to have resulted directly from the gross negligence, bad faith or
willful misconduct of the Letter of Credit Related Person claiming indemnity. This indemnification provision
shall survive termination of this Agreement and all Letters of Credit.

(2) The liability of Issuing Bank (or any other Letter of Credit Related Person) under, in
connection with or arising out of any Letter of Credit (or pre-advice), regardless of the form or legal grounds
of the action or proceeding, shall be limited to direct damages suffered by Borrowers that are caused directly
by Issuing Bank’s gross negligence, bad faith or willful misconduct in (i) honoring a presentation under a
Letter of Credit that on its face does not at least substantially comply with the terms and conditions of such
Letter of Credit, (ii) failing to honor a presentation under a Letter of Credit that strictly complies with the
terms and conditions of such Letter of Credit or (iii) retaining Drawing Documents presented under a Letter
of Credit. Issuing Bank shall be deemed to have acted with due diligence and reasonable care if Issuing
Bank’s conduct is in accordance with Standard Letter of Credit Practice or in accordance with this
Agreement. Borrowers’ aggregate remedies against Issuing Bank and any Letter of Credit Related Person for
wrongfully honoring a presentation under any Letter of Credit or wrongfully retaining honored Drawing
Documents shall in no event exceed the aggregate amount paid by Borrowers to Issuing Bank in respect of
the honored presentation in connection with such Letter of Credit under Section 2.11(d), plus interest at the
rate then applicable to Base Rate Loans hereunder. Borrowers shall take action to avoid and mitigate the
amount of any damages claimed against Issuing Bank or any other Letter of Credit Related Person, including
by enforcing its rights against the beneficiaries of the Letters of Credit. Any claim by Borrowers under or in
connection with any Letter of Credit shall be reduced by an amount equal to the sum of (x) the amount (if
any) saved by Borrowers as a result of the breach or alleged wrongful conduct complained of; and (y) the
amount (if any) of the loss that would have been avoided had Borrowers taken all reasonable steps to mitigate
any loss, and in case of a claim of wrongful dishonor, by specifically and timely authorizing Issuing Bank to
effect a cure.

(h) Borrowers are responsible for the final text of the Letter of Credit as issued by Issuing
Bank, irrespective of any assistance Issuing Bank may provide such as drafting or recommending text or by
Issuing Bank’s use or refusal to use text submitted by Borrowers. Borrowers understand that the final form
of any Letter of Credit may be subject to such revisions and changes as are deemed necessary or appropriate
by Issuing Bank, and Borrowers hereby consent to such




revisions and changes not materially different from the application executed in connection therewith.
Borrowers are solely responsible for the suitability of the Letter of Credit for Borrowers’ purposes. If
Borrowers request Issuing Bank to issue a Letter of Credit for an affiliated or unaffiliated third party (an
“Account Party”™), (i) such Account Party shall have no rights against Issuing Bank; (ii) Borrowers shall be
responsible for the application and obligations under this Agreement; and (iii) communications (including
notices) related to the respective Letter of Credit shall be among Issuing Bank and Borrowers. Borrowers
will examine the copy of the Letter of Credit and any other documents sent by Issuing Bank in connection
therewith and shall promptly notify Issuing Bank (not later than three (3) Business Days following
Borrowers’ receipt of documents from Issuing Bank) of any non-compliance with Borrowers’ instructions
and of any discrepancy in any document under any presentment or other irregularity. Borrowers understand
and agree that Issuing Bank is not required to extend the expiration date of any Letter of Credit for any
reason. With respect to any Letter of Credit containing an “automatic amendment” to extend the expiration
date of such Letter of Credit, Issuing Bank, in its sole and absolute discretion, may give notice of non-
extension of such Letter of Credit and, if Borrowers do not at any time want the then current expiration date
of such Letter of Credit to be extended, Borrowers will so notify Agent and Issuing Bank at least 30
calendar days before Issuing Bank is required to notify the beneficiary of such Letter of Credit or any
advising bank of such non-extension pursuant to the terms of such Letter of Credit.

6)] Borrowers’ reimbursement and payment obligations under this Section 2.11 are
absolute, unconditional and irrevocable and shall be performed strictly in accordance with the terms of this
Agreement under any and all circumstances whatsoever, provided, however, that subject to
Section 2.11(g) above, the foregoing shall not release Issuing Bank from such liability to Borrowers as may
be finally determined in a final, non-appealable judgment of a court of competent jurisdiction against Issuing
Bank following reimbursement or payment of the obligations and liabilities, including reimbursement and
other payment obligations, of Borrowers to Issuing Bank arising under, or in connection with, this
Section 2.11 or any Letter of Credit.

) Without limiting any other provision of this Agreement, Issuing Bank and each other
Letter of Credit Related Person (if applicable) shall not be responsible to Borrowers for, and Issuing Bank’s
rights and remedies against Borrowers and the obligation of Borrowers to reimburse Issuing Bank for each
drawing under each Letter of Credit shall not be impaired by:

(1) honor of a presentation under any Letter of Credit that on its face substantially
complies with the terms and conditions of such Letter of Credit, even if the Letter of Credit requires
strict compliance by the beneficiary;

(i1) honor of a presentation of any Drawing Document that appears on its face to
have been signed, presented or issued (A) by any




purported successor or transferee of any beneficiary or other Person required to sign, present or issue
such Drawing Document or (B) under a new name of the beneficiary;

(iii) acceptance as a draft of any written or electronic demand or request for
payment under a Letter of Credit, even if nonnegotiable or not in the form of a draft or notwithstanding
any requirement that such draft, demand or request bear any or adequate reference to the Letter of
Credit;

@iv) the identity or authority of any presenter or signer of any Drawing Document or
the form, accuracy, genuineness or legal effect of any Drawing Document (other than Issuing Bank’s
determination that such Drawing Document appears on its face substantially to comply with the terms
and conditions of the Letter of Credit);

v) acting upon any instruction or request relative to a Letter of Credit or requested
Letter of Credit that Issuing Bank in good faith believes to have been given by a Person authorized to
give such instruction or request;

(vi) any errors, omissions, interruptions or delays in transmission or delivery of any
message, advice or document (regardless of how sent or transmitted) or for errors in interpretation of
technical terms or in translation or any delay in giving or failing to give notice to Borrowers;

(vii) any acts, omissions or fraud by, or the insolvency of, any beneficiary, any
nominated person or entity or any other Person or any breach of contract between any beneficiary and
any Borrower or any of the parties to the underlying transaction to which the Letter of Credit relates;

(viii) assertion or waiver of any provision of the ISP or UCP that primarily benefits
an issuer of a letter of credit, including any requirement that any Drawing Document be presented to it
at a particular hour or place;

(ix) payment to any presenting bank (designated or permitted by the terms of the
applicable Letter of Credit) claiming that it rightfully honored or is entitled to reimbursement or
indemnity under Standard Letter of Credit Practice applicable to it;

(x) acting or failing to act as required or permitted under Standard Letter of Credit
Practice applicable to where Issuing Bank has issued, confirmed, advised or negotiated such Letter of
Credit, as the case may be;

(xi) honor of a presentation after the expiration date of any Letter of Credit
notwithstanding that a presentation was made prior to such expiration date and dishonored by Issuing
Bank if subsequently Issuing




Bank or any court or other finder of fact determines such presentation should have been honored;

(xii) dishonor of any presentation that does not strictly comply or that is fraudulent,
forged or otherwise not entitled to honor; or

(xiii) honor of a presentation that is subsequently determined by Issuing Bank to
have been made in violation of international, federal, state or local restrictions on the transaction of
business with certain prohibited Persons.

(k) Borrowers shall pay immediately upon demand to Agent for the account of Issuing
Bank as non-refundable fees, commissions, and charges (it being acknowledged and agreed that any charging
of such fees, commissions, and charges to the Loan Account pursuant to the provisions of Section 2.6(d) shall
be deemed to constitute a demand for payment thereof for the purposes of this Section 2.11(k)): (i) a fronting
fee which shall be imposed by Issuing Bank equal to .125% per annum times the average amount of the
Letter of Credit Usage during the immediately preceding quarter (or if an Event of Default has occurred,
month) (or portion thereof), plus (ii) any and all other customary commissions, fees and charges then in effect
imposed by, and any and all expenses incurred by, Issuing Bank, or by any adviser, confirming institution or
entity or other nominated person, relating to Letters of Credit, at the time of issuance of any Letter of Credit
and upon the occurrence of any other activity with respect to any Letter of Credit (including transfers,
assignments of proceeds, amendments, drawings extensions, or cancellations).

)] If by reason of (x) any Change in Law, or (y) compliance by Issuing Bank or any other
member of the Lender Group with any direction, request, or requirement (irrespective of whether having the
force of law) of any Governmental Authority or monetary authority including, Regulation D of the Board of
Governors as from time to time in effect (and any successor thereto):

(1) any reserve, deposit, or similar requirement is or shall be imposed or modified
in respect of any Letter of Credit issued or caused to be issued hereunder or hereby or any Loans or
obligations to make Loans hereunder or hereby, or

(i1) there shall be imposed on Issuing Bank or any other member of the Lender
Group any other condition regarding any Letter of Credit, Loans, or obligations to make Loans
hereunder,

and the result of the foregoing is to increase, directly or indirectly, the cost (other than Taxes) to Issuing Bank
or any other member of the Lender Group of issuing, making, participating in, or maintaining any Letter of
Credit or to reduce the amount receivable in respect thereof, then, and in any such case, Agent may, at any
time within a reasonable period after such additional cost is incurred or the amount




received is reduced, notify Borrowers, and Borrowers shall pay within 30 days after demand therefor, such
amounts as Agent may specify to be necessary to compensate Issuing Bank or any other member of the
Lender Group for such additional cost or reduced receipt, together with interest on such amount from the date
of such demand until payment in full thereof at the rate then applicable to Base Rate Loans hereunder;
provided, that (A) Borrowers shall not be required to provide any compensation pursuant to this
Section 2.11(1) for any such amounts incurred more than 180 days prior to the date on which the demand for
payment of such amounts is first made to Borrowers, and (B) if an event or circumstance giving rise to such
amounts is retroactive, then the 180-day period referred to above shall be extended to include the period of
retroactive effect thereof. The determination by Agent of any amount due pursuant to this Section 2.11(1), as
set forth in a certificate setting forth the calculation thereof in reasonable detail, shall, in the absence of
manifest or demonstrable error, be final and conclusive and binding on all of the parties hereto.

(m) Each standby Letter of Credit shall expire not later than the date that is 12 months after
the date of the issuance of such Letter of Credit; provided, that any standby Letter of Credit may provide for
the automatic extension thereof for any number of additional periods each of up to one year in duration;
provided further, that with respect to any Letter of Credit which extends beyond the Maturity Date, Letter of
Credit Collateralization shall be provided therefor on or before the date that is five Business Days prior to the
Maturity Date. Each commercial Letter of Credit shall expire on the earlier of (i) 120 days after the date of
the issuance of such commercial Letter of Credit and (ii) five Business Days prior to the Maturity Date.

(n) If (i) any Event of Default shall occur and be continuing, or (ii) Excess Availability
shall at any time be less than zero, then on the Business Day following the date when the Administrative
Borrower receives notice from Agent or the Required Lenders (or, if the maturity of the Obligations has been
accelerated, Revolving Lenders with Letter of Credit Exposure representing greater than 50% of the total
Letter Credit Exposure) demanding Letter of Credit Collateralization pursuant to this Section 2.11(n) upon
such demand, Borrowers shall provide Letter of Credit Collateralization with respect to the then existing
Letter of Credit Usage, to the extent not already cash collateralized in accordance with the terms hereof. If
Borrowers fail to provide Letter of Credit Collateralization as required by this Section 2.11(n), the Revolving
Lenders may advance, as Revolving Loans the amount of the cash collateral required pursuant to the Letter of
Credit Collateralization provision so that the then existing Letter of Credit Usage is cash collateralized in
accordance with the Letter of Credit Collateralization provision.

(0) Unless otherwise expressly agreed by Issuing Bank and Borrowers when a Letter of
Credit is issued (including any such agreement applicable to an Existing Letter of Credit), (i) the rules of the
ISP shall apply to each standby Letter of Credit, and (ii) the rules of the UCP shall apply to each commercial
Letter of Credit.
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(p) In the event of a direct conflict between the provisions of this Section 2.11 and any
provision contained in any Issuer Document, it is the intention of the parties hereto that such provisions be
read together and construed, to the fullest extent possible, to be in concert with each other. In the event of
any actual, irreconcilable conflict that cannot be resolved as aforesaid, the terms and provisions of this
Section 2.11 shall control and govern.

(@ At Borrowers’ cost and expense, Borrowers shall execute and deliver to Issuing Bank
such additional certificates, instruments and/or documents and take such additional action as may be
reasonably requested by Issuing Bank to enable Issuing Bank to issue any Letter of Credit pursuant to this
Agreement and related Issuer Document, to protect, exercise and/or enforce Issuing Bank’s rights and
interests under this Agreement or to give effect to the terms and provisions of this Agreement or any Issuer
Document. Each Borrower irrevocably appoints Issuing Bank as its attorney-in-fact and authorizes Issuing
Bank, without notice to Borrowers, to execute and deliver ancillary documents and letters customary in the
letter of credit business that may include but are not limited to advisements, indemnities, checks, bills of
exchange and issuance documents. The power of attorney granted by the Borrowers is limited solely to such
actions related to the issuance, confirmation or amendment of any Letter of Credit and to ancillary documents
or letters customary in the letter of credit business. This appointment is coupled with an interest.

(r) The provisions of this Section 2.11 shall survive the termination of this Agreement and
the repayment in full of the Obligations with respect to any Letters of Credit that remain outstanding.

(3] Section 2.12(d)(ii) is hereby amended and restated in its entirety as follows:

(i1) Subject to the provisions set forth in Section 2.12(d)(iii), in the event that any change in
market conditions or any Change in Law shall at any time after the date hereof, in the reasonable opinion of
any Lender, make it unlawful or impractical for such Lender to fund or maintain LIBOR Rate Loans or to
continue such funding or maintaining, or to determine or charge interest rates at the LIBOR Rate, such
Lender shall give notice of such changed circumstances to Agent and Borrowers and Agent promptly shall
transmit the notice to each other Lender and (y) in the case of any LIBOR Rate Loans of such Lender that are
outstanding, the date specified in such Lender’s notice shall be deemed to be the last day of the Interest
Period of such LIBOR Rate Loans, and interest upon the LIBOR Rate Loans of such Lender thereafter shall
accrue interest at the rate then applicable to Base Rate Loans, and (z) Borrowers shall not be entitled to elect
the LIBOR Option until such Lender determines that it would no longer be unlawful or impractical to do so.

(2) Section 2.12 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended by adding the following new Section
2.12(d)(iii) immediately following Section 2.12(d)(ii):
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(iii)  Effect of Benchmark Transition Event.

(A) Benchmark Replacement. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein or in any
other Loan Document, upon the occurrence of a Benchmark Transition Event or an Early Opt-in Election, as
applicable, Agent and Administrative Borrower may amend this Agreement to replace the LIBOR Rate with a
Benchmark Replacement. Any such amendment with respect to a Benchmark Transition Event will become
effective at 5:00 p.m. on the fifth (5th) Business Day after Agent has posted such proposed amendment to all
Lenders and Administrative Borrower so long as Agent has not received, by such time, written notice of
objection to such amendment from Lenders comprising the Required Lenders. Any such amendment with
respect to an Early Opt-in Election will become effective on the date that Lenders comprising the Required
Lenders have delivered to Agent written notice that such Required Lenders accept such amendment. No
replacement of the LIBOR Rate with a Benchmark Replacement pursuant to this Section 2.12(d)(iii) will
occur prior to the applicable Benchmark Transition Start Date.

(B) Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes. In connection with the
implementation of a Benchmark Replacement, Agent will have the right to make Benchmark Replacement
Conforming Changes from time to time and, notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein or in any other
Loan Document, any amendments implementing such Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes will
become effective without any further action or consent of any other party to this Agreement.

(C)  Notices; Standards for Decisions and Determinations. Agent will promptly notify
Administrative Borrower and the Lenders of (1) any occurrence of a Benchmark Transition Event or an Early
Opt-in Election, as applicable, and its related Benchmark Replacement Date and Benchmark Transition Start
Date, (2) the implementation of any Benchmark Replacement, (3) the effectiveness of any Benchmark
Replacement Conforming Changes, and (4) the commencement or conclusion of any Benchmark
Unavailability Period. Any determination, decision or election that may be made by Agent or Lenders
pursuant to this Section 2.12(d)(iii) including any determination with respect to a tenor, rate or adjustment or
of the occurrence or non-occurrence of an event, circumstance or date and any decision to take or refrain from
taking any action, will be conclusive and binding absent manifest error and may be made in its or their sole
discretion and without consent from any other party hereto, except, in each case, as expressly required
pursuant to this Section 2.12(d)(iii).

(D) Benchmark Unavailability Period. Upon Administrative Borrower's receipt of notice
of the commencement of a Benchmark Unavailability Period, Administrative Borrower may revoke any
request for a LIBOR Borrowing of, conversion to or continuation of LIBOR Rate Loans to be made,
converted or continued during any Benchmark Unavailability Period and, failing that, Administrative
Borrower will be deemed to have converted any such request into a
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request for a Borrowing of or conversion to Base Rate Loans. During any Benchmark Unavailability Period,
the component of Base Rate based upon the LIBOR Rate will not be used in any determination of the Base
Rate.

(h) Section 4.12 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended by adding the following sentence at
the end thereof: "As of the Amendment No. 1 Effective Date, the information included in the Beneficial Ownership
Certification is true and correct in all respects."

6)] Section 5 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended by adding the following new Section
5.16 immediately after Section 5.15:

5.16 Specified Period Cash Collateralization. The Loan Parties shall, during the Specified Period,
provide and maintain (a) Bank Product Collateralization and (b) Letter of Credit Collateralization pursuant to
clause (a) of the definition thereof, with such cash collateral to be held in a segregated Deposit Account
subject to a Control Agreement.

) Section 5.12 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended by adding the following sentence to
the end thereof: "Agent shall not accept delivery of any joinder to any Loan Document with respect to any Subsidiary
of any Loan Party that is not a Loan Party, if such Subsidiary qualifies as a "legal entity customer" under the
Beneficial Ownership Regulation, unless such Subsidiary has delivered a Beneficial Ownership Certification in
relation to such Subsidiary and Agent has completed its Patriot Act searches, OFAC/PEP searches and customary
individual background checks for such Subsidiary, the results of which shall be satisfactory to Agent."

(k) Section 6.4 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended by adding the following parenthetical
immediately before the final period of such section: "(including by an allocation of assets among newly divided
limited liability companies pursuant to a "plan of division")".

)] Section 6.11 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended and restated in its entirety in the
following form:

6.11 Use of Proceeds. Each Borrower will not, and will not permit any of its Restricted
Subsidiaries to use the proceeds of any Loan made hereunder for any purpose other than (a) on the Closing
Date, to pay the fees, costs, and expenses incurred in connection with this Agreement, the other Loan
Documents, and the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, in each case, as set forth in the Funds
Flow Agreement, and (b) consistent with the terms and conditions hereof, for their lawful and permitted
purposes (including that no part of the proceeds of the loans made to Borrowers will be used for any purpose
that violates the provisions of Regulation T, U or X of the Board of Governors); provided (1) Loans made to
Parent Borrower may be used only to fund working capital and general corporate purposes of Parent
Borrower and its Subsidiaries (other than OpCo Borrower and its Subsidiaries), (2) Loans made to OpCo
Borrower may be used for working capital and general corporate purposes, and (3) no part of the proceeds of
any Loan
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or Letter of Credit will be used, directly or indirectly, to make any payments to a Sanctioned Entity or a
Sanctioned Person, to fund any investments, loans or contributions in, or otherwise make such proceeds
available to, a Sanctioned Entity or a Sanctioned Person, to fund any operations, activities or business of a
Sanctioned Entity or a Sanctioned Person, or in any other manner that would result in a violation of Sanctions
by any Person.

(m) Section 7 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended and restated in its entirety as follows:

7.  FINANCIAL COVENANT.

7.1 Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio. Parent Borrower covenants and agrees that, until termination
of all of the Commitments and payment in full of the Obligations (other than Contingent Surviving
Obligations), upon the occurrence and during the continuance of a Covenant Testing Period, Borrowers will
maintain a Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio, measured on a month-end basis of at least 1.0:1.0 for the trailing
twelve-month period ended as of the last day of each such month, as applicable, commencing with the most
recent period that is a month-end for which financial statements were, or were required to be, delivered
hereunder prior to the applicable Covenant Testing Period.

7.2 Minimum Liquidity. Parent Borrower covenants and agrees that at all times during the
Specified Period, Borrowers shall not permit Minimum Liquidity to be less than $75,000,000.

(n) Section 15 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended by adding the following now Section
15.19 immediately after Section 15.18 thereof:

15.19 Certain ERISA Matters

(a) Each Lender (x) represents and warrants, as of the date such Person became a Lender
party hereto, to, and (y) covenants, from the date such Person became a Lender party hereto to the date such
Person ceases being a Lender party hereto, for the benefit of, the Agent, the Lead Arrangers, the Book Runner
and their respective Affiliates, and not, for the avoidance of doubt, to or for the benefit of the Borrowers or
any other Loan Party, that at least one of the following is and will be true:

(1) such Lender is not using “plan assets” (within the meaning of the Plan Asset
Regulations) of one or more Benefit Plans in connection with the Loans, the Letters of Credit, the
Commitments or the Bank Products,

(i1) the transaction exemption set forth in one or more PTEs, such as PTE 84- 14 (a class

exemption for certain transactions determined by independent qualified professional asset managers),
PTE 95-60 (a class
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exemption for certain transactions involving insurance company general accounts), PTE 90-1 (a class
exemption for certain transactions involving insurance company pooled separate accounts), PTE 91-
38 (a class exemption for certain transactions involving bank collective investment funds) or PTE 96-
23 (a class exemption for certain transactions determined by in-house asset managers), is applicable
with respect to such Lender’s entrance into, participation in, administration of and performance of the
Loans, the Letters of Credit, the Commitments, the Bank Products and this Agreement,

(iii) (A) such Lender is an investment fund managed by a “Qualified Professional Asset
Manager” (within the meaning of Part VI of PTE 84-14), (B) such Qualified Professional Asset
Manager made the investment decision on behalf of such Lender to enter into, participate in,
administer and perform the Loans, the Letters of Credit, the Commitments, the Bank Products and this
Agreement, (C) the entrance into, participation in, administration of and performance of the Loans,
the Letters of Credit, the Commitments, the Bank Products and this Agreement satisfies the
requirements of sub-sections (b) through (g) of Part I of PTE 84-14 and (D) to the best knowledge of
such Lender, the requirements of subsection (a) of Part I of PTE 84-14 are satisfied with respect to
such Lender’s entrance into, participation in, administration of and performance of the Loans, the
Letters of Credit, the Commitments, the Bank products and this Agreement, or

(iv) such other representation, warranty and covenant as may be agreed in writing between
the Agent, in its sole discretion, and such Lender.

(b) In addition, unless Section 15.19(a)(i) is true with respect to a Lender or such Lender has
provided another representation, warranty and covenant as provided in Section 15.19(a)(iv), such Lender
further (x) represents and warrants, as of the date such Person became a Lender party hereto, to, and (y)
covenants, from the date such Person became a Lender party hereto to the date such Person ceases being a
Lender party hereto, for the benefit of, the Agent, the Lead Arranger, the Book Runner and their respective
Affiliates, and not, for the avoidance of doubt, to or for the benefit of the Borrowers or any other Loan Party,
that none of the Agent, or any Lead Arranger or Book Runner or any of their respective Affiliates is a
fiduciary with respect to the Collateral or the assets of such Lender (including in connection with the
reservation or exercise of any rights by the Agent under this Agreement, any Loan Document or any
documents related to hereto or thereto).

(©) The Agent, the Lead Arranger and Book Runner, each hereby inform the Lenders that each
such Person is not undertaking to provide investment advice, or to give advice in a fiduciary capacity, in
connection with the transactions contemplated hereby, and that such Person has a financial interest in the
transactions contemplated hereby in that such Person or an Affiliate thereof (i) may receive interest or other
payments with respect to the Loans, the Letters of Credit, the Commitments, the Bank Products, this
Agreement and any other Loan Documents,
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(i1) may recognize a gain if it extended the Loans, the Letters of Credit, the Commitments or the Bank
Products for an amount less than the amount being paid for an interest in the Loans, the Letters of Credit, the
Commitments or the Bank Products by such Lender or (iii) may receive fees or other payments in connection
with the transactions contemplated hereby, the Loan Documents or otherwise, including structuring fees,
commitment fees, arrangement fees, facility fees, upfront fees, underwriting fees, ticking fees, agency fees,
administrative agent or collateral agent fees, utilization fees, minimum usage fees, letter of credit fees,
fronting fees, deal-away or alternate transaction fees, amendment fees, processing fees, term out premiums,
banker’s acceptance fees, breakage or other early termination fees or fees similar to the foregoing.

(0) Section 17 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended by adding the following new Sections
17.16 and 17.17 immediately after Section 17.15 thereof:

17.16 Acknowledgement Regarding Any Supported QFCs. To the extent that the Loan

Documents provide support, through a guarantee or otherwise, for Hedge Agreements or any other agreement
or instrument that is a QFC (such support, “QFC Credit Support” and each such QFC a “Supported QFC”),
the parties acknowledge and agree as follows with respect to the resolution power of the Federal Deposit
Insurance Corporation under the Federal Deposit Insurance Act and Title II of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street
Reform and Consumer Protection Act (together with the regulations promulgated thereunder, the “U.S.
Special Resolution Regimes”) in respect of such Supported QFC and QFC Credit Support (with the
provisions below applicable notwithstanding that the Loan Documents and any Supported QFC may in fact
be stated to be governed by the laws of the State of New York and/or of the United States or any other state of
the United States). In the event a Covered Entity that is party to a Supported QFC (each, a “Covered Party”)
becomes subject to a proceeding under a U.S. Special Resolution Regime, the transfer of such Supported
QFC and the benefit of such QFC Credit Support (and any interest and obligation in or under such Supported
QFC and such QFC Credit Support, and any rights in property securing such Supported QFC or such QFC
Credit Support) from such Covered Party will be effective to the same extent as the transfer would be
effective under the U.S. Special Resolution Regime if the Supported QFC and such QFC Credit Support (and
any such interest, obligation and rights in property) were governed by the laws of the United States or a state
of the United States. In the event a Covered Party or a BHC Act Affiliate of a Covered Party becomes subject
to a proceeding under a U.S. Special Resolution Regime, Default Rights under the Loan Documents that
might otherwise apply to such Supported QFC or any QFC Credit Support that may be exercised against such
Covered Party are permitted to be exercised to no greater extent than such Default Rights could be exercised
under the U.S. Special Resolution Regime if the Supported QFC and the Loan Documents were governed by
the laws of the United States or a state of the United States. Without limitation of the foregoing, it is
understood and agreed that rights and remedies of the parties with respect to a Defaulting Lender shall in no
event affect the rights of any Covered Party with respect to a Supported QFC or any QFC Credit Support.
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17.17 Acknowledgement and Consent to Bail-In of EEA Financial Institutions.
Notwithstanding any other term of any Loan Document or any other agreement, arrangement or
understanding between the parties, each party acknowledges and accepts that any liability of any party to any
other party under or in connection with the Loan Documents may be subject to Bail-In Action by the relevant
Resolution Authority and acknowledges and accepts to be bound by the effect of:

(a) any Bail-In Action in relation to any such liability, including (without limitation):

6)] a reduction, in full or in part, in the principal amount, or outstanding amount due
including any accrued but unpaid interest) in respect of any such liability;
g any p P y y

(i1) a conversion of all, or part of, any such liability into shares or other instruments of
ownership that may be issued to, or conferred on, it; and

(iii)  a cancellation of any such liability; and

(b) a variation of any term of any Loan Document to the extent necessary to give effect to any
Bail-In Action in relation to any such liability.

(p) Schedule 1.1 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended by amending and restating the
following defined terms as follows:

“Anti-Corruption Laws” means the FCPA, the U.K. Bribery Act of 2010, as amended, and all other
applicable laws and regulations or ordinances concerning or relating to bribery, money laundering or
corruption in any jurisdiction in which any Loan Party or any of its Subsidiaries or Affiliates is located or is
doing business.

“Applicable Margin” means, as of any date of determination and with respect to Base Rate Loans or
LIBOR Rate Loans, as applicable, the applicable margin per annum set forth in the following table that
corresponds to the Average Excess Availability of Borrowers for the then most recently ended quarter;
provided, that any time an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, the Applicable Margin shall be
set at the margin in the row styled “Level I11”:

Applicable
Margin Relative
Applicable Margin to LIBOR Rate
Relative to Base Rate Loans (the
Average Excess Loans (the “Base “LIBOR Rate
Level Availability Rate Margin”) Margin”)
I >$50,000,000 0.75% 1.75%
I < $50,000,000 1.00% 2.00%
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The Applicable Margin shall be re-determined as of the first day of each fiscal quarter of Borrowers.

“Available Increase Amount” means, as of any date of determination, an amount equal to the result of
(a) $40,000,000 minus (b) the aggregate principal amount of Increases to the Revolver Commitments
previously made pursuant to Section 2.14 of the Agreement.

“Base Rate” means a per annum rate equal to the greatest of (a) the Federal Funds Rate plus /2%, (b)
the LIBOR Rate (which rate shall be calculated based upon an Interest Period of 1 month and shall be
determined on a daily basis), plus 1 percentage point, and (c) the rate of interest announced, from time to
time, within Wells Fargo at its principal office in San Francisco as its “prime rate”, with the understanding
that the “prime rate” is one of Wells Fargo’s base rates (not necessarily the lowest of such rates) and serves as
the basis upon which effective rates of interest are calculated for those loans making reference thereto and is
evidenced by the recording thereof after its announcement in such internal publications as Wells Fargo may
designate (and, if any such announced rate is below zero, then the rate determined pursuant to this clause (c)
shall be deemed to be zero).

“Borrowing Base” means, as of any date of determination, the result of:
(a) 85% of the amount of Eligible Accounts, less the amount, if any, of the Dilution Reserve, plus
(b) 75% of the amount of Eligible Unbilled Accounts, p/us

(©) after the delivery of a field exam and inventory appraisal, each in form and substance
reasonably satisfactory to the Agent, the lesser of (i) 70% of the lower of cost or fair market value
(determined on a first in/first out basis) of Eligible Inventory and (ii) 85% of the product of (x) the Net
Recovery Percentage identified in the most recent Acceptable Appraisal of Inventory multiplied by (y)
Eligible Inventory; provided, that notwithstanding anything set forth in this Agreement or any other Loan
Document to the contrary, after the Amendment No. 1 Effective Date, no Eligible Inventory shall be included
in the Borrowing Base, minus

(d) the aggregate amount of reserves, if any, established by Agent under Section 2.1(c) of the
Agreement;

provided, that no more than 15% of the Borrowing Base may be comprised of Eligible Unbilled Accounts and

any amount of Eligible Unbilled Accounts that would cause Eligible Unbilled Accounts to exceed 15% of the
Borrowing Base shall be excluded from the calculation thereof.
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terms:

“Covenant Testing Period” means the period commencing on any date on which (a) Excess
Auvailability is less than the greater of (1) $12,500,000 and (2) 10.0% of the Line Cap or (b) an Event of
Default shall occur, and, in each case, ending upon a Covenant Testing Reversion Date; provided that no
Covenant Testing Period shall occur during the Specified Period.

“LIBOR Rate” means the greater of (a) 0.75% per annum, and (b) the rate per annum as published by
ICE Benchmark Administration Limited (or any successor page or other commercially available source as the
Agent may designate from time to time) as of 11:00 a.m., London time, two Business Days prior to the
commencement of the requested Interest Period, for a term, and in an amount, comparable to the Interest
Period and the amount of the LIBOR Rate Loan requested (whether as an initial LIBOR Rate Loan or as a
continuation of a LIBOR Rate Loan or as a conversion of a Base Rate Loan to a LIBOR Rate Loan) by
Borrowers in accordance with this Agreement (and, if any such published rate is below zero, then the rate
determined pursuant to this clause (b) shall be deemed to be zero). Each determination of the LIBOR Rate
shall be made by the Agent and shall be conclusive in the absence of manifest error.

“Maximum Revolver Amount” means $100,000,000, decreased by the amount of reductions in the
Revolver Commitments made in accordance with Section 2.4(c) of the Agreement or increased by the amount
of Increases made in accordance with Section 2.14 of the Agreement.

“Sanctioned Entity” means (a) a country or territory or a government of a country or territory, (b) an
agency of the government of a country or territory, (c) an organization directly or indirectly controlled by a
country or territory or its government, (d) a Person resident in or determined to be resident in a country or
territory, in each case of clauses (a) through (d) that is a target of Sanctions, including a target of any country
sanctions program administered and enforced by OFAC, or (¢) a Sanctioned Person.

Q) Schedule 1.1 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended by adding the following defined

“Amendment No. 1 Effective Date” means August 14, 2020.

“Bail-In Action” means the exercise of any Write-down and Conversion Powers.

“Bail-In Legislation” means:

(a) in relation to an EEA Member Country which has implemented, or which at any time
implements, Article 55 BRRD, the relevant implementing law or regulation as described in the EU Bail-In
Legislation Schedule from time to time; and
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(b) in relation to any state other than such an EEA Member Country or (to the extent that
the United Kingdom is not such an EEA Member Country) the United Kingdom, any analogous law or
regulation from time to time which requires contractual recognition of any Write-down and Conversion
Powers contained in that law or regulation.

“Benchmark Replacement” means the sum of: (a) the alternate benchmark rate (which may include
Term SOFR) that has been selected by Agent and Administrative Borrower giving due consideration to
(i) any selection or recommendation of a replacement rate or the mechanism for determining such a rate by
the Relevant Governmental Body or (ii) any evolving or then-prevailing market convention for determining a
rate of interest as a replacement to the LIBOR Rate for United States dollar-denominated syndicated credit
facilities and (b) the Benchmark Replacement Adjustment; provided that, if the Benchmark Replacement as
so determined would be less than zero, the Benchmark Replacement shall be deemed to be zero for the
purposes of this Agreement.

“Benchmark Replacement Adjustment” means, with respect to any replacement of the LIBOR Rate
with an Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement for each applicable Interest Period, the spread adjustment, or
method for calculating or determining such spread adjustment, (which may be a positive or negative value or
zero) that has been selected by Agent and Administrative Borrower giving due consideration to (i) any
selection or recommendation of a spread adjustment, or method for calculating or determining such spread
adjustment, for the replacement of the LIBOR Rate with the applicable Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement
by the Relevant Governmental Body or (ii) any evolving or then-prevailing market convention for
determining a spread adjustment, or method for calculating or determining such spread adjustment, for the
replacement of the LIBOR Rate with the applicable Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement for United States
dollar-denominated syndicated credit facilities at such time.

“Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes” means, with respect to any Benchmark
Replacement, any technical, administrative or operational changes (including changes to the definition of
“Base Rate”, the definition of “Interest Period”, timing and frequency of determining rates and making
payments of interest and other administrative matters) that Agent decides may be appropriate to reflect the
adoption and implementation of such Benchmark Replacement and to permit the administration thereof by
Agent in a manner substantially consistent with market practice (or, if Agent decides that adoption of any
portion of such market practice is not administratively feasible or if Agent determines that no market practice
for the administration of the Benchmark Replacement exists, in such other manner of administration as Agent
decides is reasonably necessary in connection with the administration of this Agreement).

“Benchmark Replacement Date” means the earlier to occur of the following events with respect to the
LIBOR Rate:
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(a) in the case of clause (a) or (b) of the definition of “Benchmark Transition Event,” the later of
(1) the date of the public statement or publication of information referenced therein and (ii) the date on which
the administrator of the LIBOR Rate permanently or indefinitely ceases to provide the LIBOR Rate; or

(b) in the case of clause (c) of the definition of “Benchmark Transition Event,” the date of the public
statement or publication of information referenced therein.

“Benchmark Transition Event” means the occurrence of one or more of the following events with
respect to the LIBOR Rate:

(a) apublic statement or publication of information by or on behalf of the administrator of the LIBOR
Rate announcing that such administrator has ceased or will cease to provide the LIBOR Rate, permanently or
indefinitely, provided that, at the time of such statement or publication, there is no successor administrator
that will continue to provide the LIBOR Rate;

(b) a public statement or publication of information by the regulatory supervisor for the administrator
of the LIBOR Rate, the Federal Reserve System of the United States (or any successor), an insolvency
official with jurisdiction over the administrator for the LIBOR Rate, a resolution authority with jurisdiction
over the administrator for the LIBOR Rate or a court or an entity with similar insolvency or resolution
authority over the administrator for the LIBOR Rate, which states that the administrator of the LIBOR Rate
has ceased or will cease to provide the LIBOR Rate permanently or indefinitely, provided that, at the time of
such statement or publication, there is no successor administrator that will continue to provide the LIBOR
Rate; or

(c) a public statement or publication of information by the regulatory supervisor for the administrator
of the LIBOR Rate announcing that the LIBOR Rate is no longer representative.

“Benchmark Transition Start Date” means (a) in the case of a Benchmark Transition Event, the earlier
of (i) the applicable Benchmark Replacement Date and (ii) if such Benchmark Transition Event is a public
statement or publication of information of a prospective event, the 90th day prior to the expected date of such
event as of such public statement or publication of information (or if the expected date of such prospective
event is fewer than 90 days after such statement or publication, the date of such statement or publication) and
(b) in the case of an Early Opt-in Election, the date specified by Agent or the Required Lenders, as
applicable, by notice to Administrative Borrower, Agent (in the case of such notice by the Required Lenders)
and the Lenders.

“Benchmark Unavailability Period” means, if a Benchmark Transition Event and its related
Benchmark Replacement Date have occurred with respect to
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the LIBOR Rate and solely to the extent that the LIBOR Rate has not been replaced with a Benchmark
Replacement, the period (x) beginning at the time that such Benchmark Replacement Date has occurred if, at
such time, no Benchmark Replacement has replaced the LIBOR Rate for all purposes hereunder in

accordance with Section 2.12(d)(iii) and (y) ending at the time that a Benchmark Replacement has replaced
the LIBOR Rate for all purposes hereunder pursuant to Section 2.12(d)(iii).

“Beneficial Ownership Certification” means a certification regarding beneficial ownership as required
by the Beneficial Ownership Regulations.

“Beneficial Ownership Regulation” means 31 C.F.R. § 1010.230.

“Benefit Plan” means any of (a) an “employee benefit plan” (as defined in Section 3(3) of ERISA)
that is subject to Title I of ERISA, (b) a “plan” as defined in Section 4975 of the Code to which Section 4975
of the Code applies, and (c) any Person whose assets include (for purposes of the Plan Asset Regulations or
otherwise for purposes of Title I of ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code) the assets of any such “employee
benefit plan” or “plan”.

“BHC Act Affiliate” of a Person means an “affiliate” (as such term is defined under, and interpreted
in accordance with, 12 U.S.C. 1841(k)) of such Person.

“Consolidated Cash Balance” means, at any time, (a) the aggregate amount of cash and Cash
Equivalents, marketable securities, treasury bonds and bills, certificates of deposit, investments in money
market funds and commercial paper, in each case, held or owned by (either directly or indirectly), credited to
the account of or would otherwise be required to be reflected as an asset on the balance sheet of the Borrower
and its Subsidiaries less (b) the sum of (i) any cash or Cash Equivalents to pay royalty obligations, working
interest obligations, suspense payments, severance taxes, payroll, payroll taxes, other taxes, employee wage
and benefit payments and trust and fiduciary obligations or other obligations of the Borrower or any
Subsidiary to third parties and for which the Borrower or such Subsidiary has issued checks or has initiated
wires or ACH transfers (or, in the Borrower’s discretion, will issue checks or initiate wires or ACH transfers
within five (5) business days) in order to pay, (ii) other amounts for which the Borrower or such Subsidiary
has issued checks or has initiated wires or ACH transfers but have not yet been subtracted from the balance in
the relevant account of the Borrower or such Subsidiary and (iii) to the extent included in clause (a) above,
any cash collateral held by Agent to secure any Bank Product Obligations or Letters of Credit pursuant to this
Agreement (including any cash collateral maintained pursuant to Section 5.16).
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“Covered Entity” means any of the following:

(a) a “covered entity” as that term is defined in, and interpreted in accordance with, 12 C.F.R.
§ 252.82(b);

(b) a “covered bank™ as that term is defined in, and interpreted in accordance with, 12 C.F.R.
§ 47.3(b); or

(c) a“covered FSI” as that term is defined in, and interpreted in accordance with, 12 C.F.R. §
382.2(b).

“Covered Party” has the meaning specified therefor in Section 17.16 of this Agreement.
“Default Right” has the meaning assigned to that term in, and shall be interpreted in accordance with,
12 C.F.R. §§ 252.81, 47.2 or 382.1, as applicable.

“EEA Financial Institution” means (a) any credit institution or investment firm established in any
EEA Member Country which is subject to the supervision of an EEA Resolution Authority, (b) any entity
established in an EEA Member Country which is a parent of an institution described in clause (a) of this
definition, or (¢) any financial institution established in an EEA Member Country which is a subsidiary of an
institution described in clauses (a) or (b) of this definition and is subject to consolidated supervision with its
parent.

“EEA Member Country” means any member state of the European Union, Iceland, Liechtenstein and
Norway.

“EEA Resolution Authority” means any public administrative authority or any person entrusted with
public administrative authority of any EEA Member Country (including any delegee) having responsibility
for the resolution of any EEA Financial Institution

“EU Bail-In Legislation Schedule” means the document described as such and published by the Loan
Market Association (or any successor person) from time to time.

“Early Opt-in Election” means the occurrence of:

(a) (i) a determination by Agent or (ii) a notification by the Required Lenders to Agent (with a copy to
Administrative Borrower) that the Required Lenders have determined that United States dollar-denominated
syndicated credit facilities being executed at such time, or that include language similar to that contained in
Section 2.12(d)(iii) are being executed or amended, as applicable, to incorporate or adopt a new benchmark
interest rate to replace the LIBOR Rate, and
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(b) (i) the election by Agent or (ii) the election by the Required Lenders to declare that an Early Opt-
in Election has occurred and the provision, as applicable, by Agent of written notice of such election to
Administrative Borrower and the Lenders or by the Required Lenders of written notice of such election to
Agent.

“Federal Reserve Bank of New York's Website” means the website of the Federal Reserve Bank of
New York at http://www.newyorkfed.org, or any successor source.

113

Minimum Liquidity” shall mean an amount equal to the result of the sum of (i) the Consolidated
Cash Balance, (ii) without duplication with amounts included in the foregoing clause (i), any cash collateral
on deposit with Agent pursuant to this Agreement (including Section 5.16), and (iii) Excess Availability
(provided, that if Excess Availability is less than zero, then for the purposes of this definition, Excess
Availability shall be deemed to be zero).

“Plan Asset Regulations” shall mean 29 CFR § 2510.3-101 et seq., as modified by Section 3(42) of
ERISA, as amended from time to time.

“PTE” means a prohibited transaction class exemption issued by the U.S. Department of Labor, as any
such exemption may be amended from time to time.

“QFC” has the meaning assigned to the term “qualified financial contract” in, and shall be interpreted
in accordance with, 12 U.S.C. § 5390(c)(8)(D).

“QFC Credit Support” has the meaning specified therefor in Section 17.16 of this Agreement.

“Relevant Governmental Body” means the Federal Reserve Board and/or the Federal Reserve Bank of
New York, or a committee officially endorsed or convened by the Federal Reserve Board and/or the Federal
Reserve Bank of New York or any successor thereto.

“SOFR” with respect to any day means the secured overnight financing rate published for such day by
the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, as the administrator of the benchmark, (or a successor administrator)
on the Federal Reserve Bank of New York's Website.

13

Specified Period” shall mean the period beginning with the Amendment No. 1 Effective Date and
ending on January 14, 2021.

“Supported QFC” has the meaning specified therefor in Section 17.16 of this Agreement.

“Term SOFR” means the forward-looking term rate based on SOFR that has been selected or
recommended by the Relevant Governmental Body.
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“UK Bail-In Legislation” means (to the extent that the United Kingdom is not an EEA Member
Country which has implemented, or implements, Article 55 BRRD) Part I of the United Kingdom Banking
Act 2009 and any other law or regulation applicable in the United Kingdom relating to the resolution of
unsound or failing banks, investment firms or other financial institutions or their affiliates (otherwise than
through liquidation, administration or other insolvency proceedings).

“Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement” means the Benchmark Replacement excluding the
Benchmark Replacement Adjustment.

“U.S. Special Resolution Regimes” has ‘the meaning specified therefor in Section 17.15 of this
Agreement.

“Write-down and Conversion Powers” means:

(a) in relation to any Bail-In Legislation described in the EU Bail-In Legislation Schedule from
time to time, the powers described as such in relation to that Bail-In Legislation in the EU Bail-In Legislation
Schedule;

(b) in relation to any other applicable Bail-In Legislation:

(1) any powers under that Bail-In Legislation to cancel, transfer or dilute shares issued by
a person that is a bank or investment firm or other financial institution or affiliate of a bank,
investment firm or other financial institution, to cancel, reduce, modify or change the form of a
liability of such a person or any contract or instrument under which that liability arises, to convert all
or part of that liability into shares, securities or obligations of that person or any other person, to
provide that any such contract or instrument is to have effect as if a right had been exercised under it
or to suspend any obligation in respect of that liability or any of the powers under that Bail-In
Legislation that are related to or ancillary to any of those powers; and

(i1) any similar or analogous powers under that Bail-In Legislation; and
(©) in relation to any UK Bail-In Legislation:

(1) any powers under that UK Bail-In Legislation to cancel, transfer or dilute shares
issued by a person that is a bank or investment firm or other financial institution or affiliate of a bank,
investment firm or other financial institution, to cancel, reduce, modify or change the form of a
liability of such a person or any contract or instrument under which that liability arises, to convert all
or part of that liability into shares, securities or obligations of that person or any other person, to
provide that any such contract or instrument is to have effect as if a right had been exercised under it
or to suspend any
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obligation in respect of that liability or any of the powers under that UK Bail-In Legislation that are
related to or ancillary to any of those powers; and

(i)  any similar or analogous powers under that UK Bail-In Legislation.

(r) Schedule C-1 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended and restated in its entirety in the
form attached hereto as Schedule C-1.

(s) Schedule 5.1 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended and restated in its entirety in the
form attached hereto as Schedule 5.1

(t) Schedule 5.2 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended and restated in its entirety in the
form attached hereto as Schedule 5.2.

3. Amendments to Guaranty and Security Agreement. Subject to the satisfaction of the
conditions set forth in Section 6 below, and in reliance on the representations and warranties of the Loan Parties set

forth in Section 7 below, Section 1 of the Guaranty and Security Agreement is hereby amended by amending and
restating the definition of "Triggering Event" as follows:

“Triggering Event” means, as of any date of determination, that (A) an Event of Default has occurred
as of such date, or (B) at any time that is not during the Specified Period, Excess Availability is less than the
greater of either (i) 10% of the Line Cap or (ii) $12,500,000 for 2 consecutive Business Days at any time.

4, Continuing Effect. Except as expressly set forth in Section 2 or Section 3 of this Amendment,
nothing in this Amendment shall constitute a waiver or other modification of any other terms or provisions of the
Credit Agreement or any other Loan Document, and the Credit Agreement and the other Loan Documents shall
remain unchanged and shall continue in full force and effect, in each case as amended hereby. This Amendment is a
Loan Document.

5. Reaffirmation and Confirmation. Each Loan Party party hereto hereby ratifies, affirms,
acknowledges and agrees that the Credit Agreement and the other Loan Documents to which it is a party represent
the valid, enforceable and collectible obligations of such Loan Party, and further acknowledges that there are no
existing claims, defenses, personal or otherwise, or rights of setoff whatsoever with respect to the Credit Agreement
or any other Loan Document. Each Loan Party party hereto hereby agrees that this Amendment in no way acts as a
release or relinquishment of the Liens and rights securing payments of the Obligations. The Liens and rights
securing payment of the Obligations are hereby ratified and confirmed by each Loan Party party hereto in all
respects.

6. Conditions to Effectiveness. This Amendment shall become effective upon the satisfaction of
each of the following conditions precedent, in each case satisfactory to Agent in all respects:

(a) Agent shall have received an executed copy of this Amendment by the Borrowers, the Agent,
and Required Lenders, in form and content reasonably acceptable to Agent;
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(b) The representations and warranties of each Loan Party set forth in Section 7 below shall be
true and correct as of the date hereof;

(c) Agent shall have received the Amendment Fee (as defined below) in immediately available
funds together with payment of all fees, expenses, and other amounts due and payable on the date hereof under each
Loan Document (including fees and expenses of outside counsel to Agent to the extent a request therefor is made on
or prior to the date hereof), including without limitation, all fees and expenses pertaining to this Amendment (it being
agreed and understood that, unless paid by the Borrowers on or prior to the date hereof, Agent is hereby authorized to
charge such Amendment Fee and other fees and expenses as Revolving Loans on or after the date hereof); and

(d) no Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing on the date hereof or as
of the date of the effectiveness of this Amendment, after giving effect hereto.

7. Representations and Warranties. In order to induce Agent and Lenders to enter into this
Amendment, each Loan Party party hereto hereby represents and warrants to Agent and Lenders that:

(a) after giving effect to this Amendment, all representations and warranties contained in the Loan
Documents to which such Loan Party is a party are true and correct in all material respects (except that such
materiality qualifier shall not be applicable to any representations and warranties that already are qualified or
modified by materiality in the text thereof) on and as of the date of this Amendment, as though made on and as of
such date (except to the extent that such representations and warranties relate solely to an earlier date, in which case
such representations and warranties shall be true and correct in all material respects (except that such materiality
qualifier shall not be applicable to any representations and warranties that already are qualified or modified by
materiality in the text thereof) on and as of such earlier date);

(b) no Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing on the date hereof or as
of the date of the effectiveness of this Amendment, after giving effect hereto; and

(©) this Amendment and the Loan Documents, as amended hereby, constitute legal, valid and
binding obligations of such Loan Party and are enforceable against such Loan Party in accordance with their
respective terms, except as enforcement may be limited by equitable principles or by bankruptcy, insolvency,
reorganization, moratorium or similar laws relating to or limiting creditors' rights generally.

8. Amendment Fee. In consideration of the agreements of the Lenders set forth herein, the
Borrowers hereby agree to pay to the Agent for the ratable benefit of the Lenders signatory hereto an amendment fee
(the "Amendment Fee") on the date hereof in immediately available funds in an amount equal to $75,000, which
Amendment Fee shall be fully earned and nonrefundable on
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the date hereof and which Amendment Fee is in addition to and not in replacement of any fees or expenses payable to
Agent or any Lender under the Credit Agreement or any other Loan Document.

9. Miscellaneous.

(a) Choice of Law and Venue; Jury Trial Waiver. Without limiting the applicability of any other
provision of the Credit Agreement or any other Loan Document, the terms and provisions set forth in Section 12 of
the Credit Agreement are expressly incorporated herein by reference.

(b) Counterparts. This Amendment may be executed in any number of counterparts, and by the
parties hereto on the same or separate counterparts, and each such counterpart, when executed and delivered, shall be
deemed to be an original, and all of which, when taken together, shall constitute one and the same agreement.
Delivery of an executed counterpart of this Amendment by telefacsimile or other electronic method of transmission
shall be equally as effective as delivery of an original executed counterpart of this Amendment.

() No Novation. The parties hereto acknowledge and agree that: (i) this Amendment and any
other document or instrument executed and delivered in connection herewith do not constitute and shall in no event
be deemed to be a compromise, satisfaction, reinstatement, accord and satisfaction, novation, release or termination
of the Obligations as in effect prior to the date hereof, or of any the Loan Documents or any rights or obligations
thereunder, or a waiver by Agent or Lenders of any of their rights under this Amendment or the other the Loan
Documents, whether at law or in equity or otherwise; (ii) the Obligations are in all respects continuing with only the
terms thereof being modified to the extent expressly provided in this Amendment; and (iii) the guarantees and the
Liens and security interests as granted or purported to be granted under or pursuant to the Credit Agreement and the
other Loan Documents securing payment of the Obligations are in all such respects continuing in full force and effect
and secure the payment of the Obligations as provided therein.

10. Release; Covenant Not to Sue.

(a) In consideration of the agreements of Agent and Lenders contained herein and for other good
and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, each Loan Party, on behalf
of itself and its successors, assigns, and other legal representatives (each Loan Party and all such other Persons being
hereinafter referred to collectively as the "Releasors" and individually as a "Releasor"), hereby absolutely,
unconditionally and irrevocably releases, remises and forever discharges Agent and Lenders, and their successors
and assigns, and their present and former shareholders, members, managers, affiliates, subsidiaries, divisions,
predecessors, directors, officers, attorneys, employees, agents, legal representatives, and other representatives
(Agent, each Lender and all such other Persons being hereinafter referred to collectively as the "Releasees" and
individually as a "Releasee"), of and from all demands, actions, causes of action, suits, covenants, contracts,
controversies, agreements, promises, sums of money, accounts, bills, reckonings, damages and any and all other
claims, counterclaims, defenses, rights of set-off, demands and liabilities whatsoever of every name and nature,
known or unknown, suspected or unsuspected, both at law and in equity, which any Releasor may now own, hold,
have or claim to have against the Releasees or any of them for,
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upon, or by reason of any circumstance, action, cause or thing whatsoever which arises at any time on or prior to the
day and date of this Amendment, in any way related to or in connection with the Credit Agreement, or any of the
other Loan Documents or transactions thereunder or related thereto (individually, a "Claim" and collectively,
"Claims").

(b) Each Loan Party understands, acknowledges and agrees that the release set forth above may
be pleaded as a full and complete defense and may be used as a basis for an injunction against any action, suit or
other proceeding which may be instituted, prosecuted or attempted in breach of the provisions of such release.

(©) Each Releasor hereby absolutely, unconditionally, and irrevocably covenants and agrees with
and in favor of each Releasee that it will not sue (at law, in equity, in any regulatory proceeding or otherwise) any
Releasee on the basis of any Claim released, remised, and discharged by any Releasor pursuant to this Section 9. If
any Releasor violates the foregoing covenant, each Loan Party for itself and its successors and assigns, and other
legal representatives, agrees to pay, in addition to such other damages as any Releasee may sustain as a result of such
violation, all attorneys' fees and costs incurred by any Releasee as a result of such violation.

[Signature Pages Follow]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOQF, the parties hereto have caused this Amendment to be executed by their
respective officers thereunto duly authorized and delivered as of the date first above written.

BORROWERS: FTS INTERNATIONAL SERVICES, LLC, a Texas
limited liability company

By: /s/ Jennifer L. Keefe
Name: Jennifer L. Keefe
Title: General Counsel

FTS INTERNATIONAL, INC., a Delaware corporation

By: /s/ Jennifer L. Keefe

Name: Jennifer L. Keefe

Title: General Counsel

GUARANTOR FTS INTERNATIONAL MANUFACTURING, LLC,

a Texas limited liability company

By: /s/ Jennifer L. Keefe

Name: Jennifer L. Keefe

Title: General Counsel

Signature Page to Amendment No. 1 to Credit Agreement and Amendment No. 1 to Guaranty and Security
Agreement




WELLS FARGO BANK, NATIONAL
ASSOCIATION, a national banking association, as
Agent, as Book Runner, and as a Lender

By: /s/ Becky Rountree

Name: Becky Rountree

Its Authorized Signatory
MORGAN STANLY BANK, N.A., as a Lender

By:

Name:

Its Authorized Signatory
CITIBANK, N.A., as a Lender

By: /s/ Brendan Mackay

Name: Brendan Mackay

Title: Vice President

CREDIT SUISSE AG, CAYMAN ISLANDS
BRANCH, as a Lender

By: /s/ Megan Kane

Name: Megan Kene

Title: Authorized Signatory

By: /s/ Didier Siffer

Name: Didier Siffer

Title: Authorized Signatory

BARCLAYS BANK PLC, as a Lender

By: /s/ Sydney G. Dennis

Name:  Sydney G. Dennis

Title: Director

Signature Page to Amendment No. 1 to Credit Agreement and Amendment No. 1 to Guaranty and Security
Agreement




Schedule C-1

Commitments

Lender Total Commitment
Wells Fargo Bank, National Association $36,000,000.00
Credit Suisse AG, Cayman Islands Branch $20,000,000.00
Morgan Stanley Bank, N.A. $18,800,000.00
Barclays Bank PLC $15,200,000.00
Citibank, N.A. $10,000,000.00
All Lenders $100,000,000.00




Schedule 5.1

Deliver to Agent (and if so requested by Agent, with copies for each Lender) each of the financial statements,
reports, or other items set forth below at the following times listed opposite each such item (if applicable) in form reasonably
satisfactory to Agent (capitalized terms used herein without definition have the meanings set forth in the Agreement to which

this Schedule is attached):

Deadline

Deliverable

within 30 days after the end of
each month, other than the last
month of any fiscal quarter of
Parent Borrower,

(a) an internally-prepared unaudited consolidated balance sheet of Parent Borrower
and its Subsidiaries as of the close of such month and internally-prepared unaudited
consolidated statements of income and cash flows for such month, all in reasonable
detail, and certified by an Authorized Person of Parent Borrower to present fairly in all
material respects the financial condition of Parent Borrower and its Subsidiaries on a
consolidated basis as of their respective dates and the results of operations of Parent
Borrower and its Subsidiaries for the respective periods then ended, subject to normal
quarter-end and year-end adjustments and the absence of footnotes, and

(b) a Compliance Certificate along with the underlying calculations, which shall
include in any event (i) the calculations to arrive at Consolidated Cash Flow, the Fixed
Charge Coverage Ratio, and, from and after the Specified Period, if a Covenant Testing
Period has occurred and is continuing, demonstrating compliance with the covenant set
forth in Section 7.1 of the Agreement, and (ii) during the Specified Period, a certification
as to whether Minimum Liquidity, on and as of such delivery date and as of each day
from and after the delivery of the immediately preceding Compliance Certificate (or,
solely in the case of the delivery of the first Compliance Certificate after the Amendment
No. 1 Effective Date, as of each day from and after the Amendment No. 1 Effective
Date) has exceeded the amount set forth in Section 7.2 of the Agreement;

within 45 days after the end of
each of the first three fiscal
quarters during each of Parent
Borrower’s  fiscal  years,
commencing with the fiscal
quarter ended March 31, 2018,

(¢ an unaudited consolidated balance sheet of Parent Borrower and its Subsidiaries
as of the close of such fiscal quarter and unaudited consolidated statements of income,
retained earnings and cash flows for such fiscal quarter and a report containing
management’s discussion and analysis of such financial statements for such fiscal quarter
and that portion of the fiscal year then ended, including the notes thereto, all in
reasonable detail setting forth in comparative form the corresponding figures as of the
end of and for the corresponding period in the preceding fiscal year and prepared by
Parent Borrower in accordance with GAAP and, if applicable, containing disclosure of
the effect on the financial position or results of operations of any change in the
application of accounting principles and practices during the period, and certified by an
Authorized Person of Parent Borrower to present fairly in all material respects the
financial condition of Parent Borrower and its Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis as of
their respective dates and the results of operations of Parent Borrower and its
Subsidiaries for the respective periods then ended, subject to normal year-end
adjustments and the absence of footnotes, and




(d) a Compliance Certificate along with the underlying calculations, which shall
include in any event (i) the calculations to arrive at Consolidated Cash Flow, the Fixed
Charge Coverage Ratio, and, from and after the Specified Period, if a Covenant Testing
Period has occurred and is continuing, demonstrating compliance with the covenant set
forth in Section 7.1 of the Agreement, and (ii) during the Specified Period, a certification
as to whether Minimum Liquidity, on and as of such delivery date and as of each day
from and after the delivery of the immediately preceding Compliance Certificate (or,
solely in the case of the delivery of the first Compliance Certificate after the Amendment
No. 1 Effective Date, as of each day from and after the Amendment No. 1 Effective
Date) has exceeded the amount set forth in Section 7.2 of the Agreement;

within 90 days after the end of
each of Parent Borrower’s
fiscal years, commencing with
the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2017,

(e) an audited consolidated balance sheet of Parent Borrower and its Subsidiaries as
of the close of such fiscal year and audited consolidated statements of income, retained
earnings and cash flows for such fiscal year and a report containing management’s
discussion and analysis of such financial statements for such fiscal year, including the
notes thereto, all in reasonable detail setting forth in comparative form the corresponding
figures as of the end of and for the preceding fiscal year and prepared in accordance with
GAAP and, if applicable, containing disclosure of the effect on the financial position or
results of operations of any change in the application of accounting principles and
practices during the year. Such annual financial statements shall be audited by Grant
Thornton LLP or any other independent certified public accounting firm of recognized
national standing reasonably acceptable to Agent, and accompanied by a report and
opinion thereon by such certified public accountants prepared in accordance with
generally accepted auditing standards that is not subject to any qualifications (including
any (i) “going concern” or like qualification or exception, (ii) qualification or exception
as to the scope of such audit, or (iii) qualification which relates to the treatment or
classification of any item and which, as a condition to the removal of such qualification,
would require an adjustment to, such item, the effect of which would be to cause any
noncompliance with the provisions of Section 7) or exception or any qualification as to
the scope of such audit, and

63)] a Compliance Certificate along with the underlying calculations, including the
calculations to arrive at Consolidated Cash Flow, the Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio, and,
if a Covenant Testing Period has occurred and is continuing, demonstrating compliance
with the covenant set forth in Section 7.1 of the Agreement;

within 60 days after the end of
each of Parent Borrower’s
fiscal years,

(2) copies of Parent’s Borrowers’ Projections, in form and substance (including as to
scope and underlying assumptions) satisfactory to Agent, in its Permitted Discretion, for
the forthcoming three years, year by year, and for the forthcoming fiscal year, fiscal
quarter by fiscal quarter;

if filed by any Loan Party with
the SEC after the Closing
Date, promptly after the same
becomes publicly available or
Parent Borrower notifies the
Agent of the filing or public
availability thereof,

(h) copies of any Form 10-Q quarterly reports, Form 10-K annual reports, and Form
8-K current reports of any Loan Party, and

(1) copies of any other filings made by Parent Borrower with the SEC after the
Closing Date;




promptly, but in any event
within 5 Business Days, after
any Loan Party has knowledge
that a Default or an Event of
Default has occurred and is
continuing,

) notice of such Default or Event of Default and a statement of any action that the
Borrowers propose to take with respect thereto;

promptly after the
commencement thereof, but in
any event within 5 Business
Days after any Authorized
Person has knowledge of the
filing or commencement
thereof, or the service of
process with respect thereto on
a Loan Party or any of its
Restricted  Subsidiaries, in
each case, after the Closing
Date,

(k) the filing or commencement of any action, suit or proceeding, whether at law or
in equity or by or before any Governmental Authority, against any Loan Party or a
Restricted Subsidiary thereof that would reasonably be expected to result in a Material
Adverse Effect;

promptly after an Authorized
Person obtains knowledge
thereof,

)] any notice of any violation received by any Loan Party or any Restricted
Subsidiary thereof from any Governmental Authority including, without limitation, any
notice of violation of Environmental Laws, which, in each case would reasonably be
expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, and

(m) any development that has resulted in, or would reasonably be expected to result
in, a Material Adverse Effect;

promptly after the request
therefor by Agent or any
Lender after the Closing Date,

(n) such other information and documentation required by bank regulatory
authorities under applicable “know your customer” and Anti-Money Laundering Laws
(including, without limitation, the Patriot Act); and

from time to time, within a
reasonable time period after
the reasonable request

therefor by Agent or any
Lender after the Closing Date,

(o) other information regarding the operations, business affairs and financial
condition of any Loan Party or any Restricted Subsidiary thereof.

If Parent Borrower has designated any of its Subsidiaries as Unrestricted Subsidiaries, then at the request of the Agent in its
Permitted Discretion, the monthly, quarterly and annual financial information required by this Schedule 5.1 will include a
reasonably detailed presentation, either on the face of the financial statements or in the footnotes thereto, and in the
accompanying management’s discussion and analysis, of the financial condition and results of operations of Parent Borrower
and its Restricted Subsidiaries separate from the financial condition and results of operations of the Unrestricted Subsidiaries

of Parent Borrower.




Schedule 5.2

Provide Agent (and if so requested by Agent, with copies for each Lender) with each of the documents set forth
below at the following times in form reasonably satisfactory to Agent (capitalized terms used herein without definition have

the meanings set forth in the Agreement to which this Schedule is attached):

Timin

Deliverable

Monthly (no later than the
25th day after the end of each
fiscal month, prepared as of
the end of such fiscal
month), or

Weekly (no later than the 5th
Business Day after the end
of each week), if a Collateral
Reporting Trigger Event has
occurred and is continuing.

(a) an executed Borrowing Base Certificate,

(b) a detailed aging, by total, of the Borrowers’ Accounts included in the Borrowing Base
reflected in the then most recent Borrowing Base Certificate delivered to Agent (delivered
electronically in a format acceptable to Agent in the exercise of its Permitted Discretion, if
Parent Borrower has implemented electronic reporting),

(c) a detailed Inventory report with regard to Inventory included in the Borrowing Base
reflected in the then most recent Borrowing Base Certificate delivered to Agent (delivered
electronically in a format acceptable to Agent in the exercise of its Permitted Discretion, if
Parent Borrower has implemented electronic reporting),

(d) a summary aging, by vendor, of each Borrower’s accounts payable and any book
overdraft (delivered electronically in a format acceptable to Agent in the exercise of its
Permitted Discretion, if Parent Borrower has implemented electronic reporting) and an
aging, by vendor, of any held checks,

(e) [Reserved],
(f) [Reserved],
(g) a detailed report of the Borrowers’ Accounts that are Eligible Unbilled Accounts; and

provided that for so long as any monthly or weekly, if applicable, reports and deliverables
required to be delivered (x) are not delivered when required or (y) do not, with respect to a
Borrowing Base Certificate, include the items of information specified in Exhibit B-1 to
the Agreement (with such changes, if any, agreed to by Agent in its Permitted Discretion)
or in the preceding clauses (b), (¢) and (g), in each case, for such month or week, if
applicable, for Accounts and/or Inventory included in the Borrowing Base, Agent shall
have the right to establish such Reserves that it deems appropriate in its Permitted
Discretion.

The Borrowers may, at their election, deliver Borrowing Base Certificates and the other
reports set forth in items (a) through (g) hereof on a more frequent basis than the periods
required above.




Monthly (no later than the
last Business Day of each
month), if the Consolidated
Cash Balance (without
giving effect to the
deduction made pursuant to
clause (iii) of the definition
thereof) is equal to or
greater than $75,000,000 as
of the most recent
calculation date, or

Weekly (no later than the
last Business Day of each
week), if the Consolidated
Cash Balance (without
giving effect to the
deduction made pursuant to
clause (iii) of the definition
thereof) is less than
$75,000,000 as of the most
recent calculation date.

(h) either (i) a rolling 13-week cash flow forecast in reasonable detail for Parent Borrower and
its Subsidiaries, or (ii) a copy of Parent Borrower’s Projections for the forthcoming three
months, month by month, in each case, which forecast or Projections shall include a forecasted
statement of the Consolidated Cash Balance of Parent Borrower and its Subsidiaries as of last
day of such month (or week, if delivered on a weekly basis), each in form and substance
satisfactory to Agent, in its Permitted Discretion.

Annually (to be delivered
when Parent Borrower
delivers the financial
statements required by
clause (e) of Schedule 5.1 to
the Agreement to which this
Schedule is attached),

(i) a Perfection Certificate or a supplement to a previously-delivered Perfection Certificate, as
Parent Borrower may elect, and

(j) a detailed list of each Borrower’s customers, with address and contact information, the
Accounts of which are included in the then most recent Borrowing Base Certificate delivered
to Agent.

Within a reasonable period
of time after reasonable
request by Agent,

(k) copies of purchase orders and invoices for Inventory included in the then most recent
Borrowing Base Certificate delivered to Agent, and

(1) such other reports regarding the Collateral as Agent may reasonably request.




Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Michael J. Doss, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of FTS International, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with
respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in
all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented
in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed
under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation
of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report
based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over
financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the
equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial
information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: November 6, 2020 By: /s/ Michael J. Doss
Michael J. Doss
Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)




Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Lance D. Turner, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of FTS International, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with
respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in
all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented
in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed
under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation
of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report
based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over
financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the
equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial
information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: November 6, 2020 By: /s/Lance D. Turner
Lance D. Turner
Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
(Principal Financial Officer and
Principal Accounting Officer)




Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATIONS PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF
THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of FTS International, Inc. (the “Company”) for the quarter
ended September 30, 2020, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), the
undersigned, Michael Doss, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, and Lance Turner, Chief Financial Officer and
Treasurer of the Company, each certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 that:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and
results of operations of the Company as of the dates and for the periods indicated.

Date: November 6, 2020 By: /s/ Michael J. Doss
Michael J. Doss
Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: November 6, 2020 By: /s/ Lance D. Turner
Lance D. Turner
Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
(Principal Financial Officer and
Principal Accounting Officer)




Exhibit 99.1

IN THE UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS

HOUSTON DIVISION
)
In re: ) Chapter 11
FTS INTERNATIONAL, INC,, et al.,! ; Case No. 20-34622 (DRJ)
Debtors. § (Jointly Administered)

ORDER APPROVING THE DEBTORS’
DISCLOSURE STATEMENT AND CONFIRMING THE JOINT
PREPACKAGED CHAPTER 11 PLAN OF REORGANIZATION

OF FTS INTERNATIONAL, INC. AND ITS DEBTOR AFFILIATES

The above-captioned debtors (collectively, the “Debtors”) having:

a. distributed, on or about September 21, 2020, for purposes of solicitation to holders of Claims in
certain voting classes: (i) the Joint Prepackaged Chapter 11 Plan of Reorganization of FTS
International, Inc. and its Debtor Affiliates [Docket No. 16] (as modified, amended, or supplemented
from time to time, the “Plan”);2 (ii) the Disclosure Statement Relating to the Debtors’ Joint
Prepackaged Plan of Reorganization Pursuant to Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code [Docket No.
17] (the “Disclosure Statement™); and (iii) ballots for voting on the Plan to holders of Claims in
Class 3 (Secured Debt Claims) and Class 4 (Other Unsecured Claims), in accordance with the terms
of title 11 of the United States Code, 11 U.S.C. §§ 101-1532 (the “Bankruptcy Code”), the Federal
Rules of Bankruptcy Procedure (the “Bankruptcy Rules”), and the Bankruptcy Local Rules of the
United States Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of Texas (the “Bankruptcy Local Rules”);

b. served, on or about September 21, 2020, the Announcement of Amended Restructuring Support
Agreement, Summary of Plan of Reorganization, Information Regarding Key Dates and Certain Other
Matters [Docket No. 18, Exhibit 1] (the “Combined Notice™) on all known parties in interest, which
informed recipients of (i) the Debtors’ intention to commence these Chapter 11 Cases on or before
September 22, 2020, (ii) the Debtors’ intention to request that

1 The Debtors in these chapter 11 cases, along with the last four digits of each Debtor’s federal tax identification number, are: FTS International, Inc.
(0081); FTS International Manufacturing, LLC (9132); and FTS International Services, LLC (7729). The location of Debtor FTS International, Inc.’s
principal place of business and the Debtors’ service address in these chapter 11 cases is 777 Main Street, Suite 2900, Fort Worth, Texas 76102.

2 Capitalized terms used but not otherwise defined herein have the meanings ascribed to them in the Plan, the Disclosure Statement, or the Bankruptcy
Code (as defined herein), as applicable. The rules of interpretation set forth in Article I.B of the Plan apply.




the Court schedule a combined hearing to consider approval of the Disclosure Statement and
confirmation of the Plan on October 30, 2020 (the “Combined Hearing”), (iii) the key terms of the
Plan, including classification and treatment of Claims and Interests, (iv) the key dates and information
regarding approval of the Disclosure Statement and confirmation of the Plan and the Objection
Deadline, (v) the methods by which parties may request copies of the Plan, Disclosure Statement, and
Restructuring Support Agreement, and (vi) the full text of the release, exculpation, and injunction
provisions set forth in the Plan;

served, on or about September 21, 2020, the Notice of (I) Non-Voting Status to Holders or Potential
Holders of Unimpaired Claims Conclusively Presumed to Accept the Plan and (II) Opportunity for
Holders of Claims to Opt Out of the Third-Party Releases [Docket No. 18, Exhibit 3] (the “Notice of
Non-Voting Status and Opportunity to Opt Out” and, together with the Combined Notice, the
“Notices™) on all holders or potential holders of Claims in non-voting Classes, which (i) informed
recipients of their status as holders or potential holders of Claims in non-voting classes, (ii) provided
the full text of the releases, exculpation, and injunction provisions set forth in the Plan, (iii) included a
form by which holders could elect to opt out of the Third-Party Releases included in the Plan by
checking a prominently featured and clearly labeled box, and (iv) enclosed a postage prepaid, return-
addressed envelope in which holders could return their opt out form to the Solicitation Agent;

commenced, on September 22, 2020 (the “Petition Date”), these Chapter 11 Cases by filing voluntary
petitions for relief under chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code;

filed,3 on or immediately after the Petition Date:
)] the Plan and the Disclosure Statement;

(i1) the Debtors’ Emergency Motion for Entry of an Order (I) Scheduling a Combined Disclosure
Statement Approval and Plan Confirmation Hearing, (II) Conditionally Approving the
Disclosure Statement, (I11) Establishing a Plan and Disclosure Statement Objection Deadline
and Related Procedures, (IV) Approving the Solicitation Procedures and the Combined
Notice, (V) Conditionally Waiving the Requirements that the U.S. Trustee Convene a Meeting
of Creditors and the Debtors File Schedules and SOFAs, and (VI) Granting Related Relief
[Docket No. 18] (the “Scheduling Motion™);

(iii) the Declaration of Lance Turner, Chief Financial Officer of FTS International, Inc., in
Support of Chapter 11 Petitions and First Day

3

Unless otherwise indicated, use of the term “Filed” herein refers also to the service of the applicable document filed on the docket in these Chapter 11
Cases, as applicable.




Motions [Docket No. 3] (the “First Day Declaration”), detailing the facts and circumstances of
these Chapter 11 Cases; and

(iv) the Affidavit of Service of Solicitation Materials [Docket No. 63];

distributed, on or around September 25, 2020, the Plan, the Disclosure Statement, and ballots to
holders of Interests in Class 8 (FTS Common Interests) entitled to vote on the Plan in accordance with
the terms of the Bankruptcy Code and the Bankruptcy Local Rules;

published, on September 28, 2020, and September 29, 2020, the Notice of Commencement of Chapter
11 Bankruptcy Cases and Hearing on the Disclosure Statement and Confirmation of the Joint
Prepackaged Chapter 11 Plan (the “Notice of Commencement”) in 7he New York Times and Houston
Chronicle, respectively, as evidenced by the Affidavits of Publication [Docket Nos. 154, 178]
(collectively, the “Publication Notice Affidavits™), which informed readers of (i) the commencement
of these Chapter 11 Cases on September 22, 2020, (ii) the scheduling of the Combined Hearing,
(iii) the key dates and information regarding approval of the Disclosure Statement and confirmation of
the Plan and the Objection Deadline, and (iv) the methods by which parties may request copies of the
Plan and Disclosure Statement;

filed, on September 30, 2020, the Affidavit of Service of Equity Solicitation Materials [Docket No.
165] (together with all the exhibits thereto and the Affidavit of Service of Solicitation Materials with
all the exhibits thereto, the “Solicitation Materials Affidavits”);

filed, on October 19, 2020, the Supplement for the Joint Prepackaged Chapter 11 Plan of
Reorganization of FTS International, Inc. and its Debtor Affiliates [Docket No. 206] (as modified,
amended, or supplemented from time to time, the “Plan Supplement” and which, for purposes of the
Plan and this Confirmation Order, is included in the definition of ‘“Plan”), as evidenced by the
Affidavit of Service [Docket No. 209] (the “ Plan Supplement Affidavit” and together with the
Solicitation Materials Affidavits and the Publication Notice Affidavits, the “Affidavits™);

filed, on October 28, 2020:

) the Declaration of Jane Sullivan of Epiq Corporate Restructuring, LLC Regarding the
Solicitation of Votes and Tabulation of Ballots Cast on the Joint Prepackaged Chapter 11
Plan of Reorganization of FTS International, Inc. and its Debtor Affiliates [Docket No. 239],
which accounts for ballots received up to the Voting Deadline (the “Voting Report™);

(i1) the Joint Prepackaged Chapter 11 Plan of Reorganization of FTS International, Inc. and its
Debtor Affiliates [Docket No. 238], with certain immaterial modifications; and




m.

(iii)  the Debtors’ Reply to the Omnibus Pleading for Entry of an Order: (I) Denying Confirmation
of the Debtors’ Joint Prepackaged Chapter 11 Plan of Reorganization, or, in the Alternative,
(1l) Designating the Votes of the Term Loan Deficiency Claims and Secured Notes Deficiency
Claims, and (Ill) Granting Related Relief and in Support of an Order Approving the Debtors’
Disclosure Statement and Confirming the Joint Prepackaged Chapter 11 Plan of
Reorganization of FTS International, Inc. and its Debtor Affiliates [Docket No. 241] (the

“Re 1 ”);

filed, on October 29, 2020, the Debtors’ Memorandum of Law in Support of an Order Approving the

Debtors’ Disclosure Statement and Confirming the Joint Prepackaged Chapter 11 Plan of
Reorganization of FTS International, Inc. and its Debtor Affiliates [Docket No. 245]
(the “Confirmation Brief”);

filed, on November 4, 2020, the revised Joint Prepackaged Chapter 11 Plan of Reorganization of FTS
International, Inc. and its Debtor Affiliates [Docket No. 285], attached hereto as Exhibit A; and

operated their businesses and managed their properties during these Chapter 11 Cases as debtors in
possession pursuant to sections 1107(a) and 1108 of the Bankruptcy Code.

The Court having:

a.

entered, on September 24, 2020, the Order (I) Scheduling a Combined Disclosure Statement
Approval and Plan Confirmation Hearing, (II) Conditionally Approving the Disclosure Statement,
(11) Establishing a Plan and Disclosure Statement Objection Deadline and Related Procedures, (IV)
Approving the Solicitation Procedures and the Combined Notice, (V) Conditionally Waiving the
Requirements that the U.S. Trustee Convene a Meeting of Creditors and the Debtors File Schedules
and SOFAs, and (VI) Granting Related Relief [Docket No. 109] (the “Scheduling Order™);

set November 4, 2020, at 9:00 a.m., prevailing Central Time, as the date and time for the Combined
Hearing, pursuant to sections 1125, 1126, 1128, and 1129 of the Bankruptcy Code and Bankruptcy
Rules 3017 and 3018, as set forth in the Scheduling Order;

reviewed the Plan, the Disclosure Statement, the Scheduling Motion, the Plan Supplement, the
Confirmation Brief, the Reply, the Voting Report, the Notices, the Affidavits, and all Filed pleadings,
exhibits, statements, and comments regarding approval of the Disclosure Statement and confirmation
of the Plan, including all objections, statements, and reservations of rights;

held the Combined Hearing;

heard the statements and arguments made by counsel in respect of approval of the Disclosure
Statement and Confirmation;




f. considered all oral representations, testimony, documents, filings, and other evidence regarding
approval of the Disclosure Statement and Confirmation; and

g. taken judicial notice of all pleadings and other documents Filed, all orders entered, and all evidence
and arguments presented in these Chapter 11 Cases.

NOW, THEREFORE, it appearing to the Court that notice of the Combined Hearing and the opportunity for
any party in interest to object to approval of the Disclosure Statement and Confirmation having been adequate and
appropriate as to all parties affected or to be affected by the Plan and the transactions contemplated thereby, and the
legal and factual bases set forth in the documents Filed in support of approval of the Disclosure Statement, and
Confirmation and other evidence presented at the Combined Hearing establish just cause for the relief granted herein;
and after due deliberation thereon and good cause appearing therefor, the Court makes and issues the following
findings of fact and conclusions of law, and orders:

FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

IT IS DETERMINED, FOUND, ADJUDGED, DECREED, AND ORDERED THAT:
A. Findings and Conclusions.

1. The findings and conclusions set forth herein and in the record of the Combined Hearing constitute
the Court’s findings of fact and conclusions of law under Rule 52 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, as made
applicable herein by Bankruptcy Rules 7052 and 9014. To the extent any of the following conclusions of law
constitute findings of fact, or vice versa, they are adopted as such.

B. Jurisdiction, Venue, and Core Proceeding.

2. This Court has jurisdiction over this proceeding and the parties and property affected hereby pursuant
to 28 U.S.C. § 1334. Consideration of whether the Disclosure Statement and the Plan comply with the applicable
provisions of the Bankruptcy Code constitutes a core proceeding as defined in 28 U.S.C. § 157(b)(2). This Court
may enter a final order consistent with




Article III of the United States Constitution. Venue is proper in this district pursuant to sections 1408 and 1409 of
title 28 of the United States Code.

C. Eligibility for Relief.

3. The Debtors were and are entities eligible for relief under section 109 of the Bankruptcy Code.
D. Commencement and Joint Administration of these Chapter 11 Cases.
4. On the Petition Date, each of the Debtors commenced a voluntary case under chapter 11 of the

Bankruptcy Code. In accordance with the Order (1) Directing Joint Administration of Chapter 11 Cases and (Il)
Granting Related Relief [Docket No. 32], these Chapter 11 Cases have been consolidated for procedural purposes
only and are being jointly administered pursuant to Bankruptcy Rule 1015. Since the Petition Date, the Debtors have
operated their businesses and managed their properties as debtors in possession pursuant to sections 1107(a) and
1108 of the Bankruptcy Code. No trustee or examiner has been appointed in these Chapter 11 Cases. No statutory
committee of unsecured creditors or equity security holders has been appointed pursuant to section 1102 of the
Bankruptcy Code in these Chapter 11 Cases.

E. Modifications to the Plan.

5. Pursuant to section 1127 of the Bankruptcy Code, any modifications to the Plan described or set forth
in this Confirmation Order constitute technical or clarifying changes, changes with respect to particular Claims by
agreement with holders of such Claims, changes permitted by the Plan, or modifications that do not otherwise
materially and adversely affect or change the treatment of any other Claim or Interest under the Plan. These
modifications are consistent with the disclosures previously made pursuant to the Disclosure Statement and notice of
these modifications was adequate and appropriate under the facts and circumstances of these Chapter 11 Cases. In
accordance with Bankruptcy Rule 3019, these modifications do not require




additional disclosure under section 1125 of the Bankruptcy Code or the resolicitation of votes under section 1126 of
the Bankruptcy Code, and they do not require that holders of Claims or Interests be afforded an opportunity to
change previously cast acceptances or rejections of the Plan. Accordingly, the Plan is properly before this Court and
all votes cast with respect to the Plan prior to such modification shall be binding and shall apply with respect to the
Plan.

F. Burden of Proof—Confirmation of the Plan.

6. The Debtors, as proponents of the Plan, have met their burden of proving the applicable elements of
section 1129(a) of the Bankruptcy Code by a preponderance of the evidence, which is the applicable evidentiary
standard for Confirmation. In addition, and to the extent applicable, the Plan is confirmable under the clear and
convincing evidentiary standard.

G. Notice.

7. As evidenced by the Affidavits, the Notices, and the Voting Report, the Debtors provided due,
adequate, and sufficient notice of the commencement of these Chapter 11 Cases, the Disclosure Statement, the Plan,
the Combined Hearing, and the opportunity to opt out of the Third-Party Releases, together with all deadlines for
voting to accept or reject the Plan as well as objecting to the Disclosure Statement and the Plan, to all bondholders of
record, the full creditor matrix, the Core/2002 list, and all equity holders of record. Further, the Publication Notices
were published in The New York Times and Houston Chronicle on September 28, 2020 and September 29, 2020,
respectively, in compliance with Bankruptcy Rule 2002(1). Such notice was adequate and sufficient under the facts
and circumstances of these Chapter 11 Cases in compliance with the Bankruptcy Code, the Bankruptcy Rules, the
Bankruptcy Local Rules, and the Scheduling Order. No other or further notice is or shall be required.




H. Disclosure Statement.

8. The Disclosure Statement contains (a) sufficient information of a kind necessary to satisfy the
disclosure requirements of all applicable nonbankruptcy laws, rules, and regulations, including the Securities Act,
and (b) “adequate information” (as such term is defined in section 1125(a) of the Bankruptcy Code and used in
section 1126(b)(2) of the Bankruptcy Code) with respect to the Debtors, the Plan, and the transactions contemplated
therein. The filing of the Disclosure Statement with the clerk of the Court satisfied Bankruptcy Rule 3016(b).

I. Ballots.

9. The Classes of Claims and Interests entitled under the Plan to vote to accept or reject the Plan (the
“Voting Classes”) are set forth below:

Class Designation
Class 3 Secured Debt Claims
Class 4 Other Unsecured Claims
Class 8 FTS Common Interests
10. The form of ballots attached to the Scheduling Order as Exhibit 4-A, Exhibit 4-B, Exhibit 4-C

Exhibit 5-A, Exhibit 5-B, and Exhibit 5-C (the “Ballots”) that the Debtors used to solicit votes to accept or reject the
Plan from holders in the Voting Classes adequately addressed the particular needs of these Chapter 11 Cases and
were appropriate for holders in the Voting Classes to vote to accept or reject the Plan.

J. Solicitation.

11. As described in the Voting Report, the solicitation of votes on the Plan complied with the solicitation
procedures set forth in Article V of the Disclosure Statement (the “Solicitation Procedures™), was appropriate and
satisfactory based upon the circumstances of these Chapter 11 Cases, and was in compliance with the provisions of
the Bankruptcy Code, the Bankruptcy Rules,




the Bankruptcy Local Rules, and any other applicable rules, laws, and regulations, including the registration
requirements under the Securities Act.

12. As described in the Voting Report and the Solicitation Materials Affidavits, as applicable, prior to or
following the Petition Date, the Plan, the Disclosure Statement, and the Ballots (collectively, the “Solicitation
Packages™) were transmitted and served, including to all holders of Claims and Interests in the Voting Classes, in
compliance with the Bankruptcy Code, including sections 1125 and 1126 thereof, the Bankruptcy Rules, including
Bankruptcy Rules 3017 and 3018, the Bankruptcy Local Rules, the Scheduling Order, and any applicable
nonbankruptcy law. Transmission and service of the Solicitation Packages was timely, adequate, and sufficient
under the facts and circumstances of these Chapter 11 Cases. No further notice is required.

13. As set forth in the Voting Report, the Solicitation Packages were distributed to holders in the Voting
Classes that held a Claim or Interest as of September 17, 2020 (the “Voting Record Date”). The establishment and
notice of the Voting Record Date were reasonable and sufficient.

14. The period during which the Debtors solicited acceptances or rejections to the Plan was a reasonable
and sufficient period of time for each holder in the Voting Classes to make an informed decision to accept or reject
the Plan.

15. Under section 1126(f) of the Bankruptcy Code, holders of Claims in Class 1A (Other Secured
Claims), Class 1B (ABL Secured Claims), Class 2 (Other Priority Claims), and Class 5 (Ongoing Business Claims)
(collectively, the “Unimpaired Classes”) are Unimpaired and conclusively presumed to have accepted the Plan.
Holders of Claims and Interests in Class 6 (Intercompany Claims) and Class 7 (Intercompany Interests)
(the “Deemed Accepting/Rejecting Classes” and, together with the Unimpaired Classes, the “Non-Voting Classes”)
are Unimpaired




and conclusively presumed to have accepted the Plan (to the extent reinstated) or are Impaired and deemed to reject
the Plan (to the extent cancelled), and, in either event, are not entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan.

16. Nevertheless, the Debtors served the Combined Notice and the Notice of Non-Voting Status and
Opportunity to Opt Out on the entire creditor matrix and all equity holders of record, as applicable. The Notices
adequately summarized the material terms of the Plan, including classification and treatment of claims and the
release, exculpation, and injunction provisions of the Plan. Further, because the opt out form was included in both
the Ballots and the Notice of Non-Voting Status and Opportunity to Opt Out, every known stakeholder, including
unimpaired creditors and equity holders, was provided with the means by which they can opt out of the Third-Party
Releases, including pre-addressed prepaid return envelopes. The Debtors served the Notices on the full creditor
matrix and all equity holders of record.

K. Voting.

17. As evidenced by the Voting Report, votes to accept or reject the Plan have been solicited and
tabulated fairly, in good faith, and in compliance with the Bankruptcy Code, the Bankruptcy Rules, the Bankruptcy
Local Rules, the Disclosure Statement, and any applicable nonbankruptcy law, rule, or regulation.

L. Plan Supplement.

18. The Plan Supplement complies with the Bankruptcy Code and the terms of the Plan, and the filing and
notice of such documents are good and proper in accordance with the Bankruptcy Code, the Bankruptcy Rules, and
the Bankruptcy Local Rules, and all other applicable rules, laws, and requirements, and no other or further notice is
required. All documents included in the Plan Supplement are integral to, part of, and incorporated by reference into
the Plan. Subject to the terms of the Plan, and only consistent therewith, the Debtors reserve the right to alter,
amend,
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update, or modify the Plan Supplement before the Effective Date, subject to the terms of the Restructuring Support
Agreement. The core notice parties and holders of Claims and Interests were provided due, adequate, and sufficient
notice of the Plan Supplement.

M. Compliance with Bankruptcy Code Requirements—Section 1129(a)(1).

19. The Plan complies with all applicable provisions of the Bankruptcy Code as required by section
1129(a)(1) of the Bankruptcy Code. In addition, the Plan is dated and identifies the Entities submitting it, thereby
satisfying Bankruptcy Rule 3016(a).

) Proper Classification—Sections 1122 and 1123.

20. The Plan satisfies the requirements of sections 1122(a) and 1123(a)(1) of the Bankruptcy Code.
Article III of the Plan provides for the separate classification of Claims and Interests into nine Classes. Valid
business, factual, and legal reasons exist for the separate classification of such Classes of Claims and Interests. The
classifications reflect no improper purpose and do not unfairly discriminate between, or among, holders of Claims or
Interests. Each Class of Claims and Interests contains only Claims or Interests that are substantially similar to the
other Claims or Interests within that Class.

(i1) Specified Unimpaired Classes—Section 1123(a)(2).

21. The Plan satisfies the requirements of section 1123(a)(2) of the Bankruptcy Code. Article III of the
Plan specifies that Claims, as applicable, in the following Classes are Unimpaired under the Plan within the meaning
of section 1124 of the Bankruptcy Code:

Class Claims and Interests
1A Other Secured Claims
1B ABL Secured Claims
2 Other Priority Claims
5 Ongoing Business Claims
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22. For the avoidance of doubt, holders of Intercompany Claims and Intercompany Interests are
Unimpaired and conclusively presumed to have accepted the Plan, or are Impaired and deemed to reject the Plan,
and, in either event, are not entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan. Additionally, Article II of the Plan specifies
that Allowed Administrative Claims, Professional Fee Claims, and Priority Tax Claims will be paid in full in
accordance with the terms of the Plan, although these Claims are not classified under the Plan.

(i)  Specified Treatment of Impaired Classes—Section 1123(a)(3).

23. The Plan satisfies the requirements of section 1123(a)(3) of the Bankruptcy Code. Article III of the
Plan specifies that Claims and Interests, as applicable, in the following Classes (the “Impaired Classes”) are Impaired
under the Plan within the meaning of section 1124 of the Bankruptcy Code, and describes the treatment of such
Classes:

Class Claims and Interests
3 Secured Debt Claims
4 Other Unsecured Claims
8 FTS Common Interests

(iv)  No Discrimination—Section 1123(a)(4).

24, The Plan satisfies the requirements of section 1123(a)(4) of the Bankruptcy Code. The Plan provides
for the same treatment by the Debtors for each Claim or Interest in each respective Class unless the holder of a
particular Claim or Interest has agreed to a less favorable treatment of such Claim or Interest.

(v) Adequate Means for Plan Implementation—Section 1123(a)(5).

25. The Plan satisfies the requirements of section 1123(a)(5) of the Bankruptcy Code. The provisions in
Article IV and elsewhere in the Plan, and in the exhibits and attachments to the Plan and the Disclosure Statement,
provide, in detail, adequate and proper means for the Plan’s implementation, including regarding: (a) the general
settlement of Claims and Interests;
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(b) authorization for the Debtors and/or Reorganized Debtors to take all actions necessary to effectuate the Plan,
including those actions necessary to effect the Restructuring Transactions, including, without limitation, any
restructuring transaction steps set forth in the Plan Supplement, as the same may be modified or amended from time
to time prior to the Effective Date; (c) the adoption, authorization, and entry of the New Organizational Documents;
(d) the funding and sources of consideration for the Plan distributions; (e) the authorization and approval of the New
FTS Equity, the New Revolving Exit Facility, and the Warrants and entry into any agreements related to the same as
set forth in the Plan or the Plan Supplement, including the Registration Rights Agreement; (f) the vesting of assets in
the Reorganized Debtors; (g) the exemption from certain registration requirements under federal, state, or local law;
(h) except as otherwise provided in the Plan and Confirmation Order, the cancellation of existing securities and
agreements; (i) the authorization, approval, and entry of corporate actions under the Plan; (j) the continued corporate
existence of the Debtors; (k) the approval of the New Organizational Documents; (1) the reinstatement and survival
of the indemnification provisions; (m) the effectuation and implementation of documents and further transactions; (n)
the tax exemptions for various transactions under the Plan; (o) the appointment of the New Board; (p) the assumption
of all of the Debtors’ D&O Liability Insurance Policies; (q) the reservation of equity for future distribution in
accordance with the terms and conditions of the Management Incentive Plan; (r) the assumption of all employee
wages, compensation, benefit and incentive programs, and employment or severance agreements; and (s) the
preservation of the Causes of Action.
(vi) Voting Power of Equity Securities—Section 1123(a)(6).

26. The Plan satisfies the requirements of section 1123(a)(6) of the Bankruptcy Code. In accordance with

Article IV.J of the Plan, on or immediately prior to the Effective Date, the New Organizational Documents shall be
automatically adopted by the applicable Reorganized Debtors.
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The New Organizational Documents will prohibit the issuance of non-voting equity Securities, thereby satisfying
section 1123(a)(6).

(vii)  Directors and Officers—Section 1123(a)(7).

217. The Plan satisfies the requirements of section 1123(a)(7) of the Bankruptcy Code. In accordance with
Article IV.N of the Plan, the identities of the members of the New Board, to the extent known, are identified in
Exhibit C of the Plan Supplement [Docket No. 206], which exhibit may be modified and/or supplemented prior to the
Effective Date. The New Board shall be comprised of five directors: (1) one of which shall be the CEO of
Reorganized FTS (Michael J. Doss), (2) three of which shall be selected by the Required Consenting Noteholders
(Eugene Davis, Robert Kelly Owen, and Christopher Sayer), and (3) one of which shall be selected by the Required
Consenting Term Loan Lenders (Derek Gipson), which is consistent with the interests of all holders of Claims and
Interests and with public policy.

(viii)  Impairment / Unimpairment of Classes—Section 1123(b)(1).

28. The Plan is consistent with section 1123(b)(1) of the Bankruptcy Code. Article III of the Plan impairs
or leaves Unimpaired each Class of Claims and Interests.

(ix)  Assumption—Section 1123(b)(2).

29. The Plan is consistent with section 1123(b)(2) of the Bankruptcy Code. Article V of the Plan provides
that all Executory Contracts or Unexpired Leases not otherwise assumed or rejected will be deemed assumed by the
applicable Reorganized Debtor in accordance with the provisions and requirements of sections 365 and 1123 of the
Bankruptcy Code, other than those that: (1) are identified on the Schedule of Rejected Executory Contracts and
Unexpired Leases; (2) previously expired or terminated pursuant to their own terms or agreement of the parties
thereto; (3) have been previously assumed or rejected by the Debtors pursuant to a Final Order;
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(4) are the subject of a motion to reject that is pending on the Effective Date; or (5) are subject to an ordered or
requested effective date of rejection that is after the Effective Date.

(x) Settlement, Releases, Exculpation, Injunction, and Preservation of Claims and Causes of
Action—Section 1123(b)(3).

30. In accordance with section 1123(b)(3)(A) of the Bankruptcy Code and Bankruptcy Rule 9019 and in
consideration for the classification, distributions, releases, and other benefits provided under the Plan, upon the
Effective Date, the provisions the Plan shall constitute a good faith compromise and settlement of all Claims and
Interests and controversies resolved pursuant to the Plan. The Plan shall be deemed a motion to approve the good
faith compromise and settlement of all such Claims, Interests, and controversies pursuant to Bankruptcy Rule 9019,
and the entry of this Confirmation Order shall constitute the Bankruptcy Court’s approval of such compromise and
settlement under section 1123 of the Bankruptcy Code and Bankruptcy Rule 9019, as well as a finding by the
Bankruptcy Court that such settlement and compromise is fair, equitable, reasonable and in the best interests of the
Debtors and their Estates. Subject to Article VI of the Plan, all distributions made to holders of Allowed Claims and
Allowed Interests (as applicable) in any Class are intended to be and shall be final.

31. Article VIII.C of the Plan describes certain releases granted by the Debtors (the “Debtor Release™).
The Debtors have satisfied the business judgment standard with respect to the propriety of the Debtor Release. Such
release is a necessary and integral element of the Plan, and is fair, reasonable, and in the best interests of the Debtors,
the Estates, and holders of Claims and Interests. Also, the Debtor Release is: (a) in exchange for the good and
valuable consideration provided by the Released Parties; (b) a good-faith settlement and compromise of the Claims
released by the Debtor Release; (¢) given, and made, after due notice and opportunity for
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hearing; and (d) a bar to any of the Debtors asserting any Claim or Cause of Action released by the Debtor Release.

32. The Debtor Release appropriately offers protection to parties that participated in the Debtors’
restructuring process. Each of the Released Parties made significant concessions and contributions to these Chapter
11 Cases. The Debtor Release for the Debtors’ current and former directors and officers is appropriate because the
Debtors’ directors and officers share an identity of interest with the Debtors, supported the Plan and these Chapter 11
Cases, actively participated in meetings and negotiations during these Chapter 11 Cases, and have provided other
valuable consideration to the Debtors to facilitate the Debtors’ reorganization. The Debtor Release for the parties to
the Restructuring Support Agreement (which has broad support of parties across the Debtors’ capital structure) is
appropriate because such parties supported the Plan and have agreed to equitize their Claims to deleverage the
Debtors’ prepetition capital structure, thereby providing valuable consideration to the Debtors to facilitate the
Debtors’ reorganization.

33. The scope of the Debtor Release is appropriately tailored under the facts and circumstances of the
Chapter 11 Cases. The Debtor Release is appropriate in light of, among other things, the value provided by the
Released Parties to the Debtors’ Estates and the critical nature of the Debtor Release to the Plan.

34, Article VIIL.D of the Plan describes certain releases granted by the Releasing Parties (as modified by
this Confirmation Order, the “Third-Party Releases™). The Third-Party Releases are an integral part of the Plan.
Like the Debtor Releases, the Third-Party Releases facilitated participation in the Restructuring Support Agreement,
the Plan, and the chapter 11 process generally. The Third-Party Releases were a critical and integral component of
the Restructuring Support Agreement and the creditors’ agreement to support the Plan thereby
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preventing significant and time-consuming litigation regarding the parties’ respective rights and interests. The Third-
Party Releases were a core negotiation point in connection with the Restructuring Support Agreement and
instrumental in developing a Plan that maximized value for all of the Debtors’ stakeholders. As such, the Third-
Party Releases appropriately offer certain protections to parties who constructively participated in the Debtors’
restructuring process by, among other things, supporting the Plan.

35. The Third-Party Releases are consensual as to all parties in interest, including all Releasing Parties,
and such parties in interest were provided notice of the Chapter 11 Cases and proceedings therein, the Plan, the
deadline to object to confirmation of the Plan, and received the Combined Notice or the Notice of Non-Voting Status
and Opportunity to Opt Out and were properly informed that the Holders of Claims against or Interests in the
Debtors that did not check the “opt out” box on the applicable Ballot or opt out form, returned in advance of the
Voting Deadline, would be deemed to have expressly, unconditionally, generally, individually, and collectively
consented to the release and discharge of all Claims and Causes of Action against the Debtors and the Released
Parties. Additionally, the release provisions of the Plan were conspicuous, emphasized with boldface type in the
Plan, the Disclosure Statement, the Ballots, the Notice of Non-Voting Status and Opportunity to Opt Out, and the
Combined Notice. Further, holders in the Non-Voting Classes also received a pre-addressed return envelope to
facilitate the submission of any opt out election.

36. The Third-Party Releases provide finality for the Debtors, the Reorganized Debtors, and the Released
Parties regarding the parties’ respective obligations under the Plan and with respect to the Reorganized Debtors. The
Combined Notice sent to holders of Claims and Interests, the Publication Notices published in The New York Times
and the Houston Chronicle,
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and the Ballots sent to all holders of Claims and Interests entitled to vote on the Plan, in each case, unambiguously
stated that the Plan contains the Third-Party Releases. Such releases are a necessary and integral element of the Plan,
and are fair, equitable, reasonable, and in the best interests of the Debtors, the Estates, and all holders of Claims and
Interests. Also, the Third-Party Releases are: (a) specific in language and scope; (b) given in exchange for a
substantial contribution and for the good and valuable consideration provided by the Released Parties that is integral
to the success of the Plan; (c) a condition to the good faith settlement and compromise of the claims released by the
Third-Party Releases; (d) in the best interests of the Debtors and all holders of Claims and Interests; (e) fair,
equitable, and reasonable; (f) given and made after due notice and opportunity for hearing; and (g) a bar to any of the
Releasing Parties asserting any claim or Cause of Action released pursuant to the Third-Party Releases.

37. The exculpation, described in Article VIILE of the Plan (the “Exculpation™), is appropriate under
applicable law because it was proposed in good faith, was formulated following extensive good-faith, arm’s-length
negotiations with key constituents, and is appropriately limited in scope. Without limiting anything in the
Exculpation, each Exculpated Party has participated in these Chapter 11 Cases in good faith and is appropriately
released and exculpated from any obligation, Cause of Action, or liability for any prepetition or postpetition act taken
or omitted to be taken in connection with, relating to, or arising out of the Debtors’ restructuring efforts, the
Restructuring Support Agreement, the Disclosure Statement, the Plan, the Plan Supplement, the Chapter 11 Cases,
the filing of the Chapter 11 Cases, the pursuit of Confirmation, the pursuit of Consummation, the administration and
implementation of the Plan, including the issuance or distribution of Securities pursuant to the Plan, or the
distribution of property under the Plan or any other related agreement, or upon any other related act or omission,
transaction, agreement, event,
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or other occurrence taking place on or before the Effective Date, except for claims related to any act or omission that
is determined in a Final Order by a court of competent jurisdiction to have constituted actual fraud, willful
misconduct, or gross negligence, but in all respects such Entities shall be entitled to reasonably rely upon the advice
of counsel with respect to their duties and responsibilities pursuant to the Plan. The Exculpation, including its carve-
out for actual fraud, willful misconduct, or gross negligence, is consistent with established practice in this jurisdiction
and others.

38. The injunction provision set forth in Article VIILF of the Plan is necessary to implement, preserve,
and enforce the Debtors’ discharge, the Debtor Releases, the Third-Party Releases, and the Exculpation, and is
narrowly tailored to achieve this purpose.

39. Pursuant to Article IV.R of the Plan and in accordance with section 1123(b)(3)(B) of the Bankruptcy
Code, but subject to Article VIII of the Plan, each Reorganized Debtor, as applicable, shall retain and may enforce all
rights to commence and pursue, as appropriate, any and all Causes of Action of the Debtors, whether arising before
or after the Petition Date, including any actions specifically enumerated in the Schedule of Retained Causes of
Action, and the Reorganized Debtors’ rights to commence, prosecute, or settle such Causes of Action shall be
preserved notwithstanding the occurrence of the Effective Date, other than the Causes of Action released by the
Debtors pursuant to the releases and exculpations contained in the Plan, including in Article VIII of the Plan, which
shall be deemed released and waived by the Debtors and the Reorganized Debtors as of the Effective Date. The
provisions regarding the preservation of Causes of Action in the Plan, including the Plan Supplement, are
appropriate, fair, equitable, and
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reasonable, and are in the best interests of the Debtors, the Estates, and holders of Claims and Interests.

40. Any release and discharge of mortgages, deeds of trust, Liens, pledges, or other security interests
against any property of the Estates described in Article VIIL.B of the Plan (the “Lien Release”) is necessary to
implement the Plan. The provisions of the Lien Release are appropriate, fair, equitable, and reasonable and are in the
best interests of the Debtors, the Estates, and holders of Claims and Interests.

(xi)  Additional Plan Provisions—Section 1123(b)(6)).

41. The other discretionary provisions of the Plan are appropriate and consistent with the applicable
provisions of the Bankruptcy Code, thereby satisfying section 1123(b)(6) of the Bankruptcy Code.

(xii)  Cure of Defaults—Section 1123(d).

42. Article V.C of the Plan provides for the satisfaction of Cure amounts associated with each Executory
Contract and Unexpired Lease to be assumed in accordance with section 365(b)(1) of the Bankruptcy Code. The
Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, shall pay Cures, if any, on the Effective Date or as soon as
reasonably practicable thereafter, with the amount and timing of payment of any such Cure dictated by the Debtors’
ordinary course of business. If there is any dispute regarding any Cure, the ability of the Reorganized Debtors or any
assignee to provide “adequate assurance of future performance” within the meaning of section 365 of the Bankruptcy
Code, or any other matter pertaining to assumption, then payment of Cure shall occur as soon as reasonably
practicable after entry of a Final Order resolving such dispute, approving such assumption (and, if applicable,
assignment), or as may be agreed upon by the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, and the
counterparty to the Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease. As such, the Plan provides that the Debtors will cure, or
provide adequate
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assurance that the Debtors will promptly cure, defaults with respect to assumed Executory Contracts and Unexpired
Leases in accordance with section 365(b)(1) of the Bankruptcy Code.

N. Debtor Compliance with the Bankruptcy Code—Section 1129(a)(2).

43, The Debtors have complied with the applicable provisions of the Bankruptcy Code and, thus, satisfied
the requirements of section 1129(a)(2) of the Bankruptcy Code. Specifically, each Debtor:

a. is an eligible debtor under section 109, and a proper proponent of the Plan under
section 1121(a), of the Bankruptcy Code;

b. has complied with applicable provisions of the Bankruptcy Code, except as otherwise
provided or permitted by orders of the Court; and

c. complied with the applicable provisions of the Bankruptcy Code, including sections
1125 and 1126, the Bankruptcy Rules, the Bankruptcy Local Rules, any applicable
nonbankruptcy law, rule and regulation, the Scheduling Order, and all other applicable
law, in transmitting the Solicitation Packages, and related documents and notices, and in
soliciting and tabulating the votes on the Plan.

0. Plan Proposed in Good Faith—Section 1129(a)(3).

44, The Plan satisfies the requirements of section 1129(a)(3) of the Bankruptcy Code. The Debtors have
proposed the Plan in good faith and not by any means forbidden by law. In so determining, the Court has examined
the totality of the circumstances surrounding the filing of these Chapter 11 Cases, the Plan, the Restructuring Support
Agreement, the process leading to Confirmation, including the overwhelming support of holders of Claims and
Interests for the Plan, and the transactions to be implemented pursuant thereto. These Chapter 11 Cases were Filed,
and the Plan was proposed, with the legitimate purpose of allowing the Debtors to implement the Restructuring
Transactions, reorganize, and emerge from bankruptcy with a capital and organizational structure that will allow
them to conduct their businesses and satisfy their obligations with sufficient liquidity and capital resources.

21




45. The Plan is the product of good faith, arm’s-length negotiations by and among the Debtors and the
Consenting Creditors, among others. The Plan itself and the process leading to its formulation provides independent
evidence of the Debtors’ and such other parties’ good faith, serves the public interest, and assures fair treatment of
holders of Claims and Interests. The Plan fairly achieves a result consistent with the objectives and purposes of the
Bankruptcy Code. Consistent with the overriding purpose of chapter 11, the Debtors filed the Chapter 11 Cases with
the belief that the Debtors were in need of reorganization, and the Plan was negotiated and proposed with the
intention of accomplishing a successful reorganization and maximizing stakeholder value and for no ulterior purpose.
Accordingly, the requirements of section 1129(a)(3) of the Bankruptcy Code are satisfied.

P. Payment for Services or Costs and Expenses—Section 1129(a)(4).

46. The procedures set forth in the Plan for the Court’s review and ultimate determination of the fees and
expenses to be paid by the Debtors in connection with these Chapter 11 Cases, or in connection with the Plan and
incident to these Chapter 11 Cases, satisfy the objectives of, and are in compliance with, section 1129(a)(4) of the
Bankruptcy Code.

Q. Directors, Officers, and Insiders—Section 1129(a)(5).

47. The identities, to the extent known, of or process for appointment of the Reorganized Debtors’
directors and officers proposed to serve after the Effective Date were disclosed in the Plan Supplement. The
proposed directors and officers for the Reorganized Debtors are qualified and their appointment to, or continuance in,
such offices is consistent with the interests of holders of Claims and Interests and with public policy. Accordingly,
the Debtors have satisfied the requirements of section 1129(a)(5) of the Bankruptcy Code.
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R. No Rate Changes—Section 1129(a)(6).

48. Section 1129(a)(6) of the Bankruptcy Code is not applicable to these Chapter 11 Cases. The Plan
proposes no rate change subject to the jurisdiction of any governmental regulatory commission.

S. Best Interest of Creditors—Section 1129(a)(7).

49. The Plan satisfies the requirements of section 1129(a)(7) of the Bankruptcy Code. The liquidation
analysis attached as Exhibit E to the Disclosure Statement, as supplemented, and the other evidence related thereto in
support of the Plan that was proffered, prior to, or in connection with the Combined Hearing: (a) are reasonable,
persuasive, credible, and accurate as of the dates such analysis or evidence was prepared, presented, or proffered;
(b) utilize reasonable and appropriate methodologies and assumptions; (¢) have not been controverted by other
evidence; and (d) establish that holders of Allowed Claims and Interests in each Class will recover at least as much
under the Plan on account of such Claim or Interest, as of the Effective Date, as such holder would receive if the
Debtors were liquidated, on the Effective Date, under chapter 7 of the Bankruptcy Code.

T. Acceptance by Certain Classes—Section 1129(a)(8).

50. The Plan satisfies the requirements of section 1129(a)(8) of the Bankruptcy Code. Classes 1A, 1B, 2,
and 5 constitute Unimpaired Classes, each of which is conclusively presumed to have accepted the Plan in
accordance with section 1126(f) of the Bankruptcy Code. The Voting Classes (Classes 3, 4, and 8) have voted to
accept the Plan. Holders of Claims and Interests in Classes 6 and 7 are Unimpaired and conclusively presumed to
have accepted the Plan (to the extent reinstated) or are Impaired and deemed to reject the Plan (to the extent
cancelled), and, in either event, are not entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan.
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U. Treatment of Claims Entitled to Priority under Section 507(a) of the Bankruptcy Code—Section
1129(a)(9).

51. The treatment of Allowed Administrative Claims, Professional Fee Claims, and Priority Tax Claims
under Article II of the Plan, and of Other Priority Claims under Article III of the Plan, satisfies the requirements of,
and complies in all respects with, section 1129(a)(9) of the Bankruptcy Code.

V. Acceptance by At Least One Impaired Class—Section 1129(a)(10).

52. The Plan satisfies the requirements of section 1129(a)(10) of the Bankruptcy Code. As evidenced by
the Voting Report, the Voting Classes, each of which is impaired, all voted to accept the Plan by the requisite
numbers and amounts of Claims and Interests, determined without including any acceptance of the Plan by any
insider (as that term is defined in section 101(31) of the Bankruptcy Code), as specified under the Bankruptcy Code.

W.  Feasibility—Section 1129(a)(11).

53. The Plan satisfies the requirements of section 1129(a)(11) of the Bankruptcy Code. The financial
projections attached to the Disclosure Statement and the other evidence supporting Confirmation of the Plan
proffered by the Debtors at, or prior to, the Combined Hearing (a) are reasonable, persuasive, credible, and accurate
as of the dates such analysis or evidence was prepared, presented, or proffered; (b) utilize reasonable and appropriate
methodologies and assumptions; (c) have not been controverted by other evidence; (d) establish that the Plan is
feasible and Confirmation of the Plan is not likely to be followed by the liquidation, or the need for further financial
reorganization of the Reorganized Debtors or any successor to the Reorganized Debtors under the Plan, except as
provided in the Plan; and (e) establish that the Reorganized Debtors will have sufficient funds available to meet their
obligations under the Plan.
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X. Payment of Fees—Section 1129(a)(12).

54. The Plan satisfies the requirements of section 1129(a)(12) of the Bankruptcy Code. Article I1.D of the
Plan provides for the payment of all fees payable by the Debtors under 28 U.S.C. § 1930(a).

Y. Continuation of Employee Benefits—Section 1129(a)(13).

55. The Plan satisfies the requirements of section 1129(a)(13) of the Bankruptcy Code. Except as
otherwise specified in the Plan, Article IV.Q of the Plan provides that all employee wages, compensation, and benefit
programs in place as of the Effective Date shall be assumed by the Reorganized Debtors and shall remain in place as
of the Effective Date, and the Reorganized Debtors will continue to honor such agreements, arrangements, programs,
and plans. From and after the Effective Date, all retiree benefits, as defined in section 1114 of the Bankruptcy Code,
if any, shall continue to be paid in accordance with applicable law.

Z. Non-Applicability of Certain Sections—Sections 1129(a)(14), (15), and (16).

56. Sections 1129(a)(14), 1129(a)(15), and 1129(a)(16) of the Bankruptcy Code do not apply to these
Chapter 11 Cases. The Debtors owe no domestic support obligations, are not individuals, and are not nonprofit
corporations.

AA. Only One Plan—Section 1129(c).

57. The Plan satisfies the requirements of section 1129(c) of the Bankruptcy Code. The Plan is the only
chapter 11 plan Filed in each of these Chapter 11 Cases.

BB. Principal Purpose of the Plan—Section 1129(d).
58. No Governmental Unit has requested that the Court refuse to confirm the Plan on the grounds that the

principal purpose of the Plan is the avoidance of taxes or the avoidance of the application of section 5 of the
Securities Act. As evidenced by its terms, the principal purpose of
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the Plan is not such avoidance. Accordingly, the requirements of section 1129(d) of the Bankruptcy Code have been
satisfied.

CC. Good Faith Solicitation—Section 1125(e).

59. The parties to the Restructuring Support Agreement—the Debtors and the Consenting Creditors, and
each party’s current and former predecessors, successors, Affiliates (regardless of whether such interests are held
directly or indirectly), directors, officers, members, managers, sharecholders, partners, employees, attorneys, advisors,
and other professionals, of each of the foregoing, as applicable—have acted in “good faith” within the meaning of
section 1125(e) of the Bankruptcy Code and in compliance with the applicable provisions of the Bankruptcy Code
and Bankruptcy Rules in connection with all of their respective activities relating to support and consummation of
the Plan, including the execution, delivery, and performance of the Restructuring Support Agreement, the issuance of
the New FTS Equity and Warrants, and solicitation of acceptances of the Plan, and are entitled to the protections
afforded by section 1125(e) of the Bankruptcy Code.

DD. Satisfaction of Confirmation Requirements.

60. Based on the foregoing and all other pleadings and evidence proffered or adduced at or prior to the
Confirmation Hearing, the Plan and the Debtors, as proponents of the Plan, satisfy the requirements for Confirmation
set forth in section 1129 of the Bankruptcy Code.

EE. Likelihood of Satisfaction of Conditions Precedent to the Effective Date.

61. Each of the conditions precedent to the Effective Date, as set forth in Article IX.A of the Plan, has
been or is reasonably likely to be satisfied or waived in accordance with Article IX.B of the Plan.
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FF. Implementation.

62. All documents necessary to implement the Plan and all other relevant and necessary documents
(including the Restructuring Support Agreement, all documents related to the New Revolving Exit Facility, including
a commitment letter, credit agreement, and all related loan documents (collectively, the “New Revolving Exit
Facility Documents™), the Registration Rights Agreement, the Warrants, and the New Organizational Documents)
have been negotiated in good faith and at arm’s-length and shall, upon completion of documentation and execution
(as applicable), be valid, binding, and enforceable agreements and shall not be in conflict with any federal or state
law.

GG. Disclosure of Facts.

63. The Debtors have disclosed all material facts regarding the Plan, including with respect to
consummation of the New Revolving Exit Facility Documents, the Registration Rights Agreement, the Warrants, and
the New Organizational Documents, and the fact that each applicable Debtor will emerge from its Chapter 11 Case as
a validly existing corporation, limited liability company, partnership, or other form, as applicable, with separate
assets, liabilities, and obligations.

HH. Good Faith.

64. The Debtors and their respective directors, officers, management, counsel, advisors, and other agents
have proposed the Plan in good faith, with the legitimate and honest purpose of maximizing the value of the Debtors’
Estates for the benefit of their stakeholders. The Plan accomplishes this goal. Accordingly, the Debtors or the
Reorganized Debtors, as appropriate, and their respective officers, directors, and advisors have been, are, and will
continue to act in good faith if they proceed to: (a) consummate the Plan and the agreements, settlements,
transactions, and transfers contemplated thereby; and (b) take the actions authorized and directed
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by this Confirmation Order and the Plan to reorganize the Debtors’ businesses and effectuate the New Revolving
Exit Facility Documents, the Registration Rights Agreement, the Warrants, and the New Organizational Documents,
and the other Restructuring Transactions.

II. Essential Element of the Plan.

65. The New Revolving Exit Facility Documents and the New Organizational Documents are essential
elements of the Plan, are necessary for Confirmation and Consummation of the Plan, and are critical to the overall
success and feasibility of the Plan. The Debtors have exercised sound business judgment in deciding to pursue and
enter into the New Revolving Exit Facility Documents and the New Organizational Documents and have provided
adequate notice thereof. The New Revolving Exit Facility Documents were negotiated in good faith and at arm’s-
length among the Debtors and the agent and lenders for the New Revolving Exit Facility, and any credit extended
and loans made to the Reorganized Debtors by the lenders to the New Revolving Exit Facility and any fees and
expenses paid thereunder are deemed to have been extended, issued, and made in good faith. The Debtors have
provided sufficient and adequate notice of the material terms of the New Revolving Exit Facility Documents and the
New Organizational Documents to all parties in interest in these Chapter 11 Cases. The execution, delivery, or
performance by the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, of any of the New Revolving Exit Facility
Documents and the New Organizational Documents and any agreements related thereto and compliance by the
Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, with the terms thereof is authorized by, and will not conflict with,
the terms of the Plan or this Confirmation Order.

ORDER
IT IS ORDERED, ADJUDGED, DECREED, AND DETERMINED THAT:

1. Disclosure Statement. The Disclosure Statement is approved in all respects.
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2. Ballots. The forms of Ballots attached to the Scheduling Order as Exhibit 4A (Secured Debt Claims /
Other Unsecured Claims General Ballot), Exhibit 4B (Secured Debt Claims / Other Unsecured Claims Master
Ballot), Exhibit 4C (Secured Debt Claims / Other Unsecured Claims Beneficial Ballot), Exhibit SA (Existing Equity
Interest General Ballot), Exhibit 5B (Existing Equity Interest Master Ballot), and Exhibit 5C (Existing Equity
Interest Beneficial Ballot) are approved.

3. Solicitation Procedures. The Solicitation Procedures utilized by the Debtors for distribution of the
Solicitation Packages, as set forth in the Disclosure Statement, the Scheduling Motion, the Confirmation Brief, and
the Voting Report, in soliciting acceptances and rejections of the Plan satisfy the requirements of the Bankruptcy
Code and the Bankruptcy Rules and are approved.

4. Notices. The publication and service of the Notices are deemed to be sufficient and appropriate under
the circumstances. The Combined Notice attached as Exhibit 1 to the Scheduling Order, the form of Publication
Notice attached as Exhibit 2 to the Scheduling Order, the Notice of Non-Voting Status and Opportunity to Opt Out,
substantially in the form attached as Exhibit 3 to the Scheduling Order, and service thereof comply with the
requirements of the Bankruptcy Code and the Bankruptcy Rules under the circumstances of these Chapter 11 Cases
and are approved.

5. Voting Record Date. September 17, 2020, as the Voting Record Date, and October 21, 2020, as the

Voting Deadline, are hereby established and approved with respect to the solicitation of votes to accept, and voting
on, the Plan.
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6. Tabulation Procedures. The procedures used for tabulations of votes to accept or reject the Plan as
set forth in the Scheduling Motion, the Voting Report, and the Ballots are approved.

7. Confirmation of the Plan. The Plan is approved in its entirety and CONFIRMED under section
1129 of the Bankruptcy Code. The terms of the Plan, including the Plan Supplement, are incorporated by reference
into and are an integral part of this Confirmation Order.

8. Objections Overruled. All objections and all reservations of rights pertaining to approval of the
Disclosure Statement and Confirmation of the Plan that have not been withdrawn, waived, or settled are hereby
OVERRULED and DENIED on the merits.

9. Deemed Acceptance of Plan. In accordance with section 1127 of the Bankruptcy Code and
Bankruptcy Rule 3019, all holders of Claims and Interests who voted to accept the Plan or who are conclusively
presumed to accept the Plan are deemed to have accepted the Plan.

10. No Action Required. Under the provisions of the Delaware General Corporation Law, including
section 303 thereof, and the comparable provisions of the Delaware Limited Liability Company Act, the Texas
Business Organizations Code (including section 101.606 thereof), section 1142(b) of the Bankruptcy Code, and any
other comparable provisions under applicable law, no action of the respective directors, equity holders, managers, or
members of the Debtors is required to authorize the Debtors to enter into, execute, deliver, File, adopt, amend,
restate, consummate, or effectuate, as the case may be, the Plan, the Restructuring Transactions, and any contract,
assignment, certificate, instrument, or other document to be executed, delivered, adopted, or amended in connection
with the implementation of the Plan, including the New Revolving Exit Facility Documents, the Registration Rights
Agreement, the Warrants, and the
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New Organizational Documents, and the appointment and election of the members of the New Board and the
officers, directors, and/or managers of each of the Reorganized Debtors.

11. Binding Effect. Subject to Article IX.A of the Plan and notwithstanding Bankruptcy Rules 3020(e),
6004(h), or 7062 or otherwise, upon the occurrence of the Effective Date, the terms of the Plan (including, for the
avoidance of doubt, the documents and instruments contained in the Plan Supplement) shall be immediately effective
and enforceable and deemed binding upon the Debtors, the Reorganized Debtors, any and all holders of Claims or
Interests (irrespective of whether holders of such Claims or Interests have, or are deemed to have, accepted the Plan),
all Entities that are parties to or are subject to the settlements, compromises, releases, discharges, and injunctions
described in the Plan, each Entity acquiring property under the Plan, and any and all non-Debtor parties to Executory
Contracts and Unexpired Leases with the Debtors.

12. Incorporation by Reference. The terms and provisions of the Plan, including the terms of the New
Revolving Exit Facility Documents, and the exhibits thereto are incorporated by reference and are an integral part of
this Confirmation Order. The terms of the Plan, the Plan Supplement, all exhibits thereto, and all other relevant and
necessary documents shall, on and after the Effective Date, be in full force and effect, enforceable in accordance with
their terms and binding in all respects upon, and shall inure to the benefit of, the Debtors, their Estates and their
creditors, and their respective successors and assigns, non-debtor affiliates, any affected third parties, all holders of
equity interests in the Debtors, all holders of any Claims, whether known or unknown, against the Debtors, including,
but not limited to all contract counterparties, Borrowers, leaseholders, governmental units, and any trustees,
examiners, administrators, responsible officers, estate representatives, or similar entities for the Debtors, if any,
subsequently appointed in any of
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the Chapter 11 Cases or upon a conversion to chapter 7 under the Bankruptcy Code of any of the Chapter 11 Cases,
and each of their respective affiliates, successors, and assigns.

13. Vesting of Assets in the Reorganized Debtors. Except as otherwise provided herein, in the Plan or
in any agreement, instrument, or other document incorporated in, or entered into in connection with or pursuant to,
the Plan or Plan Supplement, on the Effective Date, all property in each Estate, all Causes of Action, and any
property acquired by any of the Debtors pursuant to the Plan shall vest in each respective Reorganized Debtor, free
and clear of all Liens, Claims, charges, or other encumbrances, except as provided herein or in the Plan. On and after
the Effective Date, except as otherwise provided in the Plan, each Reorganized Debtor may operate its business and
may use, acquire, or dispose of property and compromise or settle any Claims, Interests, or Causes of Action without
supervision or approval by the Bankruptcy Court and free of any restrictions of the Bankruptcy Code or
Bankruptcy Rules, subject only to those restrictions expressly imposed by the Plan or this Confirmation Order as
well as the documents and instruments executed and delivered in connection therewith, including the documents,
exhibits, instruments and other materials comprising the Plan Supplement.

14. Effectiveness of All Actions. Upon the Effective Date, all actions contemplated by the Plan shall be
deemed authorized, approved, and, to the extent taken prior to the Effective Date, ratified (without any requirement
for further action by Holders of Claims or Interests, directors, managers, or officers of the Debtors, the Reorganized
Debtors or any other Entity), including: (a) rejection or assumption, as applicable, of Executory Contracts and
Unexpired Leases; (b) selection of the directors, managers, and officers for the Reorganized Debtors, including the
appointment of the New Board; (c) the entry into the New Revolving Exit Facility Documents and the execution,
entry into, delivery and filing of the New Revolving Facility Credit
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Agreement, as applicable; (d) the adoption and/or filing of or entry into the New Organizational Documents and the
Registration Rights Agreement; (¢) the issuance and distribution, or other transfer, of the New FTS Equity as
provided herein; (f) implementation of the Restructuring Transactions; and (g) all other acts or actions contemplated,
or reasonably necessary or appropriate to promptly consummate the Restructuring Transactions contemplated by the
Plan. All matters provided for in the Plan involving the corporate structure of the Debtors or the Reorganized
Debtors, and any corporate action required by the Reorganized Debtors and/or the Debtors in connection with the
Plan, shall be deemed to have occurred on, and shall be in effect as of, the Effective Date, without any requirement of
further action by Holders of Claims or Interests, the security holders, directors, managers, authorized persons, or
officers of the Reorganized Debtors, and/or the Debtors. On or (as applicable) before the Effective Date, the
appropriate officers of the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, shall be authorized and (as applicable)
directed, without further notice, hearing or approval of the Court or any other party, to issue, execute, and deliver the
agreements, documents, securities, and instruments contemplated by the Plan (or necessary or desirable to effectuate
the Restructuring Transactions) in the name of and on behalf of the Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, including the
New Revolving Exit Facility Credit Agreement and any and all other agreements, documents, Securities, and
instruments relating to the foregoing, to the extent not previously authorized by the Bankruptcy Court. The
authorizations and approvals contemplated by Article IV.H of the Plan shall be effective notwithstanding any
requirements under non-bankruptcy law. To the extent that, under applicable non-bankruptcy law, any of the
foregoing actions would otherwise require the consent or approval of the equity holders, members, managers or
directors of any of the Debtors or Reorganized Debtors, this Confirmation Order shall, pursuant to section 1142 of
the Bankruptcy Code and applicable law, constitute such
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consent or approval, and such actions are deemed to have been taken by unanimous action of the directors, managers,
members and equity holders of the appropriate Debtor or Reorganized Debtor, as applicable.

15. Restructuring Transactions. On or before the Effective Date, or as soon thereafter as reasonably
practicable, the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, shall enter into any transaction and shall take any
actions as may be necessary or appropriate to effectuate the Restructuring Transactions. The actions to implement
the Restructuring Transactions may include: (1) the execution and delivery of appropriate agreements or other
documents of merger, amalgamation, consolidation, restructuring, conversion, disposition, transfer, arrangement,
continuance, dissolution, sale, purchase, or liquidation containing terms that are consistent with the terms of the Plan
and the Restructuring Support Agreement and that satisfy the requirements of applicable law and any other terms to
which the applicable Entities may agree; (2) the execution and delivery of appropriate instruments of transfer,
assignment, assumption, or delegation of any asset, property, right, liability, debt, or obligation on terms consistent
with the terms of the Plan and the Restructuring Support Agreement and having other terms for which the applicable
Entities may agree; (3) the execution, delivery, and filing, if applicable, of appropriate certificates or articles of
incorporation, formation, reincorporation, merger, consolidation, conversion, amalgamation, arrangement,
continuance, or dissolution pursuant to applicable state or provincial law; and (4) all other actions that the applicable
Entities determine to be necessary or appropriate, including making filings or recordings that may be required by
applicable law in connection with the Plan. The Confirmation Order shall, and shall be deemed, pursuant to sections
363 and 1123 of the Bankruptcy Code, to authorize, among other things, all actions as may be necessary or
appropriate to effect any transaction described in, contemplated by, or necessary to
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effectuate the Plan. On the Effective Date or as soon as reasonably practicable thereafter, the Reorganized Debtors,
as applicable, shall issue all securities, notes, instruments, certificates, and other documents required to be issued
pursuant to the Restructuring Transactions.

16. In accordance with the Restructuring Support Agreement, the Debtors, the Reorganized Debtors and
the other parties to the Restructuring Support Agreement shall implement the Restructuring Transactions
contemplated by the Plan.

17. Cancellation of Existing Securities and Agreements; Continuation of Certain Liens. On the
Effective Date, except to the extent otherwise provided in the Plan or the Confirmation Order (including for purpose
of evidencing a right to a distribution under the Plan), all notes, instruments, certificates, credit agreements,
indentures, and other documents evidencing Claims or Interests shall be cancelled and the obligations of the Debtors
thereunder or in any way related thereto shall be deemed satisfied in full, cancelled, discharged, and of no force or
effect. Holders of or parties to such cancelled instruments, Securities, and other documentation will have no rights
arising from or relating to such instruments, Securities, and other documentation, or the cancellation thereof, except
the rights provided for pursuant to the Plan or the Confirmation Order. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary
herein, but subject to any applicable provisions of Article VI of the Plan, to the extent cancelled pursuant to this
paragraph, the ABL Credit Agreement, the Term Loan Agreement, and the Secured Notes Indenture shall continue in
effect solely to the extent necessary to: (1) permit Holders of Claims under the ABL Credit Agreement, the Term
Loan Agreement, and the Secured Notes Indenture to receive their respective Plan Distributions, if any (subject to
any applicable charging liens); (2) permit the Reorganized Debtors and the Disbursing Agent, as applicable, to make
Plan Distributions on account of the Allowed ABL Claims under the ABL Credit Agreement and Allowed Debt
Claims under the Term Loan Agreement and the
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Secured Notes Indenture, as applicable (subject to any applicable charging liens); (3) permit each of the ABL Agent,
the Term Loan Agent, and the Secured Notes Trustee to seek compensation and/or reimbursement for ABL Agent
fees, Term Loan Agent fees, and the Secured Notes Trustee fees, in accordance with the terms of the Plan, and allow
the maintenance, exercise, and enforcement of any applicable charging lien; (4) preserve all rights, including rights
of enforcement, of the ABL Agent, Term Loan Agent, and the Secured Notes Trustee to indemnification,
reimbursement, or contribution pursuant to and subject to the terms of the ABL Credit Agreement, Term Loan
Agreement, and the Secured Notes Indenture; and (5) permit each of the ABL Agent, the Term Loan Agent, and the
Secured Notes Trustee to appear and be heard in the Chapter 11 Cases or in any proceeding in the Bankruptcy Court,
including to enforce any obligation owed to the ABL Agent, the Term Loan Agent and the Secured Notes Trustee, or
Holders of ABL Claims under the ABL Credit Agreement or Holders of Debt Claims under the Term Loan
Agreement and the Secured Notes Indenture, as applicable. Except as provided in the Plan (including Article VI of
the Plan) or as may be necessary to effectuate the terms of the Plan, on the Effective Date, the ABL Agent, the Term
Loan Agent, the Secured Notes Trustee, and their respective agents, successors, and assigns, shall be automatically
and fully discharged of all of their duties and obligations associated with the ABL Credit Agreement, the Term Loan
Agreement, and the Secured Notes Indenture, as applicable; provided, however, as it relates to the ABL Agent, any
control agreements related to any letters of credit under the ABL Credit Agreement shall remain in full force and
effect to the extent the Debtors or Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, and the ABL Agent determine to allow any
such letters of credit to remain in effect after the Effective Date; and provided, further that to the extent Wells Fargo
Bank provides bank product services to the Reorganized Debtors after the Effective Date, nothing in the Plan shall
modify, impair or
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otherwise affect any applicable bank product agreements which shall remain in full force and effect, including all
rights of setoff if provided for under such agreements, subject to the terms of applicable deposit account control
agreements, if any, unless otherwise agreed to in writing between Wells Fargo and the Reorganized Debtors. To the
extent cancelled in accordance with this paragraph, the commitments and obligations (if any) of the ABL Lenders,
the Secured Noteholders, and the lenders under the Term Loan Agreement to extend any further or future credit or
financial accommodations to any of the Debtors, any of their respective subsidiaries or any of their respective
successors or assigns under the ABL Credit Agreement, the Term Loan Agreement, and the Secured Notes Indenture,
as applicable, shall fully terminate and be of no further force or effect on the Effective Date.

18. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any provision in any document, instrument, lease, or other agreement
that causes or effectuates, or purports to cause or effectuate, a default, termination, loss, waiver, or other forfeiture of,
or by, the Debtors or their interests, or any increase or acceleration of any of their obligations, in any such case as a
result of the cancellations, terminations, satisfaction, releases, or discharges provided for in Article IV.G of the Plan
shall be deemed null and void and shall be of no force and effect. Nothing contained herein shall be deemed to
cancel, terminate, release, or discharge the obligation of the Debtors or any of their counterparties under any
Executory Contract to the extent such Executory Contract has been assumed by the Debtors pursuant to a Final Order
of the Bankruptcy Court or hereunder.

19. Distributions. The procedures governing distributions contained in Article VI of the Plan shall be,
and hereby are, approved in their entirety. Notwithstanding Article VI of the Plan, all Plan Distributions to Holders
of Term Loan Claims shall be made to the Term Loan Agent, provided, however, that at the Term Loan Agent’s
written election, the applicable Plan
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Distributions can be made by the Debtors or Reorganized Debtors, with the cooperation of the Term Loan Agent,
with the applicable distribution waterfalls under the Term Loan Agreement to attach to the property to be distributed
in the same manner as if such distributions were made through the Term Loan Agent. Notwithstanding Article VI of
the Plan, all Plan Distributions to Holders of Secured Notes Claims shall be made to and deemed completed when
received by the Secured Notes Trustee, provided, however, that at the Secured Notes Trustee’s written election, the
applicable Plan Distributions can be made by the Debtors or Reorganized Debtors, with the cooperation of the
Secured Notes Trustee, with the applicable charging Lien to attach to the property to be distributed in the same
manner as if such distributions were made through the Secured Notes Trustee. The Secured Notes Trustee may
establish a date for distributions in accordance with DTC’s procedures and may transfer or direct the transfer of such
distributions through the facilities of DTC. The Secured Notes Trustee shall have no duties or responsibility relating
to any form of distribution that is not DTC eligible and the Debtors or Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, shall use
commercially reasonable efforts to (i) seek the cooperation of DTC with respect to the cancellation of the Notes as of
the Effective Date, and (ii) seek the cooperation of the relevant bank and broker participants in the DTC system to
facilitate delivery of the distribution directly to the relevant beneficial owners as soon as practicable after the
Effective Date.

20. Preservation of Rights of Action. In accordance with section 1123(b) of the Bankruptcy Code, but
subject to Article VIII of the Plan, any Causes of Action that a Debtor may hold against any Entity shall vest in the
Reorganized Debtors and the Reorganized Debtors shall retain and may exclusively enforce all rights to commence
and pursue, as appropriate, any and all Causes of Action of the Debtors, whether arising before or after the Petition
Date, including any

38




actions specifically enumerated in the Schedule of Retained Causes of Action, and the Reorganized Debtors’ rights to
commence, prosecute, or settle such Causes of Action shall be preserved notwithstanding the occurrence of the
Effective Date, other than the Causes of Action released by the Debtors pursuant to the releases and exculpations
contained in the Plan, including in Article VIII of the Plan, which shall be deemed released and waived by the
Debtors and the Reorganized Debtors as of the Effective Date. The Reorganized Debtors shall have the exclusive
right, authority, and discretion to determine and to initiate, file, prosecute, enforce, abandon, settle, compromise,
release, withdraw, or litigate to judgment any such Causes of Action and to decline to do any of the foregoing
without the consent or approval of any third party or further notice to or action, order, or approval of the Bankruptcy
Court.

21. The Reorganized Debtors may pursue such retained Causes of Action, as appropriate, in accordance
with the best interests of the Reorganized Debtors. No Entity (other than the Released Parties) may rely on the
absence of a specific reference in the Plan, the Plan Supplement, or the Disclosure Statement to any Cause of Action
against it as any indication that the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, will not pursue any and all
available Causes of Action of the Debtors against it. The Debtors and the Reorganized Debtors expressly reserve all
rights to prosecute any and all Causes of Action against any Entity, except as otherwise expressly provided in the
Plan or the Confirmation Order, including Article VIII of the Plan. Unless otherwise agreed upon in writing by the
parties to the applicable Cause of Action, all objections to the Schedule of Retained Causes of Action must be Filed
with the Bankruptcy Court on or before 30 days after the Effective Date. Any such objection that is not timely filed
shall be disallowed and forever barred, estopped, and enjoined from assertion against any Reorganized Debtor,
without the need for any objection or responsive pleading by the Reorganized Debtors or
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any other party in interest or any further notice to or action, order, or approval of the Bankruptcy Court. The
Reorganized Debtors may settle any such objection without any further notice to or action, order, or approval of the
Bankruptcy Court. If there is any dispute regarding the inclusion of any Cause of Action on the Schedule of
Retained Causes of Action that remains unresolved by the Debtors or Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, and the
objection party for 30 days, such objection shall be resolved by the Bankruptcy Court. Unless any Causes of Action
of the Debtors against an Entity are expressly waived, relinquished, exculpated, released, compromised, or settled in
the Plan or a Final Order, the Reorganized Debtors expressly reserve all Causes of Action for later adjudication, and,
therefore, no preclusion doctrine, including the doctrines of res judicata, collateral estoppel, issue preclusion, claim
preclusion, estoppel (judicial, equitable, or otherwise), or laches, shall apply to such Causes of Action upon, after, or
as a consequence of the Confirmation or Consummation.

22, The Reorganized Debtors reserve and shall retain such Causes of Action of the Debtors
notwithstanding the rejection or repudiation of any Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease during the Chapter 11
Cases or pursuant to the Plan.

23. Subordination. Pursuant to section 510 of the Bankruptcy Code, the Debtors or Reorganized
Debtors, as applicable, reserve the right to re-classify any Allowed Claim or Allowed Interest in accordance with any
contractual, legal, or equitable subordination relating thereto.

24, Release of Liens. Except as otherwise provided in the New Revolving Exit Facility Documents, the
Plan, this Confirmation Order, or in any contract, instrument, release, or other agreement or document created or
entered into pursuant to the Plan, on the Effective Date and concurrently with the applicable distributions made
pursuant to the Plan and, in the case of a Secured Claim, satisfaction in full of the portion of the Secured Claim that
is Allowed as of the
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Effective Date, except for Other Secured Claims that the Debtors elect to Reinstate in accordance with the Plan, all
mortgages, deeds of trust, Liens, pledges, or other security interests against any property of the Estates shall be fully
released and discharged, and all of the right, title, and interest of any holder of such mortgages, deeds of trust, Liens,
pledges, or other security interests shall revert to the Reorganized Debtors and their successors and assigns. Any
Holder of such Secured Claim (and the applicable agents for such Holder) shall be authorized and directed, at the
sole cost and expense of the Reorganized Debtors, to release any collateral or other property of any Debtor (including
any cash collateral and possessory collateral) held by such Holder (and the applicable agents for such Holder), and to
take such actions as may be reasonably requested by the Reorganized Debtors to evidence the release of such Liens
and/or security interests, including the execution, delivery, and filing or recording of such releases. The presentation
or filing of this Confirmation Order to or with any federal, state, provincial, or local agency, records office, or
department shall constitute good and sufficient evidence of, but shall not be required to effect, the termination of
such Liens.

25. To the extent that any Holder of a Secured Claim that has been satisfied or discharged in full pursuant
to the Plan, or any agent for such Holder, has filed or recorded publicly any Liens and/or security interests to secure
such Holder’s Secured Claim, then, as soon as practicable on or after the Effective Date, such Holder (or the agent
for such Holder) shall take, at the Reorganized Debtors’ sole cost and expense, any and all steps requested by the
Debtors, the Reorganized Debtors, or the agent for the New Revolving Exit Facility that are necessary or desirable to
record or effectuate the cancellation and/or extinguishment of such Liens and/or security interests, including the
making of any applicable filings or recordings, and the

41




Reorganized Debtors shall be entitled to make any such filings or recordings on such Holder’s behalf.

26. New Revolving Exit Facility. On the Effective Date, the Reorganized Debtors shall enter into the
New Revolving Exit Facility Credit Agreement and shall execute and deliver the New Revolving Exit Facility Credit
Documents, and such documents shall become effective in accordance with their terms. On and after the Effective
Date, the New Revolving Exit Facility Credit Agreement and New Revolving Exit Facility Credit Documents shall
constitute legal, valid, and binding obligations of the Reorganized Debtors and be enforceable in accordance with
their respective terms. The terms and conditions of the New Revolving Exit Facility Documents, if any, shall bind
the Reorganized Debtors and each other Entity that enters into such New Revolving Exit Facility Documents as a
guarantor. Any Entity’s entry into the New Revolving Exit Facility Documents, if any, shall be deemed as its
agreement to the terms of such New Revolving Exit Facility Documents, as amended or modified from time to time
following the Effective Date in accordance with its terms.

27. Confirmation shall be deemed approval of the New Revolving Exit Facility Credit Agreement and
New Revolving Exit Facility Credit Agreement Documents (including the transactions contemplated thereby, and all
actions to be taken, undertakings to be made, and obligations and guarantees to be incurred and fees and expenses
paid in connection therewith), if any, and, to the extent not approved by the Bankruptcy Court previously, the
Reorganized Debtors will be authorized to execute and deliver those documents necessary or appropriate to obtain
the New Revolving Exit Facility, without further notice to or order of the Bankruptcy Court, act or action under
applicable law, regulation, order or rule or vote, consent, authorization, or approval of any Person, subject to such
modifications as the Reorganized Debtors (subject to any

42




requirements under the Restructuring Support Agreement) may deem to be necessary to enter into the New
Revolving Exit Facility Credit Agreement documents, if any. For the avoidance of doubt, the Debtors and
Reorganized Debtors are, without any further notice to or action, order, or approval of the Bankruptcy Court, bound
to the obligations incurred under any exit commitment letter entered into between the Debtors and the agent and
lender under the New Revolving Exit Facility, including, without limitation, any expense reimbursement and
indemnification obligations set forth in such exit commitment letter.

28. On the Effective Date, all Liens and security interests granted pursuant to, or in connection with, the
New Revolving Exit Facility Credit Agreement (x) shall be valid, binding, perfected, enforceable first priority Liens
and security interests in the property subject to a security interest granted by the applicable Reorganized Debtors
pursuant to the New Revolving Exit Facility Credit Agreement, with the priorities established in respect thereof
under applicable non-bankruptcy law and any applicable intercreditor agreements, and (y) shall not be enjoined or
subject to discharge, impairment, release, avoidance, recharacterization, or subordination. The agent to the New
Revolving Exit Facility is authorized to file, with the appropriate authorities, financing statements, amendments
thereto, or assignments thereof and other documents, including mortgages or amendments or assignments thereof, in
order to evidence the first priority Liens, pledges, mortgages, and security interests granted in connection with the
New Revolving Exit Facility Credit Agreement. The guaranties, mortgages, pledges, Liens, and other security
interests granted in connection with the New Revolving Exit Facility Credit Agreement are granted in good faith as
an inducement to the New Exit Revolving Facility lenders to extend credit thereunder, shall be deemed not to
constitute a fraudulent conveyance or fraudulent transfer, and the priorities of such Liens, mortgages, pledges, and
security interests shall be as set forth in the New Revolving
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Exit Facility Documents and the collateral documents executed and delivered in connection therewith.

29. New Organizational Documents. On or immediately prior to the Effective Date, the New
Organizational Documents shall be automatically adopted by the applicable Reorganized Debtors. To the extent
required under the Plan or applicable non-bankruptcy law, each of the Reorganized Debtors will file its New
Organizational Documents with the applicable Secretaries of State and/or other applicable authorities in its respective
state or country of organization if and to the extent required in accordance with the applicable laws of the respective
state or country of organization. The New Organizational Documents will (a) authorize the issuance of the New FTS
Equity and (b) be modified or deemed to be modified to include a provision pursuant to and only to the extent
required by section 1123(a)(6) of the Bankruptcy Code prohibiting the issuance of non-voting equity Securities. For
the avoidance of doubt, the New Organizational Documents shall be consistent with the Restructuring Term Sheet
and shall be included in the Plan Supplement. After the Effective Date, the Reorganized Debtors may amend and
restate their respective New Organizational Documents in accordance with the terms thereof, and the Reorganized
Debtors may file such amended certificates or articles of incorporation, bylaws, or such other applicable formation
documents, and other constituent documents as permitted by the laws of the respective states, provinces, or countries
of incorporation and the New Organizational Documents.

30. On the Effective Date, the initial board of managers/directors of each of the Reorganized Debtors
shall consist of those individuals identified in the Plan Supplement, and such managers and/or directors shall be
deemed elected and authorized to serve as managers and/or directors of each of the Reorganized Debtors pursuant to
the terms of the applicable New Organizational Documents of such Reorganized Debtor. Such appointment and
designation is
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hereby approved and ratified as being in the best interests of the Debtors and creditors and consistent with public
policy, and such managers and directors hereby are deemed elected and appointed to serve in their respective
capacities as of the Effective Date without further action of the Court, the Reorganized Debtors or their security
holders. The designation or continuation in office as officers of the Reorganized Debtors of each of the individuals
identified in the Plan Supplement is hereby approved and ratified as being in the best interests of the Debtors and
creditors and consistent with public policy. Such officers hereby are deemed elected and appointed to serve in their
respective capacities as of the Effective Date without further action of the Court or the Reorganized Debtors.

31.  Issuance of New FTS Equity. All FTS Common Interests shall be cancelled as of the Effective Date.
On the Effective Date, Reorganized FTS is authorized to issue or cause to be issued and shall issue the New FTS
Equity in accordance with the terms of the Plan and other applicable Definitive Documents without further notice to
or order of the Bankruptcy Court, act or action under applicable law, regulation, order, or rule, or the vote, consent,
authorization, or approval of any Person. The New FTS Equity shall be issued and distributed free and clear of all
Liens, Claims, and other Interests.

32. On the Effective Date, Reorganized FTS and all holders of the New FTS Equity then outstanding shall
be deemed to be parties to the New Organizational Documents (and only the New Organizational Documents)
without the need for execution by any such holder. The New Organizational Documents shall be binding on the
Reorganized Debtors and all parties receiving New FTS Equity pursuant to the Plan. Each holder of New FTS
Equity acquired or received under the Plan, whether such holder acquired such New FTS Equity on the Effective
Date or any time or from time to time thereafter, shall be deemed to have actual knowledge of the terms, provisions,
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restrictions and conditions set forth in the New Organizational Documents for all purposes of the New
Organizational Documents and applicable law, whether or not any such holder received a separate notice of such
terms, provisions, restrictions and conditions. Without limiting the foregoing, this Confirmation Order and the Plan
(including the Plan Supplement) shall be deemed sufficient and adequate notice of such terms, provisions,
restrictions and conditions to all holders of New FTS Equity, such that all such holders shall be deemed to have
actual knowledge thereof and shall be deemed to have acquired (whether on the Effective Date or at any time or from
time to time thereafter) such New FTS Equity subject thereto.

33. All of the New FTS Equity issued or authorized to be issued pursuant to the Plan shall be duly
authorized, validly issued, fully paid, and non-assessable.

34, Issuance of Warrants. On the Effective Date, Reorganized FTS will issue the Warrants consistent
with the Plan. All of the Warrants issued pursuant to the Plan shall be duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid, and
non-assessable without the need for any further corporate action and without any further action by the Debtors or
Reorganized Debtors, as applicable. Each holder of the Warrants acquired or received under the Plan, whether such
holder acquired such Warrants on the Effective Date or any time or from time to time thereafter, shall be deemed to
have actual knowledge of the terms, provisions, restrictions and conditions set forth in the New Organizational
Documents and the Warrants for all purposes of the New Organizational Documents, the Warrants and applicable
law, whether or not any such holder received a separate notice of such terms, provisions, restrictions and conditions.
Without limiting the foregoing, this Confirmation Order and the Plan (including the Plan Supplement) shall be
deemed sufficient and adequate notice of such terms, provisions, restrictions and conditions to all holders of
Warrants, such that all such holders shall be deemed to have actual knowledge thereof and shall be deemed
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to have acquired (whether on the Effective Date or at any time or from time to time thereafter) such Warrants subject
thereto.

35. Compromise of Controversies. In consideration for the distributions and other benefits, including
releases, provided under the Plan, the provisions of the Plan constitute a good faith compromise and settlement of all
Claims, Interests, and controversies resolved under the Plan and the entry of this Confirmation Order constitutes
approval of such compromise and settlement under Bankruptcy Rule 9019.

36. Treatment of Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases. Pursuant to sections 365 and 1123(b)
(2) of the Bankruptcy Code, upon the occurrence of the Effective Date, the Plan provides for the assumption or
rejection of certain Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases. The Debtors’ determinations regarding the
assumption or rejection of Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases are based on and within the sound business
judgment of the Debtors, are necessary to the implementation of the Plan and are in the best interests of the Debtors,
their Estates, holders of Claims or Interests, and other parties in interest in these Chapter 11 Cases.

37. Assumption of Contracts and Leases. On the Effective Date, except as otherwise provided in
Article V.H and elsewhere in the Plan, all Executory Contracts or Unexpired Leases will be deemed assumed by the
applicable Reorganized Debtor in accordance with the provisions and requirements of the Bankruptcy Court, as of
the Effective Date, pursuant to sections 365 and 1123 of the Bankruptcy Code, other than those that: (1) are
identified on the Schedule of Rejected Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases; (2) previously expired or
terminated pursuant to their own terms or agreement of the parties thereto; (3) have been previously assumed or
rejected by the Debtors pursuant to a Final Order; (4) are the subject of a motion to reject that is pending on
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the Effective Date; or (5) are subject to an ordered or requested effective date of rejection that is after the Effective
Date.

38. Entry of this Confirmation Order shall constitute an order of the Bankruptcy Court approving the
above-described assumptions, assumptions and assignments, or rejections of the Executory Contracts or Unexpired
Leases as set forth in the Plan or the Schedule of Rejected Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases, pursuant to
sections 365(a) and 1123 of the Bankruptcy Code and effective on the occurrence of the Effective Date. Except as
otherwise specifically set forth herein, assumptions or rejections of Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases
pursuant to the Plan are effective as of the Effective Date. Each Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease assumed
pursuant to the Plan or by Bankruptcy Court order but not assigned to a third party before the Effective Date shall re-
vest in and be fully enforceable by the applicable contracting Reorganized Debtor in accordance with its terms,
except as such terms may have been modified by the provisions of the Plan or any order of the Bankruptcy Court
authorizing and providing for its assumption under applicable federal law. Any motions to assume Executory
Contracts or Unexpired Leases pending on the Effective Date shall be subject to approval by a Final Order on or after
the Effective Date but may be withdrawn, settled, or otherwise prosecuted by the Reorganized Debtors.

39. To the maximum extent permitted by law, to the extent any provision in any Executory Contract or
Unexpired Lease assumed pursuant to the Plan restricts or prevents, or purports to restrict or prevent, or is breached
or deemed breached by, the assumption of such Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease (including any “change of
control” provision), then such provision shall be deemed modified such that the transactions contemplated by the
Plan shall not constitute a “change of control” or “assignment” (or terms with similar effect) under, or any other
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transaction or matter that would result in a violation, breach or default under, or increase, accelerate or otherwise
alter any obligations, rights or liabilities of the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors under, or result in the creation or
imposition of a Lien upon any property or asset of the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors pursuant to, the applicable
Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease, and any consent or advance notice required under such Executory Contract
or Unexpired Lease shall be deemed satisfied by Confirmation. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Plan,
the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, reserve the right to alter, amend, modify, or supplement the
Schedule of Rejected Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases at any time up to 45 days after the Effective Date.

40. To the extent any provision of the Bankruptcy Code or the Bankruptcy Rules require the Debtors to
assume or reject an Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease, such requirement shall be satisfied if the Debtors make
an election to assume or reject such Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease prior to the deadline set forth by the
Bankruptcy Code or the Bankruptcy Rules, as applicable, regardless of whether or not the Bankruptcy Court has
actually ruled on such proposed assumption or rejection prior to such deadline.

41. If certain, but not all, of a contract counterparty’s Executory Contracts and/or Unexpired Leases are
assumed pursuant to the Plan, the Confirmation Order shall be a determination that such counterparty’s Executory
Contracts and/or Unexpired Leases that are being rejected pursuant to the Plan are severable agreements that are not
integrated with those Executory Contracts and/or Unexpired Leases that are being assumed pursuant to the Plan.
Parties seeking to contest this finding with respect to their Executory Contracts and/or Unexpired Leases must file a
timely objection to the Plan on the grounds that their agreements are integrated and not
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severable, and any such dispute shall be resolved by the Bankruptcy Court at the Confirmation Hearing (to the extent
not resolved by the parties prior to the Confirmation Hearing).

42. Indemnification. On and as of the Effective Date, the Indemnification Provisions will be assumed
and irrevocable and will survive the effectiveness of the Plan, and the Reorganized Debtors’ New Organizational
Documents will provide for the indemnification, defense, reimbursement, exculpation, and/or limitation of liability
of, and advancement of fees and expenses to, the Debtors’ and the Reorganized Debtors’ current and former
directors, officers, employees and agents to the fullest extent permitted by law and at least to the same extent as the
organizational documents of each of the respective Debtors on the Petition Date, against any claims or Causes of
Action whether direct or derivative, liquidated or unliquidated, fixed or contingent, disputed or undisputed, matured
or unmatured, known or unknown, foreseen or unforeseen, asserted or unasserted occurring before the Effective
Date. None of the Debtors, or the Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, will amend and/or restate their respective
governance documents before or after the Effective Date to amend, augment, terminate, or adversely affect any of the
Debtors’ or the Reorganized Debtors’ obligations to provide such indemnification rights or such directors’, officers’,
employees’, equityholders’ or agents’ indemnification right.

43. Directors’ and Officers’ Liability Insurance. Each D&O Liability Insurance Policy (including,
without limitation, any “tail policy” and all agreements, documents, or instruments related thereto) shall be deemed
assumed without the need for any further notice to or action, order, or approval of the Bankruptcy Court, as of the
Effective Date, pursuant to section 365 of the Bankruptcy Code. The Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, as
applicable, shall not terminate or otherwise reduce the coverage under any D&O Liability Insurance Policy
(including, without limitation, any “tail policy” and all agreements, documents, or instruments related thereto)
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in effect prior to the Effective Date, and any current and former directors, officers, managers, and employees of the
Debtors who served in such capacity at any time before or after the Effective Date shall be entitled to the full benefits
of any such policy for the full term of such policy in accordance with the terms and conditions thereof, regardless of
whether such directors, officers, managers, and employees remain in such positions after the Effective Date.

44, Authorization to Consummate. The Debtors are authorized to consummate the Plan after the entry
of this Confirmation Order subject to satisfaction or waiver (by the required parties) of the conditions precedent to
Consummation set forth in Article IX of the Plan.

45. Professional Compensation. All final requests for payment of Professional Fee Claims for services
rendered and reimbursement of expenses incurred prior to the Effective Date must be Filed no later than 30 days after
the Effective Date. After notice and a hearing in accordance with the procedures established by the Bankruptcy Code
and prior Bankruptcy Court orders, the Allowed amounts of such Professional Fee Claims shall be determined by the
Bankruptcy Court. The Reorganized Debtors shall pay Professional Fee Claims in Cash in the amount the
Bankruptcy Court Allows, including from the Professional Fee Escrow Account, as soon as reasonably practicable
after such Professional Fee Claims are Allowed. To the extent that funds held in the Professional Fee Escrow
Account are insufficient to satisfy the amount of Professional Fee Claims owing to the Professionals, such
Professionals shall have an Allowed Administrative Claim for any such deficiency, which shall be satisfied in
accordance with Article II.A of the Plan.

46. Restructuring Expenses. The Restructuring Expenses incurred, or estimated to be incurred, up to

and including the Effective Date shall be paid in full in Cash on the Effective Date (to the extent not previously paid
prior to or during the course of the Chapter 11 Cases in

51




accordance with the terms of the Restructuring Support Agreement) without the requirement to file a fee application
with the Bankruptcy Court and without any requirement for review or approval by the Bankruptcy Court or any other
party. All Restructuring Expenses to be paid on the Effective Date shall be estimated prior to and as of the Effective
Date and such estimates shall be delivered to the Debtors at least two Business Days before the anticipated Effective
Date. In addition, the Debtors and Reorganized Debtors (as applicable) shall continue to pay Restructuring Expenses
related to implementation, consummation, and defense of the Plan after the Effective Date when due and payable in
the ordinary course, whether incurred before, on, or after the Effective Date.

47. Release, Exculpation, Discharge, and Injunction Provisions. The following releases, exculpation,
discharge, and injunction provisions set forth in Article VIII of the Plan, as modified by this Confirmation Order, are
approved and authorized in their entirety, and such provisions are effective and binding on all parties and Entities to
the extent provided therein.

a. Discharge of Claims and Termination of Interests.

48. Pursuant to section 1141(d) of the Bankruptcy Code, and except as otherwise specifically provided in
the Plan, or in any contract, instrument, or other agreement or document created or entered into pursuant to the Plan,
the distributions, rights, and treatment that are provided in the Plan shall be in complete satisfaction, discharge, and
release, effective as of the Effective Date, of Claims (including any Intercompany Claims resolved or compromised
after the Effective Date by the Reorganized Debtors), Interests, and Causes of Action of any nature whatsoever,
including any interest accrued on Claims or Interests from and after the Petition Date, whether known or unknown,
against, liabilities of, Liens on, obligations of, rights against, and interests in, the Debtors or any of their assets or
properties, regardless of whether any property shall have been distributed or retained pursuant to the Plan on account
of such Claims and Interests, including
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demands, liabilities, and Causes of Action that arose before the Effective Date, any liability (including withdrawal
liability) to the extent such Claims or Interests relate to services performed by employees of the Debtors prior to the
Effective Date and that arise from a termination of employment, any contingent or non-contingent liability on
account of representations or warranties issued on or before the Effective Date, and all debts of the kind specified in
sections 502(g), 502(h), or 502(i) of the Bankruptcy Code, in each case whether or not: (1) a Proof of Claim based
upon such debt or right is Filed or deemed Filed pursuant to section 501 of the Bankruptcy Code; (2) a Claim or
Interest based upon such debt, right, or interest is Allowed pursuant to section 502 of the Bankruptcy Code; or (3) the
Holder of such a Claim or Interest has accepted the Plan. Any default by the Debtors or their Affiliates with respect
to any Claim or Interest that existed immediately prior to or on account of the filing of the Chapter 11 Cases shall be
deemed cured on the Effective Date. This Confirmation Order shall be a judicial determination of the discharge of
all Claims (other than the Reinstated Claims) and Interests (other than the Intercompany Interests that are Reinstated)
subject to the occurrence of the Effective Date.

b. Release of Liens.

49. Except as otherwise provided in the New Revolving Exit Facility Credit Agreement, the Plan,
this Confirmation Order, or in any contract, instrument, release, or other agreement or document created or
entered into pursuant to the Plan, on the Effective Date and concurrently with the applicable distributions
made pursuant to the Plan and, in the case of a Secured Claim, satisfaction in full of the portion of the
Secured Claim that is Allowed as of the Effective Date, except for Other Secured Claims that the Debtors elect
to Reinstate in accordance with the Plan, all mortgages, deeds of trust, Liens, pledges, or other security
interests against any property of the Estates shall be fully released and discharged, and all of the right, title,
and interest of any Holder of such mortgages, deeds of trust, Liens,
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pledges, or other security interests shall revert to the Reorganized Debtors and their successors and assigns.
Any Holder of such Secured Claim (and the applicable agents for such Holder) shall be authorized and
directed, at the sole cost and expense of the Reorganized Debtors, to release any collateral or other property of
any Debtor (including any cash collateral and possessory collateral) held by such Holder (and the applicable
agents for such Holder), and to take such actions as may be reasonably requested by the Reorganized Debtors
to evidence the release of such Liens and/or security interests, including the execution, delivery, and filing or
recording of such releases. The presentation or filing of this Confirmation Order to or with any federal, state,
provincial, or local agency, records office, or department shall constitute good and sufficient evidence of, but
shall not be required to effect, the termination of such Liens.

50. To the extent that any Holder of a Secured Claim that has been satisfied or discharged in full
pursuant to the Plan, or any agent for such Holder, has filed or recorded publicly any Liens and/or security
interests to secure such Holder’s Secured Claim, then as soon as practicable on or after the Effective Date,
such Holder (or the agent for such Holder) shall take, at the Reorganized Debtors’ sole cost and expense, any
and all steps requested by the Debtors, the Reorganized Debtors, or the New Revolving Exit Facility Agent
that are necessary or desirable to record or effectuate the cancellation and/or extinguishment of such Liens
and/or security interests, including the making of any applicable filings or recordings, and the Reorganized
Debtors shall be entitled to make any such filings or recordings on such Holder’s behalf.

c. Releases by the Debtors.

51. Notwithstanding anything contained in the Plan to the contrary, pursuant to section 1123(b) of
the Bankruptcy Code, in exchange for good and valuable consideration,
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the adequacy of which is hereby confirmed, on and after the Effective Date, each Released Party is, and is
deemed hereby to be, fully, conclusively, absolutely, unconditionally, irrevocably, and forever released and
discharged by the Debtors, the Reorganized Debtors, their Estates, and any person seeking to exercise the
rights of the Debtors or their Estates, including any successors to the Debtors or any Estate representatives
appointed or selected pursuant to section 1123(b)(3) of the Bankruptcy Code, in each case on behalf of
themselves and their respective successors, assigns, and representatives, and any and all other Entities who
may purport to assert any Cause of Action, directly or derivatively, by, through, for, or because of the
foregoing Entities, from any and all Claims and Causes of Action, including any derivative claims asserted or
assertable on behalf of the Debtors, whether known or unknown, foreseen or unforeseen, matured or
unmatured, existing or hereafter arising, contingent or noncontingent, in law, equity, contract, tort or
otherwise, that the Debtors, the Reorganized Debtors, or their Estates, including any successors to the Debtors
or any Estate representative appointed or selected pursuant to section 1123(b) of the Bankruptcy Code, would
have been legally entitled to assert in their own right (whether individually or collectively) or on behalf of the
Holder of any Claim against, or Interest in, a Debtor or other Entity, or that any Holder of any Claim against,
or Interest in, a Debtor or other Entity could have asserted on behalf of the Debtors, based on or relating to,
or in any manner arising from, in whole or in part: (a) the Debtors (including the capital structure,
management, ownership, or operation thereof), the business or contractual arrangement between the Debtors
and any Released Party, any Securities issued by the Debtors and the ownership thereof, the assertion or
enforcement of rights and remedies against the Debtors, the Debtors’ in- or out-of-court restructuring efforts,
any Avoidance Actions (but excluding
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Avoidance Actions brought as counterclaims or defenses to Claims asserted against the Debtors),
intercompany transactions between the Debtors, the Term Loan Agreement, the Secured Notes Indenture, the
Chapter 11 Cases, the formulation, preparation, dissemination, negotiation, or filing of the Restructuring
Support Agreement, the Disclosure Statement, the New Revolving Exit Facility Credit Agreement, or the Plan
(including, for the avoidance of doubt, the Plan Supplement); (b) any Restructuring Transaction, contract,
instrument, release, or other agreement or document (including any legal opinion requested by any Entity
regarding any transaction, contract, instrument, document or other agreement contemplated by the Plan or
the reliance by any Released Party on the Plan or the Confirmation Order in lieu of such legal opinion)
created or entered into in connection with the Restructuring Support Agreement, the Disclosure Statement,
the New Revolving Exit Facility Credit Agreement, the Plan, or the Plan Supplement, before or during the
Chapter 11 Cases; (c) the Chapter 11 Cases, the filing of the Chapter 11 Cases, the Disclosure Statement or
the Plan, the solicitation of votes with respect to the Plan, the pursuit of Confirmation, the pursuit of
Consummation, the administration and implementation of the Plan, including the issuance or distribution of
Securities pursuant to the Plan, or the distribution of property under the Plan or any other related agreement;
or (d) any related act or omission, transaction, agreement, event, or other occurrence related or relating to
any of the foregoing taking place on or before the Effective Date, including all Avoidance Actions or other
relief obtained by the Debtors in the Chapter 11 Cases.

52. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the foregoing, the releases set forth above do not

release (i) post Effective Date obligations of any party or Entity under the Plan, the Confirmation Order, any
Restructuring Transaction, any Definitive Document, or
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any other document, instrument, or agreement (including those set forth in the Plan Supplement) executed to
implement the Plan, including the New Revolving Exit Facility Credit Agreement, or any Claim or obligation
arising under the Plan, or (ii) the rights of any Holder of Allowed Claims or FTS Common Interests to receive
distributions under the Plan.

53. Entry of the Confirmation Order shall constitute the Bankruptcy Court’s approval, pursuant to
Bankruptcy Rule 9019, of the foregoing Debtor release, which includes by reference each of the related
provisions and definitions contained in the Plan, and further, shall constitute the Bankruptcy Court’s finding
that the foregoing Debtor release is: (a) in exchange for the good and valuable consideration provided by the
Released Parties, including, without limitation, the Released Parties’ contributions to facilitating the
Restructuring Transactions and implementing the Plan; (b) a good faith settlement and compromise of the
Claims released by the foregoing Debtor release; (c) in the best interests of the Debtors and their Estates and
all Holders of Claims and Interests; (d) fair, equitable, and reasonable; (e) given and made after due notice
and opportunity for hearing; and (f) a bar to any of the Debtors, the Reorganized Debtors, or the Debtors’
Estates asserting any Claim or Cause of Action released pursuant to the foregoing Debtor release.

d. Releases by the Releasing Parties.

54. Except as otherwise expressly set forth in the Plan or the Confirmation Order, on and after the
Effective Date, in exchange for good and valuable consideration, the adequacy of which is hereby confirmed,
each Released Party is, and is deemed hereby to be, fully, conclusively, absolutely, unconditionally,
irrevocably and forever, released and discharged by each Releasing Party, in each case on behalf of
themselves and their respective successors, assigns, and representatives, and any and all other Entities who
may purport to assert any Cause of Action, directly or derivatively, by, through, for, or because of the
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Releasing Parties, from any and all Claims and Causes of Action, whether known or unknown, foreseen or
unforeseen, matured or unmatured, existing or hereafter arising, contingent or noncontingent, in law, equity,
contract, tort, or otherwise, including any derivative claims asserted on behalf of the Debtors, that such
Releasing Party would have been legally entitled to assert in their own right (whether individually or
collectively) or on behalf of the Holder of any Claim against, or Interest in, a Debtor or other Entity, or that
any Holder of any Claim against, or Interest in, a Debtor or other Entity could have asserted on behalf of the
Debtors, based on or relating to, or in any manner arising from, in whole or in part: (a) the Debtors (including
the capital structure, management, ownership, or operation thereof), the business or contractual arrangement
between the Debtors and any Releasing Party, any Securities issued by the Debtors and the ownership thereof,
the assertion or enforcement of rights and remedies against the Debtors, the Debtors’ in- or out-of-court
restructuring efforts, any Avoidance Actions (but excluding Avoidance Actions brought as counterclaims or
defenses to Claims asserted against the Debtors), intercompany transactions between or among the Debtors,
the Term Loan Agreement, the Secured Notes Indenture, the Chapter 11 Cases, the formulation, preparation,
dissemination, negotiation, or filing of the Restructuring Support Agreement, the Disclosure Statement, the
New Revolving Exit Facility Credit Agreement, or the Plan (including, for the avoidance of doubt, the Plan
Supplement); (b) any Restructuring Transaction, contract, instrument, release, or other agreement or
document (including any legal opinion requested by any Entity regarding any transaction, contract,
instrument, document or other agreement contemplated by the Plan or the reliance by any Released Party on
the Plan or the Confirmation Order in lieu of such legal opinion) created or entered into in connection with
the Restructuring Support
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Agreement, the Disclosure Statement, the New Revolving Exit Facility Credit Agreement, the Plan, or the
Plan Supplement, before or during the Chapter 11 Cases; (c¢) the Chapter 11 Cases, the filing of the Chapter
11 Cases, the Disclosure Statement, or the Plan, the solicitation of votes with respect to the Plan, the pursuit of
Confirmation, the pursuit of Consummation, the administration and implementation of the Plan, including
the issuance or distribution of Securities pursuant to the Plan, or the distribution of property under the Plan
or any other related agreement; or (d) any related act or omission, transaction, agreement, event, or other
occurrence related or relating to any of the foregoing taking place on or before the Effective Date, including
all Avoidance Actions or other relief obtained by the Debtors in the Chapter 11 Cases.

55. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the foregoing, in this Confirmation Order or in the
Plan, the releases set forth above and in Article VIIL.D of the Plan do not release (i) any post Effective Date
obligations of any party or Entity under the Plan, the Confirmation Order, any Restructuring Transaction, or
any document, instrument, any Definitive Document, or any agreement (including those set forth in the Plan
Supplement) executed to implement the Plan, including the New Revolving Exit Facility Credit Agreement, or
any Claim or obligation arising under the Plan, (ii) the rights of Holders of Allowed Claims or FTS Common
Interests to receive distributions under the Plan, (iii) any claims or liabilities arising out of or relating to any
act or omission of a Released Party that is determined in a final order by a court of competent jurisdiction to
have constituted actual fraud, willful misconduct, or gross negligence; or (iv) the claims, counterclaims,
Causes of Action, and defenses asserted by or assertable by the plaintiffs, including lead plaintiffs, putative
class members, and class representatives (collectively, the
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“Securities Plaintiffs”) in the litigation captioned as Glock, et al. v. FTS International, Inc., et al., Adv. Proc.
No. 20-03416 (the “Securities Litigation”) against the Defendants (as defined below), on the one hand, and any
counter-claims, defenses, or Causes of Action asserted by or assertable by the named defendants (other than
the Debtors) in the Securities Litigation (the “Defendants”), on the other hand. For the avoidance of doubt,
except for these claims, counter-claims, Causes of Action, and defenses with respect to the Securities
Litigation, each Defendant and Securities Plaintiff that is otherwise a Releasing Party or Released Party shall
still constitute a Releasing Party or Released Party in all other respects.

56. Entry of the Confirmation Order shall constitute the Bankruptcy Court’s approval, pursuant to
Bankruptcy Rule 9019, of the foregoing third-party release, which includes by reference each of the related
provisions and definitions contained herein, and, further, shall constitute the Bankruptcy Court’s finding that
the foregoing third-party release is: (a) consensual; (b) essential to the Confirmation of the Plan; (c) given in
exchange for a substantial contribution and for the good and valuable consideration provided by the Released
Parties that is important to the success of the Plan; (d) a good faith settlement and compromise of the Claims
released by the foregoing third-party release; (e) in the best interests of the Debtors and their Estates; (f) fair,
equitable, and reasonable; (g) given and made after due notice and opportunity for hearing; and (h) a bar to
any of the Releasing Parties asserting any claim or Cause of Action released pursuant to the foregoing third-
party release.

e. Exculpation.
57. Except as otherwise specifically provided in the Plan or the Confirmation Order, no Exculpated

Party shall have or incur liability for, and each Exculpated Party shall be released and exculpated from any
Claims and Causes of Action for any claim related to
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any act or omission in connection with, relating to, or arising out of, the Chapter 11 Cases, the formulation,
preparation, dissemination, negotiation, filing, or termination of the Restructuring Support Agreement and
related prepetition transactions (including the Term Loan Agreement and the Secured Notes Indenture), the
Disclosure Statement, the Plan, the New Revolving Exit Facility Credit Agreement, the Plan Supplement, or
any Restructuring Transaction, contract, instrument, release or other agreement or document (including any
legal opinion requested by any Entity regarding any transaction, contract, instrument, document or other
agreement contemplated by the Plan or the reliance by any Released Party on the Plan or the Confirmation
Order in lieu of such legal opinion), including any Definitive Document, created or entered into before or
during the Chapter 11 Cases, any preference, fraudulent transfer, or other avoidance claim arising pursuant
to chapter 5 of the Bankruptcy Code or other applicable law, the filing of the Chapter 11 Cases, the pursuit of
Confirmation, the pursuit of Consummation, the administration and implementation of the Plan, including
the issuance or distribution of Securities pursuant to the Plan, or the distribution of property under the Plan
or any other related agreement, or upon any other related act or omission, transaction, agreement, event, or
other occurrence taking place on or before the Effective Date, except for claims related to any act or omission
that is determined in a final order by a court of competent jurisdiction to have constituted actual fraud, willful
misconduct, or gross negligence, but in all respects such Entities shall be entitled to reasonably rely upon the
advice of counsel with respect to their duties and responsibilities pursuant to the Plan.

58. The Exculpated Parties and other parties set forth above have, and upon Confirmation of the
Plan shall be deemed to have, participated in good faith and in
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compliance with the applicable laws with regard to the solicitation of votes and distribution of consideration
pursuant to the Plan and, therefore, are not, and on account of such distributions shall not be, liable at any
time for the violation of any applicable law, rule, or regulation governing the solicitation of acceptances or
rejections of the Plan or such distributions made pursuant to the Plan.

f. Injunction.

59. Except as otherwise expressly provided in the Plan or the Confirmation Order or for obligations
or distributions issued or required to be paid pursuant to the Plan or the Confirmation Order, all Entities who
have held, hold, or may hold the Released Claims are permanently enjoined, from and after the Effective
Date, from taking any of the following actions against, as applicable, the Debtors, the Reorganized Debtors,
the Exculpated Parties, or the Released Parties: (1) commencing or continuing in any manner any action or
other proceeding of any kind on account of or in connection with or with respect to any Released Claims; (2)
enforcing, attaching, collecting, or recovering by any manner or means any judgment, award, decree, or order
against such Entities on account of or in connection with or with respect to any Released Claims; (3) creating,
perfecting, or enforcing any lien or encumbrance of any kind against such Entities or the property of such
Entities on account of or in connection with or with respect to any Released Claims; (4) asserting any right of
setoff, subrogation, or recoupment of any kind against any obligation due from such Entities or against the
property or the Estates of such Entities on account of or in connection with or with respect to any Released
Claims unless such holder has filed a motion requesting the right to perform such setoff on or before the
Effective Date, and notwithstanding an indication of a Claim or Interest or otherwise that such holder asserts,
has, or intends to preserve any right of setoff pursuant to applicable law or otherwise; and (5) commencing or

62




continuing in any manner any action or other proceeding of any kind on account of or in connection with or
with respect to any Released Claims released or settled pursuant to the Plan.

60. Upon entry of this Confirmation Order, all Holders of Claims and Interests and their respective
current and former employees, agents, officers, directors, principals, and direct and indirect Affiliates shall be
enjoined from taking any actions to interfere with the implementation or Consummation of the Plan. Each
Holder of an Allowed Claim or Allowed Interest, as applicable, by accepting, or being eligible to accept,
distributions under or Reinstatement of such Claim or Interest, as applicable, pursuant to the Plan, shall be
deemed to have consented to the injunction provisions as set forth in Article VIILF of the Plan.

6l. Provisions Regarding Texas Comptroller. Nothing in the Plan or the Confirmation Order
discharges or releases the Debtors, Reorganized Debtors or any non-Debtors from any claims or causes of action
involving the Texas Comptroller of Public Accounts (the “Texas Comptroller”) or impairs the ability of the Texas
Comptroller to pursue any claims or causes of action against any Debtors, Reorganized Debtors or non-Debtors. All
claims and causes of action involving the Texas Comptroller survive the Chapter 11 Cases just as if the cases had not
been commenced. As such, they will be paid and determined in the manner and by the administrative or judicial
tribunals before which such rights or claims would have been resolved or adjudicated if the Chapter 11 Cases had not
been commenced. Without limiting the foregoing, for the avoidance of doubt: (1) the Texas Comptroller is not
required to file any claims in the Debtors’ Chapter 11 Cases; (2) nothing affects or impairs the Texas Comptroller’s
ability to make demand on, be paid by, or otherwise pursue any sureties that are liable to the Texas Comptroller
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on any debts related to the Debtors and/or the Reorganized Debtors; (3) nothing affects or impairs the Texas
Comptroller’s ability to exercise its police or regulatory powers against the Debtors and/or the Reorganized Debtors;
(4) nothing affects or impairs the Texas Comptroller’s rights to assert setoff and recoupment, including contingent or
unliquidated rights, against the Debtors and/or the Reorganized Debtors; and (5) nothing contained in the Plan or the
Confirmation Order will be deemed to be a waiver or relinquishment of any rights, claims, causes of action, rights of
setoff or recoupment, rights to appeal tax assessments, or other legal or equitable defenses that the Debtors and/or the
Reorganized Debtors have under non-bankruptcy law in connection with any claim, liability or cause of action of the
Texas Comptroller.

62. Provisions Regarding Governmental Unit. Nothing in this Order or the Plan discharges, releases,
precludes, or enjoins: (i) any liability to any governmental unit as defined in 11 U.S.C. § 101(27) (“Governmental
Unit”) that is not a “claim” as defined in 11 U.S.C. § 101(5) (“Claim”); (ii) any Claim of a Governmental Unit
arising on or after the Confirmation Date; (iii) any police or regulatory liability to a Governmental Unit that any
entity would be subject to as the owner or operator of property after the Confirmation Date; or (iv) any liability to a
Governmental Unit on the part of any non-debtor. Nor shall anything in this Order or the Plan enjoin or otherwise
bar a Governmental Unit from asserting or enforcing, outside this Court, any liability described in the preceding
sentence. Notwithstanding any provision of the Plan, this Order, or any implementing or supplementing plan
documents, Governmental Units’ setoff rights under federal law as recognized in section 553 of the Bankruptcy
Code, and recoupment rights, shall be preserved and are unaffected. Nothing in this Order or the Plan divests any
tribunal of any jurisdiction it may have under police or regulatory law to interpret this Order or the Plan to adjudicate
any defense asserted under this Order or the Plan.
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63. Provisions Regarding Texas Taxing Authorities. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the
Plan or this Confirmation Order, with respect to the Claims of Carrollton-Farmers Branch ISD, Spring Branch
Independent School District, City of Houston, Dimmit County, Midland County, Crockett County Tax Office,
Atascosa County, Carrollton, Dallas County, Ector CAD, Gregg County, Harris County, Parker CAD, Tarrant
County, Tom Green CAD, and Midland Central Appraisal District (collectively, the “Texas Taxing Authority
Claims”), (a) to the extent the Texas Property Tax Code provides for interest and/or penalties to accrue with respect
to any portion of the Texas Taxing Authority Claims, such interest and/or penalties shall be paid pursuant to
applicable non-bankruptcy law along with the tax amount as set forth in the Texas Taxing Authority Claims, (b) the
liens securing the Texas Taxing Authority Claims shall be retained until the applicable Texas Taxing Authority
Claims are paid in full, including such penalties and/or interest as may accrue pursuant to applicable non-bankruptcy
law, and (c) the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, shall pay Allowed Texas Taxing Authority
Claims, including any accrued penalty or interest, on or before the later of (i) January 31, 2021 (subject to any
applicable extensions, grace periods, or similar rights under the Texas Property Tax Code) and (ii) the Effective Date
(or as soon as reasonably practicable thereafter). All rights and defenses of the Debtors and the Reorganized Debtors
under non-bankruptcy law are reserved and preserved with respect to such Texas Taxing Authority Claims.

64. Provisions Regarding the Securities and Exchange Commission. Notwithstanding any provision
herein to the contrary, no provision of the Plan, or any order confirming the Plan, (i) releases any non-debtor person
or entity (including any Released Party) from any Claim or cause of action of the United States Securities and
Exchange Commission (the “SEC™); or, (ii) enjoins, limits, impairs, or delays the SEC from commencing or
continuing any
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Claims, causes of action, proceedings, or investigations against any non-debtor person or entity (including any
Released Party) in any forum.

65. Provisions Regarding Joshua Patterson. Nothing in the Plan or this Confirmation Order shall be
construed (i) as a release or discharge of any Claims of Joshua Patterson (“Patterson”) against any party, including
the Debtors, the Debtors’ affiliates, or any insurer or (ii) to affect any liabilities or obligations of the Debtors, the
Debtors’ affiliates, or any insurer related to the claims asserted in Joshua Patterson v. FTS International
Manufacturing, LLC, FTS International Services, LLC, and Bill Hebert Acker pending in the 115th Judicial District
Court of Upshur County, Texas (the “Patterson Lawsuit”). Upon the Effective Date of the Plan, the automatic stay of
section 362 of the Bankruptcy Code shall be deemed lifted, and the parties to the Patterson Lawsuit may continue to
pursue litigation and related appeals in the Patterson Lawsuit. Patterson shall be deemed to have opted out of the
Third-Party Releases contained in Article VIIL.D of the Plan.

66. Provision Regarding Securities Litigation. Nothing in the Plan or this Confirmation Order shall be
construed to affect any liabilities or obligations of the Debtors, the Debtors’ affiliates, or any insurer related to the
claims asserted in the Securities Litigation.

67. Provision Regarding the Covia Entities. Notwithstanding anything in the Plan, the Plan
Supplement (including without limitation the list of Retained Causes of Action), or this Confirmation Order to the
contrary, in full and final satisfaction, settlement, release, and discharge of any Claims (the “Covia Claims”™) of Covia
Holdings Corporation (“Covia”), Fairmount Santrol Inc. (f/k/a Fairmount Minerals, Ltd.) or any of their affiliates
(including without limitation any such entity that is a counterparty to any of the contracts listed on the Schedule of
Rejected Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases) (collectively, the “Covia Entities”): (a) Covia (i) shall

66




have an Allowed Class 5 Claim in the amount of $12,500,000 (the “Covia Payment”), payable on the Effective Date

or as soon as reasonably practicable thereafter, but in no event later than 5 Business Days after the Effective Date and
(ii) shall receive 0.5% of the New FTS Equity distributed under the Plan of the same type and on the same terms and
conditions as the New FTS Equity distributed to Holders of Allowed Class 8 FTS Common Interests, which New
FTS Equity shall be obtained from a reduction of the percentage of New FTS Equity distributable to Holders of
Allowed Class 8 FTS Common Interests from 9.9%, as set forth in the Plan at Docket No. 238, to 9.4%, as
incorporated into the revised Plan filed at Docket No. 285; provided, however, that the New FTS Equity issued to

Covia shall be and remain Class A (and not Class B) common stock, as those terms are described in Article 4 of
Exhibit A(i) of the Plan Supplement and the stock issued to Covia shall be common stock listed on a U.S. securities
exchange if such listing is obtained and notwithstanding the post-emergence issuance of any other classes of unlisted
common stock; (b) the Covia Entities shall all be Releasing Parties and Released Parties and the Covia Claims shall
be Released Claims under the Plan; (c¢) Covia’s Omnibus Pleading for Entry of an Order: (I) Denying Confirmation
of the Debtors’ Joint Prepackaged Chapter 11 Plan of Reorganization, Or, In the Alternative, (II) Designating the
Votes of the Term Loan Deficiency Claims and Secured Notes Deficiency Claims; and (I1l) Granting Related Relief
[Docket No. 215] and the votes on the Plan submitted by Covia Entities are deemed withdrawn; (d) the Debtors’
Motion to Reject Supply Agreement [Docket No. 167] is deemed withdrawn, and the termination of that certain

Supply Agreement between FTS International Services, LLC and Covia, dated as of May 3, 2019 shall be effective
as of the Effective Date; and (e) the foregoing shall be deemed a settlement as provided in, and subject to the terms
of, Article IV.A of the Plan. Within 5 Business Days after receipt of the Covia Payment, Covia shall file a dismissal
with prejudice, in form and substance reasonably
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acceptable to the Debtors, of the complaint in the adversary proceeding encaptioned Covia Holdings Corporation v.
FTS International Services, LLC, (Adv. No. 20-03413) pending in this Court as part of the chapter 11 case of Covia
and certain of its affiliates.

68. Compliance with Tax Requirements. In connection with the Plan, to the extent applicable, the
Debtors, Reorganized Debtors, Disbursing Agent, and any applicable withholding agent shall comply with all tax
withholding and reporting requirements imposed on them by any Governmental Unit, and all distributions made
pursuant to the Plan shall be subject to such withholding and reporting requirements. Notwithstanding any provision
in the Plan to the contrary, such parties shall be authorized to take all actions necessary or appropriate to comply with
such withholding and reporting requirements, including liquidating a portion of the distribution to be made under the
Plan to generate sufficient funds to pay applicable withholding taxes, withholding distributions pending receipt of
information necessary to facilitate such distributions, or establishing any other mechanisms they believe are
reasonable and appropriate. The failure of any holder of a Claim or Interest to furnish the Debtors or Reorganized
Debtors information or take any steps necessary to comply with withholding and reporting requirements shall be
grounds for the Debtors or Reorganized Debtors to seek an order, upon notice to the affected holder, disallowing any
Claim or Interest held by such holder and forfeiting any distribution to which such holder would otherwise be
entitled under the Plan. The Debtors and Reorganized Debtors reserve the right to allocate all distributions made
under the Plan in compliance with all applicable wage garnishments, alimony, child support, and similar spousal
awards, Liens, and encumbrances.

69. Exemption from Transfer Taxes. To the fullest extent permitted by section 1146(a) of the
Bankruptcy Code, any transfers (whether from a Debtor to a Reorganized Debtor
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or to any other Person) of property under the Plan (including the Restructuring Transactions) or pursuant to: (1) the
issuance, distribution, transfer, or exchange of any debt, equity Security, or other interest in the Debtors or the
Reorganized Debtors, including the New FTS Equity; (2) the Restructuring Transactions; (3) the creation,
modification, consolidation, termination, refinancing, and/or recording of any mortgage, deed of trust, or other
security interest, or the securing of additional indebtedness by such or other means; (4) the making, assignment, or
recording of any lease or sublease; (5) the grant of collateral as security for the Reorganized Debtors’ obligations
under and in connection with the New Revolving Exit Facility, as applicable; or (6) the making, delivery, or
recording of any deed or other instrument of transfer under, in furtherance of, or in connection with, the Plan,
including any deeds, bills of sale, assignments, or other instrument of transfer executed in connection with any
transaction arising out of, contemplated by, or in any way related to the Plan (including the Restructuring
Transactions), shall not be subject to any document recording tax, stamp tax, conveyance fee, intangibles or similar
tax, mortgage tax, real estate transfer tax, personal property transfer tax, sales or use tax, mortgage recording tax,
Uniform Commercial Code filing or recording fee, regulatory filing or recording fee, or other similar tax or
governmental assessment, and upon entry of the Confirmation Order, the appropriate state or local governmental
officials or agents shall forego the collection of any such tax or governmental assessment and accept for filing and
recordation any of the foregoing instruments or other documents without the payment of any such tax, recordation
fee, or governmental assessment. All filing or recording officers (or any other Person with authority over any of the
foregoing), wherever located and by whomever appointed, shall comply with the requirements of section 1146(a) of
the Bankruptcy Code, shall forego the collection of any such tax or governmental assessment, and
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shall accept for filing and recordation any of the foregoing instruments or other documents without the payment of
any such tax or governmental assessment.

70. Documents, Mortgages, and Instruments. Each federal, state, commonwealth, local, foreign, or
other governmental agency is authorized to accept any and all documents, mortgages, and instruments necessary or
appropriate to effectuate, implement, or consummate the Plan, including the Restructuring Transactions, and this
Confirmation Order.

71. Term of Injunctions or Stays. Unless otherwise provided in the Plan or in this Confirmation Order,
all injunctions or stays in effect in the Chapter 11 Cases pursuant to sections 105 or 362 of the Bankruptcy Code or
any order of the Bankruptcy Court and extant on the Confirmation Date (excluding any injunctions or stays contained
in the Plan or the Confirmation Order) shall remain in full force and effect until the Effective Date. All injunctions
or stays contained in the Plan or the Confirmation Order shall remain in full force and effect in accordance with their
terms.

72. Nonseverability of Plan Provisions upon Confirmation. This Confirmation Order shall constitute a
judicial determination and shall provide that each term and provision of the Plan, as it may have been altered or
interpreted in accordance with the foregoing, is: (1) valid and enforceable pursuant to its terms; (2) integral to the
Plan and may not be deleted or modified without the Debtors’ or Reorganized Debtors’ consent, as applicable (but
subject to the terms of the Restructuring Support Agreement); and (3) nonseverable and mutually dependent.

73. Post-Confirmation Modifications. Without need for further order or authorization of the Court, the
Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, are authorized and empowered to make any and all modifications
to any and all documents that are necessary to effectuate the Plan that do not materially modify the terms of such
documents and are consistent
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with the Plan and the Restructuring Support Agreement (subject to the applicable consents or consultation rights set
forth in the Plan and Restructuring Support Agreement). Subject to certain restrictions and requirements set forth in
section 1127 of the Bankruptcy Code and Bankruptcy Rule 3019 and those restrictions on modifications set forth in
the Plan and the Restructuring Support Agreement, the Debtors and the Reorganized Debtors expressly reserve their
respective rights to revoke or withdraw, or to alter, amend, or modify materially the Plan with respect to such Debtor,
one or more times after Confirmation, and, to the extent necessary, may initiate proceedings in the Court to so alter,
amend, or modify the Plan, or remedy any defect or omission, or reconcile any inconsistencies in the Plan, the
Disclosure Statement, or this Confirmation Order, in such manner as may be necessary to carry out the purposes and
intent of the Plan. Any such modification or supplement shall be considered a modification of the Plan and shall be
made in accordance with Article X.A of the Plan.

74. Applicable Nonbankruptcy Law. The provisions of this Confirmation Order, the Plan and related
documents, or any amendments or modifications thereto, shall apply and be enforceable notwithstanding any
otherwise applicable nonbankruptcy law.

75. Waiver of Filings. Any requirement under section 521 of the Bankruptcy Code or Bankruptcy Rule
1007 obligating the Debtors to File any list, schedule, or statement with the Court or the Office of the U.S. Trustee is
permanently waived as to any such list, schedule, or statement not Filed as of the Confirmation Date.

76. Governmental Approvals Not Required. This Confirmation Order shall constitute all approvals and
consents required, if any, by the laws, rules, or regulations of any state, federal, or other governmental authority with
respect to the dissemination, implementation, or consummation of the Plan and the Disclosure Statement, any
certifications, documents,
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instruments or agreements, and any amendments or modifications thereto, and any other acts referred to in, or
contemplated by, the Plan and the Disclosure Statement.

77. Exemption from Registration Requirements. The New FTS Equity to be issued to Holders of
Allowed Secured Debt Claims, Holders of Allowed Other Unsecured Claims, and Holders of FTS Common Interests
pursuant to Article III of the Plan, the Warrants and the New FTS Equity issued to the holders of the Warrants upon
exercise thereof (collectively, the “Plan Securities”) will be issued without registration under the Securities Act or
any similar federal, state, or local law in reliance upon (i) section 1145 of the Bankruptcy Code to the extent
permitted under applicable law (except with respect to an entity that is an “underwriter” as defined in subsection (b)
of section 1145 of the Bankruptcy Code) or (ii) only to the extent that such exemption under section 1145 of the
Bankruptcy Code is not available (including with respect to an entity that is an “underwriter”), section 4(a)(2) of the
Securities Act and/or Regulation D promulgated thereunder. Prior to the Petition Date, the offering of New FTS
Equity to be issued to Holders of Allowed Secured Debt Claims and Allowed Other Unsecured Claims pursuant to
Article III of the Plan shall be exempt from such registration requirements pursuant to Section 4(a)(2) of the
Securities Act and/or Regulation D promulgated thereunder.

78. Plan Securities issued in reliance upon section 1145 of the Bankruptcy Code are exempt from, among
other things, the registration requirements of section 5 of the Securities Act and any other applicable U.S. state or
local law requiring registration prior to the offering, issuance, distribution or sale of securities and (a) are not
“restricted securities” as defined in Rule 144(a)(3) under the Securities Act and (b) are freely tradable and
transferable by any holder thereof that, at the time of transfer, (1) is not an “affiliate” of Reorganized FTS as defined
in Rule 144(a)(1) under the Securities Act, (2) has not been such an “affiliate” within ninety (90) days of such
transfer, (3)
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has not acquired such securities from an “affiliate” within one year of such transfer and (4) is not an entity that is an
“underwriter.”

79. Solely to the extent issuance under Section 1145(a) of the Bankruptcy Code is unavailable and Plan
Securities must instead be issued in reliance on section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act or Regulation D promulgated
thereunder, such securities will be “restricted securities” subject to resale restrictions and may be resold, exchanged,
assigned, or otherwise transferred only pursuant to registration, or an applicable exemption from registration, under
the Securities Act and applicable state and local securities law.

80. New FTS Equity issued pursuant to the Management Incentive Plan will be issued pursuant to a
registration statement or an exemption from registration under the Securities Act and applicable state and local
securities laws.

81. Should Reorganized FTS elect, on or after the Effective Date, to reflect any ownership of the New
FTS Equity through the facilities of DTC, Reorganized FTS need not provide to DTC any further evidence other than
the Plan or the Confirmation Order with respect to the treatment of such securities under applicable securities laws.
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Plan, no Entity, including, for the avoidance of doubt, DTC, shall be
entitled to require a legal opinion regarding the validity of any transaction contemplated by the Plan, including, for
the avoidance of doubt, whether the initial sale and delivery by the issuer to the Holders of New FTS Equity is
exempt from registration and/or eligible for DTC book-entry delivery, settlement, and depository services. DTC
shall be required to accept and conclusively rely upon the Plan or Confirmation Order in lieu of a legal opinion
regarding whether the New FTS Equity is exempt from registration and/or eligible for DTC book-entry delivery,
settlement, and depository services.
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82. Notices of Confirmation and Effective Date. The Reorganized Debtors shall serve notice of entry
of this Confirmation Order and the occurrence of the Effective Date, substantially in the form attached hereto as
Exhibit B (as may be revised by the applicable Debtors, the “Confirmation Order and Effective Date Notice™), in
accordance with Bankruptcy Rules 2002 and 3020(c) on all holders of Claims and Interests and the Core Notice
Parties within ten (10) Business Days after the Effective Date. Notwithstanding the above, no notice of Confirmation
or Consummation or service of any kind shall be required to be mailed or made upon any Entity to whom the Debtors
mailed notice of the Combined Hearing, but received such notice returned marked “undeliverable as addressed,”
“moved, left no forwarding address,” “forwarding order expired,” or similar reason, unless the Debtors have been
informed in writing by such Entity, or are otherwise aware, of that Entity’s new address. The Combined Notice and
the Confirmation Order and Effective Date Notice are adequate under the particular circumstances of these
Chapter 11 Cases and no other or further notice is necessary.

83. Failure of Consummation. If Consummation does not occur for a Debtor, the Plan shall be null and
void in all respects as to such Debtor and nothing contained in the Plan, the Disclosure Statement, or the
Restructuring Support Agreement as to such Debtor shall: (1) constitute a waiver or release by the Debtors of any
Claims or Interests; (2) prejudice in any manner the rights of the Debtors, any holders of Claims or Interests, or any
other Entity; or (3) constitute an admission, acknowledgement, offer, or undertaking by the Debtors, any holders of
Claims or Interests, or any other Entity.

84. Substantial Consummation. On the Effective Date, the Plan shall be deemed to be substantially
consummated under section 1101(2) of the Bankruptcy Code.
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85. Waiver of 14-Day Stay. Notwithstanding Bankruptcy Rule 3020(e) or 6004, this Confirmation Order
is effective immediately and not subject to any stay.

86. References to and Omissions of Plan Provisions. References to articles, sections, and provisions of
the Plan are inserted for convenience of reference only and are not intended to be a part of or to affect the
interpretation of the Plan. The failure to specifically include or to refer to any particular article, section, or provision
of the Plan in this Confirmation Order shall not diminish or impair the effectiveness of such article, section, or
provision, it being the intent of the Court that the Plan be confirmed in its entirety, except as expressly modified
herein, and incorporated herein by this reference.

87. Headings. Headings utilized herein are for convenience and reference only, and do not constitute a
part of the Plan or this Confirmation Order for any other purpose.

88. Effect of Conflict. This Confirmation Order supersedes any Court order issued prior to the
Confirmation Date that may be inconsistent with this Confirmation Order. If there is any inconsistency between the
terms of the Plan and the terms of this Confirmation Order, the terms of this Confirmation Order govern and control.

89. Termination of Challenge Period. The Challenge Period (as defined in the Cash Collateral Orders)
for all parties in interest is terminated as of the date set forth in the Cash Collateral Orders, and the stipulations,
admissions, findings, and releases contained in the Cash Collateral Orders shall be binding on the Debtors’ estates
and all parties in interest.

90. Final Order. This Confirmation Order is a Final Order and the period in which an appeal must be
Filed shall commence upon the entry hereof.

91. Retention of Jurisdiction. The Court may properly, and upon the Effective Date shall, to the full
extent set forth in the Plan, retain jurisdiction over all matters arising out of, and
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related to, these Chapter 11 Cases, including the matters set forth in Article XI of the Plan and section 1142 of the
Bankruptcy Code.

92. Reversal. If any or all of the provisions of this Confirmation Order are hereafter reversed, modified
or vacated by subsequent order of this Court or any other court, such reversal, modification or vacatur shall not affect
the validity of the acts or obligations incurred or undertaken under or in connection with the Plan, including the New
Revolving Exit Facility Documents, prior to the Debtors’ receipt of written notice of such order. Notwithstanding
any such reversal, modification or vacatur of this Confirmation Order, any such act or obligation incurred or
undertaken pursuant to, and in reliance on, this Confirmation Order prior to the effective date of such reversal,
modification or vacatur shall be governed in all respects by the provisions of this Confirmation Order and the Plan
and all related documents or any amendments or modifications thereto.

Signed: November 04, 2020
/s/ David R. Jones
David R. Jones
UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY JUDGE
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EXHIBIT A
Plan

THIS CHAPTER 11 PLAN IS BEING SOLICITED FOR ACCEPTANCE OR REJECTION IN
ACCORDANCE WITH BANKRUPTCY CODE SECTION 1125 AND WITHIN THE MEANING OF
BANKRUPTCY CODE SECTION 1126. THIS CHAPTER 11 PLAN WILL BE SUBMITTED TO THE
BANKRUPTCY COURT FOR APPROVAL FOLLOWING SOLICITATION AND THE DEBTORS’
FILING FOR CHAPTER 11 BANKRUPTCY.

IN THE UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS

HOUSTON DIVISION
)
In re: ) Chapter 11
FTS INTERNATIONAL, INC,, et al.,! g Case No. 20-34622 (DRJ)
Debtors. g (Jointly Administered)
)

JOINT PREPACKAGED CHAPTER 11 PLAN OF REORGANIZATION
OF FTS INTERNATIONAL, INC. AND ITS DEBTOR AFFILIATES

KIRKLAND & ELLIS LLP

KIRKLAND & ELLIS INTERNATIONAL
LLP

Brian Schartz, P.C. (TX Bar No. 24099361)
609 Main Street

Houston, Texas 77002

Telephone: (713) 836-3600

Facsimile: (713) 836-3601

Email: brian.schartz@kirkland.com
- and -

Joshua A. Sussberg, P.C. (admitted pro hac vice)
Emily E. Geier (admitted pro hac vice)
Alexander Nicas (admitted pro hac vice)

601 Lexington Avenue

New York, New York 10022

Telephone: (212) 446-4800
Facsimile: (212) 446-4900
Email: jsussberg@kirkland.com

emily.geier@kirkland.com
alexander.nicas@kirkland.com

WINSTON & STRAWN LLP

Katherine A. Preston (TX Bar No. 2968884)
800 Capitol Street, Suite 2400

Houston, Texas 77002

Telephone: (713) 651-2600
Facsimile: (713) 651-2700

Email: kpreston@winston.com
-and -

Daniel J. McGuire ( admitted pro hac vice)
35 W Wacker Drive
Chicago, IL 60601

Telephone: (312) 558-5600
Facsimile: (312) 558-5700
Email:  dmcguire@winston.com

Co-Counsel for the Debtors
and Debtors in Possession

Co-Counsel for the Debtors and Debtors in Possession

Dated: November 4, 2020

1

The Debtors in these chapter 11 cases, along with the last four digits of each Debtor’s federal tax identification number, are: FTS
International, Inc. (0081); FTS International Manufacturing, LLC (9132); and FTS International Services, LLC (7729). The location of
Debtor FTS International, Inc.’s principal place of business and the Debtors’ service address in these chapter 11 cases is 777 Main Street,
Suite 2900, Fort Worth, Texas, 76102.
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INTRODUCTION

FTS International, Inc., FTS International Manufacturing, LLC, and FTS International Services, LLC (each a
“Debtor” and, collectively, the “Debtors™) jointly propose this prepackaged chapter 11 plan of reorganization (the
“Plan”) for the resolution of the outstanding claims against, and equity interests in, the Debtors. Although proposed
jointly for administrative purposes, the Plan constitutes a separate plan for each of the foregoing entities and each of
the foregoing entities is a proponent of the Plan within the meaning of section 1129 of the Bankruptcy Code.

Holders of Claims or Interests may refer to the Disclosure Statement Relating to the Debtors’ Joint Prepackaged
Plan of Reorganization Pursuant to Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code for a discussion of the Debtors’ history,
businesses, properties, assets, results of operations, projections, historical financial information, risk factors, a
summary and analysis of the Plan, the Restructuring Transactions, and certain related matters.

ALL HOLDERS OF CLAIMS AND INTERESTS, TO THE EXTENT APPLICABLE, ARE ENCOURAGED TO
READ THIS PLAN AND THE DISCLOSURE STATEMENT IN THEIR ENTIRETY BEFORE VOTING TO
ACCEPT OR REJECT THIS PLAN.

ARTICLE 1.
DEFINED TERMS, RULES OF INTERPRETATION,
COMPUTATION OF TIME, GOVERNING LAW, AND OTHER REFERENCES

A. Defined Terms.

As used in the Plan, capitalized terms have the meanings set forth below.

1. “ABL Agent” means Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as administrative agent under the ABL
Credit Agreement.
2. “ABL Claim” means any Claim against a Debtor arising under, derived from, secured by, based on, or

related to the ABL Credit Agreement or any other agreement, instrument or document executed at any time in
connection therewith and any guaranty thereof, including all “Obligations” as defined under the ABL Credit
Agreement.

3. “ABL Credit Agreement” means that certain credit agreement, dated as of February 22, 2018, between
FTS, FTS Services, certain lenders, and the ABL Agent, as amended, restated, amended and restated, modified, or
supplemented from time to time.

4. “ABL Lenders” means the lenders party to the ABL Credit Agreement.
5. “ABL Secured Claim” means any ABL Claim, or portion thereof, that is Secured.
6. “Ad Hoc Group of Secured Noteholders” means the ad hoc group of holders of Secured Notes that is

represented by the Ad Hoc Group of Secured Noteholders Advisors.

7. “Ad Hoc Group of Secured Noteholders Advisors” means Davis Polk & Wardwell LLP, Ducera
Partners LLC, Silver Foundry LP, and any local or special counsel retained by the Ad Hoc Group of Secured
Noteholders.




8. “Ad Hoc Group of Term Loan Lenders” the ad hoc group of holders of Term Loan Claims that is
represented by the Ad Hoc Group of Term Loan Lender Advisors.

9. “Ad Hoc Group of Term Loan Lender Advisors” means Stroock & Stroock & Lavan LLP, and any
financial advisor or local or special counsel retained by the Ad Hoc Group of Term Loan Lenders.

10. “Administrative Claim” means a Claim incurred by the Debtors on or after the Petition Date and
before the Effective Date for a cost or expense of administration of the Chapter 11 Cases entitled to priority under
sections 503(b), 507(a)(2), or 507(b) of the Bankruptcy Code, including: (a) the actual and necessary costs and
expenses incurred on or after the Petition Date until and including the Effective Date of preserving the Estates and
operating the Debtors’ businesses; (b) Allowed Professional Fee Claims; (c) all fees and charges assessed against the
Estates pursuant to section 1930 of chapter 123 of title 28 of the United States Code, and (d) the Restructuring
Expenses.

11. “Affiliate” means affiliate as defined in section 101(2) of the Bankruptcy Code. With respect to any
Entity that is not a Debtor, the term “Affiliate” shall apply to such Entity as if the Entity were a Debtor.

12. “Agent” means any administrative agent, collateral agent, or similar Entity under the Term Loan
Agreement, including any successors thereto.

13.  “Allowed” means, with respect to a Claim or an Interest, any Claim or Interest (or portion thereof) that
(a) is not Disputed within the applicable period of time, if any, fixed by the Bankruptcy Code, the Bankruptcy Rules,
or the Bankruptcy Court, (b) is allowed, compromised, settled, or otherwise resolved pursuant to the terms of the
Plan, in any stipulation that is approved by a Final Order of the Bankruptcy Court, or pursuant to any contract,
instrument, indenture, or other agreement entered into or assumed in connection herewith, or (c) has been allowed by
a Final Order of the Bankruptcy Court. For the avoidance of doubt, (x) there is no requirement to file a Proof of
Claim (or move the Bankruptcy Court for allowance) to have a Claim Allowed for the purposes of the Plan except as
provided in Article V.B of this Plan, (y) the Debtors may deem any Unimpaired Claim to be Allowed in an asserted
amount for the purposes of the Plan, and (z) any Claim (or portion thereof) that has been disallowed pursuant to a
Final Order shall not be an “Allowed” Claim. For the avoidance of doubt, a Debtor shall not stipulate or otherwise
agree to the allowance of any Claim related to the Specified Agreements without the prior consent of the Required
Consenting Creditors.

14. “Avoidance Actions” means any and all avoidance, recovery, subordination, or other Claims, actions,
remedies, or Causes of Action that may be brought by or on behalf of the Debtors or their Estates or other authorized
parties in interest under the Bankruptcy Code or applicable non-bankruptcy law to avoid, recover, or subordinate a
prepetition transaction, including actions, remedies, or Claims and Causes of Action under sections 502, 510, 542,
544, 545, 547 through and including 553, and 724(a) of the Bankruptcy Code or under similar or related local, state,
federal, or foreign statutes and common law, including fraudulent transfer laws.

15. “Bankruptcy Code” means title 11 of the United States Code, 11 U.S.C. §§ 101-1532, as may be
amended from time to time.

16. “Bankruptcy Court” means the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of Texas or
such other court having jurisdiction over the Chapter 11 Cases as determined and agreed by the Debtors and the
Required Consenting Creditors, including, to the extent of the withdrawal of reference under 28 U.S.C. § 157 and/or
the General Order of the District Court pursuant to section 151 of the Judicial Code, the United States District Court
for the Southern District of Texas.




17. “Bankruptcy Rules” means the Federal Rules of Bankruptcy Procedure as promulgated by the United
States Supreme Court under section 2075 of title 28 of the United States Code, and the general, local, and chambers
rules of the Bankruptcy Court.

18. “Business Day” means any day other than a Saturday, Sunday, or “legal holiday” (as defined in
Bankruptcy Rule 9006(a)), or other day on which commercial banks in the State of New York are closed for business
as a result of a federal, state, or local holiday.

19. “Cash” means the legal tender of the United States of America or the equivalent thereof, including
bank deposits, checks, and other similar items.

20. “Cash Collateral Orders” means, collectively, the Interim Cash Collateral Order and the Final Cash
Collateral Order.

21. “Cash Consideration” means $30.66 million in Cash.

22. “Cause of Action” means any claims, interests, damages, remedies, causes of action, demands, rights,

actions, suits, obligations, liabilities, accounts, defenses, offsets, powers, privileges, licenses, liens, indemnities,
guaranties, and franchises of any kind or character whatsoever, whether known or unknown, choate or inchoate,
foreseen or unforeseen, existing or hereinafter arising, contingent or noncontingent, liquidated or unliquidated,
secured or unsecured, assertable, directly or derivatively, matured or unmatured, suspected or unsuspected, in
contract, tort, law, equity, or otherwise. Causes of Action also include: (a) all rights of setoff, counterclaim, or
recoupment and claims under contracts or for breaches of duties imposed by law; (b) any claim based on or relating
to, or in any manner arising from, in whole or in part, breach of fiduciary duty, violation of local, state, federal, or
foreign law, or breach of any duty imposed by law or in equity, including securities laws, negligence, and gross
negligence; (c) the right to object to or otherwise contest Claims or Interests; (d) claims pursuant to sections 362,
510, 542, 543, 544 through 550, or 553 of the Bankruptcy Code; and (e) such claims and defenses as fraud, mistake,
duress, and usury, and any other defenses set forth in section 558 of the Bankruptcy Code.

23. “Chapter 11 Cases” means (a) when used with reference to a particular Debtor, the case pending for
that Debtor under chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code in the Bankruptcy Court and (b) when used with reference to
all the Debtors, the procedurally consolidated and jointly administered chapter 11 cases pending for all of the
Debtors in the Bankruptcy Court.

24, “Claim” means any claim, as defined in section 101(5) of the Bankruptcy Code, against any of the
Debtors.
25. “Claims Register” means the official register of Claims maintained by the Solicitation Agent or the

clerk of the Bankruptcy Court.

26. “Class” means a category of Holders of Claims or Interests as set forth in Article III of the Plan
pursuant to section 1122(a) of the Bankruptcy Code.

27. “Class 4 Recovery Deduction” means, with respect to Class 3, a deduction of the Unencumbered Plan
Recovery provided to the Deficiency Claims and a deduction of 90.1% of the Unencumbered Plan Recovery
provided to the Termination Claims and with respect to Class 8, a deduction of 9.9% of the Unencumbered Plan
Recovery provided to the Termination Claims.

28. “Confirmation” means the entry of the Confirmation Order by the Bankruptcy Court on the docket of
the Chapter 11 Cases.




29. “Confirmation Date” means the date upon which the Bankruptcy Court enters the Confirmation Order
on the docket of the Chapter 11 Cases within the meaning of Bankruptcy Rules 5003 and 9021.

30. “Confirmation Hearing” means the hearing(s) before the Bankruptcy Court under section 1128 of the
Bankruptcy Code at which the Debtors seek entry of the Confirmation Order.

31. “Confirmation Order” means the order of the Bankruptcy Court confirming the Plan pursuant to
section 1129 of the Bankruptcy Code and providing final approval of the Disclosure Statement and the Solicitation
Materials.

32. “Consenting Creditors” means collectively, the Consenting Noteholders and the Consenting Term
Loan Lenders.

33. “Consenting Noteholders” means, collectively, the Holders of, or investment advisors, sub-advisors,
or managers of discretionary accounts that hold, Secured Notes Claims that are party to the Restructuring Support
Agreement or that have executed a joinder or transfer agreement to the Restructuring Support Agreement.

34. “Consenting Term Loan Lenders” means, collectively, the Holders of, or investment advisors, sub-
advisors, or managers of discretionary accounts that hold, Term Loan Claims that are party to the Restructuring
Support Agreement or that have executed a joinder or transfer agreement to the Restructuring Support Agreement.

35. “Consummation” means the occurrence of the Effective Date.

36. “Covia Dispute” means that certain dispute between the Debtors and Covia Holdings Corporation,
including as set forth in the adversary proceeding captioned as Covia Holdings Corporation v. FTS International
Services, LLC (Adv. Proc. No. 20-03413) and the Omnibus Pleading of Covia Holdings Corporation for Entry of an
Order (I) Denying Confirmation of the Debtors’ Joint Prepackaged Chapter 11 Plan of Reorganization, or, in the
Alternative, (Il) on an Emergency Basis, Designating the Votes of the Term Loan Deficiency Claims and Secured
Notes Deficiency Claims, and (IIl) Granting Related Relief [Docket No. 213], and Debtors’ Reply to the Omnibus
Pleading for Entry of an Order: (1) Denying Confirmation of the Debtors’ Joint Prepackaged Chapter 11 Plan of
Reorganization, or, in the Alternative, (II) Designating the Votes of the Term Loan Deficiency Claims and Secured
Notes Deficiency Claims; and (III) Granting Related Relief and in Support of an Order Approving the Debtors’
Disclosure Statement and Confirming the Joint Prepackaged Chapter 11 Plan of Reorganization of FTS
International, Inc. and its Debtor Affiliates [Docket No. 241], and as mediated before Judge Marvin Isgur, and as
settled and resolved pursuant to the Plan and the Confirmation Order.

37. “Cure” or “Cure Claim” means all amounts, including an amount of $0.00, required to cure any
monetary defaults under any Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease (or such lesser amount as may be agreed upon
by the parties under an Executory Contract or an Unexpired Lease) that is to be assumed by the Debtors pursuant to
sections 365 or 1123 of the Bankruptcy Code, other than a default that is not required to be cured pursuant to
section 365(b)(2) of the Bankruptcy Code.

38. “D&O Liability Insurance Policies” means all directors’, managers’, and officers’ liability insurance
policies (including any “tail policy” and all agreements, documents, or instruments related thereto) of any of the
Debtors that have been issued or provide coverage at any time to current and former directors, managers, officers,
and employees of the Debtors.




39. “Debt Claim” means, collectively, any claim that is part of (a) the Term Loan Claims, which are
Allowed in an amount equal to approximately $67.6 million and (b) the Secured Notes Claims, which are Allowed in
an amount equal to approximately $379.1 million.

40. “Definitive Documents” has the meaning set forth in the Restructuring Support Agreement.

41. “Disbursing Agent” means, as applicable, the Reorganized Debtors or the Entity or Entities selected
by the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors to make or facilitate distributions pursuant to the Plan.

42. “Disclosure Statement” means the disclosure statement for the Joint Prepackaged Chapter 11 Plan of
Reorganization of FTS International Inc. and Its Debtor Affiliates, including all exhibits and schedules thereto, in
each case, as may be amended, supplemented, or modified from time to time, to be approved by the Confirmation
Order.

43. “Disputed” means, as to a Claim or an Interest, any Claim or Interest: (a) that is not Allowed; (b) that
is not disallowed by the Plan, the Bankruptcy Code, or a Final Order,as applicable; and (c) with respect to which a
party in interest has Filed a Proof of Claim or otherwise made a written request to a Debtor for payment, without any
further notice to or action, order, or approval of the Bankruptcy Court.

44, “Distribution Date” means, except as otherwise set forth herein, the date or dates determined by the
Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, on or after the Effective Date, with the first such date occurring on or as soon as
is reasonably practicable after the Effective Date, upon which the Disbursing Agent shall make distributions to
Holders of Allowed Claims and Interests entitled to receive distributions under the Plan.

45. “Distribution Record Date” means, other than with respect to Holders of public Securities (including
Secured Notes deposited with DTC and FTS Common Interests) the record date for purposes of determining which
Holders of Allowed Claims against or Allowed Interests in the Debtors are eligible to receive distributions under the
Plan, which date shall be the Confirmation Date, or such other date as is announced by the Debtors or designated in a
Final Order. The Distribution Record Date shall not apply to any public Securities (including Secured Notes
deposited with DTC and FTS Common Interests) the Holders of which shall receive a distribution in accordance with
the customary procedures of DTC.

46. “DTC” means The Depository Trust Company.

47. ‘Effective Date” means the date that is the first Business Day on which (a) no stay of the
Confirmation Order is in effect; (b) all conditions precedent to the occurrence of the Effective Date set forth in
Article IX.A of the Plan have been satisfied or waived in accordance with Article IX.B of the Plan; and (c) the Plan
is declared effective by the Debtors.

48. “Entity” means an entity as defined in section 101(15) of the Bankruptcy Code.

49. “Estate” means as to each Debtor, the estate of any Debtor created under sections 301 and 541 of the
Bankruptcy Code upon the commencement of the applicable Debtor’s Chapter 11 Case.

50. “Exculpated Parties” means, collectively, and in each case in its capacity as such: (a) the Debtors;
(b) any official committees appointed in the Chapter 11 Cases and each of their respective members; (c) the
Consenting Creditors, (d) the ABL Agent, (e) the Term Loan Agent, (f) the Secured Notes Trustee, and (g) with
respect to each of the foregoing, such Entity and its current and former Affiliates, and such Entity’s and its current
and former Affiliates’ current and former equity holders, subsidiaries, officers,




directors, managers, principals, members, employees, agents, advisory board members, financial advisors,
partners, attorneys, accountants, investment bankers, consultants, representatives, and other professionals.

51. “Executory Contract” means a contract to which one or more of the Debtors is a party and that is
subject to assumption or rejection under section 365 or 1123 of the Bankruptcy Code.

52. “Federal Judgment Rate” means the federal judgment rate in effect pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1961 as of
the Petition Date, compounded annually.

53. “File,” “Filed,” or “Filing” means file, filed, or filing in the Chapter 11 Cases with the Bankruptcy
Court or, with respect to the filing of a Proof of Claim, the Solicitation Agent.

54. “Final Cash Collateral Order” means a Final Order authorizing the use of cash collateral consistent
with the terms set forth in the Restructuring Term Sheet and otherwise in form and substance acceptable to the
Required Consenting Creditors.

55. ‘Final Order” means an order, ruling or judgment of the Bankruptcy Court or other court of
competent jurisdiction with respect to the relevant subject matter which has: (a) not been reversed, vacated, stayed,
modified, or amended, as entered on the docket in any Chapter 11 Case or on the docket of any court of competent
jurisdiction, and as to which the time to appeal, petition for certiorari or move for reargument, reconsideration or
rehearing has expired and no appeal, petition for certiorari or motion for reargument, reconsideration or rehearing has
been timely filed or as to which any appeal, petition for certiorari or motion for reargument, reconsideration or
rehearing has been withdrawn; or (b) as to which any appeal, petition for certiorari or motion for reargument,
reconsideration or rehearing that has been or may be filed has been resolved by the highest court to which the order
or judgment was appealed or from which certiorari, reargument, reconsideration or rehearing was sought, which
resulted in no stay pending appeal of such order, or has otherwise been dismissed with prejudice; provided that the
possibility that a motion under Rule 60 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, or any analogous rule under the
Bankruptcy Rules, may be filed with respect to such order and will not preclude such order from being a Final Order.

56. “FTS” means FTS International, Inc.

57. “FTS Common Interests” means existing Interests in FTS.

58. “FTS Services” means FTS International Services, LLC.

59. “Governmental Unit” means a governmental unit as defined in section 101(27) of the Bankruptcy
Code.

60. “Holder” means an Entity holding a Claim against or an Interest in any Debtor, as applicable.

61. “Impaired” means, with respect to a Class of Claims or Interests, a Class of Claims or Interests that is

impaired within the meaning of section 1124 of the Bankruptcy Code.

62. ‘Indemnification Provisions” means each of the Debtors’ indemnification provisions in place
immediately prior to the Effective Date whether in the Debtors’ bylaws, certificates of incorporation, other formation
documents, board resolutions, or contracts for, as applicable, the benefit of the current and former directors, officers,
managers, employees, attorneys, other professionals, and agents of the Debtors and such current and former
directors, officers, and managers’ respective Affiliates.




63. “Insurance Contracts” means all insurance policies, including but not limited to those providing
workers’ compensation coverage and the D&O Liability Insurance Policies, that have been issued (or provide
coverage) at any time to any of the Debtors (or any of their predecessors) and all agreements, documents or
instruments relating thereto.

64. “Insurer” means any company, third party administrator or other entity that issued or entered into an
Insurance Contract and any respective predecessors, successors and/or affiliates of any of the foregoing.

65. “Intercompany Claim” means a Claim held by a Debtor against another Debtor or an Affiliate of a
Debtor or any Claim held by an Affiliate of a Debtor against a Debtor.

66. “Intercompany Interest” means an Interest in any Debtor, or a direct or indirect subsidiary of any
Debtor, other than FTS Common Interests.

67. ‘Interest” means any interest, equity, or share in the Debtors, including all issued, unissued,
authorized, or outstanding shares of capital stock and any other common stock, preferred stock, limited liability
company interests, and any other equity, ownership, or profit interests of an Entity, including all options, warrants,
rights, stock appreciation rights, phantom stock rights, restricted stock units, redemption rights, repurchase rights,
convertible, exercisable, or exchangeable Securities, or other agreements, arrangements, or commitments of any
character relating to, or whose value is related to, any such interest or other ownership interest in an Entity whether
or not certificated, transferable, preferred, common, voting, or denominated “stock™ or a similar security, whether
vested or unvested as of the Effective Date, including any Claim subject to subordination under section 510(b) of the
Bankruptcy Code arising from or related to any of the foregoing.

68. “Interim Cash Collateral Order” means an interim order authorizing the use of cash collateral
consistent with the terms set forth in the Restructuring Term Sheet and otherwise in form and substance acceptable to
the Required Consenting Creditors.

69. “Judicial Code” means title 28 of the United States Code, 28 U.S.C. §§ 1-4001, as amended from
time to time.

70. ‘Law” means any federal, state, local, or foreign law (including common law), statute, code,
ordinance, rule, regulation, order, ruling, or judgment, in each case, that is validly adopted, promulgated, issued, or
entered by a governmental authority of competent jurisdiction (including the Bankruptcy Court).

71. “Lien” means a lien as defined in section 101(37) of the Bankruptcy Code.

72. “Management Incentive Plan” means a post-Effective Date management incentive plan for certain
participating employees of the Reorganized Debtors, to be established and implemented in accordance with Article
IV.P of the Plan and terms of which shall be included in the Plan Supplement and consistent with the Restructuring
Support Agreement.

73. “MIP Pool” means the 10% of New FTS Equity reserved for issuance as part of the Management
Incentive Plan.

74. “New Board” means the board of directors or the board of managers, as applicable, as of the Effective
Date of Reorganized FTS. The identities of directors on the New Board shall be set forth in the Plan Supplement, to
the extent known at the time of filing of the Plan Supplement.




75. “New FTS Equity” means the equity interests in Reorganized FTS issued, distributed, or otherwise
transferred pursuant to the Plan.

76. “New Organizational Documents” means the form of the certificates or articles of incorporation,
bylaws, or such other applicable formation documents of the Reorganized Debtors, as well as the Rights Agreement.

77. “New Revolving Exit Facility” means a third-party asset based exit financing facility, if any, to be
agreed on terms acceptable to the Debtors and the Required Consenting Creditors.

78. “New Revolving Exit Facility Credit Agreement” means the credit agreement governing the New
Revolving Exit Facility, which shall be set forth in the Plan Supplement.

79. ‘Ongoing Business Claim” means any Claim, other than (a) an Administrative Claim, (b) a
Professional Fee Claim, (¢) a Secured Tax Claim, (d) an Other Secured Claim, (¢) an ABL Secured Claim, (f) a
Priority Tax Claim, (g) an Other Priority Claim, (h) a Secured Debt Claim, (i) a Term Loan Deficiency Claim, (j) a
Secured Notes Deficiency Claim, (k) a Termination Claim, or (1) an Intercompany Claim, against one or more of the
Debtors.

80. “Other Priority Claim” means any Claim, other than an Administrative Claim or a Priority Tax Claim,
entitled to priority in right of payment under section 507(a) of the Bankruptcy Code.

81. “Other Secured Claim” means any Secured Claim against the Debtors, including any Secured Tax
Claim, other than a Secured Debt Claim or an ABL Secured Claim.

82. “Other Unsecured Claim” means, collectively, any (a) Term Loan Deficiency Claim, (b) Secured
Notes Deficiency Claim, or (c) Termination Claim.

83. “Person” means a person as defined in section 101(41) of the Bankruptcy Code.
84. “Petition Date” means the date on which each Debtor commences its Chapter 11 Case.
85. “Plan Distribution” means a payment or distribution to Holders of Allowed Claims, Allowed

Interests, or other eligible Entities under the Plan.

86. “Plan Supplement” means the compilation of documents and forms of documents, agreements,
schedules, and exhibits to the Plan (in each case, as may be altered, amended, modified, or supplemented from time
to time in accordance with the terms hereof, the Restructuring Support Agreement, the Bankruptcy Code, and the
Bankruptcy Rules) to be Filed prior to the Confirmation Hearing, and any additional documents Filed prior to the
Effective Date as amendments to the Plan Supplement, including the following, as applicable: (a) the New
Organizational Documents; (b) the Registration Rights Agreement; (c) the identities of the members of the New
Board; (d) the Schedule of Rejected Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases; (e) the Schedule of Retained Causes
of Action; (f) a term sheet for the New Revolving Exit Facility; (g) the Warrants; and (h) the definitive
documentation related to the Management Incentive Plan. The Debtors shall have the right to alter, amend, modify,
or supplement the documents contained in the Plan Supplement up to the Effective Date as set forth in the Plan,
subject to, for the avoidance of doubt, the consent rights set forth in the Restructuring Support Agreement. The Plan
Supplement shall be deemed incorporated into and part of the Plan as if set forth herein in full, provided that in the
event of a conflict between the Plan and the Plan Supplement, the Plan Supplement shall control in accordance with
Article I.G.




87. “Priority Tax Claim” means any Claim of a Governmental Unit of the kind specified in section 507(a)
(8) of the Bankruptcy Code.

88. “Pro Rata” means the proportion that an Allowed Claim or an Allowed Interest in a particular Class
bears to the aggregate amount of Allowed Claims or Allowed Interests in that respective Class or the proportion of
the Allowed Claims or Allowed Interests in a particular Class and other Classes entitled to share in the same recovery
as such Allowed Claim or Allowed Interest under the Plan, unless otherwise indicated.

89. “Professional” means an entity employed pursuant to a Bankruptcy Court order in accordance with
sections 327 or 1103 of the Bankruptcy Code and to be compensated for services rendered before or on the
Confirmation Date, pursuant to sections 327, 328, 329, 330, or 331 of the Bankruptcy Code.

90. “Professional Fee Amount” means the aggregate amount of Professional Fee Claims and other unpaid
fees and expenses that Professionals estimate they have incurred or will incur in rendering services to the Debtors
prior to and as of the Confirmation Date, which estimates Professionals shall deliver to the Debtors as set forth in
Article I1.B.3 of the Plan.

91. ‘Professional Fee Claim” means all Administrative Claims for the compensation of retained
professionals and the reimbursement of expenses incurred by such retained professionals through and including the
Effective Date under sections 328, 330, 331, 503(b)(2), 503(b)(3), 503(b)(4), or 503(b)(5) of the Bankruptcy Code to
the extent such fees and expenses have not been paid pursuant to an order of the Bankruptcy Court.

92. “Professional Fee Escrow Account” means an account funded by the Debtors with Cash on the
Effective Date in an amount equal to the total estimated Professional Fee Amount.

93. “Proof of Claim” means a proof of Claim Filed against any of the Debtors in the Chapter 11 Cases.

94. “Reinstate,” “Reinstated,” or “Reinstatement” means with respect to a Claim or Interest, that the
Claim or Interest shall be rendered Unimpaired in accordance with section 1124 of the Bankruptcy Code.

95. “Registration Rights Agreement” means that certain registration rights agreement of Reorganized
FTS, which agreement shall become effective upon the Effective Date.

96. “Related Party” means, collectively, current and former directors, managers, officers, equity holders
(regardless of whether such interests are held directly or indirectly), affiliated investment funds or investment
vehicles, predecessors, participants, successors, assigns, subsidiaries, affiliates, managed accounts or funds, partners,
limited partners, general partners, principals, members, management companies, fund advisors or managers,
employees, agents (including any Disbursing Agent), advisory board members, financial advisors, attorneys,
accountants, investment bankers, consultants, representatives, heirs, executors, and assigns, and other professionals,
in each case solely in their capacities as such, together with their respective past and present directors, officers,
shareholders, partners, members, employees, agents, attorneys, representatives, heirs, executors and assigns, in each
case solely in their capacities as such.

97. ‘Released Claims” means any Claims or Interests that have been released, satisfied, stayed,
terminated, discharged, or are subject to exculpation pursuant to the Plan.




98. “Released Parties” means, collectively, and in each case in its capacity as such: (a) the Debtors;
(b) the Reorganized Debtors; (¢) the Term Loan Agent, (d) the Secured Notes Trustee; (e) the ABL Agent; (f) the
Consenting Creditors; (g) the ABL Lenders; (h) all Holders of Claims or Interests that vote to accept the Plan; (i) all
Holders of Claims or Interests that are deemed to accept the Plan who do not affirmatively opt out of the releases
provided by the Plan; (j) the current and former Affiliates of each Entity in clause (a) through (g); and (k) all Related
Parties of each Entity in clause (a) through (j); provided that any holder of a Claim or Interest that opts out of the
releases shall not be a “Released Party.”

99. “Releasing Parties” means, collectively, and in each case in its capacity as such: (a) the Debtors;
(b) the Reorganized Debtors; (c) the Term Loan Agent; (d) the Secured Notes Trustee; (e) the ABL Agent; (f) the
Consenting Creditors; (g) the ABL Lenders; (h) all Holders of Claims or Interests that vote to accept the Plan; (i) all
Holders of Claims or Interests that are deemed to accept the Plan who do not affirmatively opt out of the releases
provided by the Plan; (j) all Holders of Claims or Interests that abstain from voting on the Plan and who do not
affirmatively opt out of the releases provided by the Plan; (k) all Holders of Claims or Interests that vote to reject the
Plan or are deemed to reject the Plan and who do not affirmatively opt out of the releases provided by the Plan; (1) all
current and former Affiliates of each Entity in clause (a) through (k); and (m) all Related Parties of each Entity in
clause (a) through (k).

100. “Reorganized Debtors” means the Debtors, as reorganized pursuant to and under the Plan, or any
successor thereto, by merger, amalgamation, consolidation, or otherwise, on the Effective Date.

101. “Reorganized FTS” means FTS, as reorganized pursuant to the Plan, or any successor or assign
thereto, by merger, consolidation, or otherwise, on the Effective Date.

102.  “Required Consenting Creditors” means, as of the relevant date, Consenting Creditors holding at least
50.01% of the aggregate outstanding principal amount of Debt Claims that are held by Consenting Creditors;
provided that, to the extent a Consenting Creditor (together with its affiliates, affiliated funds or affiliated entities
with a common investment advisor) holds more than $80 million in aggregate principal amount of Debt Claims, such
Debt Claims in excess of $80 million shall not be counted for the purposes of any consent, amendment, waiver,
extension, termination or other rights afforded to the “Required Consenting Creditors” under this Agreement or in
respect of any of the Definitive Documents and shall be excluded from the numerator and denominator when
calculating the “Required Consenting Creditors.”

103.  “Required Consenting Noteholders” means, as of the relevant date, Consenting Noteholders holding at
least 50.01% of the aggregate outstanding principal amount of Secured Notes that are held by Consenting
Noteholders; provided that, to the extent a Consenting Noteholder (together with its affiliates, affiliated funds or
affiliated entities with a common investment advisor) holds more than $80 million in aggregate principal amount of
Secured Notes, such Secured Notes in excess of $80 million shall not be counted for the purposes of any consent,
amendment, waiver, extension, termination or other rights afforded to the “Required Consenting Noteholders” under
this Agreement or in respect of any of the Definitive Documents and shall be excluded from the numerator and
denominator when calculating the “Required Consenting Noteholders.”

104. “Required Consenting Term Loan Lenders” means, as of the relevant date, Consenting Term Loan
Lenders holding at least 50.01% of the aggregate outstanding principal amount of Term Loans that are held by
Consenting Term Loan Lenders.

105.  “Restructuring Expenses” means the reasonable and documented costs and expenses incurred by or on
behalf of the Consenting Creditors, including the fees and expenses of the Ad Hoc Group
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of Secured Noteholders Advisors, the Secured Notes Trustee, the Ad Hoc Group of Term Loan Lenders Advisors,
and the Term Loan Agent.

106. “Restructuring Support Agreement” means that certain Second Amended & Restated Restructuring
Support Agreement, dated as of August 22, 2020, by and among the Debtors, the Consenting Creditors, and any
subsequent Entity that becomes party thereto, including all exhibits, schedules and other attachments thereto, as such
agreement may be amended, modified, or supplemented from time to time, solely in accordance with its terms.

107. ‘Restructuring Term Sheef” means the Restructuring Term Sheet attached as Exhibit A to the
Restructuring Support Agreement.

108. ‘Restructuring Transactions” means the mergers, amalgamations, consolidations, arrangements,
continuances, restructurings, transfers, conversions, dispositions, liquidations, dissolutions, or other corporate
transactions described in, approved by, contemplated by, or undertaken to implement the Plan.

109.  “Rights Agreement” means that certain rights agreement of Reorganized FTS, which agreement shall
become effective upon the Effective Date.

110.  “Rules” means Rule 501(a)(1), (2), (3), and (7) of the Securities Act.

111.  “Schedule of Rejected Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases” means the schedule (including any
amendments, supplements, or modifications thereto) of Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases to be rejected by
the Debtors pursuant to the Plan, which schedule shall be included in the Plan Supplement.

112.  “Schedule of Retained Causes of Action” means the schedule of Causes of Action that shall vest in the
Reorganized Debtors on the Effective Date, which, for the avoidance of doubt, shall not include any of the Causes of
Action that are settled, released, or exculpated under the Plan.

113.  “Secured” means when referring to a Claim: (a) secured by a lien on property in which any of the
Debtors has an interest, which lien is valid, perfected, and enforceable pursuant to applicable law or by reason of a
Bankruptcy Court order, or that is subject to setoff pursuant to section 553 of the Bankruptcy Code, to the extent of
the value of the creditor’s interest in the Debtors’ interest in such property or to the extent of the amount subject to
setoff, as applicable, as determined pursuant to section 506(a) of the Bankruptcy Code; or (b) Allowed pursuant to
the Plan, or separate order of the Bankruptcy Court, as a secured claim.

114.  “Secured Debt Claim” means, collectively, (a) a Term Loan Secured Claim and (b) a Secured Notes
Secured Claim.

115.  “Secured Noteholder” means any Holder of a Secured Notes Claim.

116.  “Secured Notes” means those certain 6.25% senior secured notes, due May 1, 2022, issued by FTS,
with U.S. Bank National Association as Agent and Trustee.

117.  “Secured Notes Claim” means any Claim against a Debtor arising under, derived from, secured by,
based on, or related to the Secured Notes Indenture or any other agreement, instrument or document executed at any
time in connection therewith and any guaranty thereof.
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118. “Secured Notes Deficiency Claim” means any Secured Notes Claim, or portion thereof, that is not
Secured.

119.  “Secured Notes Indenture” means that certain instrument, dated as of April 16, 2014, between FTS,
certain guarantors, and the Secured Notes Trustee, as amended, restated, amended and restated, modified, or
supplemented from time to time.

120.  “Secured Notes Secured Claim” means any Secured Notes Claim, or portion thereof, that is Secured.

121.  “Secured Notes Trustee” means U.S. Bank National Association, as collateral agent and trustee under
the Secured Notes Indenture.

122. “Secured Tax Claim” means any Secured Claim that, absent its secured status, would be entitled to
priority in right of payment under section 507(a)(8) of the Bankruptcy Code (determined irrespective of time
limitations), including any related Secured Claim for penalties.

123.  “Securities Act” means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, 15 U.S.C. §§ 77a—77aa, together with
the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, as amended from time to time, or any similar federal, state, or local
law.

124.  “Security” shall have the meaning set forth in section 101(49) of the Bankruptcy Code.

125. “Solicitation Agent” means Epiq Corporate Restructuring, LLC, the notice, claims, and solicitation
agent, retained by the Debtors in the Chapter 11 Cases by Bankruptcy Court order.

126.  “Solicitation Materials” means, collectively, the solicitation materials with respect to the Plan.

127. “Specified Agreements” means such agreements as the Debtors and Consenting Noteholders agree
(which agreement may be evidenced by email between counsel to the Debtors and counsel to the Ad Hoc Group of
Secured Noteholders), but which, for the avoidance of doubt, shall not include contracts with Covia Holdings

Corporation.

128. “Term Loan Agent” means Wilmington Savings Fund Society, FSB, as successor to Wells Fargo
Bank, National Association, as administrative agent under the Term Loan Agreement.

129.  “Term Loan Agreement” means that certain credit agreement, dated as of April 16, 2014, among FTS,
the lenders party thereto, and the Term Loan Agent, as amended, restated, amended and restated, modified, or
supplemented from time to time.

130.  “Term Loan Claim” means any Claim against a Debtor arising under, derived from, secured by, based
on, or related to the Term Loan Agreement or any other agreement, instrument or document executed at any time in
connection therewith and any guaranty thereof.

131.  “Term Loan Deficiency Claim” means any Term Loan Claim, or portion thereof, that is not Secured.

132.  “Term Loan Lender” means any lender party to the Term Loan Agreement.
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133.  “Term Loan Secured Claim” means any Term Loan Claim, or portion thereof, that is Secured.

134. “Termination Claim” means any Claim on account of the termination or rejection of a Specified
Agreement.
135. “Trustee” means any indenture trustee, collateral trustee, or other trustee or similar entity under the

Secured Notes.

136.  “Unclaimed Distribution” means any distribution under the Plan on account of an Allowed Claim or
an Allowed Interest to a Holder that has not: (a) accepted a particular distribution or, in the case of distributions
made by check, negotiated such check; (b) given notice to the Reorganized Debtors of an intent to accept a particular
distribution; (c) responded to the Debtors’ or the Reorganized Debtors’ requests for information necessary to
facilitate a particular distribution; or (d) timely taken any other action necessary to facilitate such distribution.

137. “Unencumbered Asset Value” means the value of the Debtors’ assets that are unencumbered by Liens
as of the Petition Date, which, (i) with respect to FTS International Services, LLC, shall be an amount equal to $25.2
million and (ii) with respect to FTS International Manufacturing, LLC, shall be an amount equal to $80.8 million.

138.  “Unencumbered Plan Recovery” means a percentage of such New FTS Equity, subject to dilution on
account of the Management Incentive Plan and the Warrants, that is distributed on account of Allowed Other
Unsecured Claims equal to the value of any Unencumbered Asset Value minus Administrative Claims against the
applicable Debtor, including, for the avoidance of doubt, any adequate protection claims.

139.  “Unexpired Lease” means a lease of nonresidential real property to which one or more of the Debtors
is a party that is subject to assumption or rejection under section 365 of the Bankruptcy Code.

140.  “Unimpaired” means with respect to a Class of Claims or Interests, a Class of Claims or Interests that
is not impaired within the meaning of section 1124 of the Bankruptcy Code.

141. “Warrants” means the warrants issued pursuant to the Plan, the terms of which shall be set forth in the
Plan Supplement and consistent with the Restructuring Support Agreement.

142.  “Wells Cash Collateral” has the meaning ascribed to such term in the Cash Collateral Orders, plus
such additional amount of cash collateral sufficient to satisfy the ABL Secured Claims as of the Effective Date.

B. Rules of Interpretation.

For purposes of the Plan: (1) in the appropriate context, each term, whether stated in the singular or the plural,
shall include both the singular and the plural, and pronouns stated in the masculine, feminine, or neuter gender shall
include the masculine, feminine, and the neuter gender; (2) unless otherwise specified, any reference herein to a
contract, lease, instrument, release, indenture, or other agreement or document being in a particular form or on
particular terms and conditions means that the referenced document shall be substantially in such form or
substantially on such terms and conditions; (3) unless otherwise specified, any reference herein to an existing
document, schedule, or exhibit, whether or not Filed, having been Filed or to be Filed shall mean that document,
schedule, or exhibit, as it may thereafter be amended, modified, or supplemented in accordance with the Plan or
Confirmation Order, as applicable;
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(4) any reference to an Entity as a Holder of a Claim or Interest includes that Entity’s successors and assigns;
(5) unless otherwise specified, all references herein to “Articles” are references to Articles of the Plan; (6) unless
otherwise specified, all references herein to exhibits are references to exhibits in the Plan Supplement; (7) unless
otherwise specified, the words “herein,” “hereof,” and “hereto” refer to the Plan in its entirety rather than to a
particular portion of the Plan; (8) subject to the provisions of any contract, charters, bylaws, partnership agreements,
limited liability company agreements, operating agreements, or other organizational documents or shareholders’
agreements, as applicable, instrument, release, or other agreement or document entered into in connection with the
Plan, the rights and obligations arising pursuant to the Plan shall be governed by, and construed and enforced in
accordance with the applicable federal law, including the Bankruptcy Code and Bankruptcy Rules; (9) any
immaterial effectuating provisions may be interpreted by the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors in such a manner
that is consistent with the overall purpose and intent of the Plan all without further notice to or action, order, or
approval of the Bankruptcy Court or any other Entity, but subject to the terms of the Restructuring Support
Agreement; (10) unless otherwise specified herein, the rules of construction set forth in section 102 of the
Bankruptcy Code shall apply; (11) any term used in capitalized form herein that is not otherwise defined but that is
used in the Bankruptcy Code or the Bankruptcy Rules shall have the meaning assigned to that term in the Bankruptcy
Code or the Bankruptcy Rules, as the case may be; (12) all references to docket numbers of documents Filed in the
Chapter 11 Cases are references to the docket numbers under the Bankruptcy Court’s CM/ECF system; (13) all
references to statutes, regulations, orders, rules of courts, and the like shall mean as amended from time to time, and
as applicable to the Chapter 11 Cases, unless otherwise stated; (14) references to “Proofs of Claim,” “Holders of
Claims,” “Disputed Claims,” and the like shall include “Proofs of Interest,” “Holders of Interests,” “Disputed
Interests,” and the like, as applicable; (15) captions and headings are inserted for convenience of reference only and
are not intended to be a part of or to affect the interpretation of the Plan; (16) references to “shareholders,”
“directors,” and/or “officers” shall also include “members” and/or “managers,” as applicable, as such terms are
defined under the applicable state limited liability company laws; and (17) all references herein to consent,
acceptance, or approval may be conveyed by counsel for the respective Person or Entity that have such consent,
acceptance, or approval rights, including by electronic mail.

C. Computation of Time.

Unless otherwise specifically stated herein, the provisions of Bankruptcy Rule 9006(a) shall apply in computing
any period of time prescribed or allowed herein. If the date on which a transaction may occur pursuant to the Plan
shall occur on a day that is not a Business Day, then such transaction shall instead occur on the next succeeding
Business Day. Any action to be taken on the Effective Date may be taken on or as soon as reasonably practicable
after the Effective Date.

D. Governing Law.

Except to the extent a rule of law or procedure is supplied by federal law (including the Bankruptcy Code or
Bankruptcy Rules), and subject to the provisions of any contract, lease, instrument, release, indenture, or other
agreement or document entered into expressly in connection herewith, the rights and obligations arising hereunder
shall be governed by, and construed and enforced in accordance with, the laws of the State of New York without
giving effect to conflict of laws principles; provided that corporate or limited liability company governance matters
relating to the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, not incorporated in New York shall be governed by
the laws of the state of incorporation or formation of the relevant Debtor or Reorganized Debtor, as applicable.
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E. Reference to Monetary Figures.

All references in the Plan to monetary figures shall refer to currency of the United States of America, unless
otherwise expressly provided herein.

F. Reference to the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors.

Except as otherwise specifically provided in the Plan to the contrary, references in the Plan to the Debtors or to
the Reorganized Debtors shall mean the Debtors and the Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, to the extent the context
requires.

G. Controlling Document.

In the event of an inconsistency between the Plan and the Disclosure Statement, the terms of the Plan shall
control in all respects. In the event of an inconsistency between the Plan and the Plan Supplement, including the
schedules or exhibits, the terms of the relevant provision in the Plan Supplement shall control (unless stated
otherwise in such Plan Supplement document or in the Confirmation Order). In the event of an inconsistency
between the Plan or any Definitive Documents or other documents, schedules or exhibits contained in the Plan
Supplement, on the one hand, and the Confirmation Order, on the other hand, the Confirmation Order shall control.

H. Consultation, Information, Notice, and Consent Rights.

Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, any and all consultation, information, notice, and consent rights
of the parties to the Restructuring Support Agreement set forth in the Restructuring Support Agreement (including
the Consenting Creditors’ consent rights), with respect to the form and substance of the Plan, all exhibits to the Plan,
the Plan Supplement, and all other Definitive Documents, including any amendments, restatements, supplements, or
other modifications to such agreements and documents, and any consents, waivers, or other deviations under or from
any such documents, shall be incorporated herein by this reference (including to the applicable definitions in
Article_I.A of the Plan) and fully enforceable as if stated in full herein.

Failure to reference the rights referred to in the immediately preceding paragraph as such rights relate to any
document referenced in the Restructuring Support Agreement shall not impair such rights and obligations.

ARTICLE II.
ADMINISTRATIVE CLAIMS,
PRIORITY CLAIMS, AND RESTRUCTURING EXPENSES

In accordance with section 1123(a)(1) of the Bankruptcy Code, Administrative Claims, Professional Fee Claims,
and Priority Tax Claims have not been classified and, thus, are excluded from the Classes of Claims and Interests set
forth in Article III of the Plan.

A. Administrative Claims.

Except with respect to the Professional Fee Claims and Claims for fees and expenses pursuant to section 1930 of
chapter 123 of title 28 of the United States Code, and except to the extent that a Holder of an Allowed
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Administrative Claim and the Debtors against which such Allowed Administrative Claim is asserted agree to less
favorable treatment for such Holder, or such Holder has been paid by any Debtor on account of such Allowed
Administrative Claim prior to the Effective Date, each Holder of such an Allowed Administrative Claim will receive
in full and final satisfaction, settlement, release and discharge of its Allowed Administrative Claim an amount of
Cash equal to the amount of such Allowed Administrative Claim in accordance with the following: (1) if an
Administrative Claim is Allowed on or prior to the Effective Date, on the Effective Date or as soon as reasonably
practicable thereafter (or, if not then due, when such Allowed Administrative Claim is due or as soon as reasonably
practicable thereafter); (2) if such Administrative Claim is not Allowed as of the Effective Date, no later than thirty
days after the date on which an order allowing such Administrative Claim becomes a Final Order, or as soon as
reasonably practicable thereafter; (3) if such Allowed Administrative Claim is based on liabilities incurred by the
Debtors in the ordinary course of their business after the Petition Date, in accordance with the terms and conditions
of the particular transaction giving rise to such Allowed Administrative Claim without any further action by the
Holder of such Allowed Administrative Claim; (4) at such time and upon such terms as may be agreed upon by such
Holder and the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, as applicable; or (5) at such time and upon such terms as set
forth in a Final Order of the Bankruptcy Court.

B. Professional Fee Claims.

1. Final Fee Applications and Payment of Professional Fee Claims.

All final requests for payment of Professional Fee Claims for services rendered and reimbursement of expenses
incurred prior to the Effective Date must be Filed no later than thirty days after the Effective Date. After notice and a
hearing in accordance with the procedures established by the Bankruptcy Code and prior Bankruptcy Court orders,
the Allowed amounts of such Professional Fee Claims shall be determined by the Bankruptcy Court.
The Reorganized Debtors shall pay Professional Fee Claims in Cash in the amount the Bankruptcy Court Allows,
including from the Professional Fee Escrow Account, as soon as reasonably practicable after such Professional Fee
Claims are Allowed. To the extent that funds held in the Professional Fee Escrow Account are insufficient to satisfy
the amount of Professional Fee Claims owing to the Professionals, such Professionals shall have an Allowed
Administrative Claim for any such deficiency, which shall be satisfied in accordance with Article II.A of the Plan.

2. Professional Fee Escrow Account.

No later than the Effective Date, the Debtors shall establish and fund the Professional Fee Escrow Account with
Cash equal to the Professional Fee Amount. The Professional Fee Escrow Account shall be maintained in trust
solely for the Professionals until all Professional Fee Claims Allowed by the Bankruptcy Court have been
irrevocably paid in full pursuant to one or more Final Orders. Such funds shall not be considered property of the
Debtors’ Estates. The amount of Allowed Professional Fee Claims shall be paid in Cash to the Professionals by the
Reorganized Debtors from the Professional Fee Escrow Account as soon as reasonably practicable after such
Professional Fee Claims are Allowed by a Final Order. When all such Allowed Professional Fee Claims have been
paid in full, any remaining amount in the Professional Fee Escrow Account shall promptly be transferred to the
Reorganized Debtors without any further notice to or action, order, or approval of the Bankruptcy Court.

3. Professional Fee Amount.

Professionals shall reasonably estimate their unpaid Professional Fee Claims and other unpaid fees and expenses
incurred in rendering services to the Debtors before and as of the Effective Date, and shall deliver such estimate to
the Debtors no later than five days before the Effective Date; provided that such estimate shall not be deemed to limit
the amount of the fees and expenses that are the subject of each Professional’s final request for payment in the
Chapter 11 Cases. If a Professional does not provide an estimate, the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors may
estimate the unpaid and unbilled fees and expenses of such Professional.
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4. Post-Confirmation Fees and Expenses.

Except as otherwise specifically provided in the Plan, from and after the Confirmation Date, the Debtors will, in
the ordinary course of business and without any further notice to or action, order, or approval of the Bankruptcy
Court, pay in Cash the reasonable and documented legal, professional, or other fees and expenses incurred by the
Debtors. Upon the Confirmation Date, any requirement that Professionals comply with sections 327 through 331 and
1103 of the Bankruptcy Code in seeking retention or compensation for services rendered after such date shall
terminate, and each Debtor or the Reorganized Debtors (as applicable) may employ and pay any Professional in the
ordinary course of business without any further notice to or action, order, or approval of the Bankruptcy Court.

C. Priority Tax Claims.

Except to the extent that a Holder of an Allowed Priority Tax Claim agrees to a less favorable treatment, in full
and final satisfaction, settlement, release, and discharge of, and in exchange for, each Allowed Priority Tax Claim,
each Holder of such Allowed Priority Tax Claim shall be treated in accordance with the terms set forth in
section 1129(a)(9)(C) of the Bankruptcy Code.

D. Payment of Statutory Fees.

All monthly and quarterly reports shall be filed in a form reasonably acceptable to the U.S. Trustee, and all fees
due and payable pursuant to section 1930(a) of the Judicial Code, as determined by the Bankruptcy Court at a
hearing pursuant to section 1128 of the Bankruptcy Code, shall be paid by each of the Reorganized Debtors (or the
Disbursing Agent on behalf of each of the Reorganized Debtors) for each quarter (including any fraction thereof)
until the earlier of entry of a final decree closing such Chapter 11 Cases or an order of dismissal or conversion,
whichever occurs first.

E. Restructuring Expenses.

The Restructuring Expenses incurred, or estimated to be incurred, up to and including the Effective Date shall be
paid in full in Cash on the Effective Date (to the extent not previously paid prior to or during the course of the
Chapter 11 Cases in accordance with the terms of the Restructuring Support Agreement) without the requirement to
file a fee application with the Bankruptcy Court and without any requirement for review or approval by the
Bankruptcy Court or any other party. All Restructuring Expenses to be paid on the Effective Date shall be estimated
prior to and as of the Effective Date and such estimates shall be delivered to the Debtors at least two Business Days
before the anticipated Effective Date. In addition, the Debtors and Reorganized Debtors (as applicable) shall
continue to pay Restructuring Expenses related to implementation, consummation, and defense of the Plan after the
Effective Date when due and payable in the ordinary course, whether incurred before, on, or after the Effective Date.

ARTICLE IIL
CLASSIFICATION, TREATMENT, AND VOTING OF CLAIMS AND INTERESTS

A. Classification of Claims and Interests.

The Plan constitutes a separate Plan for each of the Debtors within the meaning of section 1121 of the
Bankruptcy Code. Except for the Claims addressed in Article 11 of the Plan, all Claims and Interests are classified in
the Classes set forth below in accordance with section 1122 of the Bankruptcy Code. In accordance with section
1123(a)(1) of the Bankruptcy Code, the Debtors have not classified Administrative Claims, and Priority Tax Claims,
as described in Article II.
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A Claim or an Interest, or any portion thereof, is classified in a particular Class only to the extent that any portion
of such Claim or Interest qualifies within the description of that Class and is classified in other Classes to the extent
that any portion of the Claim or Interest qualifies within the description of such other Classes. A Claim or an Interest
also is classified in a particular Class for the purpose of receiving distributions under the Plan only to the extent that
such Claim or Interest is an Allowed Claim or Allowed Interest in that Class and has not been paid, released, or
otherwise satisfied or disallowed by Final Order prior to the Effective Date. For all purposes under the Plan, each
Class will contain sub-Classes for each of the Debtors; provided that any Class that does not contain any Allowed
Claims or Allowed Interests with respect to a particular Debtor will be treated in accordance with Article 111.D
below.

Below is a chart assigning each Class a number for purposes of identifying each separate Class:

Summary of Classification and Treatment of Claims and Interests

Class Claims and Interests Status Voting Rights
Class 1A Other Secured Claims Unimpaired Not Entitled to Vote
(Presumed to Accept)
Class 1B ABL Secured Claims Unimpaired Not Entitled to Vote
(Presumed to Accept)
Class 2 Other Priority Claims Unimpaired Not Entitled to Vote
(Presumed to Accept)
Class 3 Secured Debt Claims Impaired Entitled to Vote
Class 4 Other Unsecured Claims Impaired Entitled to Vote
Class 5 Ongoing Business Claims Unimpaired Not Entitled to Vote
(Presumed to Accept)
Class 6 Intercompany Claims Unimpaired / | Not Entitled to Vote
Impaired (Presumed to Accept or Deemed to Reject)
Class 7 Intercompany Interests Unimpaired / | Not Entitled to Vote
Impaired (Presumed to Accept or Deemed to Reject)
Class 8 FTS Common Interests Impaired Entitled to Vote
B. Treatment of Classes of Claims and Interests.

Each Holder of an Allowed Claim or Allowed Interest, as applicable, shall receive under the Plan the treatment
described below in full and final satisfaction, settlement, release, and discharge of and in exchange for such Holder’s
Allowed Claim or Allowed Interest, as applicable, except to the extent different treatment is agreed to in writing by
the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, and the Holder of such Allowed Claim or Allowed Interest, as
applicable. Unless otherwise indicated, the Holder of an Allowed Claim or
Allowed Interest, as applicable, shall receive such treatment on the Effective Date (or, if payment is not then due, in
accordance with such Claim’s or Interest’s terms in the ordinary course of business) or as soon as reasonably
practicable thereafter.
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1. Class 1A — Other Secured Claims.

a.

b.

Classification: Class 1A consists of all Allowed Other Secured Claims.

Treatment: Except to the extent that a Holder of an Allowed Other Secured Claim agrees to
less favorable treatment, on the Effective Date, or as soon as reasonably practicable thereafter,
in full and final satisfaction, compromise, settlement, release, and discharge of and in
exchange for such Allowed Other Secured Claim, each Holder thereof shall receive, at the
option of the applicable Debtor(s), or Reorganized Debtor(s), as applicable: (i) payment in full
in cash; (ii) the collateral securing its Allowed Other Secured Claim; (iii) Reinstatement of its
Allowed Other Secured Claim; or (iv) such other treatment rendering its Allowed Other
Secured Claim Unimpaired in accordance with section 1124 of the Bankruptcy Code.

Voting: Class 1A is Unimpaired. Holders of Allowed Other Secured Claims are conclusively
presumed to have accepted the Plan pursuant to section 1126(f) of the Bankruptcy Code.
Therefore, Holders of Allowed Other Secured Claims are not entitled to vote to accept or
reject the Plan.

2. Class 1B — ABL Secured Claims.

a.

b.

Classification: Class 1B consists of all Allowed ABL Secured Claims.

Allowance: There are no Revolving Loans (as defined in the ABL Credit Agreement)
outstanding as of the Petition Date and all commitments to provide Revolving Loans or other
financial accommodations under the ABL Credit Agreement and related loan documents have
been terminated as of the Petition Date, except as may otherwise be agreed by the provider of
designated bank products. The ABL Secured Claims are comprised of, and deemed Allowed
in an amount equal to, not less than: (i) $4,189,903.20 in respect of fully cash collateralized
outstanding letters of credit pursuant to the ABL Credit Agreement; (i) $3,605,000.00 in
respect of certain fully cash collateralized bank products provided to the Debtors by Wells
Fargo Bank, National Association, pursuant to the ABL Credit Agreement and applicable bank
product agreements and related documents; and (iii) all fees, including any unused line fee or
collateral monitoring fee, and all expenses required to be paid to the ABL Agent or ABL
Lenders under the ABL Credit Agreement as of the Effective Date.

Treatment: Except to the extent that a Holder of an Allowed ABL Secured Claim agrees to
less favorable treatment, on the Effective Date, in full and final satisfaction, compromise,
settlement, release, and discharge of and in exchange for each Allowed ABL Secured Claim,
the ABL Agent shall retain: (i) a first priority security interest and right of setoff in the Wells
Cash Collateral, in one or more non-interest bearing accounts at Wells Fargo Bank, as
designated by the Debtors or Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, and the ABL Agent, in order
to satisfy the ABL Secured Claims as and when the ABL Secured Claims become due and
payable (provided that, prior to the Effective Date, at the ABL Agent's election, the Debtors
shall use commercially reasonable efforts to cause the cash collateral for letters of credit to be
held in a separate bank account from the cash collateral for bank products) and (ii) any
security interest granted to the ABL Agent in the Wells Cash Collateral pursuant to the Cash
Collateral Orders and this Plan until the ABL Secured Claims have been satisfied; provided,
that if any Wells Cash Collateral remains after all Allowed ABL Secured Claims are satisfied,
the ABL Agent shall promptly return the remaining Wells Cash Collateral to the Reorganized
Debtors.
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d. Voting: Class 1B is Unimpaired. Holders of Allowed ABL Secured Claims are conclusively
presumed to have accepted the Plan pursuant to section 1126(f) of the Bankruptcy Code.
Therefore, Holders of ABL Secured Claims are not entitled to vote to accept or reject the
Plan.

Class 2 — Other Priority Claims.

a. Classification: Class 2 consists of all Allowed Other Priority Claims.

b. Treatment: Except to the extent that a Holder of an Allowed Other Priority Claim agrees to
less favorable treatment, on the Effective Date, or as soon as reasonably practicable thereafter,
in full and final satisfaction, compromise, settlement, release, and discharge of and in
exchange for such Allowed Other Priority Claim, each Holder thereof shall receive payment in
full in cash or such other treatment rendering its Allowed Other Priority Claim Unimpaired in
accordance with section 1124 of the Bankruptcy Code.

c. Voting: Class 2 is Unimpaired. Holders of Allowed Other Priority Claims are conclusively
presumed to have accepted the Plan pursuant to section 1126(f) of the Bankruptcy Code.
Therefore, Holders of Allowed Other Priority Claims are not entitled to vote to accept or
reject the Plan.

Class 3 — Secured Debt Claims.
a. Classification: Class 3 consists of all Allowed Secured Debt Claims.

b. Allowance: The Term Loan Secured Claims shall be deemed Allowed in an amount equal to
approximately $29.2 million. The Secured Notes Secured Claims shall be deemed Allowed in
an amount equal to approximately $163.8 million.

c. Treatment: Except to the extent that a Holder of an Allowed Secured Debt Claim agrees to
less favorable treatment, on the Effective Date, in full and final satisfaction, compromise,
settlement, release, and discharge of and in exchange for each Allowed Secured Debt Claim,
each Holder thereof shall receive its Pro Rata share of and interest in (i) the Cash
Consideration and (ii) 90.1% of the New FTS Equity, subject to dilution on account of the
Management Incentive Plan and the Warrants, minus the Class 4 Recovery Deduction.

d. Voting: Class 3 is Impaired. Therefore, Holders of Allowed Secured Debt Claims are entitled
to vote to accept or reject the Plan.

Class 4 — Other Unsecured Claims.

a. Classification: Class 4 consists of all Allowed Other Unsecured Claims.
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b.

Allowance: The Term Loan Deficiency Claims shall be Allowed in an amount equal to
approximately $38.4 million. The Secured Notes Deficiency Claims shall be Allowed in an
amount equal to approximately $215.3 million.

Treatment: Except to the extent that a Holder of an Allowed Other Unsecured Claim agrees to

less favorable treatment, on the Effective Date, in full and final satisfaction, compromise,
settlement, release, and discharge of and in exchange for each Allowed Other Unsecured
Claim, each Holder thereof shall receive, as applicable, its Pro Rata share of and interest in the
Unencumbered Plan Recovery, at the applicable Debtor.

Voting: Class 4 is Impaired. Therefore, Holders of Allowed Other Unsecured Claims are
entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan.

6. Class 5 — Ongoing Business Claims.

a.

b.

Classification: Class 5 consists of all Allowed Ongoing Business Claims.

Treatment. Except to the extent that a Holder of an Allowed Ongoing Business Claim agrees

to less favorable treatment, on the Effective Date, in full and final satisfaction, compromise,
settlement, release, and discharge of and in exchange for each Allowed Ongoing Business
Claim, each Holder thereof shall receive, at the election of the Debtors or the Reorganized
Debtors, as applicable, either: (i) Reinstatement of such Allowed Ongoing Business Claim
pursuant to section 1124 of the Bankruptcy Code; (ii) payment in full in cash on the later of
(A) the Effective Date or as soon as reasonably practicable thereafter, or (B) the date such
payment is due in the ordinary course of business in accordance with the terms and conditions
of the particular transaction giving rise to such Allowed Ongoing Business Claim; or (iii) such
other treatment rendering such Allowed Ongoing Business Claim Unimpaired.

Voting: Class 5 is Unimpaired. Holders of Allowed Ongoing Business Claims are
conclusively presumed to have accepted the Plan pursuant to section 1126(f) of the
Bankruptcy Code. Therefore, Holders of Allowed Ongoing Business Claims are not entitled
to vote to accept or reject the Plan.

7. Class 6 — Intercompany Claims.

a.

b.

Classification: Class 6 consists of all Intercompany Claims.

Treatment: On the Effective Date, Intercompany Claims shall be, at the option of the
applicable Reorganized Debtor, either Reinstated or cancelled and released without any
distribution.

Voting: Class 6 is Unimpaired, and Holders of Intercompany Claims are conclusively
presumed to have accepted the Plan pursuant to section 1126(f) of the Bankruptcy Code if
Intercompany Claims are Reinstated, or Impaired, and Holders of Intercompany Claims are
conclusively presumed to have rejected the Plan pursuant to section 1126(g) of the Code if
Intercompany Claims are cancelled.
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8. Class 7 — Intercompany Interests.

a. Classification: Class 7 consists of all Intercompany Interests.

b. Treatment: On the Effective Date, Intercompany Interests shall be, at the option of the
applicable Reorganized Debtor, either Reinstated or cancelled and released without any
distribution.

c. Voting: Class 7 is Unimpaired, and Holders of Intercompany Interests are conclusively

presumed to have accepted the Plan pursuant to section 1126(f) of the Bankruptcy Code if
Intercompany Interests are Reinstated, or Impaired, and Holders of Intercompany Claims are
conclusively presumed to have rejected the Plan pursuant to section 1126(g) of the Code if
Intercompany Interests are cancelled.

9. Class 8 — FTS Common Interests.
a. Classification: Class 8 consists of all FT'S Common Interests.
b. Treatment: On the Effective Date, in full and final satisfaction, compromise, settlement,

release, and discharge of and in exchange for each FTS Common Interest, each Holder thereof
shall receive its Pro Rata share of and interest in (i) 9.4% of the New FTS Equity, subject to
dilution on account of the Management Incentive Plan and the Warrants, minus the Class 4
Recovery Deduction and (ii) the Warrants.

c. Voting: Class 8 is Impaired. Therefore, Holders of FTS Common Interests are entitled to
vote to accept or reject the Plan.

C. Special Provision Governing Unimpaired Claims.

Except as otherwise provided in the Plan, nothing under the Plan shall affect the Debtors’ or the Reorganized
Debtors’ rights regarding any Unimpaired Claim, including, all rights regarding legal and equitable defenses to or
setoffs or recoupments against any such Unimpaired Claim. Unless otherwise Allowed, Claims that are Unimpaired
shall remain Disputed Claims under the Plan.

D. Elimination of Vacant Classes.

Any Class of Claims or Interests that does not have a Holder of an Allowed Claim or Allowed Interest or a Claim
or Interest temporarily Allowed by the Bankruptcy Court as of the date of the Confirmation Hearing shall be
considered vacant and deemed eliminated from the Plan for purposes of voting to accept or reject the Plan and for
purposes of determining acceptance or rejection of the Plan by such Class pursuant to section 1129(a)(8) of the
Bankruptcy Code.

E. Voting Classes, Presumed Acceptance by Non-Voting Classes.
If a Class contains Claims or Interests eligible to vote on the Plan and no Holder of Claims or Interests eligible to

vote in such Class votes to accept or reject the Plan, the Plan shall be deemed to be accepted by the Holders of such
Claims or Interests in such Class.
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F. Intercompany Interests.

To the extent Reinstated under the Plan, distributions on account of Intercompany Interests are not being received
by Holders of such Intercompany Interests on account of their Intercompany Interests but for the purposes of
administrative convenience and due to the importance of maintaining the prepetition corporate structure for the
ultimate benefit of the holders of New FTS Equity, and in exchange for the Debtors’ and Reorganized Debtors’
agreement under the Plan to make certain distributions to the Holders of Allowed Claims. For the avoidance of
doubt, to the extent Reinstated pursuant to the Plan, on and after the Effective Date, all Intercompany Interests shall
be owned by the same Reorganized Debtor that corresponds with the Debtor that owned such Intercompany Interests
immediately prior to the Effective Date.

G. Confirmation Pursuant to Sections 1129(a)(10) and 1129(b) of the Bankruptcy Code.

Section 1129(a)(10) of the Bankruptcy Code shall be satisfied for purposes of Confirmation by acceptance of the
Plan by at least one Impaired Class of Claims. The Debtors shall seek Confirmation of the Plan pursuant to
section 1129(b) of the Bankruptcy Code with respect to any rejecting Class of Claims or Interests. The Debtors
reserve the right, to the extent permitted or required by the Bankruptcy Code and subject to the approval of the
Required Consenting Creditors, to modify the Plan in accordance with Article X of the Plan and the Restructuring
Support Agreement to the extent that Confirmation pursuant to section 1129(b) of the Bankruptcy Code requires
modification, including by (a) modifying the treatment applicable to a Class of Claims or Interests to render such
Class of Claims or Interests Unimpaired to the extent permitted by the Bankruptcy Code and the Bankruptcy Rules or
(b) withdrawing the Plan as to an individual Debtor at any time before the Confirmation Date, in each case with the
consent of the Required Consenting Creditors. For the avoidance of doubt, notwithstanding any of the foregoing, the
Plan shall enforce all rights and subordination arising under any intercreditor agreements in accordance with section
510(a) of the Bankruptcy Code.

H. Controversy Concerning Impairment.

If a controversy arises as to whether any Claims or Interests, or any Class of Claims or Interests, are Impaired,
the Bankruptcy Court shall, after notice and a hearing, determine such controversy on or before the Confirmation
Date.

I Subordinated Claims and Interests.

The allowance, classification, and treatment of all Allowed Claims and Allowed Interests and the respective
distributions and treatments under the Plan take into account and conform to the relative priority and rights of the
Claims and Interests in each Class in connection with any contractual, legal, and equitable subordination rights
relating thereto, whether arising under general principles of equitable subordination, section 510(b) of the
Bankruptcy Code, or otherwise. Pursuant to section 510 of the Bankruptcy Code, the Debtors or Reorganized
Debtors, as applicable, reserve the right to re-classify any Allowed Claim or Allowed Interest in accordance with any
contractual, legal, or equitable subordination relating thereto.

ARTICLE 1V.
MEANS FOR IMPLEMENTATION OF THIS PLAN

A. General Settlement of Claims and Interests.

Pursuant to section 1123 of the Bankruptcy Code and Bankruptcy Rule 9019, and in consideration for the
classification, distributions, releases, and other benefits provided under the Plan, upon the Effective
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Date, the provisions of the Plan shall constitute a good faith compromise and settlement of all Claims, Interests,
Causes of Action, and controversies released, settled, compromised, discharged, satisfied or otherwise resolved
pursuant to the Plan, including the Covia Dispute. The Plan shall be deemed a motion to approve the good faith
compromise and settlement of all such Claims, Interests, Causes of Action, and controversies pursuant to Bankruptcy
Rule 9019, and the entry of the Confirmation Order shall constitute the Bankruptcy Court’s approval of such
compromise and settlement under section 1123 of the Bankruptcy Code and Bankruptcy Rule 9019 of all such
Claims, Interests, and controversies, as well as a finding by the Bankruptcy Court that such settlement and
compromise is fair, equitable, reasonable and in the best interests of the Debtors, their Estates, and Holders of Claims
and Interests. Subject to Article VI of the Plan, all distributions made to Holders of Allowed Claims and Allowed
Interests (as applicable) in any Class are intended to be and shall be final.

B. Restructuring Transactions.

On or before the Effective Date, or as soon thereafter as reasonably practicable, the Debtors or the Reorganized
Debtors, as applicable, shall enter into any transaction and shall take any actions as may be necessary or appropriate
to effectuate the Restructuring Transactions. The actions to implement the Restructuring Transactions may include:
(1) the execution and delivery of appropriate agreements or other documents of merger, amalgamation,
consolidation, restructuring, conversion, disposition, transfer, arrangement, continuance, dissolution, sale, purchase,
or liquidation containing terms that are consistent with the terms of the Plan and the Restructuring Support
Agreement and that satisfy the requirements of applicable law and any other terms to which the applicable Entities
may agree; (2) the execution and delivery of appropriate instruments of transfer, assignment, assumption, or
delegation of any asset, property, right, liability, debt, or obligation on terms consistent with the terms of the Plan
and the Restructuring Support Agreement and having other terms for which the applicable Entities may agree; (3) the
execution, delivery, and filing, if applicable, of appropriate certificates or articles of incorporation, formation,
reincorporation, merger, consolidation, conversion, amalgamation, arrangement, continuance, or dissolution pursuant
to applicable state or provincial law; and (4) all other actions that the applicable Entities determine to be necessary or
appropriate, including making filings or recordings that may be required by applicable law in connection with the
Plan. The Confirmation Order shall, and shall be deemed to, pursuant to sections 363 and 1123 of the Bankruptcy
Code, authorize, among other things, all actions as may be necessary or appropriate to effect any transaction
described in, contemplated by, or necessary to effectuate the Plan. On the Effective Date or as soon as reasonably
practicable thereafter, the Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, shall issue all securities, notes, instruments,
certificates, and other documents required to be issued pursuant to the Restructuring Transactions.

C. Reorganized Debtors.

On the Effective Date, the New Board shall be established, and the Reorganized Debtors shall adopt their New
Organizational Documents. The Reorganized Debtors shall be authorized to adopt any other agreements, documents,
and instruments and to take any other actions contemplated under the Plan as necessary to consummate the Plan.
Cash payments to be made pursuant to the Plan will be made by the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors. The
Debtors and Reorganized Debtors will be entitled to transfer funds between and among themselves as they determine
to be necessary or appropriate to enable the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, to satisfy their
obligations under the Plan. Except as set forth herein, any changes in intercompany account balances resulting from
such transfers will be accounted for and settled in accordance with the Debtors’ historical intercompany account
settlement practices and will not violate the terms of the Plan.

24




D. Sources of Consideration for Plan Distributions.

The Debtors and the Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, shall fund distributions under the Plan with: (1) Cash on
hand as of the Effective Date, including the proceeds from the New Revolving Exit Facility, (2) the New FTS Equity,
and (3) the issuance of the Warrants.

From and after the Effective Date, the Reorganized Debtors, subject to any applicable limitations set forth in any
post Effective Date agreement (including the New Revolving Exit Facility Credit Agreement documents, New
Organizational Documents and Registration Rights Agreement), shall have the right and authority, without further
order of the Bankruptcy Court, to raise additional capital and obtain additional financing as the boards of directors of
the applicable Reorganized Debtors deem appropriate.

Each distribution and issuance referred to in Article VI in the Plan shall be governed by the terms and conditions
set forth in the Plan applicable to such distribution or issuance and by the terms and conditions of the instruments
evidencing or relating to such distribution or issuance, which terms and conditions shall bind each Entity receiving
such distribution or issuance.

1. Issuance of New FTS Equity.

All FTS Common Interests shall be cancelled as of the Effective Date. On the Effective Date, Reorganized FTS
is authorized to issue or cause to be issued and shall issue the New FTS Equity in accordance with the terms of this
Plan, the Registration Rights Agreement, and other applicable Definitive Documents without further notice to or
order of the Bankruptcy Court, act or action under applicable law, regulation, order, or rule, or the vote, consent,
authorization, or approval of any Person. The New FTS Equity shall be issued and distributed free and clear of all
Liens, Claims, and other Interests.

On the Effective Date, Reorganized FTS and all holders of the New FTS Equity then outstanding shall be deemed
to be parties to the New Organizational Documents without the need for execution by any such holder. The New
Organizational Documents shall be binding on the Reorganized Debtors and all parties receiving New FTS Equity
pursuant to the Plan.

All of the New FTS Equity issued or authorized to be issued pursuant to the Plan shall be duly authorized, validly
issued, fully paid, and non-assessable.

2. New Revolving Exit Facility.

On the Effective Date, the Reorganized Debtors shall enter into the New Revolving Exit Facility Credit
Agreement and shall execute and deliver the New Revolving Exit Facility Credit Agreement documents, and such
documents shall become effective in accordance with their terms. On and after the Effective Date, the New
Revolving Exit Facility Credit Agreement documents shall constitute legal, valid, and binding obligations of the
Reorganized Debtors and be enforceable in accordance with their respective terms. The terms and conditions of the
New Revolving Exit Facility Credit Agreement documents, if any, shall bind the Reorganized Debtors and each other
Entity that enters into such New Revolving Exit Facility Credit Agreement documents as a guarantor. Any Entity’s
entry into the New Revolving Exit Facility Credit Agreement, if any, shall be deemed as its agreement to the terms of
such New Revolving Exit Facility Credit Agreement documents, as amended or modified from time to time
following the Effective Date in accordance with its terms.

Confirmation shall be deemed approval of the New Revolving Exit Facility Credit Agreement documents
(including the transactions contemplated thereby, and all actions to be taken, undertakings to be made, and
obligations and guarantees to be incurred and fees and expenses paid in connection therewith),
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if any, and, to the extent not approved by the Bankruptcy Court previously, the Reorganized Debtors will be
authorized to execute and deliver those documents necessary or appropriate to obtain the New Revolving Exit
Facility Credit Agreement, including the New Revolving Exit Facility Credit Agreement documents, without further
notice to or order of the Bankruptcy Court, act or action under applicable law, regulation, order or rule or vote,
consent, authorization, or approval of any Person, subject to such modifications as the Reorganized Debtors may
deem to be necessary to enter into the New Revolving Exit Facility Credit Agreement documents, if any.

3. Issuance of Warrants.

Reorganized FTS will issue the Warrants consistent with the Plan. All of the Warrants issued pursuant to the
Plan shall be duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid, and non-assessable without the need for any further
corporate action and without any further action by the Debtors or Reorganized Debtors, as applicable.

E. Vesting of Assets in the Reorganized Debtors.

Except as otherwise provided in the Confirmation Order, the Plan, or any agreement, instrument, or other
document incorporated in, or entered into in connection with or pursuant to, the Plan or Plan Supplement, on the
Effective Date, all property in each Estate, all Causes of Action, and any property acquired by any of the Debtors
pursuant to the Plan shall vest in each respective Reorganized Debtor, free and clear of all Liens, Claims, charges, or
other encumbrances. On and after the Effective Date, except as otherwise provided in the Plan, each Reorganized
Debtor may operate its business and may use, acquire, or dispose of property and compromise or settle any Claims,
Interests, or Causes of Action without supervision or approval by the Bankruptcy Court and free of any restrictions
of the Bankruptcy Code or the Bankruptcy Rules.

F. Exemption from Registration Requirements.

The New FTS Equity to be issued to Holders of Allowed Secured Debt Claims, Holders of Allowed Other
Unsecured Claims, and Holders of FTS Common Interests pursuant to Article III of the Plan and the New FTS
Equity issued to the holders of the Warrants upon exercise thereof (collectively, the “Plan Securities™) will be issued
without registration under the Securities Act or any similar federal, state, or local law in reliance upon (i) section
1145 of the Bankruptcy Code to the extent permitted under applicable law (except with respect to an entity that is an
“underwriter” as defined in subsection (b) of section 1145 of the Bankruptcy Code) or (ii) only to the extent that such
exemption under section 1145 of the Bankruptcy Code is not available (including with respect to an entity that is an
“underwriter”) pursuant to section 4(a)(2) under the Securities Act and/or Regulation D promulgated thereunder.
Prior to the Petition Date, the offering of New FTS Equity to be issued to Holders of Allowed Secured Debt Claims
and Allowed Other Unsecured Claims pursuant to Article III of the Plan shall be exempt from such registration
requirements pursuant to Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act and/or Regulation D promulgated thereunder.

Plan Securities issued in reliance upon section 1145 of the Bankruptcy Code are exempt from, among other
things, the registration requirements of section 5 of the Securities Act and any other applicable U.S. state or local law
requiring registration prior to the offering, issuance, distribution or sale of securities and (a) are not “restricted
securities” as defined in Rule 144(a)(3) under the Securities Act and (b) are freely tradable and transferable by any
holder thereof that, at the time of transfer, (1) is not an “affiliate” of Reorganized FTS as defined in Rule 144(a)(1)
under the Securities Act, (2) has not been such an “affiliate” within ninety (90) days of such transfer, (3) has not
acquired such securities from an “affiliate” within one year of such transfer and (4) is not an entity that is an
“underwriter.”
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Section 1145(b)(1) of the Bankruptcy Code defines an “underwriter” as one who, except with respect to
“ordinary trading transactions” of an entity that is not an “issuer”: (a) purchases a claim against, interest in, or claim
for an administrative expense in the case concerning, the debtor, if such purchase is with a view to distribution of any
security received or to be received in exchange for such claim or interest; (b) offers to sell securities offered or sold
under a plan for the holders of such securities; (c) offers to buy securities offered or sold under a plan from the
holders of such securities, if such offer to buy is (i) with a view to distribution of such securities and (ii) under an
agreement made in connection with the plan, with the consummation of the plan, or with the offer or sale of
securities under the plan; or (d) is an issuer of the securities within the meaning of section 2(a)(11) of the Securities
Act. In addition, a person who receives a fee in exchange for purchasing an issuer’s securities could also be
considered an underwriter within the meaning of section 2(a)(11) of the Securities Act.

The definition of an “issuer” for purposes of whether a person is an underwriter under section 1145(b)(1)(D) of
the Bankruptcy Code, by reference to section 2(a)(11) of the Securities Act, includes as “statutory underwriters” all
“affiliates,” which are all persons who, directly or indirectly, through one or more intermediaries, control, are
controlled by, or are under common control with, an issuer of securities. The reference to “issuer,” as used in the
definition of “underwriter” contained in section 2(a)(11) of the Securities Act, is intended to cover “Controlling
Persons” of the issuer of the securities. “Control,” as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act, means to possess,
directly or indirectly, the power to direct or cause to direct management and policies of a person, whether through
owning voting securities, contract, or otherwise. Accordingly, an officer, director, or significant stockholder of a
reorganized debtor or its successor may be deemed to be a “controlling person” of the debtor or successor under a
plan of reorganization.

Solely to the extent issuance under Section 1145(a) of the Bankruptcy Code is unavailable and Plan Securities
must instead be issued in reliance on section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act or Regulation D promulgated thereunder,
such securities will be “restricted securities” subject to resale restrictions and may be resold, exchanged, assigned, or
otherwise transferred only pursuant to registration, or an applicable exemption from registration under the Securities
Act and applicable state and local securities law.

New FTS Equity issued pursuant to the Management Incentive Plan will be issued pursuant to a registration
statement or an exemption from registration under the Securities Act and applicable state and local securities laws.

The Debtors recommend that potential recipients of Plan Securities or Securities issued under the
Management Incentive Plan consult their own counsel concerning their ability to freely trade such Securities
in compliance with the federal securities laws and any applicable Blue Sky Laws. The Debtors make no
representation concerning the ability of a person to dispose of such Securities.

Should Reorganized FTS elect, on or after the Effective Date, to reflect any ownership of the New FTS Equity
through the facilities of DTC, Reorganized FTS need not provide to DTC any further evidence other than the Plan or
the Confirmation Order with respect to the treatment of such securities under applicable securities laws.
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Plan, no Entity, including, for the avoidance of doubt, DTC shall be
entitled to require a legal opinion regarding the validity of any transaction contemplated by the Plan, including, for
the avoidance of doubt, whether the initial sale and delivery by the issuer to the Holders of New FTS Equity is
exempt from registration and/or eligible for DTC book-entry delivery, settlement, and depository services. The
Confirmation Order shall provide that DTC shall be required to accept and conclusively rely upon the Plan or
Confirmation Order in lieu of a legal opinion regarding whether the New FTS Equity is exempt from registration
and/or eligible for DTC book-entry delivery, settlement, and depository services.
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G. Cancellation of Existing Securities and Agreements.

On the Effective Date, except to the extent otherwise provided in the Plan or the Confirmation Order (including
for purpose of evidencing a right to a distribution under the Plan), all notes, instruments, certificates, credit
agreements, indentures, and other documents evidencing Claims or Interests shall be cancelled and the obligations of
the Debtors thereunder or in any way related thereto shall be deemed satisfied in full, cancelled, discharged, and of
no force or effect. Holders of or parties to such cancelled instruments, Securities, and other documentation will have
no rights arising from or relating to such instruments, Securities, and other documentation, or the cancellation
thereof, except the rights provided for pursuant to the Plan. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, but
subject to any applicable provisions of Article VI hereof, to the extent cancelled pursuant to this paragraph, the ABL
Credit Agreement, the Term Loan Agreement, and the Secured Notes Indenture shall continue in effect solely to the
extent necessary to: (1) permit Holders of Claims under the ABL Credit Agreement, the Term Loan Agreement, and
the Secured Notes Indenture to receive their respective Plan Distributions, if any (subject to any applicable charging
liens); (2) permit the Reorganized Debtors and the Disbursing Agent, as applicable, to make Plan Distributions on
account of the Allowed ABL Claims under the ABL Credit Agreement and Allowed Debt Claims under the Term
Loan Agreement and the Secured Notes Indenture, as applicable (subject to any applicable charging liens); (3) permit
each of the ABL Agent, the Term Loan Agent, and the Secured Notes Trustee to seek compensation and/or
reimbursement for ABL Agent fees, Term Loan Agent fees, and the Secured Notes Trustee fees, in accordance with
the terms of the Plan, and allow the maintenance, exercise, and enforcement of any applicable charging lien;
(4) preserve all rights, including rights of enforcement, of the ABL Agent, Term Loan Agent, and the Secured Notes
Trustee to indemnification, reimbursement, or contribution pursuant to and subject to the terms of the ABL Credit
Agreement, Term Loan Agreement, and the Secured Notes Indenture; and (5) permit each of the ABL Agent, the
Term Loan Agent, and the Secured Notes Trustee to appear and be heard in the Chapter 11 Cases or in any
proceeding in the Bankruptcy Court, including to enforce any obligation owed to the ABL Agent, the Term Loan
Agent and the Secured Notes Trustee, or Holders of ABL Claims under the ABL Credit Agreement or Holders of
Debt Claims under the Term Loan Agreement and the Secured Notes Indenture, as applicable. Except as provided in
the Plan (including Article VI hereof) or as may be necessary to effectuate the terms of the Plan, on the Effective
Date, the ABL Agent, the Term Loan Agent, the Secured Notes Trustee, and their respective agents, successors, and
assigns, shall be automatically and fully discharged of all of their duties and obligations associated with the ABL
Credit Agreement, the Term Loan Agreement, and the Secured Notes Indenture, as applicable; provided, however, as
it relates to the ABL Agent, any control agreements related to any letters of credit under the ABL Credit Agreement
shall remain in full force and effect to the extent the Debtors or Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, and the ABL
Agent determine to allow any such letters of credit to remain in effect after the Effective Date; and provided, further
that to the extent Wells Fargo Bank provides bank product services to the Reorganized Debtors after the Effective
Date, nothing in the Plan shall modify, impair or otherwise affect any applicable bank product agreements which
shall remain in full force and effect, including all rights of setoff if provided for under such agreements, subject to
the terms of applicable deposit account control agreements, if any, unless otherwise agreed to in writing between
Wells Fargo and the Reorganized Debtors. To the extent cancelled in accordance with this paragraph, the
commitments and obligations (if any) of the ABL Lenders, the Secured Noteholders, and the lenders under the Term
Loan Agreement to extend any further or future credit or financial accommodations to any of the Debtors, any of
their respective subsidiaries or any of their respective successors or assigns under the ABL Credit Agreement, the
Term Loan Agreement, and the Secured Notes Indenture, as applicable, shall fully terminate and be of no further
force or effect on the Effective Date. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any provision in any document, instrument,
lease, or other agreement that causes or effectuates, or purports to cause or effectuate, a default, termination, loss,
waiver, or other forfeiture of, or by, the Debtors or their interests, or any increase or acceleration of any of their
obligations, in any such case as a result of the cancellations, terminations, satisfaction, releases, or discharges
provided for in this Article IV.G shall be deemed null and void and shall be of no force and
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effect. Nothing contained herein shall be deemed to cancel, terminate, release, or discharge the obligation of the
Debtors or any of their counterparties under any Executory Contract to the extent such Executory Contract has been
assumed by the Debtors pursuant to a Final Order of the Bankruptcy Court or hereunder.

H. Corporate Action.

Upon the Effective Date, all actions contemplated by the Plan shall be deemed authorized, approved, and, to the
extent taken prior to the Effective Date, ratified (without any requirement for further action by Holders of Claims or
Interests, directors, managers, or officers of the Debtors, the Reorganized Debtors or any other Entity), including: (a)
rejection or assumption, as applicable, of Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases; (b) selection of the directors,
managers, and officers for the Reorganized Debtors, including the appointment of the New Board; (c) the entry into
the New Revolving Exit Facility and the execution, entry into, delivery and filing of the New Revolving Facility
Credit Agreement documents, as applicable; (d) the adoption and/or filing of or entry into the New Organizational
Documents and the Registration Rights Agreement; (e) the issuance and distribution, or other transfer, of the New
FTS Equity as provided herein; (f) implementation of the Restructuring Transactions; and (g) all other acts or actions
contemplated, or reasonably necessary or appropriate to promptly consummate the transactions contemplated, by the
Plan. All matters provided for in the Plan involving the corporate structure of the Debtors and any corporate action
required by Reorganized FTS and/or the Debtors in connection therewith shall be deemed to have occurred on, and
shall be in effect as of, the Effective Date, without any requirement of further action by Holders of Claims, the
security holders, directors, managers, authorized persons, or officers of Reorganized FTS, and/or the Debtors. On or
(as applicable) before the Effective Date, the appropriate officers of the Debtors, Reorganized FTS, or the other
Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, shall be authorized and (as applicable) directed to issue, execute, and deliver the
agreements, documents, securities, and instruments contemplated by the Plan (or necessary or desirable to effectuate
the Restructuring Transactions) in the name of and on behalf of Reorganized FTS and the other Reorganized
Debtors, as applicable, including the New Revolving Exit Facility Credit Agreement documents and any and all other
agreements, documents, Securities, and instruments relating to the foregoing, to the extent not previously authorized
by the Bankruptcy Court. The authorizations and approvals contemplated by this Article IV.H shall be effective
notwithstanding any requirements under non-bankruptcy law.

L Corporate Existence.

Except as otherwise provided in the Plan or any agreement, instrument, or other document incorporated in the
Plan or the Plan Supplement, each Debtor shall continue to exist after the Effective Date as a separate corporation,
limited liability company, partnership, or other form, as the case may be, with all the powers of a corporation, limited
liability company, partnership, or other form, as the case may be, pursuant to the applicable law in the jurisdiction in
which each applicable Debtor is incorporated or formed and pursuant to the respective certificate of incorporation
and bylaws (or other analogous governing documents) in effect prior to the Effective Date, except to the extent such
certificate of incorporation and bylaws (or other analogous governing documents) are amended under the Plan or
otherwise, in each case, consistent with the Plan and the Restructuring Support Agreement, and to the extent such
documents are amended in accordance therewith, such documents are deemed to be amended pursuant to the Plan
and require no further action or approval (other than any requisite filings required under applicable state, provincial,
or federal law). After the Effective Date, the respective certificate of incorporation and bylaws (or other analogous
governing documents) of one or more of the Reorganized Debtors may be amended or modified on the terms therein
without supervision or approval by the Bankruptcy Court and free of any restrictions of the Bankruptcy Code or
Bankruptcy Rules. After the Effective Date, one or more of the Reorganized Debtors may be disposed of, dissolved,
wound down, or liquidated without supervision or approval by the Bankruptcy Court and free of any restrictions of
the Bankruptcy Code or Bankruptcy Rules.
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J. New Organizational Documents.

On or immediately prior to the Effective Date, the New Organizational Documents shall be automatically
adopted by the applicable Reorganized Debtors. To the extent required under the Plan or applicable non-bankruptcy
law, each of the Reorganized Debtors will file its New Organizational Documents with the applicable Secretaries of
State and/or other applicable authorities in its respective state or country of organization if and to the extent required
in accordance with the applicable laws of the respective state or country of organization. The New Organizational
Documents will (a) authorize the issuance of the New FTS Equity and (b) be modified or deemed to be modified to
include a provision pursuant to and only to the extent required by section 1123(a)(6) of the Bankruptcy Code
prohibiting the issuance of non-voting equity Securities. For the avoidance of doubt, the New Organizational
Documents shall be consistent with the Restructuring Term Sheet and shall be included in the Plan Supplement.

After the Effective Date, the Reorganized Debtors may amend and restate their respective New Organizational
Documents in accordance with the terms thereof, and the Reorganized Debtors may file such amended certificates or
articles of incorporation, bylaws, or such other applicable formation documents, and other constituent documents as
permitted by the laws of the respective states, provinces, or countries of incorporation and the New Organizational
Documents.

K. Indemnification Provisions.

On and as of the Effective Date, the Indemnification Provisions will be assumed and irrevocable and will survive
the effectiveness of the Plan, and the Reorganized Debtors’ New Organizational Documents will provide for the
indemnification, defense, reimbursement, exculpation, and/or limitation of liability of, and advancement of fees and
expenses to the Debtors’ and the Reorganized Debtors’ current and former directors, officers, employees and agents
to the fullest extent permitted by law and at least to the same extent as the organizational documents of each of the
respective Debtors on the Petition Date, against any claims or Causes of Action whether direct or derivative,
liquidated or unliquidated, fixed or contingent, disputed or undisputed, matured or unmatured, known or unknown,
foreseen or unforeseen, asserted or unasserted occurring before the Effective Date. None of the Debtors, or the
Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, will amend and/or restate their respective governance documents before or after
the Effective Date to amend, augment, terminate, or adversely affect any of the Debtors’ or the Reorganized Debtors’
obligations to provide such indemnification rights or such directors’, officers’, employees’, equityholders’ or agents’
indemnification right.

L. Effectuating Documents,; Further Transactions.

On and after the Effective Date, the Reorganized Debtors, and their respective officers, directors, members, or
managers (or other relevant governing body), are authorized to and may issue, execute, deliver, file, or record such
contracts, Securities, instruments, releases, and other agreements or documents and take such actions as may be
necessary or appropriate to effectuate, implement, and further evidence the terms and conditions of the Plan, New
Revolving Exit Facility entered into, and the Securities issued pursuant to the Plan in the name of and on behalf of
the Reorganized Debtors, without the need for any approvals, authorization, or consents except for those expressly
required pursuant to the Plan.

M. Section 1146 Exemption.

To the fullest extent permitted by section 1146(a) of the Bankruptcy Code, any transfers (whether from a Debtor
to a Reorganized Debtor or to any other Person) of property under the Plan (including the Restructuring
Transactions) or pursuant to: (1) the issuance, distribution, transfer, or exchange of any debt, equity Security, or
other interest in the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, including the New FTS Equity;
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(2) the Restructuring Transactions; (3) the creation, modification, consolidation, termination, refinancing, and/or
recording of any mortgage, deed of trust, or other security interest, or the securing of additional indebtedness by such
or other means; (4) the making, assignment, or recording of any lease or sublease; (5) the grant of collateral as
security for the Reorganized Debtors’ obligations under and in connection with the New Revolving Exit Facility, as
applicable; or (6) the making, delivery, or recording of any deed or other instrument of transfer under, in furtherance
of, or in connection with, the Plan, including any deeds, bills of sale, assignments, or other instrument of transfer
executed in connection with any transaction arising out of, contemplated by, or in any way related to the Plan
(including the Restructuring Transactions), shall not be subject to any document recording tax, stamp tax,
conveyance fee, intangibles or similar tax, mortgage tax, real estate transfer tax, personal property transfer tax, sales
or use tax, mortgage recording tax, Uniform Commercial Code filing or recording fee, regulatory filing or recording
fee, or other similar tax or governmental assessment, and upon entry of the Confirmation Order, the appropriate state
or local governmental officials or agents shall forego the collection of any such tax or governmental assessment and
accept for filing and recordation any of the foregoing instruments or other documents without the payment of any
such tax, recordation fee, or governmental assessment. All filing or recording officers (or any other Person with
authority over any of the foregoing), wherever located and by whomever appointed, shall comply with the
requirements of section 1146(a) of the Bankruptcy Code, shall forego the collection of any such tax or governmental
assessment, and shall accept for filing and recordation any of the foregoing instruments or other documents without
the payment of any such tax or governmental assessment.

N. Directors and Officers of the Reorganized Debtors.

On the Effective Date, the terms of the current members of the board of directors of FTS shall expire, and the
New Board shall be appointed on the Effective Date in accordance with the terms and conditions set forth in the
applicable New Organizational Documents and the identities of directors on the New Board shall be set forth in the
Plan Supplement to the extent known at the time of filing of the Plan Supplement.

The New Board shall be comprised of five directors: (1) one of which shall be the CEO of Reorganized FTS, (2)
three of which shall be selected by the Required Consenting Noteholders, and (3) one of which shall be selected by
the Required Consenting Term Loan Lenders.

The officers of the respective Debtors immediately before the Effective Date, as applicable, shall serve as the
initial officers of each of the respective Reorganized Debtors on and after the Effective Date and in accordance with
Article IV.Q of the Plan and applicable non-bankruptcy law. After the Effective Date, the selection of officers of the
Reorganized Debtors shall be as provided by their respective New Organizational Documents.

0. Director and Officer Liability Insurance.

Each D&O Liability Insurance Policy (including, without limitation, any “tail policy” and all agreements,
documents, or instruments related thereto) shall be deemed assumed without the need for any further notice to or
action, order, or approval of the Bankruptcy Court, as of the Effective Date, pursuant to section 365 of the
Bankruptcy Code.

The Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, shall not terminate or otherwise reduce the coverage
under any D&O Liability Insurance Policy (including, without limitation, any “tail policy” and all agreements,
documents, or instruments related thereto) in effect prior to the Effective Date, and any current and former directors,
officers, managers, and employees of the Debtors who served in such capacity at any time before or after the
Effective Date shall be entitled to the full benefits of any such policy for
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the full term of such policy in accordance with the terms and conditions thereof, regardless of whether such directors,
officers, managers, and employees remain in such positions after the Effective Date.

P. Management Incentive Plan.

Effective on the Effective Date, the Reorganized Debtors will reserve the MIP Pool as set forth in the Plan
Supplement and consistent with the Restructuring Support Agreement. On the Effective Date, the New Board shall
implement the Management Incentive Plan, and following the Effective Date, the New Board shall determine the
other terms and conditions of the Management Incentive Plan.

Q. Employee Obligations.

Effective on the Effective Date, all employee wages, compensation, benefit, incentive programs, and employment
or severance agreements in place as of the Effective Date with the Debtors shall be assumed, or assumed on amended
terms that are substantially similar to the terms that were in place on the Effective Date by the Reorganized Debtors
and the Reorganized Debtors will continue to honor such agreements, arrangements, programs, and plans in each
case, except that (1) the New Board will have typical authority and oversight regarding changes to compensation,
incentive and benefits and (2) any plans, programs, arrangements or corresponding awards with respect to Interests
(equity or equity-based incentives) (such as stock, restricted stock, options, warrants, RSUs or PSUs), each of which
shall be deemed to be no longer valid, binding, or effective with respect to the Reorganized Debtors.

R. Preservation of Causes of Action.

In accordance with section 1123(b) of the Bankruptcy Code, but subject to Article VIII of the Plan, each
Reorganized Debtor, as applicable, shall retain and may enforce all rights to commence and pursue, as appropriate,
any and all Causes of Action of the Debtors, whether arising before or after the Petition Date, including any actions
specifically enumerated in the Schedule of Retained Causes of Action, and the Reorganized Debtors’ rights to
commence, prosecute, or settle such Causes of Action shall be preserved notwithstanding the occurrence of the
Effective Date, other than the Causes of Action released by the Debtors pursuant to the releases and exculpations
contained in the Plan, including in Article VIII of the Plan, which shall be deemed released and waived by the
Debtors and the Reorganized Debtors as of the Effective Date.

The Reorganized Debtors may pursue such retained Causes of Action, as appropriate, in accordance with
the best interests of the Reorganized Debtors. No Entity (other than the Released Parties) may rely on the
absence of a specific reference in the Plan, the Plan Supplement, or the Disclosure Statement to any Cause of
Action against it as any indication that the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, will not pursue
any and all available Causes of Action of the Debtors against it. The Debtors and the Reorganized Debtors
expressly reserve all rights to prosecute any and all Causes of Action against any Entity, except as otherwise
expressly provided in the Plan, including Article VIII of the Plan. Unless otherwise agreed upon in writing by
the parties to the applicable Cause of Action, all objections to the Schedule of Retained Causes of Action must
be Filed with the Bankruptcy Court on or before thirty days after the Effective Date. Any such objection that
is not timely filed shall be disallowed and forever barred, estopped, and enjoined from assertion against any
Reorganized Debtor, without the need for any objection or responsive pleading by the Reorganized Debtors or
any other party in interest or any further notice to or action, order, or approval of the Bankruptcy Court.
The Reorganized Debtors may settle any such objection without any further notice to or action, order, or approval of
the Bankruptcy Court. If there is any dispute regarding the inclusion of any Cause of Action on the Schedule of
Retained Causes of Action that remains unresolved by the Debtors or Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, and the
objection party for thirty days, such objection
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shall be resolved by the Bankruptcy Court. Unless any Causes of Action of the Debtors against an Entity are
expressly waived, relinquished, exculpated, released, compromised, or settled in the Plan or a Final Order, the
Reorganized Debtors expressly reserve all Causes of Action, for later adjudication, and, therefore, no preclusion
doctrine, including the doctrines of res judicata, collateral estoppel, issue preclusion, claim preclusion, estoppel
(judicial, equitable, or otherwise), or laches, shall apply to such Causes of Action upon, after, or as a consequence of
the Confirmation or Consummation.

The Reorganized Debtors reserve and shall retain such Causes of Action of the Debtors notwithstanding the
rejection or repudiation of any Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease during the Chapter 11 Cases or pursuant to
the Plan. In accordance with section 1123(b)(3) of the Bankruptcy Code, any Causes of Action that a Debtor may
hold against any Entity shall vest in the Reorganized Debtors, except as otherwise expressly provided in the Plan,
including Article VIII of the Plan. The applicable Reorganized Debtors, through their authorized agents or
representatives, shall retain and may exclusively enforce any and all such Causes of Action. The Reorganized
Debtors shall have the exclusive right, authority, and discretion to determine and to initiate, file, prosecute, enforce,
abandon, settle, compromise, release, withdraw, or litigate to judgment any such Causes of Action and to decline to
do any of the foregoing without the consent or approval of any third party or further notice to or action, order, or
approval of the Bankruptcy Court.

ARTICLE V.
TREATMENT OF EXECUTORY CONTRACTS AND UNEXPIRED LEASES

A. Assumption and Rejection of Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases.

On the Effective Date, except as otherwise provided in Article V.H and elsewhere herein, all Executory Contracts
or Unexpired Leases will be deemed assumed by the applicable Reorganized Debtor in accordance with the
provisions and requirements of the Bankruptcy Court, as of the Effective Date, pursuant to sections 365 and 1123 of
the Bankruptcy Code, other than those that are: (1) identified on the Schedule of Rejected Executory Contracts and
Unexpired Leases; (2) previously expired or terminated pursuant to their own terms or agreement of the parties
thereto; (3) have been previously assumed or rejected by the Debtors pursuant to a Final Order; (4) the subject of a
motion to reject that is pending on the Effective Date; or (5) subject to an ordered or requested effective date of
rejection that is after the Effective Date.

Entry of the Confirmation Order shall constitute an order of the Bankruptcy Court approving the above-described
assumptions, assumptions and assignments, or rejections of the Executory Contracts or Unexpired Leases as set forth
in the Plan or the Schedule of Rejected Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases, pursuant to sections 365(a) and
1123 of the Bankruptcy Code and effective on the occurrence of the Effective Date. Except as otherwise specifically
set forth herein, assumptions or rejections of Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases pursuant to the Plan are
effective as of the Effective Date. Each Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease assumed pursuant to the Plan or by
Bankruptcy Court order but not assigned to a third party before the Effective Date shall re-vest in and be fully
enforceable by the applicable contracting Reorganized Debtor in accordance with its terms, except as such terms may
have been modified by the provisions of the Plan or any order of the Bankruptcy Court authorizing and providing for
its assumption under applicable federal law. Any motions to assume Executory Contracts or Unexpired Leases
pending on the Effective Date shall be subject to approval by a Final Order on or after the Effective Date but may be
withdrawn, settled, or otherwise prosecuted by the Reorganized Debtors.

To the maximum extent permitted by law, to the extent any provision in any Executory Contract or Unexpired

Lease assumed pursuant to the Plan restricts or prevents, or purports to restrict or prevent, or is breached or deemed
breached by, the assumption of such Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease (including
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any “change of control” provision), then such provision shall be deemed modified such that the transactions
contemplated by the Plan shall not constitute a “change of control” or “assignment” (or terms with similar effect)
under, or any other transaction or matter that would result in a violation, breach or default under, or increase,
accelerate or otherwise alter any obligations, rights or liabilities of the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors under, or
result in the creation or imposition of a Lien upon any property or asset of the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors
pursuant to, the applicable Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease, and any consent or advance notice required
under such Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease shall be deemed satisfied by Confirmation. Notwithstanding
anything to the contrary in the Plan, the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, reserve the right to alter,
amend, modify, or supplement the Schedule of Rejected Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases at any time up to
forty-five days after the Effective Date.

To the extent any provision of the Bankruptcy Code or the Bankruptcy Rules require the Debtors to assume or
reject an Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease, such requirement shall be satisfied if the Debtors make an election
to assume or reject such Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease prior to the deadline set forth by the Bankruptcy
Code or the Bankruptcy Rules, as applicable, regardless of whether or not the Bankruptcy Court has actually ruled on
such proposed assumption or rejection prior to such deadline.

If certain, but not all, of a contract counterparty’s Executory Contracts and/or Unexpired Leases are assumed
pursuant to the Plan, the Confirmation Order shall be a determination that such counterparty’s Executory Contracts
and/or Unexpired Leases that are being rejected pursuant to the Plan are severable agreements that are not integrated
with those Executory Contracts and/or Unexpired Leases that are being assumed pursuant to the Plan. Parties
seeking to contest this finding with respect to their Executory Contracts and/or Unexpired Leases must file a timely
objection to the Plan on the grounds that their agreements are integrated and not severable, and any such dispute shall
be resolved by the Bankruptcy Court at the Confirmation Hearing (to the extent not resolved by the parties prior to
the Confirmation Hearing).

B. Claims Based on Rejection of Executory Contracts or Unexpired Leases.

Unless otherwise provided by a Final Order of the Bankruptcy Court, all Proofs of Claim with respect to Claims
arising from the rejection of Executory Contracts or Unexpired Leases, pursuant to the Plan or the Confirmation
Order, if any, must be Filed with the Bankruptcy Court within thirty days after the later of (1) the date of entry of an
order of the Bankruptcy Court (including the Confirmation Order) approving such rejection, (2) the effective date of
such rejection, or (3) the Effective Date. Any Claims arising from the rejection of an Executory Contract or
Unexpired Lease not Filed with the Bankruptcy Court within such time will be automatically disallowed,
forever barred from assertion, and shall not be enforceable against the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors,
the Estates, or their property without the need for any objection by the Reorganized Debtors or further notice
to, or action, order, or approval of the Bankruptcy Court or any other Entity, and any Claim arising out of
the rejection of the Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease shall be deemed fully satisfied, released, and
discharged, notwithstanding anything in the Proof of Claim to the contrary. All Allowed Claims arising from
the rejection of the Debtors’ Executory Contracts or Unexpired Leases shall be classified as Termination Claims and
shall be treated in accordance with Article I11.B.4 of the Plan.

C. Cure of Defaults for Assumed Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases.
The Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, shall pay Cures, if any, on the Effective Date or as soon

as reasonably practicable thereafter, with the amount and timing of payment of any such Cure dictated by the
Debtors’ ordinary course of business. Unless otherwise agreed upon in writing by the
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parties to the applicable Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease, all requests for payment of Cure that differ from the
ordinary course amounts paid or proposed to be paid by the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors to a counterparty
must be Filed with the Solicitation Agent on or before 30 days after the Effective Date. Any such request that is not
timely Filed shall be disallowed and forever barred, estopped, and enjoined from assertion, and shall not be
enforceable against the Reorganized Debtors, without the need for any objection by the Reorganized Debtors or any
other party in interest or any further notice to or action, order, or approval of the Bankruptcy Court. Any Cure shall
be deemed fully satisfied, released, and discharged upon payment by the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors of the
Cure in the Debtors ordinary course of business; provided, however, that nothing herein shall prevent the
Reorganized Debtors from paying any Cure Claim despite the failure of the relevant counterparty to File such request
for payment of such Cure. The Reorganized Debtors also may settle any Cure Claim without any further notice to or
action, order, or approval of the Bankruptcy Court. In addition, any objection to the assumption of an Executory
Contract or Unexpired Lease under the Plan must be Filed with the Bankruptcy Court on or before 30 days
after the Effective Date. Any such objection will be scheduled to be heard by the Bankruptcy Court at the
Debtors’ or the Reorganized Debtors’, as applicable, first scheduled omnibus hearing for which such objection
is timely Filed. Any counterparty to an Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease that fails to timely object to
the proposed assumption of any Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease will be deemed to have consented to
such assumption.

If there is any dispute regarding any Cure, the ability of the Reorganized Debtors or any assignee to provide
“adequate assurance of future performance” within the meaning of section 365 of the Bankruptcy Code, or any other
matter pertaining to assumption, then payment of Cure shall occur as soon as reasonably practicable after entry of a
Final Order resolving such dispute, approving such assumption (and, if applicable, assignment), or as may be agreed
upon by the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, and the counterparty to the Executory Contract or
Unexpired Lease.

Assumption of any Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease pursuant to the Plan or otherwise and full payment of
any applicable Cure pursuant to this Article V.C in the amount and at the time dictated by the Debtors ordinary
course of business, shall result in the full release and satisfaction of any Cures, Claims, or defaults, whether monetary
or nonmonetary, including defaults of provisions restricting the change in control or ownership interest composition
or other bankruptcy-related defaults, arising under any assumed Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease at any time
prior to the effective date of assumption. Any and all Proofs of Claim based upon Executory Contracts or
Unexpired Leases that have been assumed in the Chapter 11 Cases, including pursuant to the Confirmation
Order, and for which any Cure has been fully paid pursuant to this Article V.C in the amount and at the time
dictated by the Debtors ordinary course of business, shall be deemed disallowed and expunged as of the
Effective Date without the need for any objection thereto or any further notice to or action, order, or approval
of the Bankruptcy Court.

D. Preexisting Obligations to the Debtors under Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases.

Rejection of any Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease pursuant to the Plan or otherwise shall not constitute a
termination of preexisting obligations owed to the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, under such
Executory Contracts or Unexpired Leases. In particular, notwithstanding any non-bankruptcy law to the contrary,
the Reorganized Debtors expressly reserve and do not waive any right to receive, or any continuing obligation of a
counterparty to provide, warranties, or continued maintenance obligations with respect to goods previously
purchased by the Debtors.
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E. Insurance Contracts and Surety Bonds.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Definitive Documents, any other document related thereto, or any
other order of the Bankruptcy Court (including, without limitation, any other provision that purports to be
preemptory or supervening, grants an injunction, discharge or release, confers Bankruptcy Court jurisdiction or
requires a party to opt out of any releases):

a. each of the Debtors’ surety bonds and Insurance Contracts shall be treated as Executory
Contracts under the Plan and on the Effective Date, the Debtors shall be deemed to have assumed all surety bonds
and Insurance Contracts pursuant to sections 105 and 365 of the Bankruptcy Code such that the Reorganized Debtors
shall become and remain liable in full for all obligations under the surety bonds and Insurance Contracts, regardless
of when they arise, without the need or requirement for Insurers to file a Proof of Claim, Administrative Claim or
Cure Claim or respond to any Cure notice;

b. nothing alters or modifies the terms and conditions of the Insurance Contracts or surety bonds
(including any and all letters of credit and other collateral and security provided in relation thereto) in any way, and
all such rights and obligations shall be determined under the Insurance Contracts, surety bonds and applicable non-
bankruptcy law as if the Chapter 11 Cases had not occurred; and

c. the automatic stay of Bankruptcy Code section 362(a) and the injunctions set forth in Article
VIII of the Plan, if and to the extent applicable, shall be deemed lifted without further order of this Bankruptcy
Court, solely to permit: (I) claimants with valid workers’ compensation claims or direct action claims against an
Insurer under applicable non-bankruptcy law to proceed with their claims; (II) the Insurers to administer, handle,
defend, settle, and/or pay, in the ordinary course of business and without further order of this Bankruptcy Court, (A)
workers’ compensation claims, (B) claims where a claimant asserts a direct claim against any Insurer under
applicable non-bankruptcy law, or an order has been entered by this Bankruptcy Court granting a claimant relief
from the automatic stay or the injunctions set forth in Article VIII of the Plan to proceed with its claim, and (C) all
costs in relation to each of the foregoing; (III) the Insurers to draw against any or all of the collateral or security
provided by or on behalf of the Debtors (or the Reorganized Debtors, as applicable) at any time, subject to the terms
of any agreements related to such collateral or security, and to hold the proceeds thereof as security for the
obligations of the Debtors (and the Reorganized Debtors, as applicable) and/or apply such proceeds to the obligations
of the Debtors (and the Reorganized Debtors, as applicable) under the applicable Insurance Contracts, in accordance
with the terms of the Insurance Contracts and applicable non-bankruptcy law; and (IV) the Insurers to cancel any
Insurance Contracts, and take, in their sole discretion, other actions relating to the Insurance Contracts (including
effectuating a setoff against (or otherwise applying) any collateral or security provided by the Debtors or
Reorganized Debtors, regardless of when any such amounts arise, become due or are provided), to the extent
permissible under applicable non-bankruptcy law, and in accordance with the terms of the Insurance Contracts.

F. Reservation of Rights.

Nothing contained in the Plan or the Plan Supplement shall constitute an admission by the Debtors or any other
party that any contract or lease is in fact an Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease or that any Reorganized Debtor
has any liability thereunder. If there is a dispute regarding whether a contract or lease is or was executory or
unexpired at the time of assumption or rejection, the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, shall have
forty-five days following entry of a Final Order resolving such dispute to alter their treatment of such contract or
lease.
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G. Nonoccurrence of Effective Date.

In the event that the Effective Date does not occur, the Bankruptcy Court shall retain jurisdiction with respect to
any request to extend the deadline for assuming or rejecting Unexpired Leases pursuant to section 365(d)(4) of the
Bankruptcy Code.

H. Contracts and Leases Entered into after the Petition Date.

Contracts and leases entered into after the Petition Date by any Debtor, including any Executory Contracts and
Unexpired Leases assumed by such Debtor, will be performed by the applicable Debtor or the Reorganized Debtors
in the ordinary course of their business. Accordingly, such contracts and leases (including any assumed Executory
Contracts and Unexpired Leases) will survive and remain unaffected by entry of the Confirmation Order.

ARTICLE VI
PROVISIONS GOVERNING DISTRIBUTIONS

A. Distributions on Account of Claims and Interests Allowed as of the Effective Date.

Except as otherwise provided herein, in a Final Order, or as otherwise agreed to by the Debtors or the
Reorganized Debtors, as the case may be, and the Holder of the applicable Allowed Claim or Allowed Interest on the
first Distribution Date, the Disbursing Agent shall make initial distributions under the Plan on account of Claims
Allowed or Interests Allowed on or before the Effective Date, subject to the Reorganized Debtors’ right to object to
Claims; provided, that (1) Allowed Administrative Claims with respect to liabilities incurred by the Debtors in the
ordinary course of business during the Chapter 11 Cases or assumed by the Debtors prior to the Effective Date shall
be paid or performed in the ordinary course of business in accordance with the terms and conditions of any
controlling agreements, course of dealing, course of business, or industry practice, (2) Allowed Priority Tax Claims
shall be paid in accordance with Article I1.C of the Plan, and (3) Allowed Ongoing Business Claims shall be paid in
accordance with Article III.B.5 of the Plan. To the extent any Allowed Priority Tax Claim is not due and owing on
the Effective Date, such Claim shall be paid in full in Cash in accordance with the terms of any agreement between
the Debtors and the Holder of such Claim or as may be due and payable under applicable non-bankruptcy law or in
the ordinary course of business. Thereafter, a Distribution Date shall occur no less frequently than once in every 90
day period, as necessary, in the Reorganized Debtors’ sole discretion.

B. Disbursing Agent.

Except as otherwise set forth in this Article VI B, all distributions under the Plan shall be made by the
Reorganized Debtors or the Disbursing Agent. The Disbursing Agent shall not be required to give any bond or
surety or other security for the performance of its duties unless otherwise ordered by the Bankruptcy Court.
Additionally, in the event that the Disbursing Agent is so otherwise ordered, all costs and expenses of procuring any
such bond or surety shall be borne by the Reorganized Debtors.

1. Powers of the Disbursing Agent.

The Disbursing Agent shall be empowered to: (a) effect all actions and execute all agreements, instruments, and
other documents necessary to perform its duties under the Plan; (b) make all distributions contemplated hereby;
(c) employ professionals to represent it with respect to its responsibilities; and (d) exercise such other powers as may
be vested in the Disbursing Agent by order of the Bankruptcy Court, pursuant to the Plan, or as deemed by the
Disbursing Agent to be necessary and proper to implement the provisions of the Plan.

37




2. Expenses Incurred On or After the Effective Date.

Except as otherwise ordered by the Bankruptcy Court, the amount of any reasonable fees and expenses incurred
by the Disbursing Agent on or after the Effective Date (including taxes), and any reasonable compensation and
expense reimbursement claims(including reasonable attorney fees and expenses), shall be paid in Cash by the
Reorganized Debtors.

C. Delivery of Distributions and Undeliverable or Unclaimed Distributions.
1. Record Date for Distribution.

On the Distribution Record Date, the Claims Register shall be closed and any party responsible for making
distributions shall instead be authorized and entitled to recognize only those record Holders listed on the Claims
Register as of the close of business on the Distribution Record Date. If a Claim, other than one based on a publicly
traded Security, is transferred twenty (20) or fewer days before the Distribution Record Date, the Disbursing Agent
shall make distributions to the transferee only to the extent practical and, in any event, only if the relevant transfer
form contains an unconditional and explicit certification and waiver of any objection to the transfer by the transferor.

2. Delivery of Distributions in General.

Except as otherwise provided herein, the Disbursing Agent shall make distributions to Holders of Allowed
Claims and Allowed Interests (as applicable) as of the Distribution Record Date at the address for each such Holder
as indicated on the Debtors’ records as of the date of any such distribution; provided, that the manner of such
distributions shall be determined at the discretion of the Reorganized Debtors. Notwithstanding any provision to the
contrary herein and except as otherwise agreed by the relevant parties no partial payments and no partial distributions shall be made
with respect to a Disputed Claim or Disputed Interest until all such disputes in connection with such Disputed Claim or Disputed
Interest have been resolved by settlement or Final Order. Any dividends or other distributions arising from property distributed to
holders of Allowed Claims or Allowed Interests in a Class and paid to such holders under the Plan shall also be paid, in the applicable
amounts, to any holder of a Disputed Claim or Disputed Interest in such Class that becomes an Allowed Claim or Allowed Interest,
after the date such Disputed Claim or Disputed Interest becomes an Allowed Claim or Allowed Interest and after the date or dates that
such dividends or other distributions were earlier paid to holders of Allowed Claims or Allowed Interests in such Class.

3. Delivery of Distributions to Holders of Secured Notes Claims.

All Plan Distributions to Holders of Secured Notes Claims shall be made to and deemed completed when
received by the Secured Notes Trustee. The Secured Notes Trustee shall arrange to deliver such Plan Distributions to
or on behalf of such Holders of Secured Notes Claims, subject to the Secured Notes Trustee charging Lien, and
regardless of whether such distributions are made by the Secured Notes Trustee, or by the Disbursing Agent at the
reasonable direction of the Secured Notes Trustee, the Secured Notes Trustee charging Lien shall attach to the Plan
the Distributions to the Holders of Secured Notes Claims in the same manner as if such Plan Distributions were made
through the Secured Notes Trustee. The Secured Notes Trustee may establish its own record date for distribution and
shall transfer or direct the transfer of such distributions through the facilities of DTC. The Secured Notes Trustee
shall have no duties or responsibility relating to any form of distribution that is not DTC eligible and the Debtors or
Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, shall use commercially reasonable efforts to (i) seek the cooperation of DTC
with respect to the cancellation of the Notes as of the Effective Date, and (ii) seek the cooperation of the relevant
bank and broker participants in the DTC system to facilitate delivery of the distribution directly to the relevant
beneficial owners as soon as practicable after the Effective Date.
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4. Minimum Distributions.

No Cash payment of less than $250 shall be made to a Holder of an Allowed Claim on account of such Allowed
Claim. When any distribution pursuant to the Plan on account of an Allowed Claim or Allowed Interest (as
applicable) would otherwise result in the issuance of a number of shares of New FTS Equity that is not a whole
number, the actual distribution of shares of New FTS Equity shall be rounded to the next lower whole number with
no further payment therefor. The total number of authorized shares of New FTS Equity to be distributed to Holders
of Allowed Claims hereunder shall be adjusted as necessary to account for the foregoing rounding.

5. Undeliverable and Unclaimed Distributions.

If any distribution to a Holder of an Allowed Claim is returned to the Disbursing Agent as undeliverable, no
further distribution shall be made to such Holder unless and until the Disbursing Agent is notified in writing of such
Holder’s then-current address or other necessary information for delivery, at which time all currently due missed
distributions shall be made to such Holder on the next Distribution Date without interest. Undeliverable distributions
shall remain in the possession of the Reorganized Debtors until such time as a distribution becomes deliverable, or
such distribution reverts to the Reorganized Debtors or is cancelled pursuant to this Article VI.C.5, and shall not be
supplemented with any interest, dividends, or other accruals of any kind.

Any distribution under the Plan that is an Unclaimed Distribution or remains undeliverable for a period of six
months after distribution shall be deemed unclaimed property under section 347(b) of the Bankruptcy Code and such
Unclaimed Distribution or undeliverable distribution shall revest in the applicable Reorganized Debtor and, to the
extent such Unclaimed Distribution is comprised of New FTS Equity, such New FTS Equity shall be cancelled.
Upon such revesting, the Claim of the Holder or its successors with respect to such property shall be cancelled,
discharged, and forever barred notwithstanding any applicable federal or state escheat, abandoned, or unclaimed
property laws, or any provisions in any document governing the distribution that is an Unclaimed Distribution, to the
contrary.

6. Surrender of Cancelled Instruments or Securities.

On the Effective Date or as soon as reasonably practicable thereafter, each holder of a certificate or instrument
evidencing a Claim or an Interest that has been cancelled in accordance with Article IV.H of the Plan shall be
deemed to have surrendered such certificate or instrument to the Disbursing Agent. Such surrendered certificate or
instrument shall be cancelled solely with respect to the Debtors, and such cancellation shall not alter the obligations
or rights of any non-Debtor third parties vis-a-vis one another with respect to such certificate or instrument, including
with respect to any indenture or agreement that governs the rights of the Holder of a Claim or Interest, which shall
continue in effect for purposes of allowing Holders to receive distributions under the Plan, charging liens, priority of
payment, and indemnification rights. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, this paragraph shall not apply
to certificates or instruments evidencing Claims that are Unimpaired under the Plan.

D. Manner of Payment.
1. Except as otherwise provided in the Plan or any agreement, instrument, or other document
incorporated in the Plan or the Plan Supplement, all distributions of the New FTS Equity to the Holders of the

applicable Allowed Claims or Interests under the Plan shall be made by the Disbursing Agent on behalf of the
Debtors or Reorganized Debtors, as applicable.
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2. All distributions of Cash to the Holders of the applicable Allowed Claims under the Plan shall be
made by the Disbursing Agent on behalf of the applicable Debtor or Reorganized Debtor.

3. At the option of the Disbursing Agent, any Cash payment to be made hereunder may be made by
check or wire transfer or as otherwise required or provided in applicable agreements.

E. Compliance with Tax Requirements.

In connection with the Plan, to the extent applicable, the Debtors, Reorganized Debtors, Disbursing Agent, and
any applicable withholding agent shall comply with all tax withholding and reporting requirements imposed on them
by any Governmental Unit, and all distributions made pursuant to the Plan shall be subject to such withholding and
reporting requirements. Notwithstanding any provision in the Plan to the contrary, such parties shall be authorized to
take all actions necessary or appropriate to comply with such withholding and reporting requirements, including
liquidating a portion of the distribution to be made under the Plan to generate sufficient funds to pay applicable
withholding taxes, withholding distributions pending receipt of information necessary to facilitate such distributions,
or establishing any other mechanisms they believe are reasonable and appropriate. The Debtors and Reorganized
Debtors reserve the right to allocate all distributions made under the Plan in compliance with all applicable wage
garnishments, alimony, child support, and similar spousal awards, Liens, and encumbrances.

F. Allocations.

Distributions in respect of Allowed Claims shall be allocated first to the principal amount of such Claims (as
determined for federal income tax purposes) and then, to the extent the consideration exceeds the principal amount of
the Claims, to any portion of such Claims for accrued but unpaid interest.

G. No Postpetition Interest on Claims.

Unless otherwise specifically provided for in the Cash Collateral Orders, the Plan, or the Confirmation Order, or
required by applicable bankruptcy and non-bankruptcy law, postpetition interest shall not accrue or be paid on any
prepetition Claims, and no Holder of a Claim shall be entitled to interest accruing on or after the Petition Date on
such Claim.

H. Foreign Currency Exchange Rate.

Except as otherwise provided in a Bankruptcy Court order, as of the Effective Date, any Claim asserted in
currency other than U.S. dollars shall be automatically deemed converted to the equivalent U.S. dollar value using
the exchange rate for the applicable currency as published in The Wall Street Journal, National Edition, on the
Effective Date.

L Setoffs and Recoupment.

Except as expressly provided in the Plan, each Reorganized Debtor may, pursuant to section 553 of the
Bankruptcy Code, set off and/or recoup against any Plan Distributions to be made on account of any Allowed Claim,
any and all claims, rights, and Causes of Action that such Reorganized Debtor may hold against the Holder of such
Allowed Claim to the extent such setoff or recoupment is either (1) agreed in amount among the relevant
Reorganized Debtor(s) and the Holder of the Allowed Claim or (2) otherwise adjudicated by the Bankruptcy Court or
another court of competent jurisdiction; provided, that neither the failure to effectuate a setoff or recoupment nor the
allowance of any Claim hereunder shall constitute a waiver or release by a Reorganized Debtor or its successor of
any and all claims, rights, and Causes of Action that such Reorganized Debtor or its successor may possess against
the applicable Holder. In no
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event shall any Holder of a Claim be entitled to recoup such Claim against any claim, right, or Cause of Action of the
Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, unless such Holder actually has performed such recoupment and
provided notice thereof in writing to the Debtors in accordance with Article XIL.F of the Plan on or before the
Effective Date, notwithstanding any indication in any Proof of Claim or otherwise that such Holder asserts, has, or
intends to preserve any right of recoupment.

J. Claims Paid or Payable by Third Parties.
1. Claims Paid by Third Parties.

The Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, shall reduce in full a Claim, and such Claim shall be
disallowed without a Claims objection having to be Filed and without any further notice to or action, order, or
approval of the Bankruptcy Court, to the extent that the Holder of such Claim receives payment in full on account of
such Claim from a party that is not a Debtor or a Reorganized Debtor. Subject to the last sentence of this paragraph,
to the extent a Holder of a Claim receives a distribution on account of such Claim and receives payment from a party
that is not a Debtor or a Reorganized Debtor on account of such Claim, such Holder shall, within fourteen calendar
days of receipt thereof, repay or return the distribution to the applicable Reorganized Debtor, to the extent the
Holder’s total recovery on account of such Claim from the third party and under the Plan exceeds the amount of such
Claim as of the date of any such distribution under the Plan. The failure of such Holder to timely repay or return
such distribution shall result in the Holder owing the applicable Reorganized Debtor annualized interest at the
Federal Judgment Rate on such amount owed for each Business Day after the fourteen-day grace period specified
above until the amount is repaid.

2. Claims Payable by Third Parties.

No distributions under the Plan shall be made on account of an Allowed Claim that is payable pursuant to one of
the Debtors’ Insurance Contracts until the Holder of such Allowed Claim has exhausted all remedies with respect to
such Insurance Contract. To the extent that one or more of the Debtors’ Insurers agrees to satisfy in full or in part a
Claim (if and to the extent adjudicated by a court of competent jurisdiction or otherwise settled), then immediately
upon such Insurers’ agreement, the applicable portion of such Claim may be expunged without a Claims objection
having to be Filed and without any further notice to or action, order, or approval of the Bankruptcy Court.

3. Applicability of Insurance Policies.

Except as otherwise provided in the Plan, payments to Holders of Claims shall be in accordance with the
provisions of any applicable Insurance Contract. Nothing contained in the Plan shall constitute or be deemed a
waiver of any Cause of Action that the Debtors or any Entity may hold against any other Entity, including Insurers
under any Insurance Contracts, nor shall anything contained herein constitute or be deemed a waiver by such Insurers
of any rights or defenses, including coverage defenses, held by such Insurers.

ARTICLE VII.
PROCEDURES FOR RESOLVING CONTINGENT,
UNLIQUIDATED, AND DISPUTED CLAIMS
A. Disputed Claims Process.

There is no requirement to file a Proof of Claim (or move the Bankruptcy Court for allowance) to have an
Allowed Claim for the purposes of the Plan, except as provided in Article V.B of the Plan. On and after the
Effective Date, except as otherwise provided in the Plan, all Allowed Claims shall be satisfied in the ordinary course
of business of the Reorganized
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Debtors. The Debtors and the Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, shall have the exclusive authority to (i) determine,
without the need for notice to or action, order, or approval of the Bankruptcy Court, that a claim subject to any Proof
of Claim that is Filed is Allowed and (ii) file, settle, compromise, withdraw, or litigate to judgment any objections to
Claims as permitted under the Plan. If the Debtors or Reorganized Debtors dispute any Claim, such dispute shall be
determined, resolved, or adjudicated, as the case may be, in the manner as if the Chapter 11 Cases had not been
commenced and shall survive the Effective Date as if the Chapter 11 Cases had not been commenced; provided, that
the Debtors or Reorganized Debtors may elect, at their sole option, to object to any Claim (other than Claims
expressly Allowed by the Plan) and to have the validity or amount of any Claim adjudicated by the Bankruptcy
Court; provided, further, that Holders of Claims may elect to resolve the validity or amount of any Claim in the
Bankruptcy Court. If a Holder makes such an election, the Bankruptcy Court shall apply the law that would have
governed the dispute if the Chapter 11 Cases had not been filed. All Proofs of Claim Filed in the Chapter 11 Cases
shall be considered objected to and Disputed without further action by the Debtors. Except as otherwise provided
herein, all Proofs of Claim Filed after the Effective Date shall be disallowed and forever barred, estopped, and
enjoined from assertion, and shall not be enforceable against any Reorganized Debtor, without the need for
any objection by the Reorganized Debtors or any further notice to or action, order, or approval of the
Bankruptcy Court.

B. Allowance of Claims.

After the Effective Date, except as otherwise expressly set forth herein, each of the Reorganized Debtors shall
have and retain any and all rights and defenses the applicable Debtor had with respect to any Claim or Interest
immediately prior to the Effective Date. The Debtors may affirmatively determine to deem Unimpaired Claims
Allowed to the same extent such Claims would be allowed under applicable non-bankruptcy law.

C. Claims Administration Responsibilities.

Except as otherwise specifically provided in the Plan, after the Effective Date, the Reorganized Debtors shall
have the sole authority to: (1) File and prosecute objections to Claims; (2) settle, compromise, withdraw, litigate to
judgment, or otherwise resolve objections to any and all Claims or Interests, regardless of whether such Claims are in
a Class or otherwise; (3) settle, compromise, or resolve any Disputed Claim without any further notice to or action,
order, or approval by the Bankruptcy Court; and (4) administer and adjust the Claims Register to reflect any such
settlements or compromises without any further notice to or action, order, or approval by the Bankruptcy Court. For
the avoidance of doubt, except as otherwise provided herein, from and after the Effective Date, each Reorganized
Debtor shall have and retain any and all rights and defenses such Debtor had immediately prior to the Effective Date
with respect to any Disputed Claim or Interest, including the Causes of Action retained pursuant to Article IV.R of
the Plan.

D. Estimation of Claims and Interests.

Before, on, or after the Effective Date, the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, may (but are not
required to) at any time request that the Bankruptcy Court estimate any Disputed Claim or Interest that is contingent
or unliquidated pursuant to section 502(c) of the Bankruptcy Code for any reason, regardless of whether any party in
interest previously has objected to such Claim or Interest or whether the Bankruptcy Court has ruled on any such
objection, and the Bankruptcy Court shall retain jurisdiction to estimate any such Claim or Interest, including during
the litigation of any objection to any Claim or Interest or during the pendency of any appeal relating to such
objection. Notwithstanding any provision otherwise in the Plan, a Claim that has been expunged from the Claims
Register, but that either is subject to appeal or
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has not been the subject of a Final Order, shall be deemed to be estimated at zero dollars, unless otherwise ordered by
the Bankruptcy Court. In the event that the Bankruptcy Court estimates any contingent or unliquidated Claim or
Interest, that estimated amount shall constitute a maximum limitation on such Claim or Interest for all purposes
under the Plan (including for purposes of distributions), and the relevant Reorganized Debtor may elect to pursue any
supplemental proceedings to object to any ultimate distribution on such Claim or Interest.

E. Adjustment to Claims or Interests without Objection.

Any duplicate Claim or Interest or any Claim or Interest that has been paid, satisfied, amended, or superseded
may be adjusted or expunged on the Claims Register by the Reorganized Debtors without the Reorganized Debtors
having to File an application, motion, complaint, objection, or any other legal proceeding seeking to object to such
Claim or Interest and without any further notice to or action, order, or approval of the Bankruptcy Court.

F. Disallowance of Claims or Interests.

Except as otherwise expressly set forth herein, all Claims and Interests of any Entity from which property is
sought by the Debtors under sections 542, 543, 550, or 553 of the Bankruptcy Code or that the Debtors or the
Reorganized Debtors allege is a transferee of a transfer that is avoidable under sections 522(f), 522(h), 544, 545, 547,
548, 549, or 724(a) of the Bankruptcy Code shall be disallowed if: (a) the Entity, on the one hand, and the Debtors
or the Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, on the other hand, agree or the Bankruptcy Court has determined by Final
Order that such Entity or transferee is liable to turn over any property or monies under any of the aforementioned
sections of the Bankruptcy Code; and (b) such Entity or transferee has failed to turn over such property by the date
set forth in such agreement or Final Order.

G. No Distributions Pending Allowance.

Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan, if any portion of a Claim or Interest is a Disputed Claim or
Interest, as applicable, no payment or distribution provided hereunder shall be made on account of such Claim or
Interest unless and until such Disputed Claim or Interest becomes an Allowed Claim or Interest; provided, that if
only the Allowed amount of an otherwise valid Claim or Interest is Disputed, such Claim or Interest shall be deemed
Allowed in the amount not Disputed and payment or distribution shall be made on account of such undisputed
amount.

H. Distributions After Allowance.

To the extent that a Disputed Claim or Interest ultimately becomes an Allowed Claim or Interest, distributions (if
any) shall be made to the Holder of such Allowed Claim or Interest in accordance with the provisions of the Plan. As
soon as reasonably practicable after the date that the order or judgment of the Bankruptcy Court allowing any
Disputed Claim or Interest becomes a Final Order, the Disbursing Agent shall provide to the Holder of such Claim or
Interest the distribution (if any) to which such Holder is entitled under the Plan as of the Effective Date, without any
interest to be paid on account of such Claim or Interest.

L No Interest.
Interest shall not accrue or be paid on any Disputed Claim with respect to the period from the Effective Date to

the date a final distribution is made on account of such Disputed Claim, if and when such Disputed Claim becomes
an Allowed Claim.
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ARTICLE VIIIL.
SETTLEMENT, RELEASE, INJUNCTION, AND RELATED PROVISIONS

A. Discharge of Claims and Termination of Interests.

Pursuant to section 1141(d) of the Bankruptcy Code, and except as otherwise specifically provided in the Plan, or
in any contract, instrument, or other agreement or document created or entered into pursuant to the Plan, the
distributions, rights, and treatment that are provided in the Plan shall be in complete satisfaction, discharge, and
release, effective as of the Effective Date, of Claims (including any Intercompany Claims resolved or compromised
after the Effective Date by the Reorganized Debtors), Interests, and Causes of Action of any nature whatsoever,
including any interest accrued on Claims or Interests from and after the Petition Date, whether known or unknown,
against, liabilities of, Liens on, obligations of, rights against, and interests in, the Debtors or any of their assets or
properties, regardless of whether any property shall have been distributed or retained pursuant to the Plan on account
of such Claims and Interests, including demands, liabilities, and Causes of Action that arose before the Effective
Date, any liability (including withdrawal liability) to the extent such Claims or Interests relate to services performed
by employees of the Debtors prior to the Effective Date and that arise from a termination of employment, any
contingent or non-contingent liability on account of representations or warranties issued on or before the Effective
Date, and all debts of the kind specified in sections 502(g), 502(h), or 502(i) of the Bankruptcy Code, in each case
whether or not: (1) a Proof of Claim based upon such debt or right is Filed or deemed Filed pursuant to section 501
of the Bankruptcy Code; (2) a Claim or Interest based upon such debt, right, or interest is Allowed pursuant to
section 502 of the Bankruptcy Code; or (3) the Holder of such a Claim or Interest has accepted the Plan. Any default
by the Debtors or their Affiliates with respect to any Claim or Interest that existed immediately prior to or on account
of the filing of the Chapter 11 Cases shall be deemed cured on the Effective Date. The Confirmation Order shall be a
judicial determination of the discharge of all Claims (other than the Reinstated Claims) and Interests (other than the
Intercompany Interests that are Reinstated) subject to the occurrence of the Effective Date.

B. Release of Liens.

Except as otherwise provided in the New Revolving Exit Facility Credit Agreement, the Plan, the
Confirmation Order, or in any contract, instrument, release, or other agreement or document created or
entered into pursuant to the Plan, on the Effective Date and concurrently with the applicable distributions
made pursuant to the Plan and, in the case of a Secured Claim, satisfaction in full of the portion of the
Secured Claim that is Allowed as of the Effective Date, except for Other Secured Claims that the Debtors elect
to Reinstate in accordance with the Plan, all mortgages, deeds of trust, Liens, pledges, or other security
interests against any property of the Estates shall be fully released and discharged, and all of the right, title,
and interest of any Holder of such mortgages, deeds of trust, Liens, pledges, or other security interests shall
revert to the Reorganized Debtors and their successors and assigns. Any Holder of such Secured Claim (and
the applicable agents for such Holder) shall be authorized and directed, at the sole cost and expense of the
Reorganized Debtors, to release any collateral or other property of any Debtor (including any cash collateral
and possessory collateral) held by such Holder (and the applicable agents for such Holder), and to take such
actions as may be reasonably requested by the Reorganized Debtors to evidence the release of such Liens
and/or security interests, including the execution, delivery, and filing or recording of such releases. The
presentation or filing of the Confirmation Order to or with any federal, state, provincial, or local agency,
records office, or department shall constitute good and sufficient evidence of, but shall not be required to
effect, the termination of such Liens.

To the extent that any Holder of a Secured Claim that has been satisfied or discharged in full pursuant
to the Plan, or any agent for such Holder, has filed or recorded publicly any Liens
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and/or security interests to secure such Holder’s Secured Claim, then as soon as practicable on or after the
Effective Date, such Holder (or the agent for such Holder) shall take, at the Reorganized Debtors’ sole cost
and expense, any and all steps requested by the Debtors, the Reorganized Debtors, or the New Revolving Exit
Facility Agent that are necessary or desirable to record or effectuate the cancellation and/or extinguishment of
such Liens and/or security interests, including the making of any applicable filings or recordings, and the
Reorganized Debtors shall be entitled to make any such filings or recordings on such Holder’s behalf.

C. Releases by the Debtors.

Notwithstanding anything contained in the Plan to the contrary, pursuant to section 1123(b) of the
Bankruptcy Code, in exchange for good and valuable consideration, the adequacy of which is hereby
confirmed, on and after the Effective Date, each Released Party is, and is deemed hereby to be, fully,
conclusively, absolutely, unconditionally, irrevocably, and forever released and discharged by the Debtors, the
Reorganized Debtors, their Estates, and any person seeking to exercise the rights of the Debtors or their
Estates, including any successors to the Debtors or any Estate representatives appointed or selected pursuant
to section 1123(b)(3) of the Bankruptcy Code, in each case on behalf of themselves and their respective
successors, assigns, and representatives, and any and all other Entities who may purport to assert any Cause
of Action, directly or derivatively, by, through, for, or because of the foregoing Entities, from any and all
Claims and Causes of Action, including any derivative claims asserted or assertable on behalf of the Debtors,
whether known or unknown, foreseen or unforeseen, matured or unmatured, existing or hereafter arising,
contingent or noncontingent, in law, equity, contract, tort or otherwise, that the Debtors, the Reorganized
Debtors, or their Estates, including any successors to the Debtors or any Estate representative appointed or
selected pursuant to section 1123(b) of the Bankruptcy Code, would have been legally entitled to assert in their
own right (whether individually or collectively) or on behalf of the Holder of any Claim against, or Interest in,
a Debtor or other Entity, or that any Holder of any Claim against, or Interest in, a Debtor or other Entity
could have asserted on behalf of the Debtors, based on or relating to, or in any manner arising from, in whole
or in part: (a) the Debtors (including the capital structure, management, ownership, or operation thereof), the
business or contractual arrangement between the Debtors and any Released Party, any Securities issued by
the Debtors and the ownership thereof, the assertion or enforcement of rights and remedies against the
Debtors, the Debtors’ in- or out-of-court restructuring efforts, any Avoidance Actions (but excluding
Avoidance Actions brought as counterclaims or defenses to Claims asserted against the Debtors),
intercompany transactions between the Debtors, the Term Loan Agreement, the Secured Notes Indenture, the
Chapter 11 Cases, the formulation, preparation, dissemination, negotiation, or filing of the Restructuring
Support Agreement, the Disclosure Statement, the New Revolving Exit Facility Credit Agreement, or the Plan
(including, for the avoidance of doubt, the Plan Supplement); (b) any Restructuring Transaction, contract,
instrument, release, or other agreement or document (including any legal opinion requested by any Entity
regarding any transaction, contract, instrument, document or other agreement contemplated by the Plan or
the reliance by any Released Party on the Plan or the Confirmation Order in lieu of such legal opinion)
created or entered into in connection with the Restructuring Support Agreement, the Disclosure Statement,
the New Revolving Exit Facility Credit Agreement, the Plan, or the Plan Supplement, before or during the
Chapter 11 Cases; (c) the Chapter 11 Cases, the filing of the Chapter 11 Cases, the Disclosure Statement or
the Plan, the solicitation of votes with respect to the Plan, the pursuit of Confirmation, the pursuit of
Consummation, the administration and implementation of the Plan, including the issuance or distribution of
Securities pursuant to the Plan, or the distribution of property under the Plan or any other related agreement;
or (d) any related act or omission, transaction, agreement, event, or other occurrence related or relating to
any of the foregoing taking place on or before the Effective Date, including all Avoidance Actions or other
relief obtained by the Debtors in the Chapter 11 Cases.
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Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the foregoing, the releases set forth above do not release (i) post
Effective Date obligations of any party or Entity under the Plan, the Confirmation Order, any Restructuring
Transaction, any Definitive Document, or any other document, instrument, or agreement (including those set
forth in the Plan Supplement) executed to implement the Plan, including the New Revolving Exit Facility
Credit Agreement, or any Claim or obligation arising under the Plan, or (ii) the rights of any Holder of
Allowed Claims or FTS Common Interests to receive distributions under the Plan.

Entry of the Confirmation Order shall constitute the Bankruptcy Court’s approval, pursuant to
Bankruptcy Rule 9019, of the foregoing Debtor release, which includes by reference each of the related
provisions and definitions contained in the Plan, and further, shall constitute the Bankruptcy Court’s finding
that the foregoing Debtor release is: (a) in exchange for the good and valuable consideration provided by the
Released Parties, including, without limitation, the Released Parties’ contributions to facilitating the
Restructuring Transactions and implementing the Plan; (b) a good faith settlement and compromise of the
Claims released by the foregoing Debtor release; (c) in the best interests of the Debtors and their Estates and
all Holders of Claims and Interests; (d) fair, equitable, and reasonable; (e) given and made after due notice
and opportunity for hearing; and (f) a bar to any of the Debtors, the Reorganized Debtors, or the Debtors’
Estates asserting any Claim or Cause of Action released pursuant to the foregoing Debtor release.

D. Releases by the Releasing Parties.

Except as otherwise expressly set forth in the Plan or the Confirmation Order, on and after the Effective
Date, in exchange for good and valuable consideration, the adequacy of which is hereby confirmed, each
Released Party is, and is deemed hereby to be, fully, conclusively, absolutely, unconditionally, irrevocably and
forever, released and discharged by each Releasing Party, in each case on behalf of themselves and their
respective successors, assigns, and representatives, and any and all other Entities who may purport to assert
any Cause of Action, directly or derivatively, by, through, for, or because of the Releasing Parties, from any
and all Claims and Causes of Action, whether known or unknown, foreseen or unforeseen, matured or
unmatured, existing or hereafter arising, contingent or noncontingent, in law, equity, contract, tort, or
otherwise, including any derivative claims asserted on behalf of the Debtors, that such Releasing Party would
have been legally entitled to assert in their own right (whether individually or collectively) or on behalf of the
Holder of any Claim against, or Interest in, a Debtor or other Entity, or that any Holder of any Claim against,
or Interest in, a Debtor or other Entity could have asserted on behalf of the Debtors, based on or relating to,
or in any manner arising from, in whole or in part: (a) the Debtors (including the capital structure,
management, ownership, or operation thereof), the business or contractual arrangement between the Debtors
and any Releasing Party, any Securities issued by the Debtors and the ownership thereof, the assertion or
enforcement of rights and remedies against the Debtors, the Debtors’ in- or out-of-court restructuring efforts,
any Avoidance Actions (but excluding Avoidance Actions brought as counterclaims or defenses to Claims
asserted against the Debtors), intercompany transactions between or among the Debtors, the Term Loan
Agreement, the Secured Notes Indenture, the Chapter 11 Cases, the formulation, preparation, dissemination,
negotiation, or filing of the Restructuring Support Agreement, the Disclosure Statement, the New Revolving
Exit Facility Credit Agreement, or the Plan (including, for the avoidance of doubt, the Plan Supplement); (b)
any Restructuring Transaction, contract, instrument, release, or other agreement or document (including any
legal opinion requested by any Entity regarding any transaction, contract, instrument, document or other
agreement contemplated by the Plan or the reliance by any Released Party on the Plan or the Confirmation
Order in lieu of such legal opinion) created or entered into in connection with the Restructuring Support
Agreement, the Disclosure Statement, the New Revolving Exit Facility Credit Agreement, the Plan, or the
Plan Supplement, before or during the Chapter 11 Cases; (c) the Chapter
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11 Cases, the filing of the Chapter 11 Cases, the Disclosure Statement, or the Plan, the solicitation of votes
with respect to the Plan, the pursuit of Confirmation, the pursuit of Consummation, the administration and
implementation of the Plan, including the issuance or distribution of Securities pursuant to the Plan, or the
distribution of property under the Plan or any other related agreement; or (d) any related act or omission,
transaction, agreement, event, or other occurrence related or relating to any of the foregoing taking place on
or before the Effective Date, including all Avoidance Actions or other relief obtained by the Debtors in the
Chapter 11 Cases.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the foregoing, the releases set forth above do not release (i)
any post Effective Date obligations of any party or Entity under the Plan, the Confirmation Order, any
Restructuring Transaction, or any document, instrument, any Definitive Document, or any agreement
(including those set forth in the Plan Supplement) executed to implement the Plan, including the New
Revolving Exit Facility Credit Agreement, or any Claim or obligation arising under the Plan, (ii) the rights of
Holders of Allowed Claims or FT'S Common Interests to receive distributions under the Plan or (iii) any
claims or liabilities arising out of or relating to any act or omission of a Released Party that is determined in a
final order by a court of competent jurisdiction to have constituted actual fraud, willful misconduct, or gross
negligence.

Entry of the Confirmation Order shall constitute the Bankruptcy Court’s approval, pursuant to
Bankruptcy Rule 9019, of the foregoing third-party release, which includes by reference each of the related
provisions and definitions contained herein, and, further, shall constitute the Bankruptcy Court’s finding that
the foregoing third-party release is: (a) consensual; (b) essential to the Confirmation of the Plan; (c) given in
exchange for a substantial contribution and for the good and valuable consideration provided by the Released
Parties that is important to the success of the Plan; (d) a good faith settlement and compromise of the Claims
released by the foregoing third-party release; (e) in the best interests of the Debtors and their Estates; (f) fair,
equitable, and reasonable; (g) given and made after due notice and opportunity for hearing; and (h) a bar to
any of the Releasing Parties asserting any claim or Cause of Action released pursuant to the foregoing third-
party release.

E. Exculpation.

Except as otherwise specifically provided in the Plan or the Confirmation Order, no Exculpated Party
shall have or incur liability for, and each Exculpated Party shall be released and exculpated from any Claims
and Causes of Action for any claim related to any act or omission in connection with, relating to, or arising out
of, the Chapter 11 Cases, the formulation, preparation, dissemination, negotiation, filing, or termination of the
Restructuring Support Agreement and related prepetition transactions (including the Term Loan Agreement
and the Secured Notes Indenture), the Disclosure Statement, the Plan, the New Revolving Exit Facility Credit
Agreement, the Plan Supplement, or any Restructuring Transaction, contract, instrument, release or other
agreement or document (including any legal opinion requested by any Entity regarding any transaction,
contract, instrument, document or other agreement contemplated by the Plan or the reliance by any Released
Party on the Plan or the Confirmation Order in lieu of such legal opinion), including any Definitive
Document, created or entered into before or during the Chapter 11 Cases, any preference, fraudulent
transfer, or other avoidance claim arising pursuant to chapter 5 of the Bankruptcy Code or other applicable
law, the filing of the Chapter 11 Cases, the pursuit of Confirmation, the pursuit of Consummation, the
administration and implementation of the Plan, including the issuance or distribution of Securities pursuant
to the Plan, or the distribution of property under the Plan or any other related agreement, or upon any other
related act or omission, transaction, agreement, event, or other occurrence taking place on or before the
Effective Date, except for claims related to any act or omission that is determined in a final order by a court of
competent jurisdiction to have constituted actual fraud, willful misconduct, or gross negligence, but
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in all respects such Entities shall be entitled to reasonably rely upon the advice of counsel with respect to their
duties and responsibilities pursuant to the Plan.

The Exculpated Parties and other parties set forth above have, and upon Confirmation of the Plan shall be
deemed to have, participated in good faith and in compliance with the applicable laws with regard to the
solicitation of votes and distribution of consideration pursuant to the Plan and, therefore, are not, and on
account of such distributions shall not be, liable at any time for the violation of any applicable law, rule, or
regulation governing the solicitation of acceptances or rejections of the Plan or such distributions made
pursuant to the Plan.

F. Injunction.

Except as otherwise expressly provided in the Plan or the Confirmation Order or for obligations or
distributions issued or required to be paid pursuant to the Plan or the Confirmation Order, all Entities who
have held, hold, or may hold the Released Claims are permanently enjoined, from and after the Effective
Date, from taking any of the following actions against, as applicable, the Debtors, the Reorganized Debtors,
the Exculpated Parties, or the Released Parties: (1) commencing or continuing in any manner any action or
other proceeding of any kind on account of or in connection with or with respect to any Released Claims; (2)
enforcing, attaching, collecting, or recovering by any manner or means any judgment, award, decree, or order
against such Entities on account of or in connection with or with respect to any Released Claims; (3) creating,
perfecting, or enforcing any lien or encumbrance of any kind against such Entities or the property of such
Entities on account of or in connection with or with respect to any Released Claims; (4) asserting any right of
setoff, subrogation, or recoupment of any kind against any obligation due from such Entities or against the
property or the Estates of such Entities on account of or in connection with or with respect to any Released
Claims unless such holder has filed a motion requesting the right to perform such setoff on or before the
Effective Date, and notwithstanding an indication of a Claim or Interest or otherwise that such holder asserts,
has, or intends to preserve any right of setoff pursuant to applicable law or otherwise; and (5) commencing or
continuing in any manner any action or other proceeding of any kind on account of or in connection with or
with respect to any Released Claims released or settled pursuant to the Plan.

Upon entry of the Confirmation Order, all Holders of Claims and Interests and their respective current
and former employees, agents, officers, directors, principals, and direct and indirect Affiliates shall be
enjoined from taking any actions to interfere with the implementation or Consummation of the Plan. Each
Holder of an Allowed Claim or Allowed Interest, as applicable, by accepting, or being eligible to accept,
distributions under or Reinstatement of such Claim or Interest, as applicable, pursuant to the Plan, shall be
deemed to have consented to the injunction provisions as set forth in this Article VIILF hereof.

G. Protections Against Discriminatory Treatment.

Consistent with section 525 of the Bankruptcy Code and the Supremacy Clause of the U.S. Constitution, all
Entities, including Governmental Units, shall not discriminate against the Reorganized Debtors or deny, revoke,
suspend, or refuse to renew a license, permit, charter, franchise, or other similar grant to, condition such a grant to, or
discriminate with respect to such a grant against, the Reorganized Debtors, or another Entity with whom the
Reorganized Debtors have been associated, solely because each Debtor has been a debtor under chapter 11 of the
Bankruptcy Code, has been insolvent before the commencement of the Chapter 11 Cases (or during the Chapter 11
Cases but before the Debtors are granted or denied a discharge), or has not paid a debt that is dischargeable in the
Chapter 11 Cases.
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H. Document Retention.

On and after the Effective Date, the Reorganized Debtors may maintain documents in accordance with their
standard document retention policy, as may be altered, amended, modified, or supplemented by the Reorganized
Debtors.

I. Reimbursement or Contribution.

If the Bankruptcy Court disallows a Claim for reimbursement or contribution of an Entity pursuant to
section 502(e)(1)(B) of the Bankruptcy Code, then to the extent that such Claim is contingent as of the time of
allowance or disallowance, such Claim shall be forever disallowed and expunged notwithstanding section 502(j) of
the Bankruptcy Code, unless prior to the Confirmation Date: (1) such Claim has been adjudicated as non-contingent
or (2) the relevant Holder of a Claim has Filed a non-contingent Proof of Claim on account of such Claim and a Final
Order has been entered prior to the Confirmation Date determining such Claim is no longer contingent.

ARTICLE IX.
CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO CONSUMMATION OF THIS PLAN

A. Conditions Precedent to the Effective Date.

It shall be a condition to the Effective Date that the following conditions shall have been satisfied or waived
pursuant to the provisions of Article IX.B hereof:

1. the Bankruptcy Court shall have entered the Confirmation Order, which shall be a Final Order;

2. the final version of the Plan Supplement and all of the schedules, documents, and exhibits contained
therein, and all other schedules, documents, supplements and exhibits to the Plan, shall have been filed;

3. the Debtors shall have obtained all authorizations, consents, regulatory approvals, rulings, or
documents that are necessary to implement and effectuate the Plan, and all applicable regulatory or government-
imposed waiting periods have expired or been terminated;

4. the Definitive Documents shall be consistent with the Plan, the Restructuring Term Sheet and the
Restructuring Support Agreement and otherwise acceptable to the parties to the Restructuring Support Agreement
consistent with their respective consent and approval rights as set forth in the Restructuring Support Agreement;

5. the New Revolving Exit Facility Credit Agreement and other documents related to the New Revolving
Exit Facility shall have been duly executed and delivered by all of the Entities that are parties thereto and all
conditions precedent (other than any conditions related to the occurrence of the Effective Date) to the effectiveness
of the New Revolving Exit Facility shall have been satisfied or duly waived in writing in accordance with the terms
of the New Revolving Exit Facility and the closing of the New Revolving Exit Facility shall have occurred;

6. the Debtors shall have implemented the Restructuring Transactions and all transactions contemplated

in the Restructuring Term Sheet in a manner consistent with the Restructuring Support Agreement (and subject to,
and in accordance with, the consent rights set forth therein), the Restructuring Term Sheet and the Plan;
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7. the New Organizational Documents shall be in full force and effect (with all conditions precedent
thereto having been satisfied or waived);

8. the Restructuring Support Agreement shall not have been terminated by the Debtors or the Required
Consenting Creditors;

9. all Professional fees and expenses of retained Professionals that require the Bankruptcy Court’s
approval shall have been paid in full or amounts sufficient to pay such fees and expenses after the Effective Date
shall have been placed in a Professional Fee Escrow Account pending the Bankruptcy Court’s approval of such fees
and expenses; and

10. all Restructuring Expenses shall have been indefeasibly paid in full as set forth in Article IL.E.
B. Waiver of Conditions.

The Debtors, with the prior written consent of the Required Consenting Creditors, may waive any of the
conditions to the Effective Date set forth in this Article IX at any time, without any notice to any other parties in
interest and without any further notice to or action, order, or approval of the Bankruptcy Court, and without any
formal action other than proceedings to confirm or consummate the Plan.

C. Effect of Failure of Conditions.

If Consummation does not occur, the Plan shall be null and void in all respects and nothing contained in the Plan,
the Disclosure Statement, or the Restructuring Support Agreement shall: (1) constitute a waiver or release of any
Claims by or against the Debtors; (2) prejudice in any manner the rights of the Debtors, any Holders of Claims or
Interests, or any other Entity; or (3) constitute an admission, acknowledgment, offer, or undertaking by the Debtors,
any Holders of Claims or Interests (including the Consenting Creditors), or any other Entity.

D. Substantial Consummation

“Substantial Consummation” of the Plan, as defined in 11 U.S.C. § 1101(2), shall be deemed to occur on the
Effective Date.

ARTICLE X.
MODIFICATION, REVOCATION, OR WITHDRAWAL OF THIS PLAN

A. Modification and Amendments.

Except as otherwise specifically provided in the Plan and subject to the consent rights set forth in the
Restructuring Support Agreement, the Debtors reserve the right to modify the Plan, whether such modification is
material or immaterial, and seek Confirmation consistent with the Bankruptcy Code and, as appropriate, not resolicit
votes on such modified Plan. Subject to those restrictions on modifications set forth in the Plan and the
Restructuring Support Agreement and the requirements of section 1127 of the Bankruptcy Code, Rule 3019 of the
Federal Rules of Bankruptcy Procedure, and, to the extent applicable, sections 1122, 1123, and 1125 of the
Bankruptcy Code, each of the Debtors expressly reserves its respective rights to revoke or withdraw, or to alter,
amend, or modify the Plan with respect to such Debtor, one or more times, after Confirmation, and, to the extent
necessary may initiate proceedings in the Bankruptcy Court to so alter, amend, or modify the Plan, or remedy any
defect or omission, or reconcile any
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inconsistencies in the Plan, the Disclosure Statement, or the Confirmation Order, in such matters as may be necessary
to carry out the purposes and intent of the Plan.

B. Effect of Confirmation on Modifications.

Entry of the Confirmation Order shall mean that all modifications or amendments to the Plan since the
solicitation thereof are approved pursuant to section 1127(a) of the Bankruptcy Code and a finding that such
modifications or amendments to the Plan do not require additional disclosure or resolicitation under Bankruptcy Rule
3019.

C. Revocation or Withdrawal of Plan.

To the extent permitted by the Restructuring Support Agreement, the Debtors reserve the right to revoke or
withdraw the Plan prior to the Confirmation Date and to File subsequent plans of reorganization. If the Debtors
revoke or withdraw the Plan, or if Confirmation or Consummation does not occur, then: (1) the Plan shall be null
and void in all respects; (2) any settlement or compromise embodied in the Plan (including the fixing or limiting to
an amount certain of any Claim or Interest or Class of Claims or Interests), assumption or rejection of Executory
Contracts or Unexpired Leases effected under the Plan, and any document or agreement executed pursuant to the
Plan, shall be deemed null and void; and (3) nothing contained in the Plan shall: (a) constitute a waiver or release of
any Claims or Interests; (b) prejudice in any manner the rights of such Debtor or any other Entity; or (c) constitute an
admission, acknowledgement, offer, or undertaking of any sort by such Debtor or any other Entity; provided,
however, that all orders of the Bankruptcy Court and all documents executed pursuant thereto, except the
Confirmation Order, shall remain in full force and effect. This provision shall have no impact on the rights of the
Consenting Creditors or the Debtors, as set forth in the Restructuring Support Agreement, in respect of any such
revocation or withdrawal.

ARTICLE XI.
RETENTION OF JURISDICTION

Notwithstanding the entry of the Confirmation Order and the occurrence of the Effective Date, on and after the
Effective Date, the Bankruptcy Court shall retain exclusive jurisdiction over all matters arising out of, or relating to,
the Chapter 11 Cases and the Plan pursuant to sections 105(a) and 1142 of the Bankruptcy Code, including
jurisdiction to:

a. allow, disallow, determine, liquidate, classify, estimate, or establish the priority, secured or
unsecured status, or amount of any Claim or Interest, including the resolution of any request for payment of any
Administrative Claim and the resolution of any and all objections to the secured or unsecured status, priority,
amount, or allowance of Claims or Interests;

b. decide and resolve all matters related to the granting and denying, in whole or in part, any
applications for allowance of compensation or reimbursement of expenses to Professionals authorized pursuant to the
Bankruptcy Code or the Plan;

c. resolve any matters related to: (a) the assumption, assumption and assignment, or rejection of
any Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease to which a Debtor is party or with respect to which a Debtor may be
liable and to hear, determine, and, if necessary, liquidate, any Claims arising therefrom, including Cures pursuant to
section 365 of the Bankruptcy Code; (b) any potential contractual obligation under any Executory Contract or
Unexpired Lease that is assumed; (c) the Reorganized Debtors amending, modifying, or supplementing, after the
Effective Date, pursuant to Article V hereof, the Schedule of
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Rejected Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases or otherwise; and (d) any dispute regarding whether a contract
or lease is or was executory or expired;

d. ensure that distributions to Holders of Allowed Claims are accomplished pursuant to the
provisions of the Plan and to adjudicate any and all disputes arising from or relating to distributions under the Plan;

e. adjudicate, decide, or resolve any motions, adversary proceedings, contested or litigated
matters, and any other matters, and grant or deny any applications involving a Debtor that may be pending on the
Effective Date;

f. adjudicate, decide, or resolve any and all matters related to section 1141 of the Bankruptcy
Code;

g. enter and implement such orders as may be necessary to execute, implement, or consummate
the provisions of the Plan and all contracts, instruments, releases, indentures, and other agreements or documents
created or entered into in connection with the Plan, the Confirmation Order or the Disclosure Statement, including
the Restructuring Support Agreement;

h. enter and enforce any order for the sale of property pursuant to sections 363, 1123, or 1146(a)
of the Bankruptcy Code;
L. resolve any cases, controversies, suits, disputes, or Causes of Action that may arise in

connection with the Consummation, interpretation, implementation, or enforcement of the Plan or any Entity’s
obligations incurred in connection with the Plan;

J- issue injunctions, enter and implement other orders, or take such other actions as may be
necessary to restrain interference by any Entity with Consummation, implementation, or enforcement of the Plan, the
Confirmation Order, or any other order of the Bankruptcy Court;

k. resolve any cases, controversies, suits, disputes, or Causes of Action with respect to the
releases, injunctions, exculpations, and other provisions contained in Article VIII hereof and enter such orders as
may be necessary or appropriate to implement such releases, injunctions, and other provisions;

L resolve any cases, controversies, suits, disputes, or Causes of Action with respect to the
repayment or return of distributions and the recovery of additional amounts owed by the Holder of a Claim or
Interest for amounts not timely repaid pursuant to Article VI.J hereof;

m. enter and implement such orders as are necessary if the Confirmation Order is for any reason
modified, stayed, reversed, revoked, or vacated;

n. determine any other matters that may arise in connection with or relate to the Plan, the Plan
Supplement, the Disclosure Statement, the Confirmation Order, or any contract, instrument, release, indenture, or
other agreement or document created in connection with the Plan or the Disclosure Statement, including the
Restructuring Support Agreement;

0. enter an order concluding or closing the Chapter 11 Cases;

p. adjudicate any and all disputes arising from or relating to distributions under the Plan;
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qg. consider any modifications of the Plan, to cure any defect or omission, or to reconcile any
inconsistency in any Bankruptcy Court order, including the Confirmation Order;

r. determine requests for the payment of Claims and Interests entitled to priority pursuant to
section 507 of the Bankruptcy Code;

S. hear and determine disputes arising in connection with the interpretation, implementation, or
enforcement of the Plan or the Confirmation Order, including disputes arising under agreements, documents, or
instruments executed in connection with the Plan;

t. hear and determine matters concerning state, local, and federal taxes in accordance with
sections 346, 505, and 1146 of the Bankruptcy Code;

u. hear and determine matters concerning exemptions from state and local federal registration
requirements in accordance with section 1145 of the Bankruptcy Code;

V. hear and determine all disputes involving the existence, nature, scope, or enforcement of any
exculpations, discharges, injunctions, and releases granted in the Plan, including under Article VIII hereof, regardless
of whether such termination occurred prior to or after the Effective Date;

W. enforce all orders previously entered by the Bankruptcy Court; and
X. hear any other matter not inconsistent with the Bankruptcy Code.

As of the Effective Date, notwithstanding anything in this Article X1 to the contrary, the New Organizational
Documents and the New Revolving Exit Facility and any documents related thereto shall be governed by the
jurisdictional provisions therein and the Bankruptcy Court shall not retain jurisdiction with respect thereto.

ARTICLE XII.
MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

A. Immediate Binding Effect.

Subject to Article IX.A hereof, and notwithstanding Bankruptcy Rules 3020(e), 6004(h), or 7062 or otherwise,
upon the occurrence of the Effective Date, the terms of the Plan (including, for the avoidance of doubt, the
documents and instruments contained in the Plan Supplement) shall be immediately effective and enforceable and
deemed binding upon the Debtors, the Reorganized Debtors, any and all Holders of Claims or Interests (irrespective
of whether such Holders of Claims or Interests have, or are deemed to have, accepted the Plan), all Entities that are
parties to or are subject to the settlements, compromises, releases, discharges, and injunctions described in the Plan,
each Entity acquiring property under the Plan, and any and all non-Debtor parties to Executory Contracts and
Unexpired Leases with the Debtors. All Claims and Interests shall be as fixed, adjusted, or compromised, as
applicable, pursuant to the Plan regardless of whether any Holder of a Claim or Interest has voted on the Plan.

B. Additional Documents.

On or before the Effective Date, and consistent in all respects with the terms of the Restructuring Support
Agreement, the Debtors may file with the Bankruptcy Court such agreements and other documents as may be
necessary to effectuate and further evidence the terms and conditions of the Plan. The Debtors or the Reorganized
Debtors, as applicable, and all Holders of Claims or Interests receiving distributions

53




pursuant to the Plan and all other parties in interest shall, from time to time, prepare, execute, and deliver any
agreements or documents and take any other actions as may be necessary or advisable to effectuate the provisions
and intent of the Plan.

C. Statutory Committee and Cessation of Fee and Expense Payment.

On the Confirmation Date, any statutory committee appointed in the Chapter 11 Cases shall dissolve and
members thereof shall be released and discharged from all rights and duties arising from or related to the Chapter 11
Cases. The Reorganized Debtors shall no longer be responsible for paying any fees or expenses incurred by the
members of or advisors to any statutory committees after the Confirmation Date.

D. Reservation of Rights.

Except as expressly set forth in the Plan, the Plan shall have no force or effect unless the Bankruptcy Court shall
enter the Confirmation Order, and the Confirmation Order shall have no force or effect if the Effective Date does not
occur. None of the Filing of the Plan, any statement or provision contained in the Plan, or the taking of any action by
any Debtor with respect to the Plan, the Disclosure Statement, or the Plan Supplement shall be or shall be deemed to
be an admission or waiver of any rights of any Debtor with respect to the Holders of Claims or Interests prior to the
Effective Date.

E. Successors and Assigns.

The rights, benefits, and obligations of any Entity named or referred to in the Plan shall be binding on, and shall
inure to the benefit of any heir, executor, administrator, successor or assign, Affiliate, officer, manager, director,
agent, representative, attorney, beneficiary, or guardian, if any, of each Entity.

F. Notices.

All notices, requests, and demands to or upon the Debtors to be effective shall be in writing (including by
facsimile transmission) and, unless otherwise expressly provided herein, shall be deemed to have been duly given or
made when actually delivered or, in the case of notice by facsimile transmission, when received and telephonically
confirmed, addressed as follows:
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If to the Debtors:

If to the Counsel to the Debtors:

FTS International, Inc.

777 Main Street, Suite 2900

Fort Worth, Texas 76102

Attention: Jennifer Keefe, SVP, General Counsel &
Chief Compliance Officer

E-mail: Jennifer. Keefe@ftsi.com

Kirkland & Ellis LLP

609 Main Street

Houston, Texas 77002
Attention: Brian Schartz, P.C.

E-mail: brian.schartz@kirkland.com
and

601 Lexington Avenue
New York, New York 10022
Attention: Joshua A. Sussberg, P.C.
Emily Geier
Alexander Nicas

E-mail: joshua.sussberg@kirkland.com
emily.geier@kirkland.com
alexander.nicas@kirkland.com

and

Winston & Strawn LLP

800 Capitol Street, Suite 2400
Houston, Texas 77002
Attention: Katherine A. Preston
E-mail: kpreston@winston.com

and

35 W Wacker Drive

Chicago, Illinois 60601
Attention: Daniel J. McGuire
E-mail: dmcguire@winston.com
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If to the U.S. Trustee: If to the Counsel to the Ad Hoc Group of Secured

Noteholders:
United States Trustee Davis Polk & Wardwell LLP
for the Southern District of Texas 450 Lexington Avenue
515 Rusk Street, Suite 3516 New York, NY 10017
Houston, TX 77002 Attention: Donald S. Bernstein
Damian Schaible
Michael Pera

E-mail: donald.bernstein@davispolk.com
damian.schaible@davispolk.com
michael.pera@davispolk.com

and

Rapp & Rock, PC

Two Post Oak Central

1980 Post Oak Blvd. Suite 1200
Houston, Texas 77056

Attention: Henry Flores

E-mail: HFlores@rappandkrock.com

If to the Counsel to the Ad Hoc Group of Term Loan

Lenders:

Stroock & Stroock & Lavan LLP

180 Maiden Lane

New York, NY 10038

Tel.: (212) 806-5400

Attention: Jayme T. Goldstein
Allison P. Miller
Daniel P. Ginsberg

E-mail:  jgoldstein@stroock.com
amiller@stroock.com
dginsberg@stroock.com

and

Lugenbuhl, Wheaton, Peck, Rankin & Hubbard 601
Poydras St., Suite 2775

New Orleans, LA 70130

Tel.: (504) 568-1990

Attention: Benjamin W. Kadden

E-mail:  bkadden@lawla.com

After the Effective Date, the Reorganized Debtors have the authority to send a notice to Entities that to continue
to receive documents pursuant to Bankruptcy Rule 2002, an Entity must file a renewed request to receive documents
pursuant to Bankruptcy Rule 2002. After the Effective Date, the Reorganized Debtors are authorized to limit the list
of Entities receiving documents pursuant to Bankruptcy Rule 2002 to those Entities who have Filed such renewed
requests.
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G. Term of Injunctions or Stays.

Unless otherwise provided in the Plan or in the Confirmation Order, all injunctions or stays in effect in the
Chapter 11 Cases pursuant to sections 105 or 362 of the Bankruptcy Code or any order of the Bankruptcy
Court, and extant on the Confirmation Date (excluding any injunctions or stays contained in the Plan or the
Confirmation Order) shall remain in full force and effect until the Effective Date. All injunctions or stays
contained in the Plan or the Confirmation Order shall remain in full force and effect in accordance with their
terms.

H. Entire Agreement.

Except as otherwise indicated, the Plan (including, for the avoidance of doubt, the documents and instruments in
the Plan Supplement) supersedes all previous and contemporaneous negotiations, promises, covenants, agreements,
understandings, and representations on such subjects, all of which have become merged and integrated into the Plan.

L Plan Supplement.

All exhibits and documents included in the Plan Supplement are an integral part of the Plan and are incorporated
into and are a part of the Plan as if set forth in full in the Plan. After the exhibits and documents are Filed, copies of
such exhibits and documents shall be available upon written request to the Debtors’ counsel at the address above or
by downloading such exhibits and documents from the Debtors’ restructuring website at
https://dm.epiql1.com/case/ftsi or the Bankruptcy Court’s website at www.txs.uscourts.gov/bankruptcy. To the
extent any exhibit or document in the Plan Supplement is inconsistent with the terms of the Plan, unless otherwise
ordered by the Bankruptcy Court, the Plan Supplement document or exhibit shall control (unless stated otherwise in
such Plan Supplement document or exhibit or in the Confirmation Order).

J. Nonseverability of Plan Provisions.

If, prior to Confirmation, any term or provision of the Plan is held by the Bankruptcy Court to be invalid, void, or
unenforceable, the Bankruptcy Court shall have the power to alter and interpret such term or provision to make it
valid or enforceable to the maximum extent practicable, consistent with the original purpose of the term or provision
held to be invalid, void, or unenforceable, and such term or provision shall then be applicable as altered or
interpreted. Notwithstanding any such holding, alteration, or interpretation, the remainder of the terms and
provisions of the Plan will remain in full force and effect and will in no way be affected, impaired, or invalidated by
such holding, alteration, or interpretation.

The Confirmation Order shall constitute a judicial determination and shall provide that each term and provision
of the Plan, as it may have been altered or interpreted in accordance with the foregoing, is: (1) valid and enforceable
pursuant to its terms; (2) integral to the Plan and may not be deleted or modified without the Debtors’ or Reorganized
Debtors’ consent, as applicable (but subject to the terms of the Restructuring Support Agreement); and
(3) nonseverable and mutually dependent.

K. Votes Solicited in Good Faith.

Upon entry of the Confirmation Order, the Debtors will be deemed to have solicited votes on the Plan in good
faith and in compliance with section 1125(g) of the Bankruptcy Code, and pursuant to section 1125(e) of the
Bankruptcy Code, the Debtors and each of their respective Affiliates, agents, representatives, members, principals,
shareholders, officers, directors, managers, employees, advisors, and attorneys will be deemed to have participated in
good faith and in compliance with the Bankruptcy Code

57




in the offer, issuance, sale, and purchase of Securities offered and sold under the Plan and any previous plan, and,
therefore, no such parties nor individuals nor the Reorganized Debtors will have any liability for the violation of any
applicable law, rule, or regulation governing the solicitation of votes on the Plan or the offer, issuance, sale, or
purchase of the Securities offered and sold under the Plan and any previous plan.

L. Closing of Chapter 11 Cases.

On and after the date on which the Bankruptcy Court finds that the Effective Date has occurred, the Plan has been
substantially consummated, and the estates of those cases to be closed are fully administered, the Debtors or
Reorganized Debtors shall be permitted to close all of the Chapter 11 Cases of the Debtors except for the Chapter 11
Case of Debtor FTS and any other Debtor later identified as having its Chapter 11 Case remain open following the
Effective Date, and all contested matters relating to any of the Debtors, including objections to Claims and any
adversary proceedings, shall be administered and heard in the Chapter 11 Case of Debtor FTS, irrespective of
whether such Claim(s) were Filed or such adversary proceeding was commenced against a Debtor whose Chapter 11
Case was closed.

When all Disputed Claims have become Allowed or disallowed and all distributions have been made in
accordance with the Plan, the Reorganized Debtors shall seek authority to close any remaining Chapter 11 Cases in
accordance with the Bankruptcy Code and the Bankruptcy Rules.

M. Waiver or Estoppel.

Each Holder of a Claim or an Interest shall be deemed to have waived any right to assert any argument, including
the right to argue that its Claim or Interest should be Allowed in a certain amount, in a certain priority, secured or not
subordinated by virtue of an agreement made with the Debtors or their counsel, or any other Entity, if such
agreement was not disclosed in the Plan, the Disclosure Statement, or papers Filed with the Bankruptcy Court prior
to the Confirmation Date.

N. Creditor Default.

An act or omission by a Holder of a Claim or an Interest in contravention of the provisions of the Plan shall be
deemed an event of default under the Plan. Upon an event of default, the Reorganized Debtors may seek to hold the
defaulting party in contempt of the Confirmation Order and shall be entitled to reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs in
remedying such default. Upon the finding of such a default by a creditor, the Bankruptcy Court may: (a) designate a
party to appear, sign and/or accept the documents required under the Plan on behalf of the defaulting party, in
accordance with Bankruptcy Rule 7070; (b) enforce the Plan by order of specific performance; (¢) award judgment
against such defaulting creditor in favor of the Reorganized Debtor in an amount, including interest, to compensate
the Reorganized Debtors for the damages caused by such default; and (d) make such other order as may be equitable
that does not materially alter the terms of the Plan.
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Dated: November 4, 2020

FTS INTERNATIONAL, INC.

FTS on behalf of itself and all other Debtors

/s/ Lance Turner

Lance Turner
FTS International, Inc.
Authorized Signatory




EXHIBIT B

Confirmation Order and Effective Date Notice




IN THE UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS

HOUSTON DIVISION
)
In re: ) Chapter 11
FTS INTERNATIONAL, INC,, et al.,! 3 Case No. 20-34622 (DRIJ)
Debtors. ; (Jointly Administered)
; Re: Docket No.

NOTICE OF (I) ENTRY OF AN ORDER
APPROVING THE DEBTORS’ DISCLOSURE
STATEMENT AND CONFIRMING THE JOINT PREPACKAGED
CHAPTER 11 PLAN OF REORGANIZATION OF FTS INTERNATIONAL, INC.
AND ITS DEBTOR AFFILIATES AND (II) OCCURRENCE OF EFFECTIVE DATE

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that on November [¢], 2020, the Honorable David R. Jones, United States
Bankruptcy Judge for the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of Texas (the “Court”), entered
the Order Approving the Debtors’ Disclosure Statement and Confirming the Joint Prepackaged Chapter 11 Plan of
Reorganization of FTS International, Inc. and its Debtor Affiliates [Docket No. [*]] (the “Confirmation Order”)
confirming the Plan2 and approving the Disclosure Statement [Docket No. 17] of the above-captioned debtors (the
“Debtors™).

PLEASE TAKE FURTHER NOTICE that the Effective Date of the Plan occurred on [*], 2020.

PLEASE TAKE FURTHER NOTICE that the following names have been used by the Debtors in the past
eight (8) years.

Current Entity Name Former Names

FTS International, LLC, FTS International
Holdings, LLC, THC Catering LLC, Western
Colorado Truck Center LLC, THC Investments
LLC, FTS International Holdings LLC, Frac
Tech Management LLC, Specialty OG
Holdings, LLC, Frac Tech Holdings LLC

FTS International, Inc.

1 The Debtors in these chapter 11 cases, along with the last four digits of each Debtor’s federal tax identification number, are: FTS
International, Inc. (0081); FTS International Manufacturing, LLC (9132); and FTS International Services, LLC (7729). The location of
Debtor FTS International, Inc.’s principal place of business and the Debtors’ service address in these chapter 11 cases is 777 Main Street,
Suite 2900, Fort Worth, Texas 76102.

Capitalized terms used but not otherwise defined herein have the meanings given to them in the Joint Prepackaged Chapter 11 Plan of
Reorganization of FTS International, Inc. and its Debtor Affiliates [Docket No. 285] (as modified, amended, and including all supplements,
the “Plan”).




Cisco High-Lift of Texas LLC, Premium Frac Pumps
LLC

T.H.C. Gas LTD., Frac Tech Services LTD., Frac Tech
Services LLC, FTS International Bonds, Inc. FTS
International Production Solutions LLC, Industrial
Compounding LLC, Industrial Compounding INC.,
FTS International Proppants LLC, Southern Precision
FTS International Services, LLC Sands LLC, Proppant Specialists LLC, Specialty SML
LLC, FTS International Logistics LLC, First Choice
Trucking LLC, Vertex Solutions LLC, Condor
Equipment & Sales INC., Frac Tech Finance INC., Frac
Tech Services, Inc., Chem Source LLC, Frac Tech
Chemical Company LLC, THC I Investments INC.

FTS International Manufacturing, LLC

PLEASE TAKE FURTHER NOTICE THAT if you would like to obtain a copy of the Confirmation
Order, Plan, or any documents filed in these chapter 11 cases free of charge, contact the Debtors’ Claims and
Noticing Agent, Epiq Corporate Restructuring, LLC by: (a) visiting the Debtors’ restructuring website
https://dm.epigl1.com/FTSI; (b) calling (888) 490-0882 (toll-free in the United States and Canada) or (503) 597-
5602 (outside the United States); or (c) by email at FTSIInfo@epigglobal.com, including “FTS International” in the
subject line of the email. You may also obtain copies of any pleadings filed in the chapter 11 cases for a fee by
visiting the Court’s website on PACER at https://ecf.txsb.uscourts.gov.

PLEASE TAKE FURTHER NOTICE that the Court has approved certain discharge, release, exculpation,
injunction, and related provisions in Article VIII of the Plan.

PLEASE TAKE FURTHER NOTICE that the Plan and its provisions are binding on the Debtors, the
Reorganized Debtors, the Disbursing Agent, and any holder of a Claim or an Interest and such holder’s respective
successors and assigns, whether or not the Claim or the Interest of such holder is Impaired under the Plan, and
whether or not such holder voted to accept the Plan.

PLEASE TAKE FURTHER NOTICE that the Plan and the Confirmation Order contain other provisions
that may affect your rights. You are encouraged to review the Plan and the Confirmation Order in their entirety.




Houston, Texas
November [*], 2020

/s/

KIRKLAND & ELLIS LLP

KIRKLAND & ELLIS INTERNATIONAL
LLP

Brian Schartz, P.C. (TX Bar No. 24099361)
609 Main Street

Houston, Texas 77002

Telephone: (713) 836-3600

Facsimile: (713) 836-3601

Email: brian.schartz@kirkland.com

-and -

Joshua A. Sussberg, P.C. (admitted pro hac vice)

Emily E. Geier (admitted pro hac vice)

Alexander Nicas (admitted pro hac vice)

601 Lexington Avenue

New York, New York 10022

Telephone: (212) 446-4800

Facsimile: (212) 446-4900

Email: joshua.sussberg@kirkland.com
emily.geier@kirkland.com
alexander.nicas@kirkland.com

Co-Counsel for the Debtors
and Debtors in Possession

WINSTON & STRAWN LLP

Katherine A. Preston (TX Bar No. 2968884)
800 Capitol Street, Suite 2400

Houston, Texas 77002

Telephone:  (713) 651-2600

Facsimile: (713) 651-2700

Email: kpreston@winston.com

-and -

Daniel J. McGuire (admitted pro hac vice)
35 W Wacker Drive

Chicago, IL 60601

Telephone:  (312) 558-5600

Facsimile: (312) 558-5700

Email: dmcguire@winston.com

Co-Counsel for the Debtors
and Debtors in Possession




